Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

Fibre fermentation in the ileum

A thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Nutritional Sciences

at Massey University, Palmerston North Campus, New Zealand.

Anna Maria Elisabeth Hoogeveen





Voor Papa

Abstract

Recently, several studies have suggested that the microbes present in the ileum (i.e., the end of the small intestine) can ferment dietary fibre resulting in organic acid production and contribute to the overall gastrointestinal tract (GIT) fermentation. However, studying human ileal fermentation is challenging due to inaccessibility of the small intestine.

The aim was to validate a newly developed and optimised *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay based on the growing pig as an animal model for human adults. After the assay was validated, this method was used to quantify ileal fermentation and compare this with large intestinal fermentation. In addition, the effect of diet on ileal fermentation and which factor was a greater contributor to *in vitro* ileal fermentation (inoculum or substrate) were studied.

Firstly, *in vitro* ileal organic matter (OM) fermentability was similar to *in vivo* fermentability in the conventional grown pig. Artificially rearing and inoculating young pigs with an infant faecal inoculum did not improve the model. Secondly, the ileal microbiota from pigs and human ileostomates was found to have similar *in vitro* OM fermentability and organic acid production for arabinogalactan, fructooligosaccharides and pectin, even though some differences were found in the ileal microbial community. Therefore, the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay using conventional pigs is a preferred and valid model for studying ileal fermentation in the adult human. It was found that ileal fermentation was quantitatively significant and similar in magnitude to hindgut fermentation when using this validated assay. However, the microbial community and organic acid production (mainly acetic acid) in the ileum differed. It was also found that partly replacing cellulose with more fermentable fibres in the diet affected the ileal microbial community and its fermentative capacity in growing pigs. Lastly, the substrate (i.e., different fibre sources) was found to have a greater effect on

ileal fermentation than the inoculum (i.e., different ileal microbiota obtained by feeding pigs different diets).

In conclusion, this work has demonstrated the quantitatively significant contribution of ileal fermentation to overall GIT fermentation, and that the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig is a valid assay for studying ileal fermentation in the adult human. Dietary intervention can be used to shape ileal microbiota and fermentation.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to show my appreciation to my supervisor panel, Dr Carlos Montoya, Dist. Prof Paul Moughan, and Prof Warren McNabb. Thank you for all the guidance you have given me throughout this PhD project and supported me on my way to becoming an independent scientist. Dr Carlos Montoya, I am grateful to have you as a mentor. You took me under your wings from the first day I arrived at the Riddet Institute. Your continuous dedicated support, substantial corrective comments, and generous help have strengthened me to continue my research. I am incredibly grateful to Dist. Prof Paul Moughan for his constructive feedback and continuous encouragement, especially during the experimental design and writing phases of my PhD. It was an honour to have you as a supervisor and learn from you during my PhD journey. I want to thank Prof Warren McNabb for his direct approach to providing feedback, asking questions to spark scientific thinking, and keeping me on track to completing my PhD.

I am grateful to the Centre of Research Excellence Fund from the Tertiary Education Commission and the New Zealand Ministry of Education for my PhD scholarship and for funding the PhD research.

I want to thank the Riddet Institute for all the support during my thesis, including Riddet Institute Travel Grants, which allowed me to present my research at international conferences. In addition, the Riddet Institute provided me with a great environment to grow scientifically and personally. I am thankful for the trust given to me by students and management to be a student representative for the Riddet Institute Student Society and the Ways of Working. I want to acknowledge the massive support from Riddet Institute administrative staff throughout my doctoral journey. I specifically want to thank Ms Terri Palmer, Mr John Henley-King, Ms Ansley Te Hiwi, Dr Sarah Golding, Ms Rebecca Olson,

vi

Ms Hannah Hutchinson, and Ms Meg Wedlock. I would also like to thank Mr Matt Levin, Mr Tim O'Dea, and Mr Peter Jeffery for all the IT support.

I want to express my sincere gratitude to those who helped me conduct the animal studies. Dr Suzanne Hodgkinson, Dr Natascha Stroebinger, Ms Wenjun Yu, Mr Michael van Bemmel, Dr Yolande Baby Kaurivi, Ms Anneminke Buwalda, Ms Paloma Craig, Dr Eric Neumann, Mr Thomas Whitehouse, Mr Kevin Kreutz, Ms Linda Nezbedová, Ms Natalie Ahlborn, and Ms Jasmine Smith, thank you for all your support before, during and after the animal studies, especially when caring for the piglets. I would not have been able to do it without you. I would also thank the infants with their parents and the human ileostomates that provided samples.

I am thankful to Ms Maggie Zou for helping me with all the laboratory-related matters. Thanks to Dr Peter Zhu for all the help with the gas chromatography. In addition, I would like to thank Dr Douglas Rosendale and Ms Halina Stoklosinski for teaching me the organic acid methodology., Dr Paul Blatchford and Ms Shampa De for helping with the microbial analysis, and Dr Elizabeth Rettedal and Dr Wayne Young for assisting me with the bioinformatic analysis. I would also like to thank Mr Edward de Haas, Mr Philipp Schulze, Ms Megan Cognée, Ms Bianka Pfefferle and Ms Aiko Lignon for all the help with *in vitro* fermentations, organic acid analysis and DNA extractions. And I would like to thank Ms Linda McVann for helping me set up my experiments in the new Te Ohu laboratory.

I thank all my fellow Riddet Institute PhD friends for being there for me whenever I need support and for all the fun social outings, especially Isuri Jayawardana, Natasha Nayak, Davide Fraccascia, Giovanna Castillo-Fernandez, Joanna Nadia, Patrick Tai, Laura Payling, Xin Wang, and Alex Kanon. I also thank my other Massey friends, especially Berit Hassing, Taryn West, Nazanin Noorifar, and Kate Lee.

vii

Bedankt Mama, Papa, Frank en Lisa voor jullie liefde, steun en aanmoediging vanuit Nederland. Jullie hebben mij geleerd om door te zetten, positief te blijven en niet op te geven. Ik hoop dat jullie trots zijn dat ik mijn PhD onderzoek tot een goed einde heb gebracht. And thanks to Daniel, for being by my side throughout my PhD journey, celebrating the milestones with me and supporting me during not so easy times. Thank you for your patience and encouragement!

Anika Hoogeveen

Table of contents

Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of contents	ix
List of illustrations	xv
List of tables	xxi
List of abbreviations	xxiii
Publications	xxv
Journal articles	xxv
Conference presentations	xxv
Scholarships and awards	xxvii
Chapter 1: General introduction	28
1.1. Research background	28
1.2. Research aims and questions	29
1.3. Research approach	
Chapter 2: Literature review	
2.1. Search strategy	
2.2. Gastrointestinal tract and digestion	33
2.3. Microbial fermentation in the gastrointestinal tract	
2.3.1. The available substrate for GIT fermentation	
2.3.2. Biogeography of the human GIT microbiota	41
2.3.3. Fermentation end products	44
2.3.4. Effect of diet on GIT microbiota and its fermentation	49
2.4. Evidence for small intestinal fermentation	54
2.4.1. The digestibility of dietary fibre in the upper GIT	55
2.4.2. Small intestinal microbiota	58
2.4.3. Fermentation products in the small intestine	67

2.4.4. Potential health effects of small intestinal fermentation	68
2.5. Fermentation models	72
2.5.1. In vivo models	73
2.5.2. In vitro models	80
2.5.3. Combined in vivo/in vitro models	85
2.6. Concluding remarks	86
Chapter 3: Validation of a combined in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation assay in the growing	g pig 88
Abstract	
3.1. Introduction	
3.2. Materials and methods	91
3.2.1. In vivo experiment	92
3.2.2. In vitro ileal fermentation assay	96
3.2.3. Chemical analysis	
3.2.4. Microbial analysis	97
3.2.5. Statistical analysis	97
3.3. Results	
3.3.1. In vivo and in vitro organic matter fermentability	
3.3.1. Ileal microbial composition	101
3.3.1. In vitro ileal organic acid production	105
3.4. Discussion	
3.4.1. In vivo and in vitro organic matter fermentability	106
3.4.2. The Ileal microbial community	110
3.4.3. In vitro organic acid production	112
3.5. Conclusion	113
Chapter 4: Validation of an in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig as	s an animal
model for the adult human	114
Abstract	114
4.1. Introduction	115

4.2. Materials and methods	117
4.2.1. Animal study	117
4.2.2. Human study	118
4.2.3. In vitro ileal fermentation assay	120
4.2.4. Chemical analysis	121
4.2.5. Microbial analysis	122
4.2.6. Statistical analysis	122
4.3. Results	
4.3.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability	124
4.3.2. In vitro ileal organic acid production	125
4.3.3. Ileal microbial composition	127
4.4. Discussion	
4.4.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability	130
4.4.2. In vitro organic acid production	132
4.4.3. Ileal microbial community	133
4.5. Conclusion	135
Chapter 5: Ileal and hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet	136
Abstract	136
5.1. Introduction	137
5.2. Materials and methods	139
5.2.1. In vivo assay	139
5.2.2. In vitro fermentation assays	141
5.2.3. Chemical analysis	143
5.2.4. Microbial analysis	143
5.2.5. Calculations	145
5.2.6. Statistical analysis	147
5.3. Results	148

5.3.1. Ileal and hindgut OM fermentability were not different, but the quantity of ileal fermer OM was greater than the OM fermented in the hindgut Error! Bookmark not defined	nted ned.
5.3.2. Ileal and caecal microbiota have different taxonomic composition, diversity and predicted metabolic activity	ned.
5.3.3. Estimated synthesis of SCFAs and disappearance differs between ileal and hindgut fermentation	ned.
5.4. Discussion	155
5.5. Conclusion	160
Chapter 6: Type of dietary fibre is associated with changes in ileal and hindgut microbial communing the growing pigs and influences <i>in vitro</i> ileal and hindgut fermentation	ities 161
Abstract	161
6.1. Introduction	162
6.2. Materials and methods	164
6.2.1. Diets	164
6.2.2. In vivo assay	165
6.2.3. In vitro fermentation assays	166
6.2.4. Chemical analysis	166
6.2.5. Microbial analysis	167
6.2.6. Calculations	167
6.2.7. Statistical analysis	168
6.3. Results	169
6.3.1. Ileal and hindgut organic matter fermentation	169
6.3.2. Estimated ileal and hindgut SCFA production	170
6.3.3. Ileal and faecal microbiota	173
6.3.4. Nutrient content of the terminal jejunal and terminal ileal substrates	180
6.4. Discussion	. 181
6.5. Conclusion	185
Chapter 7: <i>In vitro</i> ileal fermentation was affected more by the fibre source fermented than the microbial community of growing pigs	ileal . 186

	Abstract	186
	7.1. Introduction	187
	7.2. Materials and methods	189
	7.2.1. Diets	189
	7.2.2. In vivo assay	190
	7.2.3. In vitro ileal fermentation assay	191
	7.2.4. Chemical analysis	192
	7.2.5. Microbial analysis	193
	7.2.6. Statistical analysis	193
	7.3. Results	195
	7.3.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability	196
	7.3.1. In vitro ileal organic acid production	196
	7.3.2. Ileal microbial composition	202
	7.3.3. Correlations between the ileal microbial composition and fermentation outcomes	205
	7.4. Discussion	206
	7.4.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability	212
	7.4.2. In vitro organic acid production	213
	7.5. Conclusion	215
(Chapter 8: General discussion	216
	8.1. Key findings	216
	8.2. In vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation assay	219
	8.3. Conclusion	221
	8.4. Future perspectives	221
I	Bibliography	223
	Appendix 1	249
	Chapter 3: Supplementary material	249
	Supplementary methods	249
	Supplementary tables	255

Supplementary figures	
Appendix 2	
Chapter 4: Supplementary material	
Supplemental methods	
Supplementary tables	
Appendix 3	
Chapter 5: Supplementary material	
Supplementary tables	
Supplementary figures	
Appendix 4	
Chapter 6: Supplementary material	
Supplemental methods	
Supplementary tables	
Supplementary figures	
Appendix 5	
Chapter 7: Supplementary material	
Supplemental methods	
Supplementary tables	
Supplementary figure	
DRC 16 forms	
Copyright information	
Publication licence figure 2.1	
Publication licence figure 2.2	
Copyright chapter 5 publication	
Publication licence chapter 6 publication	

List of illustrations

Figure 1.1: Thesis Layout
Figure 2.1: A schematic diagram of the different regions of the human gastrointestinal tract
(GIT) and their main properties contributing to GIT digestion. Created with BioRender.com
Figure 2.2: The bacterial density and predominant bacteria in various locations of the
human gastrointestinal tract [54]42
Figure 2.3: Molecular structure of the different short-chain fatty acids, branched-chain fatty
acids and other organic acids produced by gastrointestinal tract microbiota45
Figure 3.1: Study overview outlining the different phases of the study with the corresponding
age of the pigs and the different diets provided to artificially reared (AR), artificially reared
plus inoculated with infant faecal extract (AR+), and control (Phase 1 and 4 only) pigs. PND,
postnatal day

Figure 3.5: The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity of the ileal microbiota of pigs reared under different environmental conditions and all fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days, displayed as a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot. Individual symbols represent individual samples, n = 10 per treatment. The effect of the rearing regimen on the grouping was assessed using the permutational multivariate analysis of variance test (P = 0.12, F = 0.87, R² = 0.110). The homogeneity of the group dispersion was assessed using the PERMDISPER (P = 0.67, F = 0.68). AR, artificially reared; AR+, artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract.

Figure 4.1: *In vitro* OM fermentability of different fibre substrates fermented with an inoculum prepared with ileal digesta obtained from growing pigs (white; n = 10) and ileal

Figure 5.3: Alpha diversity numbers showing Faith's phylogenetic diversity of microbial communities in ileal and caecal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5) based on the

Figure 6.4: Shannon diversity of the microbial communities in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days, based on the data normalised for diet intake. Values are mean \pm SEM, *n* indicates the number of individual pigs. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ (*P* ≤ 0.05).

List of tables

Table 2.1: Keywords used to search relevant literature regarding microbial fermentation in
the small intestine
Table 2.2: Common dietary fibres found in foods and their physiochemical properties.
Adapted from Williams <i>et al.</i> , 2019 [32] and Gill <i>et al.</i> , 2021 [33] ¹
Table 2.3: The effect of long-term diet on human faecal microbiota using next-generation
sequencing. Adapted from Renall, 2020 [124] ¹ 51
Table 2.4: Apparent ileal digestibility (AID) of different dietary fibres in humans, obtaining
samples via ileostomy or intubation56
Table 2.5: The predominant bacterial phyla and genera identified in the digesta obtained
from various parts of the small intestine in healthy adult humans and ileal effluent from
human ileostomates using culture-independent methods ¹ 62
Table 3.1: Ingredient and determined nutrient composition of the experimental diet given to
all pigs in Phase 4 of the study ¹ 95
Table 3.2: The number of bacteria of the taxa that showed a significant difference between
the rearing regimens on in the ileal digesta of pigs reared under different environmental
conditions and fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days ¹ 104
Table 3.3: Production of total and individual organic acids during in vitro fermentation of
different substrates using inocula prepared from mid ileal digesta of pigs reared under
different environmental conditions and fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental
days ¹ 107
Table 4.1: Overview of the characteristics of the human ileostomates included in this study ¹

 Table 4.2: The ingredients of the high-fibre test meal (7% total dietary fibre) provided to the human ileostomates¹

 120

Table 4.4: Number of bacteria belonging to the taxa that differed between the ileal digesta of growing pigs and ileal effluent of human ileostomates that received a similar diet¹.....128

Table 5.1: Taxonomic composition in ileal and caecal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet¹

 Table 6.1: Taxonomic composition in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and

 PSY diets for 42 days¹

 176

List of abbreviations

AG	Arabinogalactan
AID	Apparent ileal digestibility
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AR	Artificially reared
AR+	Artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract
BCFA	Branched-chain fatty acid
BW	Bodyweight
CEL	Cellulose
CFU	Colony-forming units
CoA	Coenzyme A
CP	Crude Protein
DGGE	Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
DM	Dry matter
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DP	Degree of polymerization
FFQ	Food frequency questionnaire
FOS	Fructooligosaccharides
GC	Gas Chromatography
GE	Gross energy
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GOS	Galactooligosaccharides
HCI	Hydrochloric acid
HEI	Healthy Eating Index
HFA	Human-flora-associated
HFD	Healthy Food Diversity
HITChip	Human Intestinal Tract Chip
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes
KF	Kiwifruit
OM	Organic matter
MDS	Mediterranean diet score
NA	Not applicable
ND	Not detected
NRC	National Research Council
NS	Not significant
NSP	Non-starch polysaccharides
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline

PCoA	Principal coordinate analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PICRUSt	Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States
PND	Postnatal day
PSY	Psyllium
PYY	Peptide YY
QIIME	Quantitative Insights into Microbial Ecology
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid
RS	Resistant starch
SBS	Short bowel syndrome
SCFA	Short-chain fatty acid
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SFB	Segmented filamentous bacteria
SHIME	Simulator of the Human Intestinal Microbial Ecosystem
SIBO	Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth
SSB	Sugar-sweetened beverages
TIM	TNO intestinal Model
T-RFLP	Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
UHT	Ultra-high temperature

Publications

Journal articles

- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, de Haas ES, Blatchford P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Ileal and hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet. Brit J Nutr. 2020:1-27. (Chapter 5)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Henare SJ, Schulze P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Type of dietary fibre is associated with changes in ileal and hindgut microbial communities in growing pigs and influences *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation. J Nutr. 2021;151:2976-85. (Chapter 6)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Hodgkinson SM, Stroebinger N, Yu W, Elizabeth A. Rettedal EA, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. *In vitro* ileal fermentation was affected more by the fibre source fermented than the ileal microbial community of growing pigs. (Submitted to Journal of Nutrition) (Chapter 7)

Conference presentations

- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Cognée M, Henare SJ, Schulze P, and Montoya CA. Ileal fermentation of dietary fibres – using a combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay. *Food Structures, Digestion and Health International Conference, October 2017, Sydney* (poster presentation)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Cognée M, Henare SJ, Schulze P, and Montoya CA. Delivery of short-chain fatty acids to the ileum and hindgut through dietary fibre fermentation. 7th International conference Delivery of Functionality in Complex Food Systems, November 2017, Auckland (poster presentation)

- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Henare SJ, Cognée M, Schulze P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Fermentation of dietary fibre sources using combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation assays. 7th International Dietary Fibre Conference, June 2018, Rotterdam (poster presentation)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Henare SJ, Cognée M, Schulze P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Ileal and hindgut fermentations of dietary fibre sources. *Riddet Institute Conference, July 2018, Wellington* (oral presentation)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Henare SJ, Cognée M, Schulze P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. The dietary fibre source influences ileal and hindgut fermentation – a study using combined *in vivo/in vitro* methodology. *Focus on Fibre and Food Monitoring Symposium, February 2019, Dunedin* (poster and oral presentation)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Dietary interventions influence the ability of ileal microbiota to ferment dietary fibres – using a combined ileal *in vivo* and *in vitro* methodology. 6th International Conference on Food Digestion, April 2019, Granada (poster presentation)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, McNabb WC, Hodgkinson SM, Rettedal EA, and Montoya CA. Fermentative capacity of the ileal microbiota can be modified through dietary interventions in a pig model. *Food Structures, Digestion and Health International Conference, October 2019,* Rotorua (oral presentation)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, de Haas E, Blatchford P, McNabb WC, and Montoya CA. The difference in ileal and caecal microbial composition did not influence organic matter fermentation but altered short-chain fatty acid production in the growing pig fed a human-type diet. NZMS Annual Conference, November 2019 (poster presentation)

- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, McNabb WC, Hodgkinson SM, Rettedal EA, and Montoya CA. Ileal microbiota and their fermentative capacity can be modified through dietary intervention in a pig model. NZMS Annual Conference, November 2019 (oral presentation)
- Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, McNabb WC, and Montoya CA. The dietary protein source affects ileal microbiota and their fermentative capacity in a pig model of an adult human. *Riddet Institute Conference, April 2021, Wellington* (poster presentation)

Scholarships and awards

- Riddet Institute CoRE PhD research scholarship
- Riddet Institute Travel award 2017 and 2018
- Best Student Poster Award Food Structures, Digestion and Health International Conference, October 2017, Sydney
- Massey University Conference Grant 2018

Chapter 1: General introduction

This chapter provides an overview of the background, research questions, and thesis approach.

1.1. Research background

Microbial fermentation in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) is an important process in humans. During fermentation, undigested dietary material (e.g., fibres) and endogenous material (e.g., mucins) are degraded by the microbiota resident in the GIT lumen. As a result of fermentation, the microbiota produces microbial metabolites, such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) and gasses (e.g., CO₂, CH₄, and H₂) [1]. These microbial metabolites can benefit the host, both locally in the GIT and systemically. For example, SCFAs can be used as an energy source for epithelial cells [2], and after absorption, SCFAs are involved in glucose homeostasis [3]. Due to its important metabolic function for the host, the GIT microbiota is sometimes referred to as the "forgotten organ" [4]. However, the current research into GIT microbiota and their fermentation focuses predominantly on the large intestine due to the large number of microbes found there [5]. In addition, it is believed that there is little fermentation in the upper GIT (i.e., stomach and small intestine) [6, 7].

However, a growing number of scientific publications suggest that there is a considerable number of microbes in the human upper GIT and these microbes can ferment dietary fibre and produce SCFAs [8-12]. Within the upper GIT, a greater and more diverse microbial population is found at the end of the small intestine (i.e., the ileum) [8]. In addition, the digesta have a longer transit time through the ileum than other sections of the small intestine. Therefore, it is suggested that the fermentation in the upper GIT occurs mainly in the ileum.

It is challenging to study human ileal fermentation, due to inaccessibility of the ileum. Therefore, a combined *in vivo/in vitro* methodology has been developed and optimised to study ileal fermentation [13]. In this methodology, the growing pig is used as an animal model for the human adult because of the high anatomical similarity of the upper GIT between pig and human [14]. However, this assay has not been adequately validated. Validation of this methodology would include comparing predicted (i.e., *in vitro*) and determined (i.e., *in vivo*) ileal OM fermentability in the pig and then comparing the microbiota and its fermentative capacity in ileal digesta from pigs and humans.

1.2. Research aims and questions

Based on the knowledge gaps identified in the literature, this PhD research programme aimed to investigate the fermentation of dietary fibre in the ileum by (i) validating the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation methodology, (ii) comparing ileal fermentation with hindgut fermentation, and (iii) investigating the effect of diet on ileal fermentation.

To support the research aims, the following research questions were formulated and studied:

- RQ1: Does inoculating pigs with an infant faecal extract and raising them in a hygienic non-farm environment provided with human foods improve the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation methodology?
- **RQ2:** Is the combined *in vivo/in vitro* methodology valid for determining ileal fermentation in pigs?
- **RQ3:** Is the combined *in vitro* methodology valid for determining the ileal fermentation of foods in human adults?

- RQ4: What is the difference between ileal and hindgut fermentation based on OM fermentability and organic acid production?
- RQ5: How do dietary interventions affect ileal fermentation, and how do these effects compare with hindgut fermentation?
- RQ6: How does the diet influence the ileal microbiota and its fermentative capacity?
- **RQ7:** How is *in vitro* ileal fermentation affected by the different inocula and substrates?

1.3. Research approach

The research followed a structured plan to answer the above research questions. In the first part of the overall study, experiments were conducted to test the validity of a recently developed combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay. The second part of the research used this methodology to test the significance of ileal fermentation compared to hindgut fermentation and how diet affects ileal fermentation. The research is reported in five experimental chapters (Figure 1.1).

In **Chapter 2**, a comprehensive literature review covers aspects of the research topic. The objectives of this review were to understand: (i) the current understanding of GIT fermentation; (ii) the evidence and potential of small intestinal fermentation; (iii) the various methodologies to research GIT fermentation, their challenges, and suitability to study small intestinal fermentation. It was hypothesised that the microbiota in the human ileum makes a significant contribution to overall GIT fermentation, and like the hindgut fermentation, the diet influences ileal fermentation.

It was considered important to properly validate the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation methodology for the pig by comparing the *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability with *in vivo* disappearance of OM in the pig itself (**Chapter 3**). In addition, Chapter 3 aimed to

test whether rearing pigs artificially (i.e., in a more hygienic, non-farm environment and receiving a human-type diet) and inoculating piglets with an infant faecal extract in the first days of their life would improve the ileal fermentation assay. The work reported in **Chapter 4** aimed to validate the model against the adult human by comparing the *in vitro* ileal fermentation of different fibre substrates using ileal microbiota obtained from pigs with human ileostomates.

After the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation methodology was validated, it was applied to provide insight into the significance of ileal fermentation compared to hindgut fermentation in terms of organic matter (OM) fermentability and organic acid production using the combined *in vivo/in vitro* methodology (**Chapter 5**). However, in this chapter, the pigs received only one human-type diet. Therefore, in the study reported in **Chapter 6**, the pigs received three different semi-synthetic diets to assess the effect of diet on the ileal and hindgut fermentation in terms of OM fermentability and organic acid production. For the work discussed in **Chapter 7**, ileal digesta from pigs receiving a larger number of different diets were collected to test how the ileal microbiota fermented various dietary fibre substrates. This allowed the study of the effect of both inocula and substrate in *in vitro* ileal fermentation. All research findings are brought together and discussed in **Chapter 8**, and recommendations for future work are given.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Chapter 3: Validation of a combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay in the growing pig

Chapter 4: Validation of an *in vivo/in vitro* methodology in the growing pig as an animal model for ileal fermentation in human adults

Chapter 5: Ileal and hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet

Chapter 6: Type of dietary fibre is associated with changes in ileal and hindgut microbial communities in growing pigs and influences *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation

Chapter 7: *In vitro* ileal fermentation was affected more by the fiber source fermented than the ileal microbial community of growing pigs

Chapter 8: General Discussion

Figure 1.1: Thesis Layout.

Experimental Chapters

Chapter 2: Literature review

2.1. Search strategy

For this literature review, relevant articles were searched from May 2017 to June 2022 via Scopus and Google Scholar. A search strategy was developed to get a better understanding of the current understanding of contribution of small intestinal microbiota to GIT fermentation (**Table 2.1**). Additional literature was identified by searching the bibliography in key articles and targeted searches for specific topics. Only literature published in English was included. The literature was filtered to include human and porcine studies (both *in vivo* and *in vitro*) and, to a lesser extent, murine or rat studies or studies.

Table 2.1: Keywords used to search relevant literature regarding microbial fermentation in

 the small intestine

Concept	Key words
Small intestine	lleal, ileum, duodenum, jejunum, small intestine, upper gastrointestinal
	tract, upper gut, foregut
Fermentation	Ferment*, hydrolys*, breakdown, fibroly*
Fibre	Fibre, fibre, polysaccharide, prebiotic*, carbohydrate*
Microbiota	Microbio*, microbe*. bacteria

2.2. Gastrointestinal tract and digestion

The primary purpose of the human gastrointestinal tract (GIT) is to digest the consumed food and absorb the nutrients released during digestion. The GIT is divided into the mouth, stomach, and small and large intestines. Every section of the GIT is optimised to contribute to this primary function of the GIT. The different GIT sections are well studied, providing a good understanding of digestion in the human GIT (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: A schematic diagram of the different regions of the human gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and their main properties contributing to GIT digestion. Created with BioRender.com

The mouth reduces the particle size of the foods consumed by chewing and adds saliva containing digestive enzymes (i.e., α -amylase and lipase) to initiate food digestion. After swallowing, the bolus enters the stomach, adding more digestive enzymes (i.e., pepsin and lipase) and hydrochloric acid (HCI). HCI lowers the pH, which denatures proteins, increasing their digestion and inhibiting the growth of potential microbes ingested alongside the food. The small intestine is the main site of food digestion and nutrient absorption. Pancreatic juice, sodium bicarbonate, and bile acids are released into the small intestine. The pancreatic juice contains digestive enzymes, including lipase, proteases, and amylases. Sodium bicarbonate neutralizes the pH, and the bile acids assist in emulsifying lipids and forming micelles to promote fat absorption [15].

Some food remains undigested in the stomach and small intestine, mostly dietary fibre. The undigested food passes through to the large intestine, harbouring many microorganisms [5, 16]. These microbes can metabolise (i.e., ferment) the undigested dietary and non-dietary materials (e.g., mucin and shedded epithelial cells) to obtain energy, nitrogen, and sulphur for their growth and maintenance [1]. Some end-products of fermentation (e.g., butyrate) can be beneficial for humans (for example, as an energy source for epithelial cells) [17]. The passage of digesta through the large intestine is relatively slow compared to the upper GIT [18], which allows the bacteria enough time to metabolize most of the available nutrients.

Early research examining the GIT microbiota reported that the upper GIT (i.e. the stomach and small intestine) was virtually sterile [19]. In contrast, large numbers of bacteria were found within the large intestine and faeces [5, 16]. Therefore, a current belief commonly held is that microbial GIT fermentation predominantly occurs in the large intestine, with little to no fermentation in the upper GIT [6, 7]. However, since the development of molecular-based techniques to identify microbiota, many scientific publications have found considerable numbers of microbes in the human small intestine [12, 20, 21]. These microbes can ferment dietary fibre and produce metabolites [12]. The small intestinal microbiota may have a function in the digestion and fermentation of dietary and non-dietary materials before they reach the large intestine and could contribute to human health. However, the inaccessibility of the human small intestine makes researching the small intestinal microbiota and its fermentation challenging.

This review discusses (i) the current understanding of GIT microbiota and its fermentation, (ii) the evidence for small intestinal fermentation and its potential function, and (iii) the suitability of current *in vivo* and *in vitro* models used to study overall GIT fermentation to study small intestinal fermentation.

2.3. Microbial fermentation in the gastrointestinal tract

Microbial fermentation in the GIT is an anaerobic process whereby the GIT microbiota metabolizes dietary and non-dietary material. The microbiota secretes extracellular enzymes that can hydrolyse specific molecular bonds. These enzymes degrade carbohydrates and proteins into monomers (e.g., hexoses, pentoses, and amino acids), which can be taken in and further metabolised by the microbiota. The end products of fermentation include organic acids, such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), and gases (e.g., methane, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide) [22]. Several health effects of GIT microbiota and fermentation are assigned to these end products. Most fermentation in the human GIT occurs in the ascending colon due to the high substrate concentration. It is reflected by the high SCFA concentrations [23, 24]. Due to fermentation, humans can obtain energy from undigestible dietary material in the form of SCFAs. Dietary fibres provide around 5% of the total daily energy requirements for humans [25]. The following sections describe (i) the available substrate of GIT fermentation, (ii) the biogeography of the human GIT microbiota, (iii) the fermentation products, and (iv) the effect of diet on GIT microbiota and its fermentation.

2.3.1. The available substrate for gastrointestinal tract fermentation

2.3.1.1. Dietary fibre

Dietary fibre is an important substrate available to the GIT microbiota. The Codex Alimentarius has defined dietary fibre as carbohydrates that are not digested by the host's enzymes [26]. Dietary fibres are a collection of polysaccharides with a degree of polymerization (DP) of more than ten monomers. These monomers can be pentoses (such
as arabinose and xylose) and hexoses (such as glucose and fructose) which are linked in a linear or branched fashion (Table 2.2). The only exception is lignin, which is an aromatic polymer. Some oligosaccharides (DP 3 to 10), such as fructooligosaccharides (FOS) and galactooligosaccharides, are also resistant to digestive enzymes and, therefore, classified as dietary fibres. Dietary fibres are known to have multiple beneficial effects on GIT physiology. For example, dietary fibres add bulk to the digesta, affecting transit time and digestion [27, 28].

Dietary fibres can be classified based on origin, chemical structure (e.g., side chain compositions and degree of esterification or acetylation), or physicochemical properties (e.g., solubility, viscosity, and overall GIT fermentability) (Table 2.2). The latter two characteristics affect the GIT microbiota and its fermentation. For example, pectin with a low degree of esterification is more quickly fermented than pectin with a higher degree of esterification [29]. The GIT microbiota can ferment soluble fibres more efficiently as soluble fibres disperse quickly in the aqueous GIT environment, making them more accessible to bacterial metabolism. An exception is psyllium, a soluble fibre that is not rapidly fermented [30]. Insoluble dietary fibres are more slowly fermented [31, 32].

Table 2.2: Common dietary fibres found in foods and their physiochemical properties. Adapted from Williams et al., 2019 [33] and Gill et

al., 2021 [34]¹

			Branch	Physicochemical properties				
Dietary fibre	etary fibre Food source Main unit un		units	Solubility	Viscosity	Overall GIT fermentability		
Cellulose Lignin	All plant cell walls All plant cell walls	β-(1,4)-glucose Polyphenols	- Polyphenols	Insoluble Insoluble	Non-viscous Non-viscous	Low Low		
β glucans	Oat, barley, fungi	β- (1,3) glucose	-	Low to medium	Medium	Medium to high		
Hemicellulose								
Arabinoxylan	Cereal, psyllium ²	Xylose	Arabinose	Low to medium	Medium	High ²		
Galactomannans	Guar gum, locust bean gum	Mannose	Galactose	Medium to high	Medium to high	High		
Pectin	Fruit, vegetables, legumes	Galacturonic acid with methoxy groups	Arabinose Galactose	High	Medium to high	high		
FOS/inulin	Cereals, fruit, vegetables	D-fructose with terminal glucose unit.	-	Medium to high	Medium to high	High		
GOS	Milk and pulses	terminal glucose unit.	-	High	low	High		
Resistant starch								
RS-1 (physically inaccessible	Whole grains, legumes, raw fruit vegetables	Amylose	Amylose	Insoluble	Non-viscous	High		

RS-2 (starch confirmation)	Cereals, raw legumes, raw fruit, vegetables	Amylose	Amylose	Low	Non-viscous	High
RS-3 (retrograded)	Cooking and cooling of any starch source	Amylose	Amylose	Low	Non-viscous to low	High
RS-4 (chemically modified)	Synthesised	Amylose	Amylose	Low to high	Low to medium	High
RS-5 (starch-lipid complex)	Synthesised	Amylose	Amylose	Low	Low	Low

¹ FOS, fructooligosaccharides; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; GOS, galactooligosaccharides; RS, resistant starch. ² Due to their structural feature, psyllium sources of arabinoxylans are considered of only low fermentability.

2.3.1.2. Gastrointestinal tract endogenous material

Endogenous material (such as mucin, the host's digestive enzymes, and sloughed epithelial cells) can also provide a substrate for GIT fermentation. Mucins are glycoproteins produced by epithelial cells and function as a protective barrier. They contain high amounts of proline, threonine, and serine. They have carbohydrate side chains consisting of N-acetyl glucosamine, N-acetyl galactosamine, fucose, and galactose with a sialic acid or sulphate group at the end. Some GIT bacteria, such as *Akkermansia muciniphila*, are specialised in degrading these host mucins [35]. Due to the thicker mucosal layer, these specialised mucin-degraders are more abundant in the large intestine than in other GIT locations [36]. Other bacteria, such as *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*, can switch their metabolism to proteins when carbohydrates are deficient [37].

2.3.1.3. Microbial cross-feeding

Microbial cross-feeding is a phenomenon in the GIT whereby the intermediate or endproducts of one bacterium become the substrate for another. The primary degraders within the human GIT microbiota are mainly Bacteroidetes which can metabolize various polysaccharides. For example, *Ruminococcus bromii* acts as a primary degrader of resistant starch [38], and *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* is the primary degrader of inulin [39, 40]. More cross-feeders are found within the Firmicutes phylum. For example, *Bifidobacterium* relies on *Bacteroides* breaking down inulin and xylan into oligosaccharides [40, 41]. Another instance of cross-feeding whereby one bacterium can utilize the end-products of another bacterium is demonstrated by the fact that about half of the butyrate-producers isolated from human faecal samples are net consumers of acetate, an end-product of other bacteria [42]. Cross-feeding requires the digesta to transit slowly to allow primary degradation and fermentation products to become available for cross-feeding. Therefore, it is suggested that cross-feeding may be limited during small intestinal fermentation due to the shorter transit time of the digesta compared to the large intestine. This has been supported by a study finding no conversion of ¹³C-labelled SCFAs by the ileal microbiota when infused directly into the ileal lumen of humans [43].

2.3.2. Biogeography of the human gastrointestinal tract microbiota

The GIT microbiota is highly complex and comprises an estimated 10¹³ bacterial cells [16] spread across more than a thousand species [44, 45]. These microbes include bacteria [44, 45], fungi [46, 47], viruses [48], and archaea [44, 49]. The human GIT microbiota is highly variable within different GIT regions (such as the stomach and small and large intestines) (Figure 2.2). The distinct microbiota per region is affected by factors like pH, presence of oxygen, transit time, peristaltic activity, mucus secretion, and secretion of digestive juices.

The number of bacteria in the stomach is relatively low (10⁴ 16S rRNA gene copies/mL chyme) due to the acidic environment, relatively short transit time (i.e., 15 min to 2 hours), and frequent peristaltic activity [50]. The predominant phyla in stomach chyme were Bacteroides, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Fusobacteria. The most abundant genera were *Prevotella*, *Streptococcus*, an unclassified genus from Pasteurellaceae, *Enterococcus*, *Fusobacterium*, and *Neisseria* [50]. *Helicobacter pylori* are often found within the gastric mucosal microbiota [10]. This bacteria has been linked to gastric ulcers and a higher risk of developing diseases such as gastric cancer [51].

Throughout the small intestine, the number of bacteria increases from $\leq 10^3$ cells/g digesta in the duodenum to 10^8 cells/g digesta in the human ileum [43, 52]. The relatively fast transit of digesta (2 to 5 hours) and the competition for nutrients with the host enzymes are the

main challenges for the small intestinal microbiota. The small intestinal microbiota is highly dynamic and can quickly adapt to the changing environment (such as substrate availability and pH) [12]. Consequently, the small intestinal microbiota is relatively unstable, less complex, and less diverse than the large intestinal microbiota [12, 20, 53]. The predominant phyla found in digesta of the small intestine were Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroides, and the most abundant genera are *Streptococcus, Veillonella, and Clostridium cluster XIVa* [12, 54]. The small intestinal microbiota and its function are discussed in more detail in Section 2.4.



Figure 2.2: The bacterial density and predominant bacteria in various locations of the human gastrointestinal tract [55].

The human large intestine harbours 10¹⁰-10¹¹ bacterial cells/g digesta, including mainly obligate anaerobic bacteria [5]. The most abundant phyla in colonic digesta and faeces are Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes, followed by Proteobacteria and Actinobacteria [44, 45, 56]. The predominant genera found are *Bacteroides*, *Dorea*, *Ruminococcus*, *Eubacterium*, *Bifidobacterium*, *Clostridium*, and *Faecalibacterium* [44, 45, 56]. Even though there are

differences in phylogenetic composition, the faecal microbiota was found to be relatively comparable between individuals in terms of predicted functionality based on their genome [57]. The faecal microbiota dedicates most of its genome to carbohydrate transport and metabolism [57]. The large intestinal GIT microbiota demonstrates a high degree of functional redundancy, meaning that multiple species share similar functionality [58]. Faecal microbiota can be clustered into three so-called enterotypes, driven by the levels of *Prevotella*, *Bacteroides*, and *Ruminococcus* [59]. The different enterotypes have been found to have different fermentation capacities. For example, the *Prevotella* enterotype produced 2-3 times greater propionate during *in vitro* faecal fermentation of FOS and arabinoxylans than the *Bacteroides* enterotype [60].

The GIT microbiota described above mainly refers to the luminal microbiota, where bacteria attach themselves to the substrate in the digesta to ferment them. These bacteria often transit with the digesta and are excreted in the faeces. However, there is also a microbial community harbouring in the mucus layer, which is less transient. The mucus layer is formed by specialised epithelial cells called goblet cells in the human small and large intestines. The primary function of the mucus layer is to create a boundary between the GIT lumen and the host cells. The mucosa in the small intestine consists of only one compact layer. In contrast, the mucus layer consists of two layers in the large intestine: a loosely packed outer layer and a more densely packed inner layer. Many microbes are found in the outer layer, whereas the inner layer is virtually sterile [61]. Compared to the faecal microbiota, the mucosal microbiota has a higher abundance of bacteria of *Bacteroides* and *Allistipes* [11, 62]. Some species specialise in degrading mucins, such as *Akkermansia muciniphila* [35]. The mucosal microbiota directly influences the host's immune systems due to their proximity to the epithelial cells.

2.3.3. Fermentation end products

2.3.3.1. Short-chain fatty acids

SCFAs are volatile fatty acids with two to six carbon atoms and exist in straight or branched form (Figure 2.3). The type of SCFA and the quantity produced during GIT fermentation are affected by the substrate available. The most abundant SCFAs during faecal fermentation are acetate (C2), propionate (C3), and butyrate (C4). SCFAs are predominantly the result of carbohydrate metabolism but can also result from amino acid metabolism. SCFAs have been linked to different health benefits for the host, both locally (i.e., as an energy source of the enterocytes [2] and promote epithelial cell proliferation [63]) and systemically (i.e., play a role in glucose and lipid metabolism) [64]. It was estimated that SCFAs produced during fermentation in the large intestine supply 5 to 10% of the energy requirement for humans [65]. SCFAs also contribute to the acidification of digesta, promoting the growth of beneficial microbes and inhibiting the growth of pathogens like *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* C1845 [66], improving mineral absorption [67], and inhibiting the conversion of primary bile acids into carcinogenic secondary bile acids [68, 69].



Figure 2.3: Molecular structure of the different short-chain fatty acids, branched-chain fatty acids and other organic acids produced by gastrointestinal tract microbiota.

Acetate is the predominant SCFA produced during GIT fermentation. Approximately half of the total SCFA concentration in human faeces was acetate [70]. The acetate synthesis follows (i) the oxidative decarboxylation of pyruvate or (ii) the Wool-Ljundalh pathway (i.e., acetogenesis) using hydrogen and carbon dioxide as a substrate [71, 72]. Most of the human GIT microbiota can synthesize acetate using the first pathway. Acetogenesis is more specific to acetogenic bacteria, such as *Ruminococcus* [73] and *Blautia* [74]. Approximately 36% of the acetate produced in the colon was absorbed into the bloodstream [75]. The acetate levels in the blood ranged from 70 µmol/L in the peripheral circulation to 258 µmol/L in the portal vein [23]. Via the bloodstream, the acetate is available to the muscles (e.g., cardiac and skeletal) and the brain as an energy source. Acetate acts as a substrate for cholesterol synthesis. It reduces free fatty acid concentration in blood when infused directly into the GIT

[76, 77]. Acetate can also be utilised via cross-feeding in the GIT by butyrate-producing bacteria, such as *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and *Roseburia* [78].

GIT microbiota can synthesize propionate via three different pathways: (i) the succinate, (ii) the acrylate, or (iii) the propanediol pathways [79]. The main pathway to synthesize propionate is the succinate pathway, whereby succinate gets metabolised via decarboxylation of methylmalonyl-Coenzyme A (CoA) to propionyl-CoA. The genes encoding for enzymes that facilitate the succinate pathway can be found in the bacteria of the Bacteroidetes phylum and Negativicutes class [79]. The acrylate pathway required lactate as a substrate for propionate production and was only found in a few GIT bacteria, including Coprococcus catus [79]. In the propanediol pathway, deoxy sugars are metabolised into propionate. Propionaldehyde dehydrogenase, which converts propionaldehyde to propionyl-CoA, is a marker for this pathway. For example, this metabolic pathway was found in *Ruminococcus obeum*, a member of the Lachnospiraceae family [79]. Propionate production was positively correlated with Bacteroides and Prevotella during in vitro faecal fermentation [80]. In the GIT, propionate directly affects satiety by stimulating the production and secretion of satiety hormones, like glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), peptide YY (PYY) [81], and leptin [82]. This resulted in a greater feeling of fullness and less hunger in humans [83]. Once absorbed, propionate was transported to the liver, inhibiting fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis and reducing blood cholesterol [84].

Most butyrate-producing bacteria (~80%) in human faeces belong to the *Clostridium cluster XIVa* [42]. Half of the butyrate producers in human faeces were net acetate consumers, compared to one per cent of non-butyrate producers [42]. Acetate was converted into acetyl-coenzyme A via the butyryl coenzyme A-acetyl coenzyme A transferase pathway, which is then metabolised into butyrate [72]. This pathway can be found in most butyrate-producing GIT bacteria, such as *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and *Roseburia* [78]. Butyrate is a

significant energy source for epithelial cells [2]. It has also been suggested that butyrate protects against colorectal cancer, for example, by regulating enterocyte' gene expression and differentiation properties [85, 86].

Branched-chain fatty acids (BCFAs) are products of protein fermentation. The amino acids valine, leucine, and isoleucine can be converted into the branch-chain fatty acids isobutyrate, iso-valerate, and 2-methyl butyrate, respectively. BCFAs are found in low concentrations in the human small intestine [87]. In contrast, greater concentrations are observed in the large intestine, with increasing concentrations from the proximal to the distal colon [87, 88]. These findings suggest that proportionally more protein fermentation than carbohydrate fermentation occurs in the distal colon [88]. About 40% of the total anaerobic bacterial count found in human faeces can produce iso-butyrate [88]. A high-protein diet increased BCFA production in an *in vitro* simulated GIT model, while a diet high in dietary fibre has an inhibitory effect [80]. Colonocytes can use iso-butyrate as an energy source when butyrate concentration is low [89]. BCFAs affect lipid and glucose metabolism in human adipocytes (i.e., cells specialised in fat storage) [90].

2.3.3.2. Other organic acids

Lactate is the primary fermentation product from *Bifidobacterium*, *Streptococcus*, and *Lactobacillus*. These bacteria use lactate dehydrogenase to form lactate from pyruvate, an intermediate fermentation product [91]. Even though the number of lactate-producing bacteria in the human GIT microbiota is relatively high, the lactate concentration in faeces is low. The low faecal concentration of lactate was attributed to its low absorption rate [23] and the fact that lactate serves as a substrate for other GIT microbiota. Bacteria, such as *Bifidobacterium*, *Eubacterium*, and *Veillonella*, can metabolize lactate into butyrate,

propionate, and valerate [92-94]. About 20% of the total butyrate production in an *in vitro* fermentation using a human inoculum was derived from lactate [95]. Several fibres, such as inulin, FOS, and β -glucan, stimulated lactate-producing bacteria and increased lactate production during *in vitro* fermentation using human faeces [96, 97]. High colonic concentrations of lactate cause the sloughing of epithelial cells in rats [98] and are associated with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in humans [99, 100].

Succinate is another organic acid found in relatively low levels in the large intestine. The succinate-producing bacteria in the GIT microbiota belong mainly to the Bacteroidetes phylum [101]. The GIT epithelial cells can absorb succinate slowly due to the charge of the molecule [23]. Therefore, the primary function of succinate is as a substrate for other GIT bacteria via cross-feeding [102]. The succinate pathway is the predominant pathway to form propionate in Bacteroidetes (e.g., *Bacteroides* and *Prevotella*) and some Negativicutes [79, 102]. Like lactate, an accumulation of succinate in the GIT has been linked to inflammation and IBD [103].

2.3.3.3. Gases

Gasses are additional end products of GIT fermentation. The main gases formed are hydrogen, methane, carbon dioxide, ammonia, and hydrosulphide. Bacteria use hydrogen to dispose of reducing power that might have been generated when fermenting carbohydrates. For example, pyruvate oxidation via ferredoxin in *Clostridium* bacteria results in hydrogen and butyrate production [104]. The hydrogen produced during GIT fermentation is either excreted via the breath and flatus or utilised by methanogenic, sulphate-reducing, or acetogenic bacteria that use hydrogen as a substrate for their metabolism. In the human large intestine, two methanogenic species can utilize hydrogen. *Methanobrevibacter smithii*

uses hydrogen to reduce carbon dioxide [105], while *Methanosphaera stadtmaniae* uses hydrogen to reduce methanol, resulting in methane and water production [106]. *M. smithii* is more abundant in the human GIT than *M. stadtmaniae* [107]. Both species depend on other GIT microbes to provide the hydrogen for their metabolism. Sulphate-reducing bacteria are only found in humans who do not host any methanogenic bacteria, as these bacteria compete for hydrogen. Sulphate-reducing bacteria obtain energy by reducing sulphate to hydrogen sulphide using hydrogen [108]. Acetogenic bacteria utilize hydrogen and carbon dioxide to form acetate as their sole metabolite [71, 72]. *Ruminococcus hydrogenotrophicus* is an example of an acetogenic bacteria found in the human GIT [73]. Hydrogen crossfeeding has been reviewed in more detail by Smith *et al.*, 2018 [109].

2.3.4. Effect of diet on gastrointestinal tract microbiota and its fermentation

In addition to the intra-individual differences described above, the GIT microbiota is vastly different between individuals. These differences are affected by diet (Table 2.3), birth mode (e.g., vaginal or caesarean section delivery [110], genetics [111, 112], age [113, 114], health status [115, 116], antibiotic intake [117], geography [113] and lifestyle [118]. This part of the review focuses solely on the effect of diet as it is the main factor influencing the human GIT microbiota and provides the substrate for microbial fermentation. The GIT microbiota is affected by short-term (i.e., daily meal variations) and long-term dietary changes (i.e., changes in habitual diet). Long-term dietary patterns appear to be the strongest influencer of the GIT microbiota (Table 2.3), which, in turn, affects the functionality of the entire microbiota and the subsequential health effects (i.e., disease risk factors) for the host. It is suggested that increased microbial diversity, both in terms of the number of species and

evenness in the number of each species, allows the GIT microbiota to adapt quickly to shortterm dietary changes.

Increased adherence to a Mediterranean-style diet, characterised by high consumption of olive oil, legumes, unrefined cereals, fruits, vegetables, and fish, is associated with a higher microbial diversity [119], higher abundance of fibre-degrading microbiota, such as Bacteroidetes [120], and increased SCFA concentration in faeces [121]. A plant-based or vegetarian diet is correlated with an increased abundance of the phylum Bacteroidetes and the genera *Lachnospira* and *Prevotella* [121-123]. Omnivores had a higher abundance of *Ruminococcus* [121] and Clostridium cluster XIVa bacteria, specifically *Roseburia–E. rectale* [124]. The GIT microbiota enterotypes are also correlated with long-term diets. Diets high in protein and animal fat are linked with the *Bacteroides* enterotype. In contrast, the *Prevotella* enterotype has been associated with a diet high in carbohydrates [122]. In addition to changes in microbial composition, the fermentation end products are also affected by diet. For example, faecal concentrations of acetate, propionate, and butyrate were correlated positively with fruit, vegetable, legume, and fibre consumption. In contrast, valerate and hexanoate concentrations were associated with animal protein and fat consumption [121].

Most studies on the effect of diet on GIT microbiota in humans focus on faecal samples, as sampling is non-invasive. However, this results in limited knowledge of the impact of diet on the human small intestinal microbiota (e.g., in the ileum). It has been reported that microbiota in the ileal effluent from human ileostomates fluctuates during the day, suggesting that the ileal microbiota is more affected by different meals during the day than faecal microbiota [20]. However, more research is warranted to determine the impact of diet on the human ileal microbiota.

Table 2.3: The effect of long-term diet on human faecal microbiota using next-generation sequencing. Adapted from Renall, 2020 [125]¹

Reference	Participants	Microbial analysis	Dietary assessment	Differences in microbiota related to diet
Wu <i>et al.</i> , 2011 [122]	Adults: vegetarians ($n = 11$), vegan ($n = 1$), and omnivores ($n = 86$)	Pyrosequencing and shotgun sequencing	Three 24 h recalls; FFQ	 Vegetarians showed enrichment in <i>Prevotella</i> <i>Bacteroides</i> were associated with animal protein & saturated fat intake <i>Prevotella</i> was associated with carbohydrate & simple sugar intake but was inversely associated with animal protein and saturated fatty acids
Kong <i>et al.</i> , 2014 [126]	French adults (<i>n</i> = 59)	SOLiD sequencing	7-day food record	 A diet characterised by a higher intake of fruit, yoghurt, soup, and vegetables and a lower intake of sweets and SSB was associated with increased richness and diversity There was a correlation between fruit and soup intake and bacterial gape count
De Filippis <i>et al.</i> , 2016 [121]	Italian adults: vegetarian ($n = 51$), vegan ($n = 51$), and omnivores ($n = 51$)	Pyrosequencing	Self-reported diet; 7-day food record; MDS and HFD index	 Bacteroidetes was more abundant in vegetarians and vegans than in omnivores Higher Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio associated with omnivores <i>Lachnospira</i> and <i>Prevotella</i> were associated with plant-based diets Omnivore diet was positively associated with <i>Ruminococcus</i> Vegans and vegetarians had higher SCFA concentrations than omnivores Consumption of fibre, fruit, vegetables, and legumes was associated with increased SCEA concentration
Zhernakova <i>et al.</i> , 2016 [127]	Dutch adults (<i>n</i> = 1135)	Shotgun sequencing	FFQ (including 183 food items; 4- week period)	 Buttermilk was associated with higher diversity and <i>Leuconostoc</i> mesenteroides and <i>Lactococcus lactis</i> SSB was negatively associated with alpha diversity Coffee, tea, and wine were associated with higher alpha diversity Red wine consumption correlated with <i>Faecalibacterium prausnitzii</i> abundance

				• Higher energy (kcal/day), full-fat milk and total carbohydrate intake were associated with lower alpha diversity
				 Consuming fruit and fish was associated with higher alpha diversity Total carbohydrate intake was positively associated with <i>Bifidobacteria</i> but negatively with <i>Lactobacillus</i>. <i>Streptococcus</i> and
				Roseburia
				• A higher abundance of <i>Alistipes shahii</i> was associated with higher fruit intake
Menni <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2017	Caucasian Females (<i>n</i> =	Illumina sequencing	FFQ (including 131	 Dietary fibre intake was positively associated with diversity
[128] Bowyer <i>et</i>	1632) Older	Illumina	food items) FFQ	• HEI and MDS were positively correlated with alpha diversity, while
<i>al.</i> , 2018 [119]	European Twins (<i>n</i> = 2070)	sequencing	(including 131 food items); HEI, MDS and HFD index	 HFD was negatively associated with alpha diversity HEI and MDS were negatively associated with <i>Ruminococcus</i>, <i>Lachnospira</i> and <i>Actinomyces</i>
Lin <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [129]	Two cohorts of American adults $(n = $	Pyrosequencing	Semi- quantitative FFQ	• Higher dietary fibre intake was associated with a lower abundance of <i>Actinomyces, Odoribacter, Oscillispira, Eubacterium dolichum</i> and <i>Bacteroides uniformis</i>
	151)			• Higher dietary fibre intake was associated with a higher abundance of <i>Clostridia: SMB53, Lachnospira</i> and <i>Faecalibacterium prausnitzii</i>
				• A higher intake of beans was associated with a higher abundance of <i>Faecalibacterium prausnitzii</i> and a lower abundance of <i>Bacteroides uniformis</i>
Losasso <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [123]	Italian adults: vegetarians (n = 32), vegans (n = 26), and omnivores (n = 43)	Illumina sequencing	Self-reported diet; Semi- quantitative FFQ (14 day- period); 24 h recall	 Vegans and vegetarians had an increased number of Bacteroidetes than omnivores

McDonald <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [130]	Adults (<i>n</i> = 11,336)	Shotgun sequencing	Self-reported diet; FFQ	 Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and Oscillospira were associated with eating > 30 types of plants Consuming higher diversity of plants resulted in higher alpha diversity
Johnson <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2019 [131]	American adults (<i>n</i> = 34)	Shotgun sequencing	Self-recorded dietary intake for 17 days	 Grain-based foods were positively associated with Lachnospiraceae for multiple participants Meat-based foods were negatively associated with Bacteroidaceae
Partula <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2019 [132]	French adults (<i>n</i> = 862)	Illumina sequencing	FFQ (including 19 food groups)	 for multiple participants Cheese was negatively correlated with <i>Verrucomicrobia</i> and <i>Akkermansia muciniphila</i> Sweet products were negatively correlated with Proteobacteria
				 Fried products, soda and SSB were negatively associated with alpha diversity Fish and raw fruit were positively associated with alpha diversity Beta diversity was only associated with cheese, ready-cooked meals, cooked fruit, raw fruits, and fried products
Shikany <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2019 [133]	American older men (<i>n</i> = 517)	Illumina sequencing	Semi- quantitative FFQ (including 69 foods, 1-year period)	 The "Western" pattern (processed meats, refined grains, potatoes, eggs, sweets, and salty snacks) was positively associated with <i>Eubacterium, Alistipes, Anaerotruncus, Collinsella, Coprobacillus, Desulfovibrio, Dorea, and Ruminococcus, and negatively associated with Coprococcus, Prevotella Haemophilus, Faecalibacterium, Lachnospira, and Paraprevotella</i> The "Prudent" pattern (vegetables, fruit, nuts, fish, skinless chicken, and turkey) was positively associated with <i>Veillonella Faecalibacterium, Paraprevotella</i> and <i>Lachnospira, and negatively associated with Ruminococcus, Desulfovibrio, Dorea, Cloacibacillus, Collinsella</i>
Tang <i>et al.</i> , 2019 [134]	Healthy adults (<i>n</i> = 136)	Illumina sequencing	FFQ (including 134 food items, 1- year period)	Sixty-one food items or nutrients were associated with at least one bacterial genus

¹ FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; HEI, Healthy Eating Index; HFD, Healthy Food diversity; MDS, Mediterranean diet score; SSB, sugar-sweetened beverages.

2.4. Evidence for small intestinal fermentation

Early research on the GIT microbiota concluded that the human small intestine is sterile [19], and no breakdown of dietary fibre occurs in the small intestine [6, 7]. Therefore, the common belief has been that GIT fermentation is limited to the large intestine due to a high number of microbes [5]. However, new microbial analysis techniques, such as next-generation sequencing, allowed for identifying many novel microbes that had not been cultured previously. This sparked further interest in microbiota in GIT locations other than the large intestine and their potential function. For example, some novel microbial strains have been isolated from the human small intestine, such as Enterococcus sp. strain HSIEG1 [135], Romboutsia hominis sp. strain FRIFI^T [136] and Veillonella parvula strain HSIVP1 [137]. The main challenge in researching the human small intestinal microbiota and its fermentation is the inaccessibility of the human small intestine. Small intestinal samples can be obtained via different methods, including human ileostomates [12, 20], oral/nasal intubation [12, 54], endoscopy [138, 139], and sudden death victims [9, 23]. These methods are described in more detail in Section 2.5.1.1. The predicted metabolic activity of small intestinal bacteria has been found to be different from that of large intestinal microbiota. For example, small intestinal bacteria are focused the rapid metabolism of simple sugars [12]. Therefore, small intestinal microbiota may contribute to the fermentation of dietary and non-dietary nutrients and might play an important role in supporting the host's health. The following sections give an overview of the literature to date describing different aspects of small intestinal fermentation, including the disappearance (i.e., digestibility) of dietary fibre in the upper GIT ileal (Section 2.4.1), the microbial population and its genetic potential (Section 2.4.2), and the concentration of fermentation products (Section 2.4.3). The last section (Section 2.4.4) discusses the potential function of small intestinal fermentation in humans.

2.4.1. The digestibility of dietary fibre in the upper gastrointestinal tract

Historically, the breakdown of dietary fibre was thought to only occur in the large intestine. This belief was based on several studies that reported a low or negative dietary fibre digestibility (i.e., more than 100% recovery) in human ileostomates [6, 7, 140-142]. Dietary fibres were (almost) completely fermented in the large intestine [1]. More dietary fibre was found in the ileal effluent of human ileostomates than was ingested, indicating that endogenous materials (e.g., mucins and microbial material) contribute to the total dietary fibre measured [143]. Montoya *et al.*, 2015 [144] showed that the ileal digesta of ileal-cannulated pigs contained endogenous materials that interfered with dietary fibre determination in the digesta. When the results were corrected for these endogenous materials, the ileal digestibility of the soluble fibre fraction of kiwifruit increased from 28 to 78% [144]. These findings suggest that dietary fibre digestibility might be underestimated when the results are not corrected for the non-dietary materials in the digesta.

Several *in vivo* studies have reported dietary fibre digestion (i.e., disappearance) in the human upper GIT (i.e., stomach and small intestine; Table 2.4). For example, on average, only 69% of the pectin consumed reached the terminal ileum of human ileostomates [145]. The observed ileal digestibilities ranged from 0 to 80%, depending on the type of dietary fibre and the donor. Dietary fibres are not hydrolyzed by endogenous enzymes in the human stomach and small intestine [26]. Therefore, these reported dietary fibre ileal digestibilities are likely due to microbial activity in the upper GIT. This indicates that the upper GIT microbiota plays an essential role in dietary fibre fermentation. For example, it has been demonstrated that ileal microbiota obtained from ileostomy subjects can ferment purified pectin up to 40% in 2 hours [146] and FOS up to 89% in 5 hours [21].

Deference	Diatomy fibro		Deee	Collection	m 1	Eibro opolyzio	AID (%)		
Reference	Dietary fibre		Dose	method	<i>n</i> .	Fibre analysis	Range	Average	
Lia <i>et al.</i> , 1996 [147]	β-glucan	As part of bread	1.2 – 13 g/day	lleostomy	9	Monomeric sugar analysis	8 - 76	33	
Sundberg <i>et al.</i> , 1996 [148]	β-glucan	As part of bread	1.1 -12.5 g/day	lleostomy	9	Monomeric sugar analysis	13 - 64	NA	
Holloway <i>et al.</i> , 1978 [149]	Cellulose	As part of a meal	6.4 -8.4 g/day	lleostomy	6	Acid detergent extraction	0 - 31	11	
Sandberg <i>et al.</i> , 1981 [150]	Cellulose	in wheat bran as part of a diet	16 g wheat bran/day	lleostomy	9	Gravimetric, enzymatic method	0 - 26	NA	
Oyama <i>et al.</i> , 2008 [151]	Cellulose	Purified	5 g in one meal	lleal intubation	7	Monomeric sugar analysis	0 - 33	1.6	
Rowan, 1989 [152]	Cellulose	As part of a meal	3.8 g/kg DM meal	lleostomy	5	Monomeric sugar analysis	NA	8.1	
Lia <i>et al.</i> , 1996 [147]	Dietary fibre ²	As part of bread	19 - 48 g/day	lleostomy	9	Monomeric sugar analysis	14 -34	23	
Molis <i>et al.</i> , 1996 [153]	FOS	Purified	20 g/day	lleal intubation	6	Polysaccharide profile by chromatography	0 - 40	11	
Ellegård <i>et al.</i> , 1997 [142]	FOS	Purified	16 g/day	lleostomy	8	Gravimetric, enzymatic method	0 - 37	11	
van Trijp <i>et al.</i> , 2022 [43]	FOS	Purified from Chicory	5.4 g in one meal	lleal intubation	7	Polysaccharide profile by chromatography	0 - 29	4	
van Trijp <i>et al.</i> , 2022 [43]	GOS	Purified; mixture DP 2 to 6	7.1 g in one meal	lleal intubation	7	Polysaccharide profile by chromatography	0 - 52	24	
Holloway <i>et al.</i> , 1978 [149]	Hemicellulose	As part of a meal	11 -14 g/day	lleostomy	6	Neutral detergent extraction	65 - 80	74	
Sandberg <i>et al.</i> , 1981 [150]	Hemicellulose	in wheat bran as part of diet	16 g wheat bran/day	lleostomy	9	Gravimetric, enzymatic method	0 - 21	NA	

Table 2.4: Apparent ileal digestibility (AID) of different dietary fibres in humans, obtaining samples via ileostomy or intubation.

Rowan, 1989 [152]	Hemicellulose	As part of a meal	114 g/kg DM meal	lleostomy	5	Monomeric sugar analysis	NA	45
Bach Knudsen and Hessov, 1995 [154]	Inulin	Jerusalem artichoke extract (70%)	10 - 30 g/day	lleostomy	7	Monomeric sugar analysis	5 - 38	13
Ellegård <i>et al.</i> , 1997 [142]	Inulin	Purified	17 g/day	lleostomy	10	Gravimetric, enzymatic method	0 - 24	12
Holloway <i>et al.</i> , 1983 [145]	Pectin	As part of a meal	4.5 - 5.6 g/day	lleostomy	6	Uronic acid content	15 - 47	31
Sandberg <i>et al.</i> , 1983 [155]	Pectin	Purified from citrus	15 g/day	ileostomy	6	Uronic acid content	0 - 30	15
Rowan, 1989 [152]	Pectin	As part of a meal	7.5 g/kg DM meal	lleostomy	5	Monomeric sugar analysis	NA	87
Saito <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [156]	Pectin	Purified from apple	4.1 g/day	lleal intubation	7	Galacturonic acid content	0 - 23	12
Englyst and Cummings, 1985 [6]	Non-starch polysaccharides	In oats	6.6 g in one meal	lleostomy	4	Monomeric sugar analysis	0 - 16	5 ³
Englyst and Cummings, 1986 [157]	Non-starch polysaccharides	In banana	2.1 g/day	lleostomy	3	Monomeric sugar analysis	NA	1.4 ³
Sandström <i>et al.,</i> 1986 [158]	Non-starch polysaccharides	As part of a meal	14 - 16 g/day	lleostomy	8	Monomeric sugar analysis	1 - 7	3.9
Lia <i>et al.</i> , 1996 [147]	Resistant starch	As part of bread	1.7 – 2.8 g/day	lleostomy	9	Monomeric sugar analysis	0 - 18	1.4

¹ n indicated the number of participants.
 ² Dietary fibre was determined as the sum of the non-starch polysaccharides, enzyme-resistant starch, and Klason lignin.

³ The results were corrected for endogenous galactose from mucus by correcting the galactose recovery in the effluent during the test meal day based on the fucose recovery in the effluent during the test meal day and the fucose:galactose ratio in the effluent during the fibre-free day. AID, apparent ileal digestibility; DP, degree of polymerization; FOS, fructooligosaccharides; GOS, galactooligosaccharides; NA, not applicable

In addition to measures of ileal digestibility, it has also been shown that chemical changes in dietary fibre may occur in the upper GIT. For example, higher amounts of soluble nonstarch polysaccharides (NSP) and lower amounts of insoluble NSP were found in the ileal effluent than in the diet given to humans ileostomy subjects [6], and the molecular weight of β -glucan was reduced [147]. These chemical changes in the upper GIT could also suggest microbial activity in the upper GIT. Together with the disappearance of dietary fibre by the upper GIT microbiota, these observations indicate that the small intestinal microbiota contributes to the fermentation of dietary nutrients.

2.4.2. Small intestinal microbiota

The second indication that the small intestine contributes to overall GIT fermentation is the presence of microbes in the small intestine. The small intestine imposes a challenging environment for GIT microbiota due to the short transit time (2 to 5 hours) [159], the intermitted nutrient availability, and the secretion of bile acids [160], digestive enzymes, and antimicrobial factors [161]. These conditions contribute to lower microbial density and diversity. However, it provides a niche for bacteria that adapt rapidly to environmental changes to flourish. The total number of bacteria in the small intestine varies between individuals and gradually increases from the duodenum to the ileum in human adults (Figure 2.2) [52].

Firmicutes and Proteobacteria are the two dominant phyla in the small intestine (Table 2.5). Towards the end of the small intestine (i.e., ileum), the abundance of Proteobacteria decreases, and the number of Bacteroidetes increases. A novel phylum, Saccharibacteria (formerly known as TM7), is unique to the small intestine but only represents 2% of the microbiota [162]. Most studies reported *Streptococcus* and *Veillonella* as the most abundant

genera within the small intestinal luminal microbiota. Other genera that have been found in high abundance were *Gemella* and *Prevotella* (in duodenum and jejunum), *Enterobacter* (in jejunum), *Clostridium cluster XIVa*, *Enterococcus* and *Lactobacillus* (in the ileum). An inconsistency in the taxonomic composition between studies was observed, which could be due to the different microbial analyses used. Next to that, the sampling time may have affected the taxonomic composition in the digesta, as it was found to be highly variable during the day in the ileal effluent [20, 43, 163]. The number of bacteria and the microbial composition in the ileum correlate with the meal intake, causing variability in the available nutrients [43, 163, 164]. For example, the number of *Enterobacteria* was 10⁷ colony-forming units (CFU)/g digesta after a 12-hour fast, dropping to 10³ and 10² CFU/g digesta at sixty and one hundred minutes, and then increasing again to 10⁶ CFU/g digesta at two hundred minutes post-meal [163].

The most abundant bacteria within the mucosal microbiota in the small intestine of adult humans tended to be similar to the luminal microbiota described above [8, 11, 139, 165-171]. However, the proportions differ. The bacterial density in the mucosa obtained from the duodenum and jejunum was about 10³-10⁴ 16S rRNA gene copies/g. In the terminal ileum, it is 10⁵-10⁶ 16S rRNA gene copies/g [139]. Proteobacteria followed by Firmicutes dominated the mucosa in the duodenum and jejunum. Bacteroidetes became more abundant in the ileum. The most abundant genera in the duodenum and jejunum mucosa are *Streptococcus*, *Veillonella*, and *Prevotella*. However, more bacteria from the genera Bacteroides and Clostridium cluster XIVa are found in the ileum.

Based on predicted metabolic functionality, the small intestinal microbiota is predominantly involved in simple carbohydrate and energy metabolism [12, 54, 135, 172]. The pathways related to the sugar phosphotransferase systems and amino acid metabolism were also

enriched [12]. Many carbohydrate-active enzyme encoding genes have been found in the small intestinal microbiota, making them highly adaptive to environmental changes, such as substrate availability [12]. However, some bacteria in the small intestine cannot ferment carbohydrates. For example, *Veillonella parvula* HSIVP1 assigned only 2.4% of their genes to carbohydrate transport and metabolism [137]. Instead, more of its genes are focused on energy production and the bacterium is required to metabolize lactate, a fermentation product of *Streptococcus*, to propionate [137]. The individual *Streptococcus* strains have genes encoding for different carbohydrate-active enzymes and may focus their metabolism on different substrates. Additionally, Streptococcus is suggested to participate in inter-strain crosstalk via identical receptors found on the cell surface [173]. Combining these characteristics makes the Streptococcus community highly dynamic and adaptive, making them an ideal candidate to survive in the small intestine. Other bacteria that have features well suited for the small intestinal environment are *Bacteroides*, which can degrade bile acids and are, therefore, not affected by the high level of bile acids in the small intestine [174].

Like large intestinal microbiota, it is expected that the small intestinal microbiota is affected by diet, both short dietary interventions and long-term diet intake. However, the number of studies looking at this is limited due to the low accessibility of the human small intestine. Inter-individual variations in the ileal microbiota were observed at various times during the day, suggesting a direct effect of meal intake [20, 163]. One study described a 10-fold increase in the number of bacteria per gram of ileal effluent after a two-week intervention whereby individuals received a high-fibre diet compared to a low-fibre diet [164]. Further research is warranted to determine the interplay between small intestinal microbiota and dietary intake.

Ageing is another factor that has been studied in relation to the small intestinal microbiota. The α -diversity (i.e., species diversity within a sample) of the duodenal microbiota of adult humans decreases with chronological age [114]. However, this decrease in diversity is also correlated with an increase in medication and concomitant diseases in older individuals. The total number of bacteria in the duodenum was increased in older individuals (i.e., 66 to 80 years old), as well as the relative abundances of Proteobacteria, *Lactobacillus, Escherichia,* and *Klebsiella*, compared to younger individuals (i.e., 18 to 35 years old) [114]. In the case of *Klebsiella*, its relative abundance was also correlated with the number of medications. Ageing decreased the relative abundance of *Bacteroides* and an unknown genus from the family Xanthomonadaceae. These results are consistent with the effect of ageing on the large intestinal microbiota [175].

Several studies show a link between the small intestinal microbiota and the host's health status. For example, patients with celiac disease have an increased relative abundance of Proteobacteria in the duodenal mucosa than healthy adults [168]. Further, *Escherichia coli* in the ileal mucosa is associated with patients diagnosed with Crohn's disease and can potentially initiate inflammation in the epithelial cells [176]. Due to the link between the small intestinal bacteria and several diseases, it is suggested that there might be a potential to develop strategies to target changes in the small intestinal microbiota to prevent or treat specific GIT disorders.

Table 2.5: The predominant bacterial phyla and genera identified in the digesta obtained from various parts of the small intestine in healthy

adult humans and ileal effluent from human ileostomates using culture-independent methods¹

Reference	Location	Collection Method	n²	Microbial analysis	Predominant bacteria ³
Angelakis <i>et al.</i> , 2015 [54]	Duodenum	Oral intubation	5	Pyrosequencing and Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, and Proteobacteria Genera: <i>Streptococcus</i> , <i>Actinomyces</i> , <i>Propionibacterium</i> , <i>Granulicatella</i> , and <i>Gemella</i>
Zmora <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [139]	Duodenum	Endoscopy	29	Pyrosequencing	Genera: Streptococcus, Prevotella, Bacteroides, Haemophilus, and Veillonella
Mailhe <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [177]	Duodenum	Endoscopy	6	Culturomics and Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes
Seekatz <i>et al.</i> , 2019 [178]	Duodenum	Intubation	9	Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes Genera: <i>Streptococcus</i> , <i>Veillonella</i> , <i>Gemella</i> , an unclassified genus from the Pasteurellaceae family and <i>Fusobacterium</i>
Leite <i>et al.</i> , 2021 [114]	Duodenum	Intubation	251	Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria Genera: <i>Streptococcus, Veillonella, Prevotella, Rothia</i> and <i>Escherichia</i>
Maeda <i>et al.</i> , 2022 [179]	Duodenum	Endoscopy	34	Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, and Proteobacteria Genera: <i>Streptococcus, Prevotella, Veillonella,</i> <i>Fusobacterium</i> , and <i>Neisseria</i>
Zheng <i>et al.</i> , 2022 [180]	Duodenum	Endoscopy	5	Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Fusobacteria Genera: Veillonella, Fusobacterium, Streptococcus, Neisseria, and Prevotella

Hayashi <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [9]	Jejunum	Sudden death victims	3	T-RFLP analysis	Phyla: Firmicutes and Proteobacteria Genera: Lactobacillus, Streptococcus, Enterobacter, and Klebsiella
Zoetendal <i>et al.</i> , 2012 [12]	Jejunum	Nasal intubation	1	HITChip	Phyla: Firmicutes and Proteobacteria Genera: <i>Streptococcus, Veillonella,</i> and <i>Clostridium</i> cluster XIVa
Sundin <i>et al.</i> , 2017 [138]	Jejunum	Endoscopy	20	Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes Genera: Streptococcus, Prevotella, Veillonella, Escherichia, and Fusobacterium
Zmora <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [139]	Jejunum	Endoscopy	29	Pyrosequencing	Genera: Streptococcus, Prevotella, Bacteroides, Haemophilus, and Veillonella
Seekatz <i>et al.</i> , 2019 [178]	Jejunum	Intubation	6	Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes and Proteobacteria Genera: <i>Streptococcus</i> , <i>Gemella</i> , <i>Veillonella</i> , an unclassified genus from the Pasteurellaceae family and an unclassified genus from the Enterobacteriaceae family
Shin <i>et al.</i> , 2019 [181]	Jejunum	Endoscopy	12	Illumina sequencing	Genera: Streptococcus, Veillonella, and Actinomyces
Leite <i>et al.</i> , 2020 [162]	Jejunum	Intubation	23	Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria Families: Steptococcaceae, Enterobacteriaceae, Veillonellaceae, Micrococcaceae, and Pseudomonadaceae
Hayashi <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [9]	lleum	Sudden death victims	3	T-RFLP analysis	Phyla: Proteobacteria and Firmicutes Genera: <i>Bacillus</i> , Lactobacillus, <i>Streptococcus</i> , <i>Actinobacillus</i> , and <i>Enterococcus</i>
Booijink <i>et al.</i> , 2010 [20]	lleum	lleostomy	4	DGGE	Phylum: Firmicutes Genera: <i>Streptococcus</i> , <i>Veillonella</i> , <i>Enterococcus</i> , and <i>Clostridium</i> cluster I

Zoetendal <i>et al.</i> , 2012 [12]	lleum	Nasal intubation	3	HITChip	Phyla: Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria Genus: <i>Clostridium</i> cluster XIVa
Zoetendal <i>et al.</i> , 2012 [12]	lleum	lleostomy	5	HITChip	Phylum: Firmicutes Genus <i>Bacillus Clostridium</i> cluster XIVa, XI, I, and IV
Leimena <i>et al.</i> , 2013 [182]	lleum	lleostomy	2	Pyrosequencing and Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes and Proteobacteria Genera: Streptococcus, Clostridium, Veillonella, Haemophilus, and Turicibacter
van den Bogert <i>et al.</i> , 2013 [183]	lleum	lleostomy	4	Pyrosequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes Genera: Streptococcus, Enterococcus, Veillonella, Bacteroides, and Lactobacillus
Mailhe <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [177]	lleum	Endoscopy	6	Culturomics and Illumina sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes
Zmora <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [139]	lleum	Endoscopy	29	Pyrosequencing	Genera: <i>Bacteroides</i> , a genus of the Lachnospiraceae family, a genus of the Enterobacteriaceae family, <i>Faecalibacterium</i> , and <i>Streptococcus</i>
Ruigrok <i>et al.</i> , 2021 [172]	lleum	lleostomy	57	Shotgun sequencing	Phyla: Firmicutes and Proteobacteria Genera: Streptococcus, Escherichia, Blautia, Peptostreptococcaceae noname, Clostridium, Lactobacillus, and Veillonella
Nana <i>et al.</i> , 2021 [184]	lleum	lleostomy	11	Illumina sequencing	Genera: Escherichia/Shigella, Turicibacter, Clostridium, Bacteroides, and Haemophilus
van Trijp <i>et al.</i> , 2022 [43]	lleum	Intubation	6	Illumina sequencing	Genera: <i>Haemophilus</i> , <i>Clostridium sensu stricto 1</i> , <i>Streptococcus</i> , a genus of the Enterobacteriaceae family, and <i>Veillonella</i>

¹ HITChip, Human Intestinal Tract Chip; T-RFLP, Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism; DGGE, Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. ² *n* indicated the number of participants. If the study included both patients and healthy controls, only the results of the healthy controls were included in this table. ³ The predominant bacteria are listed in the most abundant phyla (up to three), families, or genera (up to five).

2.4.2.1. Comparing the microbiota from the small and large intestine

The small intestinal microbiota differs from the large intestinal microbiota in terms of the number of bacteria and the taxonomic diversity. For example, with 10¹⁰-10¹¹ cells/g digesta [5], the number of bacteria in the large intestine is about a hundred to a thousand times greater than that of the ileum [52]. The most abundant phyla found in the luminal microbiota are similar between the small and large intestines, namely Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes. However, the relative abundance of these phyla differs. For example, a higher relative abundance of Firmicutes is found in the large intestine. One phylum, Saccharibacteria, was unique to the small intestine that has not been found in the large intestine [162]. The genera within the most abundant phyla also differed between small and large intestinal microbiota. For example, a higher relative abundance of Veillonella- and Streptococcus were found in the small intestine lumen than in the large intestine [8, 9, 20, 162, 172]. On the other hand, Bacteroides and Clostridium are found in higher relative abundance in the large intestine than in the duodenum and jejunum [8, 9, 20, 172]. It is found that the microbiota in the duodenum and jejunum resemble more the microbiota in other upper GIT locations (i.e., stomach and oesophagus) [139, 171]. At the same time, the ileal microbiota was more similar to the colonic and faecal microbiota in terms of the most abundant genera. Of the three enterotypes described for the faecal microbiota only one, namely the Prevotella enterotype has been identified in the small intestine (i.e., jejunal mucosa) [169]. The other enterotypes have not been found in the small intestine, which is expected since *Ruminococcus* and *Bacteroides* do not belong to the most abundant general in the small intestine. A lower α -diversity was found in the ileal effluent of human ileostomates than the α -diversity in the faeces of human adults [20, 172]. Like the large intestinal microbiota, the small intestinal microbiota is unique per individual. However, the small intestinal microbiota is less stable and fluctuates more than the large intestinal microbiota [20].

More bacteria were found in the human ileal mucosa (i.e., 10^9 16s rRNA gene copies/mg tissue) than in the colon (i.e., 10^7 16s rRNA gene copies/mg tissue) [165]. The mucosal microbiota composition is also different in the small and large intestines. For example, a greater relative abundance of *Bifidobacterium* is found in human ileal mucosa, while *Lactobacillus*, *Eubacterium*, and *Faecalibacterium* are more dominant in colonic mucosa [165]. The α -diversity was higher in mucosal samples from the human large intestine compared to the jejunum but not the ileum [8]. The β -diversity also showed that the ileal mucosal microbiota was similar to the mucosa in the colon [167].

The predicted functionality of the small intestinal microbiota was found to be different from the faecal microbiota. The metabolic pathways enriched in the small intestinal microbiota compared to the faecal microbiota were related to carbohydrate metabolism, energy metabolism, amino acid biosynthesis, and biotin biosynthesis [12, 54, 172]. On the other hand, some pathways, such as the urea cycle, nitrogen fixation, and methanogenesis, were more enriched in the large intestinal microbiota [12]. While the small intestinal microbiota appears to have adapted to a quickly changing environment, the large intestinal microbiota has evolved to survive in an environment low in simple sugars. It has optimised its metabolism to long-chain carbohydrates. These differences in predicted metabolic activity are based on differences in the genome between faecal and ileal microbiota and do not directly represent functionality. Nevertheless, it is suggested that the small intestinal microbiota has a different GIT function and fermentation capacity than the large intestinal microbiota.

Currently, most GIT microbiota research is focused on faecal samples due to the noninvasive nature of the sampling. However, the differences in microbial composition, diversity, and predicted metabolic functionality between the small and large intestinal microbiota in humans demonstrate that the faecal microbiota does not reflect the microbiota present in the small intestine and, therefore, may provide an incomplete picture of GIT fermentation and including other GIT locations is important to better understand GIT fermentation. It is proposed to study the small intestinal microbiota directly to better understand the GIT microbiota, its fermentation, and its potential health effect on the host.

2.4.3. Fermentation products in the small intestine

Another indicator of small intestinal fermentation is the presence of bacterial metabolites. Several studies have reported the presence of fermentation products in the small intestine. For example, 34.5 mmol total organic acids/kg ileal digesta were found in sudden death victims [23] and 25 mmol total SCFAs/L ileal effluent [185]. The main organic acids found in the small intestine were lactate (38%), succinate (23%), and acetate (22%) [23]. However, in the faeces of healthy adult humans, the total SCFA concentration was four times higher than in ileal effluent with higher amounts of butyrate and propionate [185]. Low to non-detectible amounts of iso-valerate and iso-butyrate are found in ileal digesta [23]. This was expected as ileal microbiota was not involved in protein fermentation, based on the ileal digestibility of protein in human ileostomates after an antibiotic treatment being similar to before the antibiotic treatment [186, 187]. Like in the large intestine, organic acid production can be affected by diet. Human ileostomates receiving a high-fibre diet containing rye bread had an increased concentration of SCFAs and lactate in their ileal effluent compared to those receiving a low-fibre diet containing wheat bread [188].

It should be noted that SCFA concentrations in ileal digesta or effluent only represent a single time point and do not reflect the total production during small intestinal fermentation. *In vitro* fermentation may better represent the total SCFAs produced during fermentation, as it is not affected by absorption by the host. Up to 120 mM SCFAs, mainly acetate, were produced during 5 hours of *in vitro* fermentation of purified dietary fibre substrates with ileal effluent [21, 146]. The type and amount of organic acid produced depended on the dietary fibre substrate and the ileal effluent donor [21].

2.4.4. Potential health effects of small intestinal fermentation

The following paragraphs discuss the health effects that may be attributed specifically to small intestinal fermentation (i.e., its function in the human GIT) and two disease states with either reduced or high microbial activity in the small intestine.

2.4.4.1. Positive health effects ascribed to small intestinal fermentation

Firstly, small intestinal microbiota helps to break down nutrients and recover energy. For example, germ-free mice have reduced lipid digestion and absorption in the duodenum and jejunum [189]. Introducing jejunal microbiota into the germ-free mice increased lipid absorption, which was linked to the bacteria from the Clostridiaceae family [189]. Similar results are expected in humans as ileal microbiota from human ileostomates have a higher predicted activity of four metabolic pathways related to fatty acid and lipid metabolism than faecal microbiota from adult humans [54, 172]. Research on different animal species found that species with a high-fibre diet benefit more from small intestinal fermentation to retrieve energy from nutrients resistant to the host digestive enzymes [190]. Therefore, it is expected

that humans that consume a high-fibre diet would benefit more from small intestinal fermentation.

Secondly, small intestinal microbiota may play an important role in converting specific dietary components and improving their bioavailability. For example, ileal microbiota from human ileostomates was found to metabolize polyphenols from green tea during *in vitro* fermentation, providing smaller bioactive compounds that could be absorbed by the host and serve as antioxidants [191]. There have also been reports that small intestinal microbiota, especially in the duodenum, can support gluten digestion in human adults and patients with celiac disease [192, 193]. Some of these bacteria (e.g., *Lactobacillus*) can metabolise the immunogenic 33-mer peptide as observed *in vitro* [194] and in a mouse model [192]. The end products of bacterial fermentation of gluten could be harmless or harmful [192]. More research is required to understand the role of specific small intestinal bacteria and their potential to reduce the immunogenicity of gluten.

Thirdly, the small intestinal microbiota is enriched in genes related to the synthesis of various vitamins compared to the faecal microbiota [12, 172]. For example, all small-intestinal derived *Streptococcus* have a genome enriched with genes to synthesize folate (vitamin B9) and pyridoxal-5-phosphate (vitamin B6) [173]. In addition, *Pseudomonas* and *Klebsiella*, isolated from human small intestinal digesta, produce significant amounts of vitamin B12 (cyanocobalamin) [195]. The host can absorb the vitamins directly, making the small intestinal microbiota an important supplier of these essential vitamins.

The small intestine is the GIT location where more interactions between the intestinal microbiota and host immune cells happen due to the high density of immune cells (i.e., Peyer's patches) and a thinner mucus layer [196]. Several bacteria (e.g., *Lactobacillus* and *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*) in the ileum have been found to regulate gene expression in

epithelial cells *in vivo* [197] and in a mouse model [198, 199]. There are also specific bacteria, namely segmented filamentous bacteria (SFB), found in the small intestine [200] that can directly affect the immune system, for example, by inducing cytokine production [201, 202]. SFBs anchor themselves in the epithelium layer near the Peyer's patches in the ileum [202]. Therefore, it is suggested that the ileal microbiota is an important player in driving the innate and adaptive immune system of the host.

Lastly, the blood level of acetate of human ileostomates is about 44% of that of healthy adult humans, implying that small intestinal fermentation contributes to systemic health effects via the absorption of fermentation products [203]. Multiple studies have linked end products of GIT fermentation with appetite control in human adults [204]. It is expected that this mechanism is through the free fatty acid receptors that are found in the small intestine. These receptors produce satiety hormones (i.e., GLP-1, ghrelin, and PYY) upon binding with fermentation products such as acetate. Therefore, it is hypothesised that small intestinal fermentation reduces appetite. The free fatty acid receptors in the ileum can also trigger a negative feedback pathway to lower glucose production in the liver upon binding with propionate in a rat model [205]. Next to inducing satiety hormone production, organic acids also stimulate ileal motility in humans [206, 207]. Therefore, small intestinal fermentation may promote the movement of digesta along the GIT.

2.4.4.2. Adverse health effects related to the small intestinal microbiota and fermentation

Two disease states could provide insights into the function of small intestinal fermentation and the effects of dysbiosis when there are either too few or too many bacteria in the small intestine. Short bowel syndrome (SBS) is a state whereby part of the small intestine has been removed due to a GIT resection. Patients with SBS have reduced microbial activity in the small intestine. A higher abundance of *Lactobacillus*, a member of the typical small intestinal microbiota, is found in the faeces of patients with short bowel syndrome [208, 209]. In comparison, the relative abundance of *Clostridium* and *Bacteroidetes*, typical large intestinal bacteria, is lower in the faeces of patients with SBS than in healthy individuals [208, 209]. Similar results were obtained in patients who received a duodenal-jejunal bypass excluding about 60 cm of the small intestine [210]. These differences in the microbiota suggest that when the small intestine is short, the function that the *Lactobacillus* and other bacteria would perform in the small intestine is shifted to the large intestine. These results strengthen the suggestion that the microbiota in the small intestine performs an important role. However, it is unknown whether the GIT fermentation and the production of metabolites differ between patients with SBS and healthy humans. In addition, the malabsorption of nutrients due to the short bowel may also affect the large intestinal microbiota in patients with SBS.

Secondly, small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) is a disease whereby microbial activity in the small intestine is above normal causing adverse health effects such as bloating. In SIBO, the duodenum, jejunum, or proximal ileum is colonised by many bacteria, usually classified as typical large intestinal bacteria [211]. A diagnosis of SIBO is the presence of $\geq 10^3$ CFU/mL of duodenal digesta [212] or $\geq 10^6$ CFU/mL of jejunal digesta [211]. The overload of bacteria can interfere with the digestion and absorption of nutrients. For example, SIBO is associated with the loss of brush-border enzymes due to mucosal injury and bacterial fermentation of sorbitol, fructose, and lactose, resulting in the malabsorption of carbohydrates [213]. An increased relative abundance of Enterobacteriaceae, *Escherichia-Shigella*, and *Clostridium perfringens* is found in the duodenum patients with SIBO compared to non-SIBO individuals [214, 215]. In addition, duodenal digesta of patients

with SIBO had a decreased abundance of Firmicutes and lower α -diversity than non-SIBO individuals [215]. The duodenal microbiota of SIBO subjects has a different predicted metabolic function (based on PICRUSt analysis) than that in non-SIBO individuals. For example, pathways reflective of oxidative stress and simple sugar metabolism increased in SIBO subjects [216]. A higher prevalence of SIBO has been observed in patients with several health conditions, such as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, functional dyspepsia [217], inflammatory bowel disease [218], and Alzheimer's disease [219], compared to healthy controls. These two disease states demonstrate that there should be a balance between enough small intestinal microbes to provide positive health benefits but not too many, leading to adverse effects.

2.5. Fermentation models

The common approaches to researching human GIT microbiota and their fermentation are based on human faecal material. However, the faecal microbiota does not resemble the small intestinal microbiota. The inaccessibility of the human small intestine makes it challenging to research the small intestinal microbiota and its fermentation. The following sections discuss (i) several techniques to obtain small intestinal samples from human adults, (ii) animal models that could be used instead of humans, and (iii) *in vitro* models designed to mimic the GIT fermentation and their suitability to study small intestinal fermentation.
2.5.1. In vivo models

2.5.1.1. Humans

Sampling directly from the small intestine of healthy human adults to investigate human small intestinal fermentation is believed to be ideal. The following section discusses several methods to obtain small intestinal samples, including the benefits and challenges.

2.5.1.1.1. Sudden death victims

Small intestinal samples can be obtained from sudden death victims [9, 23]. After obtaining consent from their relatives, samples can be taken during autopsy from different GIT regions within several hours of death. A concern with this sampling method is that post-mortem changes may affect the samples, such as the continuation of fermentation and shedding of epithelial cells. However, it has been shown in pigs that no distinguishable differences happened in the GIT microbiota, pH, and SCFA concentration during four hours post-mortem [23]. It is unclear whether post-mortem changes affect the fermentative capacity of the GIT microbiota. Sampling from sudden death victims allows the identification of microbial communities and metabolites in multiple GIT regions in the same subject. However, there is no option for dietary interventions.

2.5.1.1.2. Surgery

Another option to obtain samples from the small intestine directly is during surgery, for example, by needle aspiration [19, 138], swabbing the luminal wall [220], or mucosal biopsy [8, 11, 165, 170, 171]. Surgical sampling avoids contamination; therefore, the samples obtained accurately represent the small intestinal microbiota. However, surgery is invasive,

and it is nearly impossible to get samples from healthy controls. Also, surgical sampling often requires GIT preparation, such as fasting, cleansing, and antibiotic treatment, before surgery which could disrupt the microbiota [221]. Some studies have taken samples from patients undergoing emergency surgery to avoid pre-surgery GIT preparation [19, 165]. Obtaining samples during surgery allows for investigating the microbiota. However, the sample is often too small to perform a comprehensive analysis to assess fermentation patterns, and dietary interventions may not be possible.

2.4.1.1.3. Intubation

Intubation is another method used to obtain luminal content from the small intestine of healthy human adults. A tube is inserted via the nasal or oral cavity, swallowed, and guided to the desired location. Human subjects are often fasted overnight before positioning the tube in the small intestine, which requires gastroenterologist supervision. The position of the tube can be determined using fluoroscopy. Small aspirates (~ 1 mL) can be collected via the tube. The various intubation techniques available are discussed in more detail by van Trijp *et al.*, 2021 [222]. Intubation has been used successfully to determine the ileal digestibility of dietary fibre [151, 156], small intestinal microbiota [12, 54, 162, 178], and SCFA concentrations [206]. However, there are concerns about whether the small digesta samples are representative. Also, if the intestinal fluid is viscous, it can cause blockage in the tubing making the procedure challenging and time-consuming. It is suggested to use this methodology only for highly digestible diets. In addition, intubation is an invasive procedure, has a high drop-out rate, and is unsuitable for repeat sampling. Therefore, this methodology is not widely used.

2.4.1.1.4. lleostomy subjects

Human ileostomates have been used to sample digesta from the end of the small intestine (i.e., ileum) [12, 20, 53]. Human ileostomates underwent surgery where the colon is completely removed (i.e., permanent ileostomy) or bypassed to allow healing (i.e., temporary ileostomy) due to conditions such as colorectal cancer, ulcerative colitis, or Crohn's disease. The terminal ileum is connected to an abdominal stoma that allows the excretion of ileal effluent. The collection of ileal effluent is non-invasive to the human ileostomates, inexpensive, and allows repeated sample collection and dietary interventions. It has been suggested that human ileostomates do not have an ileal microbiota representative of that in an intact adult human due to potential exposure to oxygen and changes in the anatomical structure after surgery [53]. Even though the presence or absence of oxygen after an ileostomy has not been confirmed, the presence of strictly anaerobic bacteria (such as Ruminococcus gnavus) in ileal effluent suggests that oxygen has a limited effect on the microbiota in ileal effluent [12, 20]. Several studies compared the microbiota in ileal effluent with ileal samples obtained from healthy human adults via intubation [12, 223]. Gorbach et al., 1967 [223] found that the number of bacteria was greater in the ileal effluent. However, the distribution of aerobic and anaerobic species was similar. A recent study found that the microbiota in the ileal effluent more closely resembled the microbiota of the proximal small intestine (i.e., jejunum) than that of the ileum of healthy adult humans [12]. A possible explanation for this observation could be the removal of the ileocaecal valve, which reduces the transit time of the ileum [224], and the absence of colonic reflux [12].

Human ileostomates are a valuable model for studying ileal fermentation despite the abovementioned limitations. They provide sufficient samples to perform experiments testing

fermentation behaviours [21]. This model provides opportunities to explore the dynamics within the small intestinal community over time or through dietary interventions. However, recruiting enough participants is difficult for routine tests.

2.4.1.1.4. Ingestible devices

Ingestible devices are another option to investigate the GIT microbiota (including small intestine microbiota) and its fermentation. These small devices can be swallowed and measure fermentation products [225, 226] or take intestinal samples [227-234]. The first group of devices is programmed to sense different gasses, such as methane, oxygen, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide. It allows real-time analysis of gas profiles in the human GIT after food intake [225, 226]. The location of the capsule within the GIT is determined by the oxygen-equivalent concentration [225].

Several ingestible devices have been developed to sample luminal contents [228, 231, 232] or mucosa [234] along the human GIT and avoid contamination using enclosed capsules. The opening and closing of the capsules are regulated by negative pressure [228], pH changes in the GIT [232], or wireless communication [231, 234]. Other capsules can obtain mucosal biopsies from the GIT [227, 229, 230]. The location of the capsule is tracked using fluoroscopy [227]. Once it is in the desired location, the tissue is drawn into the capsule using suction or pressing against the intestinal wall, after which a cutting device is used to obtain the biopsy. Cummins, 2021 [231] have conducted a more comprehensive review of these different ingestible devices.

Ingestible devices allow for accurate sample collection in the GIT and collect sufficient samples to enable studying the luminal or mucosa microbiota at a genetic level. However, these techniques are expensive and require advanced technical knowledge. Importantly, not

enough sample can be obtained to perform *in vitro* fermentation experiments to determine fermentative capacity and metabolite production.

2.5.1.2. Animal models

Human subjects are the gold standard when researching the GIT microbiota and fermentation. However, human experiments have disadvantages, including cost, ethical considerations, safety concerns, and dietary compliance. It can also be challenging and invasive to sample the human small intestine. Therefore, *in vivo* animal models have been used to study the human small intestine microbiota and its fermentation. An additional advantage of using animals is that it reduces the individual variation caused by genetic and environmental factors. Several animals have been used previously as models for the human adult to study the GIT microbiota and its fermentation, including mice, rats, dogs, and primates. Even though dogs and primates have similar intestinal fermentation and diet (i.e., omnivorous) as humans [235, 236], these animals are hardly used due to the higher cost, emotional attachment, and animal welfare issues.

Rodents have been more frequently used as animal models for human adults since they are cost-effective. However, some physiological and metabolic differences between rodents and adult humans have been found. For example, rodents are granivore animals, nocturnal eaters, selective nibblers, and practice coprophagy. In addition, rodents have a faster transit of the digesta, resulting in a reduced ability for potential intestinal fermentation. Like in adult humans, the main phyla in the faecal microbiota of rodents are Firmicutes and Bacteroides [237]. However, the relative abundance of important bacterial genera differs between rodents and humans, for example, *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* [238-240]. These

differences and the fact that only a small digesta sample can be obtained from rodents make them unsuitable for comprehensive analysis to study small intestinal fermentation.

The growing pig has also been used as an animal model for the adult human in nutritional studies, as the GIT physiology of the stomach and small intestine is comparable with that of humans [14, 241-243], including similar transit times of the digesta [14], digestion activities, and absorption [244]. Pigs are monogastric and omnivorous meal eaters like humans. Moreover, the nutrient requirements of the pig are similar to the recommended daily nutrient allowances for adult humans [14]. Therefore, pigs have also been proposed as an adequate model for studying GIT microbiota and its fermentation [245, 246].

The main phyla in the GIT microbiota of pigs are Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla [14, 247, 248], which is similar to that of adult humans [44, 45]. However, differences have been found at the genus level based on independent studies. For example, *Prevotella* is the most abundant genus in the porcine faecal microbiota [249]. In contrast, the most abundant genus in human faeces is *Bacteroides* [44, 45]. The abundance of *Lactobacillus* and *Streptococcus* is greater in the porcine faeces [247, 249, 250], while *Bifidobacterium* and *Bacteroides* are increased in the human faeces [44, 45]. These differences in the GIT microbiota between pigs and humans have been associated with differences in diet [251] and environmental hygiene [252]. In addition, the fermentative capacity of the microbiota may also differ between the species. For example, when humans and pigs were fed a similar diet, cellulose and pectin ileal digestibility was higher in pigs than in humans [152]. However, the ileal digestibility of hemicellulose was similar between the species [152]. More research is warranted to compare the functionality of the human and pig microbiota.

An advantage of pigs over rodents is the larger size of the GIT (i.e., larger sample size), allowing for a more comprehensive analysis of the GIT microbiota and its fermentation.

However, pigs are not as cost-effective as rodents since they need more feed, animal care, and larger housing facilities. Samples from the small intestine of pigs can be obtained after euthanasia (in addition to samples from other GIT locations) or via ileal- or jejunal cannulation of a GIT location, which allows for repeat sampling. Despite the limitations described above, the pigs are suggested to be a good model for human small intestinal fermentation.

2.4.1.2.1 Human-flora-associated animals

As discussed above, the main criticism of using animal models to study human microbiota is that the microbiota can differ between species. Human-flora-associated (HFA) animals reduce the inter-species differences in GIT microbiota. Human faecal microbiota was transplanted into gnotobiotic or germ-free animals (e.g., pigs and mice) within the first 12 hours after birth and for several days thereafter to obtain these HFA animals [253-258]. HFA animals have a microbiota that more closely resembles the microbiota of the human donor, both in taxonomic composition and metabolic function *[257]*. The human adult microbiota was more successful in colonizing the GIT of HFA pigs than HFA mice [258]. Some specific genera present in the microbiota of the human donor, namely Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus, and Clostridium, were unable to colonize in the murine GIT [253, 254]. In contrast, these bacteria could colonize the pig GIT [255, 256]. Therefore, using HFA pigs as an animal model for human GIT microbiota is preferred over HFA mice. The HFA animal model can increase the reproducibility of experiments if a standardised stock of microbiota is preserved at -80°C. A standardised microbiota stock allows inoculating multiple batches of animals with the same microbiota.

However, inoculating animals with human faecal microbiota has not always been successful. Even though the human donor appears healthy (i.e., without clinical symptoms), transplanting its microbiota into pigs may introduce opportunistic pathogens that could be fatal for the pig [259]. This finding demonstrates the importance of screening the microbiota of the human donor for specific pathogens before inoculating the pigs.

Despite its limitations, the HFA animals, especially pigs, provide a valuable tool to study how environmental and generical factors affect the GIT microbiota and its metabolism in conditions like the human GIT. HFA animals are considered the preferred animal model over conventional animals. However, the current research that included HFA animals has been limited to the faecal microbiota. The effect of the human faecal inoculum on the small intestinal microbiota of HFA animals is unknown.

2.5.2. In vitro models

Even though *in vivo* models are preferred to investigate the GIT microbiota and its fermentation, it is not always possible to use *in vivo* models. Several fermentation outcomes (e.g., metabolite production) cannot be measured accurately due to processes in the GIT, such as absorption. Therefore, various *in vitro* models have been developed to mimic human GIT fermentation.

2.5.2.1. Static batch fermentation models

In vitro static batch fermentation models are the simplest and most frequently used models to study the fermentation behaviours of human faecal microbiota [30, 260, 261]. The substrate (e.g., dietary fibre) and microbiota (i.e., inoculum) are added at time zero to the

reaction vessel, after which the fermentation is allowed to proceed under a controlled environment (e.g., fixed temperature and anaerobic conditions). A standardised methodology to simulate large intestinal fermentation uses 100 mg DM substrate of fibre substrate and 10 mL of inoculum. The inoculum is prepared by diluting the human faecal matter with a phosphate buffer in a 1:4 (w:v) ratio. Both the preparation of the inoculum and the fermentation are done under anaerobic conditions at 37°C [260]. This approach has been used to evaluate the ability of individual microorganisms, multiple microbial strains, or whole microbial communities to metabolize different substrates. Short-chain fatty acid production and the disappearance of the substrate are often measured at the end of the fermentation process. However, several methodologies, such as the cumulative gas production technique [262], include repeat sampling during the fermentation to understand the fermentation kinetics. Batch fermentations are easy, cheap, standardised, and allow many samples to be studied simultaneously. It is often used in pre-screening approaches, allowing for a relative comparison between many different substrates.

These *in vitro* batch systems are simplified models of the *in vivo* fermentation in humans since they do not reproduce the dynamic processes that occur during human digestion and fermentation, such as the flow of digesta, addition of digestive juices (i.e., bile acids), and absorption of nutrients. On the other hand, an advantage of *in vitro* batch fermentation over *in vivo* models is that the latter cannot accurately predict the production of microbial metabolites due to absorption.

Currently, standardised *in vitro* static batch models are available that mimic digestion in the human small intestine [263]. However, these models do not include any small intestinal microbiota. Some studies have used ileal digesta from cannulated dogs and pigs to prepare an inoculum to perform *in vitro* small intestinal fermentation [264-267]. More recently, an inoculum prepared from ileal effluent from human ileostomates was tested for its ability to

ferment different fibre sources [21, 146]. However, in the latter studies, samples were fermented for over 5 hours, which might not be an accurate physiological representation of human ileal fermentation time as the transit time of digesta in the ileum is around 2 hours. Next to that, a protocol was developed to cultivate a simplified microbial community to represent the ileal microbial community, consisting of five different bacteria; *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron, Bifidobacterium longum, Lactobacillus plantarum, Streptococcus salivarius* and *Escherichia coli* [268]. Using this simplified ileal inoculum could increase the reproducibility of *in vitro* ileal fermentation experiments. However, whether this simplified ileal inoculum has fermentation behaviours similar to the ileal microbiota found in humans is unknown. Therefore, more research is warranted on whether static *in vitro* models can accurately represent the *in vivo* small intestinal fermentation.

2.5.2.2. Continuous dynamic models

Even though *in vitro* static batch experiments provide a straightforward and flexible tool to investigate the GIT microbiota and its fermentation, they do not fully represent the complex processes in the GIT *in vivo*. Therefore, continuous and dynamic *in vitro* systems have been developed to better simulate the environmental condition in the gut, such as pH changes and passage of digesta. These continuous dynamic models allow an in-depth study of the GIT microbiota and its fermentation behaviours.

Several *in vitro* continuous dynamic systems have been developed to simulate the large intestine, including the MacFarlane and Gibson model [269, 270], the TNO intestinal Model of the colon (TIM-2) [271], and the EnteroMix Colon Simulator [272]. These are multi-compartment models in which each compartment represents a different section of the large intestine (i.e., ascending, transverse, and distal colon). Another group of *in vitro* dynamic

fermentation models combines the colonic model described above with two additional compartments to simulate the stomach and small intestinal digestion. These models include the Simulator of the Human Intestinal Microbial Ecosystem (SHIME) [273], the TNO gastric-small intestinal model (TIM-1) connected to the TIM-2 [271], and the Simulator Gastro-Intestinal [274]. All these models operate at 37°C under anaerobic conditions, but the pH is regulated differently in each compartment to represent the *in vivo* conditions. Human adult faecal microbiota is used to inoculate these models. It takes about two weeks for the microbiota to stabilize [273, 275]. The *in vitro* dynamic systems have been used to test the effect of dietary components on microbial compositions and their metabolite production. Similar SCFA productions were found in the colonic compartments of the SHIME model when fermenting different fibre sources compared to the static *in vitro* faecal fermentation model [275]. However, no direct comparison of the *in vitro* model with *in vivo* measurements has been found.

The dynamic *in vitro* fermentation models described above only included microbiota in the colonic compartments. In addition, the models that include a small intestinal simulation only have one compartment for the small intestine, making it more challenging to introduce small intestinal microbiota as there are different numbers and dominant species in the different sections of the small intestine (Section 2.4.2). Recently, some studies have developed models that include ileal microbiota. The Smallest Intestine is a model that simulates the stomach and the various stages of the small intestine [276]. A mixture of seven bacterial strains (i.e., *Escherichia coli, Streptococcus salivarius, Streptococcus luteinensis, Enterococcus faecalis, Bacteroides fragilis, Veillonella parvula*, and *Flavonifractor plautii*) is added to the ileal stage. These bacteria are chosen as they are thought to be prominent members of the human ileal microbiota. Another study has introduced ileal microbiota from human ileostomates into an *in vitro* model based on the TIM-1 and TIM-2 technology [277].

The SHIME model has been tested with ileal microbiota from pigs [278]. However, more optimization is required for the latter model as the ileal microbiota in the small intestinal compartment evolved to resemble the colonic compartment more closely than that of the ileal inoculum [278].

A limitation of the dynamic systems is that only a small number of samples can be tested simultaneously, with a maximum of eight replicates in the EnteroMix Colon Simulator [272] and ten in the TIM-2 [271]. Another limitation of these *in vitro* models is that they cannot mimic all *in vivo* aspects of the GIT, such as the mucosal layer, immune cells, and complex peristaltic movements. However, several studies have tried to incorporate a mucosal layer into the dynamic fermentation models to study the colonization and metabolism of the mucosal layer by GIT microbiota [279, 280]. It was found that the bacteria occupying the *in vitro* mucosal layer were similar to those found *in vivo* in the mucosa of healthy adult humans [281]. One model, the Host Microbiota Interaction (HMI) model, goes even further by allowing for the interaction between microbiota and host immune cells [282]. The HMI model consists of two compartments with gut microbiota and human enterocytes separated by a semi-permeable membrane coated with mucins. The membrane facilitates exchanges of metabolites between the microbiota and host cells. It allows small amounts of oxygen to enter the microbial compartment to simulate a microaerophilic environment in the mucosal layer.

In vitro fermentation models (both static and dynamic) offer excellent opportunities to better understand the GIT microbiota and its fermentation behaviour (including metabolite production) in a standardised and controlled environment with high reproducibility. These models allow studying the different steps of the fermentation process by repeated sampling and in multiple regions of the GIT. However, since the *in vitro* models cannot mimic all

physiological processes in the GIT and the host-microbe interaction, the results should be interpreted cautiously. Reliable comparisons between *in vitro* and *in vivo* data are needed to validate the *in vitro* results.

2.5.3. Combined in vivo/in vitro models

As described above, the in vivo model makes it difficult to determine total fermentation products due to absorption. In vitro fermentation does not fully simulate GIT digestion. The latter is important in human nutrition as even ingredients considered 'undigested' might be affected by the gastric and small intestinal digestive processes, which changes their chemical properties such as solubility and viscosity [283], and the addition of endogenous material to the digesta. These, in turn, could affect the GIT fermentation of these undigested ingredients. Therefore, a methodology has been developed that combines the *in vivo* upper GIT digestion with in vitro fermentation. An in vivo/in vitro model for human hindgut fermentation has been developed and validated [284, 285]. The food of interest is fed to growing pigs, which then provide the ileal digesta that serves as a substrate for the *in vitro* hindgut fermentation. The ileal digesta is fermented with an inoculum prepared from human faecal material. Recently, a combined in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation model has been developed and optimised using the growing pig as a model for the adult human [13]. In this methodology, the growing pigs were fed a human-type diet. They provided both the substrate (i.e., jejunal digesta) and the microbial inoculum (i.e., ileal digesta) to perform in vitro ileal fermentation. This methodology has demonstrated a significant amount of ileal fermentation and production of bacterial metabolites but has not yet been fully validated.

2.6. Concluding remarks

It is commonly known that the GIT microbiota plays an important role in breaking down food ingredients in the human GIT via microbial fermentation. The current understanding is that GIT fermentation occurs mainly in the large intestine, with little fermentation happening in the upper GIT [6, 7]. This belief is challenged by the reports of the ileal digestibility of dietary fibre (Table 2.4), the presence of a significant number of bacteria [43, 52] and the concentration of microbial metabolites [23, 185] in the human small intestine. It has been predicted that these small intestinal microbes could contribute to the fermentation of undigested food materials [12]. Most studies described above only reported one aspect of small intestinal fermentation, i.e., ileal digestibility of dietary fibre, small intestinal microbes, or metabolite concentrations in the small intestinal digesta. However, it is well established that the presence of specific bacterial species does not directly translate into how the ileal microbial community functions in fibre fermentation and fermentation outcomes. Therefore, it is important to study multiple aspects of small intestinal fermentation to better understand the actual contribution of small intestinal microbiota to the overall GIT fermentation. Due to the longer transit time and the higher number of bacteria in the ileum, it is suggested that most fermentation in the small intestine will be in the ileum. Therefore, the work reported here focuses on human ileal fermentation. Due to the limitations of *in vivo* studies, it is challenging to determine ileal fermentation, as certain aspects, such as metabolite production, cannot be directly measured in vivo. Therefore, a combined in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation methodology has been developed and optimised [13].

The first aim was to validate the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay for the growing pig itself (**Chapter 3**) and for application to the adult human (**Chapter 4**). One of the main criticisms of using growing pigs as a model for adult humans is that the microbiota of pigs and humans are different, which is attributed to differences in environmental

conditions and diet. Therefore, it was expected that raising pigs in a more hygienic, nonfarm environment and giving them human foods, and inoculating young piglets with an infant faecal extract, would improve the pig model (Chapter 3). It was expected that combining in vivo digestion with in vitro ileal fermentation using the growing pig as a model for the adult human is a valid and robust methodology for studying in vivo ileal fermentation. In addition, this thesis aimed to look at multiple aspects of ileal fermentation (i.e., the disappearance of fibre, microbial composition, and organic acid production) and compare these to hindgut fermentation (Chapters 5 and 6). This allowed the study of the relationship between specific bacteria in the ileal digesta and organic acid production when fermenting different fibre sources (Chapter 7). It was hypothesised that the small intestinal microbiota significantly contributes to the overall GIT fermentation in terms of the breakdown of undigested food and the production of microbial metabolites. Another understudied area of small intestinal fermentation is the effect of diet (i.e., one of the significant contributors to hindgut fermentation) on the ileal microbiota and their fermentation outcomes. The results presented in Chapters 6 and 7 provide examples of how diet affects ileal microbiota and their fermentation. Like hindgut fermentation, it is expected that diet is an important contributor to the extent of small intestinal fermentation and its outcomes. The study reported in Chapter 7 also quantified the contribution of both the inoculum and substrate to in vitro ileal fermentation.

Chapter 3: Validation of a combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay in the growing pig

Author's contribution: AME Hoogeveen was responsible for the experimental design, ethical approval, the *in vivo* study (with technical assistance), the *in vitro* study, and sample analysis (with technical assistance). She also performed the data analysis, bioinformatics, statistical analysis (under the guidance of Carlos Montoya) and wrote the draft manuscript.

Abstract

Background. An *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig has been developed but has not been formally validated.

Objective. This study aimed to validate the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay by comparing *in vitro* fermentation values with those obtained *in vivo* in the growing pig. The effect of raising pigs under different environmental conditions was also investigated.

Methods. Thirty piglets $(1.59 \pm 0.31 \text{ kg} \text{ bodyweight, mean } \pm \text{SD})$ were subjected to one of three treatments: artificially reared under hygienic conditions and receiving foods consumed by humans (AR), artificially reared plus human infant faecal extract inoculations (AR+), or conventionally reared on a farm (control). The AR+ piglets were orally inoculated from the first hours postnatally to postnatal day (PND) 8. From PND 7, the AR and AR+ pigs were raised in a hygienic non-farm environment, received infant formula for three weeks, and a human-type diet for five weeks. All pigs received a human-type diet with high fibre content at PND 63. On PND 78, pigs were euthanised, after which ileal digesta were collected to perform an *in vitro* ileal fermentation (*in vitro* organic matter (OM) fermentability and organic

acid production) and to determine digesta microbial composition and dietary OM fermentability *in vivo*.

Results. The rearing regimen resulted only in a few differences in ileal microbial composition. No differences (P > 0.05) were found in the α -diversity between the different rearing regimens. In general, the rearing regimen did not affect the *in vitro* production of individual organic acids. The *in vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability of proximal ileal digesta (19.7 ± 2.04% on average) was similar (P > 0.05) for the AR and control pigs but not for the AR+ pigs.

Conclusion. The control pigs provided the preferred and valid model for the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay.

3.1. Introduction

Recent studies have established the importance of small intestinal microbiota in gut fermentation in humans [12, 21] and monogastric animals [286, 287]. Small intestinal fermentation contributes to the production of metabolites that might affect the host's health [21, 286, 288]. A significant number of microbes are found in the human and pig small intestine, especially in the terminal small intestine (i.e., the ileum; e.g., 10⁷-10⁸ bacteria/g ileal effluent of human ileostomates [20, 286] and 10⁸-10⁹ bacteria/g ileal digesta of growing pigs [289, 290]). The ileal microbiota has many genes encoding for enzymes that metabolize carbohydrates, allowing the ileal microbiota to adapt rapidly to changing substrate availability [12]. Therefore, the small intestinal microbiota should be considered in gut fermentation. Only a few studies have investigated the human small intestinal microbiota and its role in overall gut fermentation because of limited accessibility to the human small intestine. It has been proposed that the growing pig could be used as an animal model for

ileal fermentation in the adult human, given the anatomical and digestive similarities observed in the upper gut (i.e., mouth to terminal ileum) [243]. Recently, Montoya et al., 2018 [13] developed an ileal fermentation assay in growing pigs. This method combines in vivo digestion with in vitro fermentation. The pig is fed the food of interest and provides both the substrate (i.e., proximal ileal digesta comprising dietary and non-dietary materials) and the ileal inoculum (sourced from terminal ileal digesta) for the in vitro fermentation. The assay allows the determination of different fermentation parameters, such as organic matter (OM) disappearance and the production and absorption of organic acids, which are difficult to determine directly in vivo. Application of this assay has demonstrated that ileal microbiota differs from hindgut microbiota, both in composition and in vitro fermentative capacity [267, 286] and that they can be influenced by diets [287] (Hoogeveen et al., submitted). The combined in vivo/in vitro approach is based on a hindgut fermentation model that has been validated and demonstrated to produce accurate results [284, 285, 291, 292], but to date, the combined in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation model has not been fully validated. Therefore, the primary aim of the study was to validate the assay in the pig by comparing the in vivo/in vitro predictions of fermentation with in vivo values. It was hypothesised that the combined in vivo/in vitro model is a valid model for predicting ileal fermentation-based OM disappearance in the growing pig.

The study also investigated the effect on fermentation as determined using the assay, consequent upon raising the pigs under different environmental conditions. It is known, for example, that the composition of the gut microbiota differs between growing pigs and adult humans [44, 45, 247]. These differences may be at least in part due to differences in diet [122, 251] and environmental hygiene [252]. Therefore, it is important to determine if the *in vivo/in vitro* fermentation is affected by 'humanizing' the pig model. Does raising pigs in a clean non-farm environment and feeding the animals foods commonly consumed by

humans affect the modelled fermentation? Does inoculating the pigs at birth with human faecal extracts alter the predicted (in vivo/in vitro) fermentation? Inoculation with human microbiota has been suggested to improve the pig as a model for humans when looking at dietary modulation on microbiota and, therefore, gut fermentation [293]. Inoculation using faecal microbiota has been successfully applied to pigs and rodents [255, 294]. It has been demonstrated to shift the faecal microbiota composition to one more closely resembling that of the human donor. In this respect, the study aimed to compare the ileal microbial composition of conventional control pigs (i.e., pigs raised on the farm and fed a grain-based diet) with the ileal microbiota of pigs that were artificially reared (i.e., pigs raised in a more hygienic, non-farm environment and receiving a human-type diet), and the artificially reared pigs receiving oral inoculations of infant faecal extract in the first eight days of their life. The study also sought to evaluate whether such rearing regimens affected the in vivo/in vitro estimates of ileal OM fermentation and the pattern of organic acid production. It was hypothesised that both raising the pigs in a more hygienic, non-farm environment with a human-type diet and inoculating young pigs with infant faecal microbes would cause differences in ileal microbiota composition and OM fermentability as predicted using the in vivo/in vitro assay.

3.2. Materials and methods

The Massey University Animal Ethics Committee, Palmerston North, New Zealand, provided ethical approval for the animal study (protocol 19/116). The *in vivo* experiment was run in four phases (Figure 3.1), after which ileal digesta samples were collected to perform *in vitro* fermentations, determine the microbial composition, and *in vivo* OM fermentability.



Figure 3.1: Study overview outlining the different phases of the study with the corresponding age of the pigs and the different diets provided to artificially reared (AR), artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract (AR+), and control (Phase 1 and 4 only) pigs. PND, postnatal day.

3.2.1. In vivo experiment

Phase 1. Thirty new-born male piglets (PIC Camborough 42 x PIC Line 337 boar; 1.59 \pm 0.31 kg bodyweight (BW), mean \pm SD) from five different litters (i.e., six piglets per litter) were selected based on birth weight (i.e., heaviest five male piglets per litter were selected) and were randomly divided into three experimental groups identifiable by coloured ear-tags: artificially reared (AR), artificially reared plus inoculation (AR+) or conventionally reared (control). The piglets stayed on the commercial farm with the sow to receive colostrum, allowing the natural development of their immune system and the gastrointestinal tract. The AR+ piglets received an infant faecal extract inoculation (1 mL/piglet) by gastric intubation whilst still with the sow, as described by Pang *et al.*, 2007 [255] (explained in detail in Supplementary methods). The first dosage was administered within the first 12 h after birth, then daily until postnatal day (PND) four, and then every other day until PND 8.

Phase 2. On PND 7, AR and AR+ piglets were transported to the Massey University Animal Physiology Unit, Palmerston North, New Zealand. The piglets were housed in metabolic crates (1.5 x 1.5 m) in a temperature-controlled room (28 \pm 2°C) with a 16:8-hour light:dark

cycle at arrival. Each crate housed four piglets on the same treatment. From PND 22, the temperature was gradually reduced and reached 21°C on PND 28 (i.e., start Phase 3). The piglets were individually bowl-fed with a bovine-milk infant formula (Anmum NeoPro1, Fonterra NZ), prepared according to the manufacturer's instruction with added casein (0.6 g/100 mL formula) to match the daily protein intake provided by sow milk [295]. The infant formula was prepared fresh and warmed to 35°C in a water bath before feeding. The piglet's daily ration was 345 g liquid formula per kg BW per day [296, 297]. The feeding regimen and health assessment during Phase 2 are explained in detail in the Supplementary methods. From PND 22, a human-type diet from Phase 3 was gradually introduced to the piglets by mixing it with the infant formula in the bowl. The control piglets remained on the farm until Phase 4.

Phase 3. From PND 28, the pigs received a human-type diet, provided as three different meals per day at 0800, 1230, and 1700 h (i.e., breakfast, lunch, and dinner A; Supplementary Table 3.1). These meals were formulated to meet the nutrient requirements of starter pigs (i.e., 7-11 kg BW) as prescribed by the National Research Council, 2012 [298]. The daily ration was calculated as 90 g of DM per kg of metabolic BW (BW^{0.75}) divided by 20:40:40% DM over the three meals. From PND 45, the pigs received dinner B (replacing dinner A; Supplementary Table 3.1) to account for the change in nutrient requirement prescribed for the increased BW of the pigs (i.e., 11-25 kg BW) [298]. The pigs had free access to water for the duration of Phase 3. Pigs were weighed weekly, and the daily ration was adjusted accordingly.

Phase 4 (experimental phase). On PND 63, the control pigs were transported from the farm to the Massey University Animal Physiology Unit, as in previous studies [286, 287]. All pigs (i.e., AR, AR+, and control) were individually housed in metabolic pens (0.75 m²) in a room maintained at 21 \pm 2°C with a 10 h/14 h light/dark cycle. The pigs received the experimental

diet (Table 3.1). The experimental diet was formulated to have a higher fibre content (i.e., 7%) than the previous diet and to meet the nutrient requirements of the growing pig (25-50 kg BW) as prescribed by the National Research Council, 2012 [298]. Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) was included in the experimental diet as an indigestible marker. The pigs received the diet for 14 days, and their daily ration was calculated as 90 g of DM per kg of metabolic BW (BW^{0.75}) fed as three equal meals given at 0800, 1230, and 1700 h. The pigs had free access to water for the duration of Phase 4. Pigs were weighed weekly, and the daily ration was adjusted accordingly.

Sample collection. On PND 78, the pigs were given a single meal (i.e., one-third of their daily ration). Pigs were anaesthetised five hours post-feeding with a mixture of 0.04 mL/kg BW of Zoletil 100 (50 mg/mL; Provet NZ), Ketamine (100 mg/mL; Provet NZ), and Xylazine (100 mg/mL; Provet NZ) administered via intramuscular injection. Once anaesthetised, pigs were euthanised with an intracardiac injection of pentobarbital sodium (0.3 mL/kg BW; Pentobarb 500: Provet NZ). The time of euthanasia was chosen based on the highest observed flow of dry matter (DM) in the terminal ileum of ileal-cannulated pigs [299]. The small intestine was immediately dissected. The last 20% of the small intestine (i.e., the ileum) was cut into three pieces. The first 50 cm was defined as the proximal ileum, and the last 50 cm as the terminal ileum. The remaining length (177 \pm 27 cm, mean \pm SD) was defined as the mid-ileum. Digesta from the proximal ileum were collected to serve as a substrate for the *in vitro* fermentation assay and from the mid-ileum to prepare an inoculum for *in vitro* fermentation. A representative sample of the mid ileal digesta was collected for microbial analysis. Digesta from the proximal and terminal ileum (collected to determine in vivo OM loss) were collected for chemical analysis. Sample collection was done under a constant flow of carbon dioxide to maintain an anaerobic environment, and samples were stored at -80°C before further analysis.

Table 3.1: Ingredient and determined nutrient composition of the experimental diet given to

all pigs in Phase 4 of the study¹

	Amount
Ingredient, g/kg DM	
Milk (UHT, 3.3% fat)	130
Wheat biscuits (crushed)	183
Apple (raw, minced)	122
Egg (boiled, minced)	67
Baked beans (canned, minced)	96
Rice (white, cooked)	378
Premix of vitamins and minerals ²	5.0
Titanium dioxide	3.0
Calcium carbonate (limestone)	10
Di-calcium phosphate	5.0
Nutrient, g/kg DM	
Ash	54.3
Crude protein	183
Total fat	109
Starch	379
Total dietary fibre	131
- Insoluble fibre	102
- Soluble fibre	29.0
Gross energy, MJ/kg	211

¹The formulation of the diets was based on the chemical composition of the ingredients obtained from the New Zealand Food Composition Database (<u>https://www.foodcomposition.co.nz/</u>) and to meet the requirements of growing pigs respectively, as prescribed by the National Research Council, 2012 [298]; DM, dry matter; UHT, Ultra-high temperature.

²The vitamin and mineral premix (Pig Grower/Finisher Premix High copper, Nutritech, Auckland, New Zealand) supplied (per kg DM diet): vitamin A, 4.2 µg; vitamin D3, 0.075 µg; vitamin E, 47 mg; vitamin K3, 4 mg; thiamine, 3 mg; riboflavin, 6 mg; pyridoxin, 4 mg; vitamin B12, 30 µg; Biotin, 40 µg; Niacin, 30 mg; Pantothenic Acid, 22 mg; Folic Acid, 0.5 mg; Choline, 180 mg, Cobalt, 2 mg; Copper 250 mg; Iodine, 2 mg; Iron 160 mg; Manganese, 60 mg, Selenium, 0.6 mg; Zinc 230 mg.

3.2.2. In vitro ileal fermentation assay

The *in vitro* fermentation was performed according to an optimised assay developed by Montoya et al., 2018 [13]. One inoculum was prepared for each pig by combining digesta from the mid-ileum with sterilised anaerobic Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS; 0.1 M, pH 7.0, 4.1mM L-cysteine) at a ratio of 0.22:1 w/v. This mixture was homogenised with a handheld blender (15 sec) before straining through four layers of sterile cheesecloth to remove larger particles. Fermentation bottles (i.e., 30 mL McCartney bottles) were prepared with either no substrate (i.e., blanks) or 100 mg substrate and 5 mL PBS. The substrates used for the *in vitro* fermentation were freeze-dried proximal ileal digesta of the same pig, arabinogalactan (AG; from larch wood; Sigma Aldrich, Auckland, New Zealand), fructooligosaccharides (FOS; from chicory root; Orafti P95, Beneo, Germany), and pectin (from citrus peel; Sigma Aldrich, Auckland, New Zealand). All preparations were done under a constant flow of CO₂ to maintain an anaerobic environment. After adding 5 mL inoculum, the fermentation bottles were flushed with CO₂, sealed, and incubated at 37°C for two hours [13]. For each substrate and blank, four fermentation bottles were used. Blanks were prepared for each inoculum to account for the potential fermentation of material in the inoculum (refer to calculations in the Supplementary methods).

3.2.3. Chemical analysis

The diets were analysed for DM (AOAC 930.15), ash (AOAC 942.05) [300], TiO₂ [301], crude protein (AOAC 968.06, nitrogen x 6.25), total fats using a Soxtec system (AOAC 2003.06), starch (α -amylase Megazyme kit, AOAC 996.11), total dietary fibre (including soluble and insoluble fibre; Megazyme, AOAC 991.43), and gross energy (using a Leco AC500 bomb calorimeter). The DM and ash content was measured in half the samples after *in vitro* fermentation (i.e., *n* = 2) to determine OM fermentability. The organic acids were quantified

in duplicate in the other half of the samples after *in vitro* fermentation (i.e., n = 2) using gas chromatography [302](Supplementary methods).

3.2.4. Microbial analysis

DNA was extracted from the digesta of the mid-ileum of individual pigs using the QIAamp PowerFaecal Pro DNA Kit (Qiagen, Australia). Before extraction, the samples were homogenised in a Mini-Beadbeater-96 (Biospec Products, Bartlesville, OK, USA) for 4 minutes before DNA extraction. A quantitative PCR method was used to quantify the total number of bacteria (i.e., 16S rRNA gene copies; Supplementary methods). The taxonomic composition was determined using 16S rRNA gene sequencing (i.e., Illumina sequencing; Supplementary methods).

3.2.5. Statistical analysis

For the *in vivo* study, a sample size of seven animals was calculated to be required to reach statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) differences in the taxa found in the faecal microbial community of germ-free piglets [256] and mice [303] receiving a human faecal inoculum compared with animals that did not receive an inoculum with a power >80% at a two-tail 5% significance level, based on means and variances reported in previous studies. However, because of the unknown effect of the infant faecal extract inoculation on the ileal microbial community and the duration of this study, a sample size of ten animals per treatment was used for this study.

The Bray Curtis Dissimilarity was calculated in MicrobiomeAnalyst [304, 305]. Its statistical significance was tested using the permutational multivariate analysis of variance

(PERMANOVA) and PERMDISPER tests. The SAS version 9.4 software (SAS Institute Inc.) was used for the remaining statistical analyses. Only microbial taxa with a relative abundance of 0.1% or higher in at least one sample were included in the statistical analyses. The effect of the treatment (AR, AR+) and control regimens on the bacterial taxa and Shannon Diversity Index were tested with a one-way ANOVA. A two-way ANOVA was performed to test the effect of the rearing regimen, the method (*in vivo* and *in vitro*) or substrate (proximal ileal digesta, AG, FOS, and pectin), and the interaction between the rearing regimen and method (or substrate) on the OM fermentability and the *in vitro* production of organic acids. For all the analyses, the pig was the experimental unit, and litter was included in the models as a random effect.

The model diagnostics of each response variable were tested using the ODS Graphics and repeated statement of SAS. The bacterial taxa required a log10 transformation to achieve homogeneity of variance. A repeated statement in the Mixed Procedure of SAS was included in each analysis to allow testing for homogeneity of variance by fitting models with the Restricted Maximum Likelihood method and comparing them using the log-likelihood ratio test. The selected model for each response variable had similar studentised residuals (i.e., equal variances) across rearing regimens. The mean values were compared using the adjusted Tukey-Kramer test when the model's F-value was significant ($P \le 0.05$). The mean values were considered statistically different if $P \le 0.05$. The relationship between the *in vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability was evaluated with the Spearman correlation analysis.

3.3. Results

All pigs remained healthy, and a daily live weight gain of 134 ± 37 (mean \pm SD), 329 ± 158 g/day, and 628 ± 138 g/day was observed during Phases 2, 3 (AR and AR+ pigs only), and 4 (all pigs), respectively.

3.3.1. In vivo and in vitro organic matter fermentability

The *in vivo* OM fermentabilities were not influenced (P > 0.05) by the rearing regimen (Figure 3.2). The *in vivo* OM fermentability determined from the proximal ileum to the terminal ileum was similar to the *in vitro* OM fermentability when proximal ileal digesta were fermented with an inoculum prepared from the mid ileal digesta for the AR and control pigs ($19.7 \pm 2.04\%$ on average; P > 0.05). However, for the AR+ pigs, the *in vivo* OM fermentability was 3.2-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) than for the *in vitro* counterpart. A statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) correlation between *in vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability was found for the control pigs (r = 0.738, P = 0.037) but not for the AR or AR+ pigs.

The ability of the ileal microbiota to ferment (*in vitro*) different fibre substrates was also evaluated based on OM disappearance. In general, FOS was the most fermented substrate (on average 39.6 ± 1.50%; $P \le 0.05$, Figure 3.3), while AG was the least fermented substrate (on average 23.0 ± 1.50%; $P \le 0.05$). An effect of the rearing regimen was also observed. The *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability of the AR+ pigs was lower ($P \le 0.05$) than that of the AR and control pigs.



Figure 3.2: *In vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability (i.e., OM disappearance) of proximal ileal digesta of pigs reared under different environmental conditions and all fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days. For the *in vitro* fermentation, each inoculum was prepared from the mid ileal digesta of the same animal. Data points represent individual samples, and the line represents the mean per treatment (n = 10 per treatment). A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of the rearing regimen, method (*in vivo* versus *in vitro*), and the interaction between the rearing regimen and method. AR, artificially reared; AR+, artificially reared inoculated with infant faecal extract; OM, organic matter.



Figure 3.3: *In vitro* OM fermentability (i.e., OM disappearance) of fibre substrates inoculated with ileal microbiota obtained from pigs that were either artificially reared (grey), artificially reared plus inoculated with an infant faecal microbiota (white), or conventionally reared (control; black) and fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days. Values are mean \pm SEM, n = 10 animals per treatment. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of the rearing regimen, substrate, and the interaction between the rearing regimen and substrate. The effect of the interaction between inoculum and substrate was not significant (*P* > 0.05) and therefore removed from the final model. Means with a different letter differ within the substrates (*P* < 0.05). Means with different symbols differ within the rearing regimens (*P* < 0.05). AG, arabinogalactan; FOS, fructooligosaccharides; OM, organic matter.

3.3.1. Ileal microbial composition

On average, the infant faecal extract had $8.36 \pm 0.24 \log_{10} 16S$ rRNA gene copies/g inoculum. The predominant phyla found in the human infant faecal extracts that were used

to inoculate the piglets were Firmicutes (39%), Actinobacteria (28%), Proteobacteria (19%), and Bacteroidota (13%) (Supplementary Figure 3.1) and the most abundant genera were *Bifidobacterium* (27%) and *Bacteroides* (13%), followed by *Escherichia_Shigella* (6.5%), *Veillonella* (6.5%), and an unclassified genus belonging to the Lachnospiraceae family (6.2%) (Supplementary Figure 3.2).

Five different bacterial phyla and 44 genera were identified (> 0.1% relative abundance in at least one sample) in the mid ileal digesta of the pigs at PND 78 (Supplementary Table 3.2). Of these genera, 63% (i.e., 28 genera) were present at a frequency of \geq 80% in all treatments. Bacterial genera with a low frequency of occurrence (i.e., \leq 30% in all treatments) were *Chlamydia*, *Megasphaera*, and an unclassified genus belonging to the family Pasteurellaceae. Some differences in the frequency of occurrence between the rearing regimens were observed (data not shown). For example, *Actinobacillus* had a greater frequency in the mid ileal digesta of AR+ pigs (60%) compared to the AR and control pigs (30 and 20%, respectively), and the AR and AR+ pigs had a greater frequency of *Cellulosilyticum* (60% for both treatments) than the control (30%). The genus *Mycoplasma* was present in all the control pigs but in none of the AR and AR+ pigs.

The rearing regimen did not affect the total number of bacteria (based on the number of 16S rRNA gene copies). However, the rearing regimen affected the number of gene copies belonging to seven bacterial genera (i.e., 16% of the total genera identified; Table 3.2). For example, a 4.4 and 3.0-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) number of *Actinomyces* was observed in the ileal digesta of AR+ pigs than in the ileal digesta of the AR and control pigs, respectively, based on back-transformed data. In the ileal digesta of the control pigs, the number of *Streptococcus* was 9.1- and 15-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) than in the ileal digesta of the AR and SR+ pigs, respectively. All the bacterial taxa identified in the ileal digesta are given in Supplementary Table 3.2.

The α -diversity (i.e., Shannon Diversity Index) was similar (*P* > 0.05) between the different rearing regimens (Figure 3.4). No significant separation for the groupings of the ileal samples was observed after performing the Bray-Curtis Similarity Principal Coordinates Analysis (i.e., β -diversity; Figure 3.5), supported by both PERMANOVA and PERMSDISPER tests (*P* > 0.05). In addition, the predicted metabolic functionality (i.e., KEGG pathways) of the microbial community in the ileal digesta of the pigs was not significantly (*P* > 0.05) different between rearing regimens (data not shown).



Figure 3.4: Shannon diversity index of ileal microbiota of pigs reared under different environmental conditions and all fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days. Data points represent individual samples, and the line represents the mean per treatment (n = 10 per treatment). The effect of the rearing regimen was assessed using a one-way ANOVA test. AR, artificially reared; AR+, artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract.

Table 3.2: The number of bacteria of the taxa that showed a significant difference between the rearing regimens on in the ileal digesta of

	Rearing regimen					
Phylum/Genus	AR	AR+	Control	P value		
	Log ₁₀ 16S rF	Log ₁₀ 16S rRNA gene copies/g DM digesta				
Actinobacteria	7.04 ± 0.192^{b}	7.51 ± 0.192^{a}	7.42 ± 0.192^{ab}	0.033		
Actinomyces	6.43 ± 0.281^{b}	6.97 ± 0.224^{a}	6.48 ± 0.271^{b}	0.011		
Bifidobacterium	4.20 ± 0.422^{b}	4.58 ± 0.351 ^{ab}	5.45 ± 0.390^{a}	0.020		
Rothia	6.77 ± 0.207^{b}	7.23 ± 0.169^{a}	6.88 ± 0.221 ^{ab}	0.031		
Firmicutes						
Lachnospiraceae_unclassified	5.52 ± 0.230^{ab}	5.87 ± 0.209^{a}	5.37 ± 0.198 ^b	0.045		
Limosilactobacillus	7.77 ± 0.463^{ab}	8.43 ± 0.299^{a}	7.37 ± 0.352^{b}	0.029		
Streptococcus	7.24 ± 0.244^{b}	7.36 ± 0.182^{b}	8.29 ± 0.224ª	0.001		
Terrisporobacter	6.16 ± 0.491 ^b	6.75 ± 0.465^{ab}	7.98 ± 0.465^{a}	0.025		

pigs reared under different environmental conditions and fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days¹

¹ Values are means ± SEM, n = 10 per treatment. Only taxa with >0.1% relative abundance in at least one sample and that had a significant (P < 0.05) rearing regimen effect (Supplementary Table 3.2) are presented. The number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa was obtained by multiplying the total number of 16S rRNA gene copies with the relative abundance of the taxa, with the assumption that each taxon has an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies. Data were log₁₀ transformed to achieve homogenous variance. A one-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of the rearing regimen. Means in a row with a different letter differ (P < 0.05). AR, artificially reared; AR+, artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract; ND, not detected.



Figure 3.5: The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity of the ileal microbiota of pigs reared under different environmental conditions and all fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days, displayed as a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot. Individual symbols represent individual samples, n = 10 per treatment. The effect of the rearing regimen on the grouping was assessed using the permutational multivariate analysis of variance test (P = 0.12, F = 0.87, R² = 0.110). The homogeneity of the group dispersion was assessed using the PERMDISPER (P = 0.67, F = 0.68). AR, artificially reared; AR+, artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract.

3.3.1. In vitro ileal organic acid production

There was no significant interaction (P > 0.05) between the rearing regimen and substrate for the total organic acid production (i.e., the sum of formic, acetic, propionic, lactic, and succinic acid productions; Table 3.3). However, the total organic acid production was 1.1fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) for the control pigs than for the AR+ pigs. The greatest ($P \le 0.05$) total organic acid production after the *in vitro* ileal fermentation was for AG (on average 557 ± 13.8 mmol/kg DM substrate), and the lowest for FOS (on average 21.5 ± 2.29 mmol/kg DM substrate).

In general, the rearing regimen had no statistically significant (P > 0.05) effect on the production of individual organic acids. The only exception was that the control pigs had a 2.6- and 20-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) propionic acid production when fermenting FOS than the AR and AR+ pigs, respectively. The substrate affected the production of individual organic acids. For example, AG produced the greatest ($P \le 0.05$) amount of formic, acetic, propionic, and succinic acids. Fermentation of the proximal ileal digesta led to the greatest lactic acid production ($P \le 0.05$). The butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acid productions were negligible in the samples (i.e., below the detection limit) and, therefore, not reported.

3.4. Discussion

3.4.1. In vivo and in vitro organic matter fermentability

The primary aim of the study was to validate an *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay. The *in vivo* OM fermentability of proximal ileal digesta was similar regardless of how the pig was reared, and the overall mean OM fermentability of the digesta for a human-type diet was $22.7 \pm 2.66\%$. The agreement for *in vivo* OM fermentability across the three different rearing regimens demonstrates that, contrary to what was hypothesised, the way the pigs were raised had little effect on the fermentative capacity of the ileal microbiota. This finding is supported by observing only minor differences in ileal digesta microbial composition across the three rearing regimens (see below).

Table 3.3: Production of total and individual organic acids during *in vitro* fermentation of different substrates using inocula prepared from mid ileal digesta of pigs reared under different environmental conditions and fed a human-type diet for the last 14 experimental days¹

	Substrate	Rearing regimen			<i>P</i> value			
Organic acid		AR	AR+	Control	Rearing regimen	Substrat e	Intereaction 2	
		m	mol/kg DM substrate					
Total	Digesta	232 ± 19.5 ^{ab,‡}	225 ± 19.5 ^{b,‡}	238 ± 19.5 ^{a,‡}	0.001	< 0.001	-	
	AG	555 ± 14.5 ^{ab,†}	548 ± 14.5 ^{b,†}	561 ± 14.5 ^{a,†}				
	FOS	24.1 ± 3.66 ^{ab,∥}	17.1 ± 3.69 ^{b,∥}	30.1 ± 3.58 ^{a,∥}				
	Pectin	$43.7 \pm 3.34^{ab,\$}$	$36.7 \pm 3.46^{b,\$}$	$49.7 \pm 3.44^{a,\$}$				
Formic acid	Digesta	60.9 ± 7.89 [‡]	$39.2 \pm 4.56^{\ddagger}$	85.5 ± 23.8 [‡]	0.080	<0.001	0.017	
	AG	434 ± 23.0 [†]	410 ± 14.5 [†]	428 ± 11.9 [†]				
	FOS	15.7 ± 2.46 [§]	7.22 ± 0.977§	6.65 ± 0.3950 [‡]				
	Pectin	$9.67 \pm 0.761^{\$}$	12.7 ± 1.95§	10.3 ± 1.21 [‡]				
Acetic acid	Digesta	53.8 ± 6.45 [‡]	52.7± 6.45 [‡]	51.9 ± 6.45 [‡]	0.342	<0.001	-	
	AG	67.1 ± 2.01 [†]	66.0 ± 2.03 [†]	65.2 ± 2.01 [†]				
	FOS	5.32 ± 1.12 [§]	4.23 ± 1.14 [§]	3.40 ± 1.06 [§]				
	Pectin	$10.2 \pm 0.972^{\$}$	$9.15 \pm 1.05^{\$}$	8.32 ± 0.963§				
Propionic acid	Digesta	1.24 ± 0.249 ^{†‡}	$1.72 \pm 0.183^{\dagger}$	1.45 ± 0.136 [†]	0.714	<0.001	0.021	
-	AG	1.17 ± 0.173 [†]	$0.966 \pm 0.095^{\ddagger}$	$1.32 \pm 0.083^{\dagger}$				
	FOS	$0.358 \pm 0.060^{\ddagger}$	0.304 ± 0.072§	0.066 ± 0.130 [‡]				
	Pectin	0.535 ± 0.091 ^{†‡}	0.357 ± 0.059§	0.260 ± 0.052 [‡]				

Lactic acid	Digesta	103 ± 9.22 [†]	121 ± 19.5 [†]	106 ± 10.8 [†]	0.286	<0.001	0.018
	AG	48.8 ± 7.31 [‡]	86.1 ± 13.3 [†]	44.2 ± 5.75 [‡]			
	FOS	8.06 ± 1.49 ^{b,§}	1.02 ± 2.80 ^{b,§}	20.8 ± 2.95 ^{a,‡}			
	Pectin	$23.0 \pm 2.30^{\ddagger}$	16.6 ± 1.27 [‡]	$27.8 \pm 3.63^{\ddagger}$			
Succinic acid	Digesta	1.94 ± 0.458 [‡]	1.81 ± 0.443 [‡]	1.79 ± 0.352 [‡]	0.938	<0.001	-
	AG	$12.5 \pm 0.443^{\dagger}$	$12.4 \pm 0.428^{\dagger}$	$12.4 \pm 0.323^{\dagger}$			
	FOS	$1.40 \pm 0.462^{\ddagger}$	1.27 ± 0.440 [§]	1.25 ± 0.339 [‡]			
	Pectin	$1.57 \pm 0.460^{\ddagger}$	1.44 ± 0.451 ^{‡§}	$1.42 \pm 0.354^{\ddagger}$			

¹ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 10 per treatment. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of the rearing regimen, substrate, and their interaction for all organic acids. When the effect of the interaction between inoculum and substrate was not significant (P > 0.05), it was removed from the final model. Individual standard errors were required in the repeated statement to have similar studentised residuals as described in the statistical analysis section. Means in a row (i.e., rearing regimen effect) with different letters differ ($P \le 0.05$), and means in a column (i.e., substrate effect) with different symbols differ ($P \le 0.05$). The butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acid productions were negligible in the samples (i.e., below the detection limit) and, therefore, not reported. AG, arabinogalactan; AR, artificially reared; AR+, artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract; DM, dry matter; FOS, fructooligosaccharides.

² When the effect of the interaction between the rearing regimen and substrate was not significant (P > 0.05), it was removed from the final model.
When values for the *in vitro* fermentation of the proximal ileal digesta related to the ingestion of a human-type diet (i.e., the predicted OM fermentation values) were compared with the *in vivo* values (i.e., actual fermentation), differences were not statistically significant (P >0.05) for the control and the AR pigs, but there was a relatively large and statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) difference between the *in vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability for the AR+ pigs. The *in vitro* OM fermentability of proximal ileal digesta obtained with the control pigs was similar to that of jejunal digesta of growing pigs raised conventionally and fed semisynthetic diets [287] or a human-type diet [13] (22% versus 22% and 30%, respectively). It was concluded that the *in vitro* OM fermentation assay is a valid measure for determining the *in vivo* ileal fermentation, at least for the AR and control models.

The AR+ pigs showed poor agreement between *in vivo* and *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability, suggesting that the AR+ treatment was an invalid model for the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay. The reasons for the observed difference in *in vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability for the AR+ pigs are unclear. The difference may be related to the survival of some specific microbes during *in vitro* ileal fermentation for the AR+ pigs or the lower stability of this inoculum under *in vitro* conditions. In addition, the effect of non-bacterial members that could be part of the ileal microbial community (e.g., fungi and viruses) is unknown. Also, the microbial analysis used in this study was based on the presence of 16S rRNA genes that do not discriminate between viable and non-viable bacteria.

When the ileal inocula prepared from growing pigs that had been reared differently were used to ferment three fibre sources (AG, FOS, and pectin), known to be well fermented by small intestinal microbiota of pigs [267] and adult humans [21], there were no statistically significant (P > 0.05) differences in OM fermentability between the AR and control pigs, but the OM fermentability for the AR+ pigs was always lower ($P \le 0.05$) than that for the AR and control pigs. This observation accords with the *in vivo* and *in vitro* comparisons. Given that

the *in vitro* OM fermentabilities of proximal ileal digesta, AG, FOS, and pectin did not differ (P > 0.05) between the AR and control pigs and that the *in vitro* OM fermentation values did not differ significantly (P > 0.05) from the *in vivo* values, it is concluded that both AR and control pigs are suitable models for the ileal fermentation assay. However, the control rearing regimen is simpler, easier, and less costly (both financially and ethically). Therefore, it is proposed as the appropriate approach for the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay.

3.4.2. The Ileal microbial community

Using a pig model to study the human gut microbiota and fermentation has been criticised since there are differences in the gut microbiota of pigs and that of adult humans [44, 45, 247]. Diet and environmental hygiene are considered to at least partly play a role in these species differences [122, 252]. However, the results of the current study show that both the total number of bacteria and individual taxa in the ileal digesta of pigs were similar despite different rearing conditions (i.e., artificially reared versus conventional reared). Therefore, a secondary aim of this study was to determine whether refinement of the animal model used in the ileal fermentation assay (i.e., artificially rearing in a non-farm environment and inoculation with an infant faecal extract) would cause changes to the ileal microbiota. Previous studies using DNA fingerprinting techniques have shown that inoculation of germ-free piglets with a human faecal inoculum successfully changed their faecal microbiota to more closely resemble the microbiota of the inoculum [255]. In the current study, however, the infant faecal extract inoculation of the AR+ pigs affected only a few genera in the ileal digesta. For example, *Actinomyces* and *Rothia* (both Actinobacteria) were increased in the AR+ pigs and therefore suggested to be influenced by the infant faecal inoculum.

The differences in ileal microbiota of the AR and AR+ pigs compared to the control pigs were lower than expected, which could be because the piglets were born naturally (i.e., not germfree) and exposed to similar environmental microbiota on the farm during the first week (i.e., Phase 1). Secondly, ileal microbiota differs from faecal microbiota [8]. Ileal microbiota is more transient and highly adaptive to short-term changes, such as diet [20]. Therefore, it is likely that the ileal microbiota of the AR, AR+, and control pigs adapted similarly to the dietary changes in Phase 4. Unfortunately, because of the inaccessibility of the ileum, it was not possible to monitor the changes in ileal microbiota during the study. Thirdly, the microbiota for the inoculum was provided by mainly breastfed infants provided, which does not resemble the adult faecal microbiota. For example, greater numbers of Bifidobacterium are expected in infant faecal microbiota than in adult faecal microbiota [306]. Human adult faecal microbiota was found to establish themselves better in germ-free piglets than infant microbiota [258]. A fourth consideration is the duration of the study. The ileal microbiota was characterised on PND 78, which allowed the ileal microbiota to evolve for a considerable time after the inoculation was finished. It has been shown that one single infant faecal inoculation resulted in a change in the faecal microbiota of germ-free piglets within 24 hours, but this initial change diminished over the weeks after that [307]. Therefore, the study's duration may have contributed to the limited differences found in the ileal microbiota of the different rearing regimens.

Mycoplasma was only found in the control pigs, which was expected as it is a common gut bacterium for swine on a farm [247]. In addition, *Terrisporobacter, Streptococcus*, and *Bifidobacteria*, dominant bacteria within the porcine ileal microbiota [308-310], were found in greater numbers in the ileal digesta of the control pigs compared to the AR and AR+ pigs. This could be explained by the higher total dietary fibre content (14%) of the feed provided on the farm. For instance, *Bifidobacteria* in the ileal digesta has been positively correlated

with dietary fibre intake [309, 311]. Overall, these differences observed between conventional and artificially reared pigs suggest that the environmental conditions and diet influenced the ileal microbial community. However, these differences were minor, as supported by the similar diversity measures (i.e., Shannon Index, Bray Curtis) observed between the rearing regimens.

3.4.3. In vitro organic acid production

In line with what appeared to be relatively small differences in the ileal microbial composition across rearing regimens, the *in vitro* ileal production of the individual organic acids did not differ. This suggests that the different microbial communities had a similar capacity to produce organic acids, which accords with similar predicted metabolic functions (i.e., KEGG pathways). The lack of differences in the production of individual organic acids between the rearing regimens agrees with previous observations that the substrate was a greater contributor to the organic acid production than the microbial community (i.e., inoculum) (Hoogeveen et al., submitted). The organic acid production for the different substrates (i.e., AG having the greater formic, acetic, and succinic acids production) was similar to previous observations when fermenting them *in vitro* with ileal microbiota from pigs fed diets containing human foods [267](Hoogeveen et al., submitted). When total organic acids production was analysed, a statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) effect of the rearing regimen was seen, with the AR+ regimen supporting lower total organic acids production than the AR and control regimens for digesta, AG, and pectin.

3.5. Conclusion

Based on the results of this study, ethical cost, and the effort needed to rear the piglets artificially, it is concluded that using conventional pigs at PND 63 is a preferred model for future ileal fermentation studies. The similarities between *in vivo* and *in vitro* ileal OM fermentation observed for the conventional pigs support the validity of the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation method. AR+ pigs led to different *in vitro* OM fermentabilities and differences in total organic acid production, and there was poor *in vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability agreement for this pig model. It is possible that what appeared to be minor differences in the microbial composition of the inoculum contributed to this marked effect. Further work is warranted to compare the *in vitro* ileal fermentation between growing pigs raised conventionally and adult humans.

Chapter 4: Validation of an *in vivolin vitro* ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig as an animal model for the adult human

Author's contribution: AME Hoogeveen was responsible for the experimental design, ethical approval, the *in vivo* animal study (with technical assistance), the *in vivo* human trial (with technical assistance), the *in vitro* study, and sample analysis (with technical assistance). She also performed the data analysis, bioinformatics, statistical analysis (under the guidance of Carlos Montoya) and wrote the draft manuscript.

Abstract

Background. An *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig has not been formally validated for its application to adult humans.

Objective. The aim was to validate the ileal fermentation assay by comparing *in vitro* fermentation outcomes when fermenting fibre substrates with ileal inoculum prepared from growing pigs or adult human ileostomates.

Methods. Ten pigs $(19 \pm 4.5 \text{ kg bodyweight}, \text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$ received a high-fibre diet containing human foods for two weeks. Ileal digesta were collected to determine the microbial composition and to perform an *in vitro* fermentation (organic matter (OM) fermentability and organic acid production) of arabinogalactan (AG), fructooligosaccharides (FOS), and pectin. Five human ileostomates incorporated the same human foods that made up the pig diet into

their daily diet for a week, after which they received two meals similar to those provided to the pigs. Ileal effluents were collected for *in vitro* fermentation and microbial analysis.

Results. The *in vitro* OM fermentability of AG, FOS, and pectin was similar (P > 0.05) between the pig and human ileal inocula (34.0 ± 2.13% on average). In general, the production of the individual organic acids was similar between humans and pigs ($P \le 0.05$). Two-thirds of the bacterial genera found in the ileal digesta were similar between pigs and human ileostomates, which accords with the similar Shannon Diversity Index and predicted metabolic activity. The remaining genera were either host species or found to be different in numbers. For example, the number of *Veillonella* was 268-fold greater in human ileostomates than in pigs.

Conclusion. The *in vitro* ileal fermentation outcomes were similar across species despite some ileal microbial compositional differences, suggesting that the growing pig is a valid model for studying ileal fermentation in adult humans.

4.1. Introduction

The human small intestine harbours a significant number of microbes [20, 52]. For example, the ileum (i.e., the last part of the small intestine) contains 10⁷-10⁸ bacteria/g of ileal effluent in human ileostomates [20]. The small intestinal microbiota makes a quantitatively significant contribution to fermentation (i.e., the breakdown and metabolism of substrates under anaerobic conditions) in the human gut [12, 21]. The metabolites formed during fermentation can be directly absorbed from the ileum and likely contribute to intestinal function and health [21, 286, 288]. The human ileal microbiota has a different taxonomic composition from the faecal microbiota, with *Streptococcus* and *Veillonella* being the most abundant genera in the human ileum [20, 172, 183]. A considerable proportion of the genome of the ileal microbiota

is dedicated to metabolising carbohydrates, allowing the microbes to quickly adapt to the changing environment, such as substrate availability [12].

Even though it is known that the small intestinal microbiota contributes to gut fermentation, limited accessibility to the small intestine in humans makes it challenging to research this phenomenon. Therefore, and for this purpose, the growing pig has been suggested as an animal model for the adult human since the upper gut (i.e., mouth to terminal ileum) of the growing pig shows anatomical and digestive similarities to that of the adult human [243, 312]. Recently, a methodology that combines in vivo digestion in the pig and in vitro fermentation has been developed and optimised to investigate ileal fermentation [13]. Different fermentation parameters can be measured with this methodology, such as the disappearance of organic matter (OM) and metabolite production. The newly developed methodology has provided valuable insight regarding the differences in ileal and hindgut fermentation based on microbial composition and in vitro fermentation outcomes [267, 286]. The *in vivo/in vitro* methodology has shown merit, and upon validation, it can contribute novel information to the field of human nutrition. Previous work has shown that the in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation model is a valid model for predicting in vivo ileal fermentation in the growing pig (Chapter 3). However, whether this model based on the growing pigs is suitable for predicting ileal fermentation in adult humans is yet to be demonstrated. To date, no research has been reported comparing the ileal microbial communities and their capacity to ferment fibre between pigs and humans fed a similar diet. Based on independent studies, the ileal microbiota of growing pigs [310, 313, 314] and adult humans [12, 20], although showing some similarities, do differ in taxonomic composition. It is hypothesised that the fermentative capacity and fermentation outcomes of both ileal microbial communities are similar despite these taxonomic differences and that the in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig is a valid model for application to humans.

This study aimed to validate the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig as an animal model for the adult human by comparing the *in vitro* fermentation of different purified dietary fibre sources with an inoculum prepared from ileal digesta from growing pigs or ileal effluent from adult human ileostomates receiving a similar diet.

4.2. Materials and methods

4.2.1. Animal study

The protocol for the animal study was approved by the Massey University Animal Ethics Committee, Palmerston North, New Zealand (protocol 19/116). The experimental design for the animal study was described previously (Chapter 3). Based on the main outcome of that study (e.g., selection of an adequate animal model), only the control pigs were used in this study. Briefly, ten entire male pigs (PIC Camborough 42 x PIC Line 337 boar; 9-week-old; 19 ± 4.5 kg bodyweight (BW), mean ± SD) were received from a commercial farm and housed individually in metabolic pens. A high-fibre diet (7% total dietary fibre) containing human foods was provided to the pigs for two weeks (Supplementary Table 3.1). The diet met the requirements of the growing pig (25-50 kg BW) as prescribed by the National Research Council, 2012 [298]. Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) was added as an indigestible marker, but it was not considered in this study. The pigs were gradually introduced to the experimental diet over three days by mixing the diet with a commercial grower mix. The pigs were given their daily ration (i.e., 90 g of DM per kg of metabolic BW (BW^{0.75})) divided equally over three meals at 0800, 1230, and 1700 h. After one week, the pigs were weighed, and their daily ration was adjusted accordingly. The housing was maintained at $21 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C with a 10 h light-14 h dark cycle, and the pigs had free access to water.

Sample collection. On day fourteen, the pigs received one single meal (i.e., one-third of their daily ration). Five hours after feeding, the pigs were anaesthetised with a cocktail containing Zoletil 100 (50 mg/mL; Provet NZ), Ketamine (100 mg/mL; Provet NZ), and Xylazine (100 mg/mL; Provet NZ). This cocktail was administered at a 0.04 mL/kg BW dose via intramuscular injection. After sedation, the pigs received a lethal dose of pentobarbital sodium (0.3 mL/kg BW; Pentobarb 500; Provet NZ) via intracardiac injection. Five hours post-feeding was chosen as the time of euthanasia as this coincides with the highest flow of DM observed in the terminal ileum of ileal-cannulated pigs [299]. Immediately after euthanasia, the small intestine was carefully dissected and removed from the body. The last 20% of the small intestine (i.e., ileum) was used for the study. The proximal ileum was defined as the first 50 cm of the ileum, and the terminal ileum was defined as the last 50 cm before the ileocaecal valve. The remaining length of the ileum (169 ± 22 cm length, mean ± SD) was defined as the mid ileum. For the *in vitro* fermentation assay, mid ileal digesta were collected to prepare the inoculum. An aliquot of the mid ileal digesta was collected for microbial analysis. All samples were collected under near anaerobic conditions (i.e., under a carbon dioxide flow) and stored at -80 °C until further analyses.

4.2.2. Human study

Five human ileostomates (Table 4.1) were recruited through the local ostomy societies (Manawatu and Wellington, New Zealand). The ileostomies were well established and functioning normally. All subjects reported being in good general health, without signs of small intestinal inflammation or dysfunction, and not having taken any antibiotics in the four weeks before the study. All participants gave their written informed consent to participate in the study, approved by the Massey University Human Ethics Committee, Palmerston North,

New Zealand (protocol SOA 20/43) and registered on the Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ACTRN12622000813785).

Subject ID	Gender	Age	BMI (kg/m²)	Duration since ileostomy surgery
H1	Female	68	23.4	36 years
H2	Male	71	24.8	~30 years
H3	Male	36	24.6	1 year and 8 months
H4	Female	75	21.1	30 years
H5	Male	37	24.1	3 years

Table 4.1: Overview of the characteristics of the human ileostomates included in this study¹

¹BMI, Body Mass Index.

The study consisted of an adaptation week and a study day. The subjects participated in the study while in their own homes. During the adaptation week, the participants were asked to incorporate the ingredients of the test meal (Table 4.2) into their usual diet. The minimum requirement was to consume four ingredients per day and every ingredient at least three times during the week. The compliance was recorded using a food diary. The adaption week aimed to adapt the ileal microbiota to the ingredients and mimic the adaption period of the pigs.

At 1800 h of day seven of the adaptation week, the participants consumed the test meal (Table 4.2) and were only allowed to drink water for the remainder of the night. After an overnight fast of 14 hours, participants received the same test meal on the study day at 0800 h and were requested not to drink or eat anything else for the remainder of the study unless stated. The participants replaced their ileostomy bags two hours post-meal (1000 h). Ileal effluents were collected for four hours (from 1000 to 1400 h) by changing the ileostomy bag hourly. The removed ileostomy bags were stored anaerobically (using the GasPak EZ pouch

system, BD, New Jersey, USA) in a cool box containing ice packs. Participants consumed 200 mL of water two hours post-meal (1000 h) and 200 mL of energy drink (E2 sports drink, The Coca-Cola Company, New Zealand) four hours post-meal (1200 h). After the fourth collection (1400 h), the ileal effluents from each participant (i.e., the contents of four ileostomy bags) were pooled and stored at -80°C until further analysis. The ileal effluent was used to analyse the microbial composition and to prepare an inoculum for the *in vitro* fermentation assay.

 Table 4.2: The ingredients of the high-fibre test meal (7% total dietary fibre) provided to the human ileostomates¹

Ingredient	Amount (g)			
Milk (UHT, 3.3% fat)	243			
Wheat biscuits (Weet-bix, Sanitarium, NZ)	42			
Apple (raw)	148			
Egg (boiled)	88			
Baked beans (canned)	84			
Rice (white, cooked)	164			
¹ The formulation of the diets was composition of the ingredients obtai Food Composition (<u>https://www.foodcomposition.co.nz/</u> temperature.	s based on the chemical ned from the New Zealand Database (). UHT, Ultra-high			

4.2.3. In vitro ileal fermentation assay

The ileal fermentation assay was undertaken according to an optimised assay developed by Montoya *et al.*, 2018 [13]. An inoculum was prepared for each pig and human by combining mid ileal digesta or ileal effluent in a 0.22:1 w/v ratio with 0.1 M phosphate buffered saline (PBS. pH 7.0, sterile and anaerobic) containing 4.1 mM L-cysteine. After homogenisation, this mixture was filtered through four layers of sterile cheesecloth. PBS (5 mL) was added to each fermentation bottle with either 100 mg of fibre source (i.e., the substrate) or no fibre source (i.e., blanks). The fibre sources used for the *in vitro* fermentation were arabinogalactan (AG; from larch wood; Sigma Aldrich, Auckland, New Zealand), fructooligosaccharides (FOS; from chicory root; Orafti P95, Beneo, Germany), or pectin (from citrus peel; Sigma Aldrich, Auckland, New Zealand). A near-anaerobic environment was maintained by performing the preparations of the fermentation assay under a constant CO₂ flow. Inoculum (5 mL) was added to the fermentation bottles. It was flushed with CO₂, sealed, and incubated at 37°C for two hours [13]. Four fermentation bottles were used for each fibre source and blank. Blanks were included for each inoculum to account for the potential fermentation of material in the inoculum (refer to calculations in the Supplemental methods).

4.2.4. Chemical analysis

The chemical analysis of the diet given to the pigs included DM (AOAC 930.15), ash (AOAC 942.05) [300], gross energy (using a bomb calorimeter), crude protein (AOAC 968.06, nitrogen x 6.25), starch (α -amylase Megazyme kit, AOAC 996.11), total dietary fibre (including soluble and insoluble fibre; Megazyme, AOAC 991.43), total fat using a Soxtec system (Soxtec, AOAC 2003.06), and TiO₂ [301]. Half the samples after *in vitro* fermentation (i.e., *n* = 2) were subjected to DM and ash analysis to calculate OM fermentability (i.e., OM = DM – ash).

The organic acid content in the other half of the samples after *in vitro* fermentation (i.e., n = 2) was determined in duplicate using a gas chromatic methodology [302]. A mixture of formate, acetate, propionate, iso-butyrate, butyrate, iso-valerate, valerate, lactate, and succinate was prepared and diluted at different concentrations for a standard curve. An internal standard, 2-ethylbutyric acid (5 mM, Sigma Aldrich), was added to the samples. N-

tert-butyldimethylsilyl-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide with 1% tert-butyldimethylchlorosilane (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to derivatise the organic acids. The derivatised organic acids were quantified on a gas chromatograph (GC-2010, Shimadzu) equipped with a DB-1MS UI column (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 µm, Agilent) and flame ionisation detector. Helium was the carrier gas. The blank fermentations (i.e., the bottles with no added fibre source) were used to correct the concentrations of the organic acids in the samples after *in vitro* fermentation (refer to the calculations in the Supplemental methods). An aliquot of an external control sample was included each time organic analysis was done to test the performance of the analysis. The control sample was prepared by combining *in vitro* ileal fermentation media of a previous study.

4.2.5. Microbial analysis

A mini-Beadbeater-96 (Biospec Products, Bartlesville, OK, USA) was used to homogenise for 4 min the ileal digesta of growing pigs and ileal effluent of human ileostomates. After homogenisation, the DNA was extracted using the QIAamp PowerFaecal Pro DNA Kit (Qiagen, Australia). The extracted DNA was subjected to a quantitative PCR methodology to quantify the number of bacteria (i.e., 16S rRNA gene copies; Supplemental methods). Additionally, Illumina sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene was conducted to obtain the taxonomic composition (Supplemental methods).

4.2.6. Statistical analysis

Based on mean values and variances of *in vitro* fermentability of different fibre sources (SD 14.4 %) and production of organic acids reported in previous studies with inocula prepared from pig ileal digesta [267] and human ileal effluent [21], five animals or participants (i.e.,

inocula) were required to detect a statistical difference (5 %) between the specie, with a power of >80% power at a two-tailed significance level ($P \le 0.05$). The study reported here was part of a larger study with ten pigs per treatment (Chapter 3).

The statistical analyses were done using the SAS software (version 9.4; SAS Institute) unless stated otherwise. The effect of species (pig and human), substrate (AG, FOS, and pectin), and their interaction on the *in vitro* OM fermentability and *in vitro* production of organic acids was assessed with a two-way ANOVA model using the Proc Mixed procedure. The animal/participant was included as a random effect. The ODS Graphics and repeated statement were used to test the model diagnostics (including the normal distribution and homogeneity of variance) of each response variable. For some of the response variables, a repeated statement for species was required to have similar Studentised residuals. When the model's F-value was significant ($P \le 0.05$), the mean values were compared using the adjusted Tukey-Kramer test. The mean values with $P \le 0.05$ were considered statistically different.

Only taxa with >0.1% relative abundance in at least one sample were included in the taxonomic composition. The effect of species on the taxonomic composition, Shannon Diversity Index, and predicted metabolic activity was tested with an independent Student's t test. The ODS graphics and univariate procedures of SAS were used to evaluate the normal distribution of the t test. A log₁₀ transformation was required to achieve homogenous variance for the taxonomic composition data. When the variance was unequal, the P value was obtained from the Satterthwaite separate variance t test. The statistical significance of the Bray Curtis Dissimilarity was tested in MicrobiomeAnalyst [304, 305] using the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) and PERMDISPER functions.

4.3. Results

All pigs remained healthy and had an average daily weight gain of 628 ± 138 g/day (mean \pm SD). One human ileostomate had to repeat the experiment due to an intestinal blockage. When repeating, the subject only received the 0800 h meal on the study day (not the 1800 h meal on day seven of the adaptation week).

4.3.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability

The *in vitro* OM fermentability of the fibre sources (34.0 ± 2.13% on average; Figure 4.1) was similar (P > 0.05) between the inocula of growing pigs and human ileostomates. There was no statistically significant effect of the species inoculum. Across both species, FOS and pectin were more fermented (41.2 ± 2.43% and 37.5 ± 2.43%, respectively, $P \le 0.05$) than AG (23.2 ± 2.63%).



Figure 4.1: *In vitro* OM fermentability of different fibre substrates fermented with an inoculum prepared with ileal digesta obtained from growing pigs (white; n = 10) and ileal

effluent obtained from human ileostomates (black; n = 5) that received a similar diet. Values are mean ± SEM. A two-way ANOVA model was used to test the effect of inoculum, substrate, and the interaction between the inoculum and substrate. The effect of the interaction between inoculum and substrate was removed from the final model as it was not significant (P > 0.05). Means with a different letter differ across substrates (P < 0.05). AG, arabinogalactan; FOS, fructooligosaccharides; OM, organic matter.

4.3.2. In vitro ileal organic acid production

Only negligible amounts of butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acids were found in the samples (i.e., below the detection limit); therefore, these organic acids are not presented. On average across substrates, the pig ileal inoculum led to a greater ($P \le 0.05$) total organic acid production (i.e., the sum of formic, acetic, propionic, lactic, and succinic acids) than the human ileal inoculum (Table 4.3). There was no difference between the species for total organic acid production for AG, but it was lower in humans for the pectin and markedly lower for FOS. No significant (P > 0.05) difference between the inocula from pigs and humans was observed for *in vitro* propionic and lactic acid production. However, species influenced the production of formic, acetic, and succinic acids, and this effect depended on the substrate fermented (Table 4.3). For example, the *in vitro* fermentation of FOS and pectin with the pig inoculum produced more ($P \le 0.05$) formic acid than the human inoculum. On the other hand, the *in vitro* fermentation of FOS produced 2.4-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) acetic acid using the human inoculum compared to the pig inoculum. The substrate influenced the total organic acid production and the production of the individual organic acids. In general, in vitro fermentation of AG resulted in the greatest ($P \le 0.05$) organic acid production, followed by FOS and pectin, regardless of the inoculum.

		Species		<i>P</i> value ²		
Organic acid	Substrate	Pig	Human	Species	Substrate	Species x Substrate
	mmol/kg E					
Total	AG	$559 \pm 14.9^{\dagger}$	543 ± 15.1 [†]	0.002	<0.001	-
	FOS	29.4 ± 2.94 ^{a,§}	13.3 ± 4.17 ^{b,§}			
	Pectin	48.4 ± 3.67 ^{a,‡}	$32.3 \pm 4.62^{b,\ddagger}$			
Formic acid	AG	428 ± 11.9 [†]	395 ± 8.71 [†]	0.010	<0.001	0.008
	FOS	6.65 ± 0.395 ^{a,‡}	3.57 ± 0.652 ^{b,‡}			
	Pectin	10.3 ± 1.21ª,‡	2.62 ± 0.379 ^{b,‡}			
Acetic acid	AG	69.3 ± 2.23 [†]	67.6 ± 1.79 [†]	0.509	<0.001	<0.001
	FOS	1.92 ± 0.269 ^{b,§}	4.59 ± 0.272 ^{a,‡}			
	Pectin	8.67 ± 0.996 [‡]	$5.65 \pm 0.348^{\ddagger}$			
Propionic acid	AG	$1.29 \pm 0.082^{\dagger}$	$1.35 \pm 0.092^{\dagger}$	0.387	<0.001	-
	FOS	0.101 ± 0.099 [‡]	0.164 ± 0.108 [‡]			
	Pectin	0.263 ± 0.045 [‡]	0.326 ± 0.063 [‡]			
Lactic acid	AG	44.2 ± 6.33 [†]	$67.7 \pm 8.98^{\dagger}$	0.903	<0.001	0.018
	FOS	20.3 ± 2.54 [‡]	$8.08 \pm 3.59^{\ddagger}$			
	Pectin	27.8 ± 2.54 ^{†‡}	18.7 ± 6.01 [‡]			
Succinic acid	AG	$12.9 \pm 0.589^{\dagger}$	12.1 ± 0.616 [†]	0.016	<0.001	-
	FOS	1.40 ± 0.254 ^{a,§}	$0.590 \pm 0.305^{b,\$}$			
	Pectin	$1.45 \pm 0.235^{a,\pm}$	$0.635 \pm 0.297^{b,\ddagger}$			

Table 4.3: Total and individual organic acid production during *in vitro* fermentation of different substrates using inocula prepared from mid ileal digesta of growing pigs and ileal effluent of human ileostomates receiving a similar diet¹

¹ Values are means \pm SEM; n = 10 pigs and 5 humans. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of treatment, substrate, and their interaction for all organic acids. The interaction between species and substrate was required as a repeated statement to have similar studentised residuals as described in the statistical analysis section for all the organic acids. Means in a row (i.e., species effect) with different letters differ ($P \le 0.05$), and means in a column (i.e., substrate effect) with different symbols differ ($P \le 0.05$). The butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acid productions were negligible in the samples (i.e., below the detection limit) and, therefore, not reported. AG, arabinogalactan; DM, dry matter; FOS, fructooligosaccharides.

²The effect of the interaction between species and substrate was not significant (P > 0.05) for the total and all individual organic acids. Therefore this effect was removed from the final model.

4.3.3. Ileal microbial composition

Six different bacterial phyla and seventy-five different bacterial genera were identified in the ileal digesta of growing pigs and the ileal effluent of human ileostomates at a relative abundance of 0.1% or more in at least one of the samples. About half of the identified genera were present in \geq 80% of the samples obtained from both species. *Actinobacillus* and *Megasphaera* were two genera that occurred at a low frequency (\leq 40% of the samples of both species). A difference in the frequency of occurrence of genera was observed between the species (data not shown). For example, *Veillonella* was found in the ileal effluent of all the human ileostomates but in only 40% of the ileal digesta samples for the pigs. In addition, nine genera (e.g., *Scardovia* and *Solobacterium*) were exclusively found in human ileostomates, and three genera (e.g., *Mycoplasma*) were unique to the pigs.

The total number of bacteria (based on the number of 16S rRNA copies) in the ileal digesta of pigs and ileal effluent of humans was similar (Supplementary Table 3.2), with higher variability for the ileal effluent. Thirteen genera (i.e., 17% of the total genera identified) were found in different numbers between pigs and humans (Table 4.4). Ten of them were in greater numbers in the ileal digesta of growing pigs. For example, the number of *Lactobacillus* was 272-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) in the ileal digesta of growing pigs compared to the ileal effluent of the human ileostomates based on back-transformed data. *Veillonella* was one of the three genera with greater numbers in the ileal effluent of human ileostomates based on back-transformed data. *Veillonella* bacterial taxa identified in the study are presented in Supplementary Table **3.2**.

Table 4.4: Number of bacteria belonging to the taxa that differed between the ileal digesta

of growing pigs and ileal effluent of human ileostomates that received a similar diet¹

Phylum	Genus	Pig	Human	P value		
		Log ₁₀ 16S rRNA gene copies/g DM digesta or effluent				
Firmicute	S					
	Clostridiaceae_unclassified	6.68 ± 0.186	3.85 ± 0.797	0.022		
	Clostridium_sensu_stricto_1	9.20 ± 0.177	5.19 ± 0.766	0.005		
	Enterococcus	7.26 ± 0.191	5.31 ± 0.605	0.029		
	Granulicatella	4.24 ± 0.276	6.16 ± 0.531	0.003		
	Intestinibacter	5.34 ± 0.307	3.51 ± 0.901	0.030		
	Lactobacillus	7.97 ± 0.296	5.54 ± 0.761	0.003		
	Leuconostoc	8.78 ± 0.200	3.93 ± 0.883	0.004		
	Romboutsia	8.39 ± 0.227	5.47 ± 0.880	0.027		
	Terrisporobacter	7.96 ± 0.473	4.20 ± 0.794	0.001		
	Turicibacter	8.23 ± 0.324	4.83 ± 0.741	<0.001		
	Veillonella	4.47 ± 0.236	6.90 ± 0.843	0.042		
Patescibacteria						
	Saccharimonadales_unclas sified	5.34 ± 0.221	3.32 ± 0.658	0.003		
	TM7x	4.02 ± 0.158	4.97 ± 0.476	0.033		

¹ Values are means ± SEM; n = 10 pigs and 5 humans. The taxa shown in the table had a minimal relative abundance of 0.1% in at least one of the samples and were significant ($P \le 0.05$) different between pigs and humans. To calculate the number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa, the total number of 16S rRNA gene copies was multiplied by the relative abundance of the taxa, assuming an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxon. A log₁₀ transformation of the data was needed to achieve homogenous variance. The effect of species was tested using an independent Student's *t* test. Means in a row with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$). DM, dry matter.

The Chao1 Diversity Index (i.e., richness or number of genera) was different ($P \le 0.05$). However, the Shannon Diversity Index, which considers the number of species (i.e., richness) and their relative abundance (i.e., evenness), was similar (P > 0.05) between the ileal microbiota from pigs and humans (Figure 4.2). The Bray-Curtis similarity principal coordinates analysis (i.e., β -diversity) showed a different grouping ($P \le 0.05$) of the ileal microbiota samples of pigs and humans, with similar group dispersions (P > 0.05) based on the PERMDISPER test (Figure 4.3). No significant difference (P > 0.05) was found in the predicted metabolic functionality (based on KEGG pathways) of the ileal microbiota between pigs and humans (data not shown).



Figure 4.2: (A) Chao1 and (B) Shannon Diversity Indexes of ileal microbiota from growing pigs (n = 10) and ileal effluent obtained from human ileostomates (n = 5) that received a similar diet. Data points represent individual samples, and the line represents the mean per species. An independent Student's *t* test was used to test the effect of species.



Figure 4.3: The β -diversity of the ileal microbiota of growing pigs (circles; n = 10) and human ileostomates (crosses; n = 5) that received a similar diet, based on the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, and presented in a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot. Individual symbols represent individual samples. A PERMANOVA was used to test the grouping of the different species (P < 0.001, F = 10.04, R² = 0.436), and the homogeneity of the group dispersion was assessed using the PERMDISPER (P = 0.684, F = 0.173).

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability

The objective of this study was to determine whether an *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig as an animal model for adult humans is valid for investigating ileal fermentation in adult humans. The use of pigs as an animal model to study the human gut microbiota and fermentation has been criticised by some due to reported differences in the gut microbiota of pigs [310, 313, 314] and that of adult humans [12, 20]. As hypothesised, however, the present results for *in vitro* OM fermentability show that the ileal microbiota of pigs and humans ferment different fibre sources (AG, FOS, and pectin) to a similar degree. The similar degrees of fermentation also generally resulted in similar levels of organic acid production. These results, together with a documented similar digestive physiology in pigs and humans from the mouth to the end of the small intestine [243, 312], suggest that the *in vitro* ileal fermentation assay using the growing pig is valid for determining ileal fermentation in the adult human. The pig assay reliably predicts overall ileal OM fermentation but may now always accurately predict specific organic acid production.

Ileal microbiota from human ileostomates could ferment different fibre substrates (AG, FOS, and pectin), as shown elsewhere for similar substrates (FOS/inulin and pectin) but with longer fermentation times [21, 146]. Genomic analysis suggests that ileal microbial communities of adult humans are mainly driven by the metabolism of simple carbohydrates [12]. However, the current study demonstrates that ileal microbiota can also metabolise complex carbohydrates to a significant degree. Considering the present results (i.e., similar ileal fermentation outcomes between species and a significant degree of hydrolysis) and the species comparisons done between ileal and hindgut fermentation in the pig model (e.g., a similar degree of fermentation) [286], it is expected that ileal microbial communities make a significant contribution to the overall GIT fermentation in humans.

The current study included human ileostomates as they provide access to ileal microbial samples, and sampling is non-invasive. However, it has been argued that human ileostomates may not represent the ileal microbiota of intact adult humans due to potential exposure to oxygen [53] and changes in the anatomical structure after surgery. These claims are counteracted by high numbers of strictly anaerobic bacteria being found in ileal effluent [12, 315]. One study comparing the ileal effluent of human ileostomates with ileal samples

obtained via nasal intubation from healthy adult humans found similar bacteria between both ileal digesta samples [12]. Therefore, in the present study, it was assumed that ileal effluent obtained from human ileostomates accurately represents the ileal microbiota of adult humans in general.

4.4.2. In vitro organic acid production

The production of individual organic acids was similar between pigs and human ileostomates, with some exceptions (discussed below). This result suggests that the human and pig ileal microbial communities had a similar capacity to produce organic acids, which agrees with their similar predicted metabolic functions (i.e., KEGG pathways). The *in vitro* organic acid production for each fibre source followed a similar pattern as previously observed when ileal microbiota from pigs fed a diet containing human food was used to ferment these fibre sources [267](Hoogeveen et al., submitted). The current study found a sizeable formic acid production when AG was fermented *in vitro* with the pig and human ileal inocula (i.e., 42 to 150 times greater than when fermenting FOS or pectin), which accords with previous findings when AG was fermented *in vitro* using a continuous culture of *Bifidobacterium longum* [316] or pig ileal inoculum [267](Hoogeveen et al., submitted).

Minor differences between pigs and human ileostomates were found for individual organic acid productions. For example, greater acetic acid production was observed when FOS was fermented with the human ileal inoculum than with the pig inoculum. This result may be linked to the greater number of *Veillonella* present in the human ileal inoculum, as *Veillonella* is known to metabolise lactic acid to acetic acid [92].

4.4.3. Ileal microbial community

The main criticism of using pigs as an animal model to study gut microbiota and fermentation in humans is the different ileal microbial compositions between the species based on independent studies in growing pigs [310, 313, 314] and adult humans [12, 20]. However, in the present study, the total number of 16S rRNA gene copies and numbers of two-thirds of the identified genera were similar between the ileal digesta of pigs and ileal effluent of human ileostomates. This was supported by similar α -diversity numbers and predicted metabolic functionality. Nevertheless, it is important to highlight that the variability was higher in the ileal microbial community of humans, which could explain why no differences were observed across species for some microbial results. For example, the total number of bacteria was not statistically different across species despite there being 32-fold greater numbers (based on back-transformed data) in the ileal digesta of pigs compared to humans. The difference in variability between the species could be due to several factors, such as genetics, environment, and diet [122, 252], which are more standardised for pigs.

On the other hand, one-third of the genera were either unique to one species or in different numbers across species. For example, *Mycoplasma* was unique to the pig ileal digesta, which was expected as it is a common porcine gut bacterium [247]. *Streptococcus* and *Veillonella* were the most abundant genera in the ileal effluent of human ileostomates, which agrees with previous studies [12, 20, 183]. While *Streptococcus* was similar in the ileal digesta across species, *Veillonella* was present in greater numbers in the human ileal effluent. The significant difference in the Chao1 Diversity Index indicated that the human ileal microbiota had a higher number of species than the pig ileal microbiota. However, when considering the relative abundance of the genera (i.e., Shannon Diversity Index), the α -diversity of the ileal microbiota from different individuals have a similar functional profile implying

functional redundancy, whereby different species can fulfil the same metabolic function within different microbial communities [317-320]. This may explain why the ileal microbiota of pigs and human ileostomates result in similar fermentation outcomes, even with differences in taxonomic composition.

Despite the difference in the taxonomic composition, the ileal microbiota from both species fermented the fibre sources to s similar degree. One study has reported similar in vitro fermentation outcomes (i.e., SCFA production) despite differences in faecal microbial populations [58]. However, in contrast, we have reported how different ileal microbial communities can influence in vitro fermentation outcomes (Hoogeveen et al., submitted). Based on correlations reported in our previous study, the difference in fermentation outcomes appears to be due to specific members of the ileal microbial community and the substrate used. For example, Bifidobacterium correlated positively with formic acid production when fermenting AG. In the present study, there was no difference in the number of Bifidobacterium and the production of formic acid across species. Considering the challenge of collecting ileal digesta in humans, the similar fermentation outcomes between ileal microbiota from pigs and human ileostomates found here indicate that the ileal digesta of growing pigs can be used to predict the ileal fermentation in humans. In vitro ileal fermentation is part of a combined in vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation methodology [13]. Using this combined *in vivo/in vitro* methodology, it has been demonstrated that ileal fermentation is as quantitatively important overall as hindgut fermentation [286] and that dietary interventions can modulate the amount of organic acids produced in the ileum [287](Hoogeveen et al., submitted).

4.5. Conclusion

Practically meaningful amounts of *in vitro* ileal fermentation were found in human ileostomates, highlighting the importance of an appropriate model for studying human ileal fermentation. The *in vitro* ileal fermentation outcomes using ileal digesta from the growing pig were similar to those obtained with ileal effluents of human ileostomates, suggesting that the growing pig is a valid model for ileal fermentation in adult humans.

Chapter 5: Ileal and hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet

This chapter has been published in the British Journal of Nutrition:

Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, de Haas ES, Blatchford P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Ileal and hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet. Brit J Nutr. 2020:1-27.

Author's contribution: AME Hoogeveen was responsible for the data analysis, performed the statistical analysis (under the guidance of Carlos Montoya) and wrote the draft manuscript.

Abstract

Background. Dietary fibre fermentation in humans and monogastric animals is considered to occur in the hindgut but may also occur in the lower small intestine.

Objective. This study aimed to compare ileal and hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet using a combined *in vivo/in vitro* methodology.

Methods. Five pigs $(23 \pm 1.6 \text{ kg} (\text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$ body weight) were fed a human-type diet. On day fifteen, the pigs were euthanised. Digesta from terminal jejunum and terminal ileum were collected as substrates for fermentation. Ileal and caecal digesta were collected for preparing microbial inocula. Terminal jejunal digesta were fermented *in vitro* with an ileal digesta inoculum for 2 hours. In contrast, terminal ileal digesta were fermented *in vitro* with a pooled caecal digesta inoculum for 24 hours.

Results. The ileal organic matter fermentability (28%) was not different from hindgut fermentation (35%). However, the organic matter fermented was 66% greater for ileal fermentation than for hindgut fermentation (P = 0.04). The total numbers of bacteria in ileal and caecal digesta did not differ (P = 0.09). Differences ($P \le 0.05$) were observed in the taxonomic composition. For instance, ileal digesta contained a 32-fold greater number of the genus *Enterococcus*. In contrast, caecal digesta had a 227-fold greater number of the genus *Ruminococcus*. Acetate and iso-valerate synthesis were greater ($P \le 0.05$) for ileal fermentation than caecal fermentation, but propionate, butyrate, and valerate synthesis were lower. Short-chain fatty acids were absorbed in the GIT location where they were synthesised.

Conclusion. In conclusion, a quantitatively important degree of fermentation occurs in the ileum of the growing pig fed a human-type diet.

5.1. Introduction

Gastrointestinal tract (GIT) microbial fermentation is an important process in humans and monogastric animals. During fermentation, dietary fibre and non-dietary material are degraded by the GIT microbiota. Fermentation synthesises mainly short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), organic acids such as lactate, and gasses such as CO₂, CH₄, and H₂ [1]. The SCFAs have beneficial health effects for the host, both locally within the GIT (for example, as an energy source for epithelial cells) [2] and systemically (e.g. regulation of glucose homeostasis) [3]. The current paradigm is that fermentation in humans and monogastric animals occur predominantly in the hindgut with little fermentation in the foregut [1].

There is a considerable number of microbes present in the foregut of the human and growing pig [8, 12, 321, 322]. These microbes may ferment dietary fibre, and several studies have reported important disappearance (i.e., fermentability) of dietary fibre at the end of the small

intestine in both human ileostomates and pigs [7, 145, 323, 324]. For example, 13% of the non-starch polysaccharides in potatoes [7] and 15 to 46% of the dietary pectin [145] disappeared in the foregut of human ileostomates. Several experiments also indicate low ileal digestibility values for dietary fibre in human ileostomates and ileal-cannulated pigs [141, 157, 324]. Montoya *et al.*, 2016 [325] discussed that non-dietary gut materials (such as mucin) might interfere with dietary fibre determination in ileal digesta and thus lead to underestimation of dietary fibre ileal digestibility. For instance, an estimate of the ileal digestibility of soluble fibre in kiwifruit increased by 50% when it was corrected for interfering non-dietary materials [144]. Consequently, dietary fibre fermentation in the foregut may be greater than is commonly believed.

The greater number and more diverse population of microbes in the ileum [8], coupled with a longer transit time of digesta in the lower small intestine, indicate that fermentation in the foregut may occur mainly within the ileum. Moreover, and based on functional genome analysis, the human ileal microbiota appears to be able to rapidly take up and metabolize simple carbohydrates (i.e., mono-, di- and oligosaccharides) [12]. This is important as transit time in the ileum is considerably shorter than in the hindgut [326]. In the growing pig, the adenylate energy charge in the last third of the small intestine was similar to that of the caecum, despite the lower number of anaerobic bacteria [327]. These observations indicate the potential for a quantitatively significant amount of fermentation occurring in the small intestine of humans and pigs. However, no reported studies have been able to quantify ileal fermentation due to the lack of a methodology to do so. It is hypothesised that ileal fermentation is as important as hindgut fermentation in terms of organic matter (OM) disappearance (i.e., fermentability) and synthesis of SCFAs despite difference in microbial population.

In this study, growing pigs were fed a human-type diet and ileal and hindgut OM fermentations were determined in the same animal using optimised and validated *in vivo/in vitro* fermentation assays that have shown to provide meaningful results to simulate fermentation in human adults [13, 284] (Chapter 3 and 4). This is the first study able to quantify OM fermentability, OM fermented, synthesis and absorption of SCFAs in the ileum. The quantitative importance of ileal fermentation was then assessed by comparing the ileal fermentation parameters with those obtained in the hindgut fermentation. The growing pig was used as an animal model for adult human foregut digestion [243, 328] because the collection of digesta in different locations of the small intestine is difficult and invasive in humans.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. In vivo assay

Dietary treatment. A high-fibre diet comprising foods commonly consumed by humans [329] was formulated to meet the nutrient requirements of the growing pig (National Research Council [330]) (Supplementary Table 5.1). Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) was added to the diet as an indigestible marker.

Animals housing and experimental design. Ethics approval for the animal trial was obtained from the Massey University Animal Ethics Committee (Palmerston North, New Zealand). The animal housing and experimental design were described previously in detail by Montoya *et al.*, 2018 [13]. Briefly, five nine-week-old entire male pigs (Hampshire x (Landrace x Large white), 23 \pm 1.6 kg (mean \pm SD) body weight (BW)) were housed individually in metabolism pens (1.5 x 0.5 m) in a room maintained at 24 \pm 2.4°C with a 10 h/14 h light/dark cycle. Pigs received the experimental diet for 14 days, gradually adapting from a commercial diet to a

human-type diet during the first three days. The daily ration was 100 g dry matter (DM)/kg metabolic BW (BW^{0.75}) per day and given as two equal meals at 08.00 and 16.00 h. Pigs had free access to water during the study. Pigs were monitored during feeding. After feeding, cages were thoroughly washed, and toys were provided to the pigs. On day fifteen, pigs were fed half their daily ration as one meal and euthanised 5 hours postprandial by intracardial injection of sodium pentobarbitone (0.3 ml Pentobarb 300/kg BW; Provet). The small intestine was dissected out immediately and ligated into three equal parts. Digesta from the last 50 cm of the second (approximate terminal jejunum) and last (approximate terminal ileum) thirds of the small intestine were collected and used as substrates for the in vitro ileal and hindgut fermentation, respectively (Figure 5.1). Digesta from the remaining final third (i.e., last third minus terminal ileum) of the small intestine were collected along with caecal digesta for preparing microbial inocula for the in vitro ileal and hindgut fermentation, respectively. All digesta were collected in plastic bags containing carbon dioxide before being stored in insulated containers at 4°C to minimize bacterial activity while weighing the fresh digesta substrates. Representative samples of terminal jejunal digesta, terminal ileal digesta, and faeces were collected in Eppendorf tubes and stored at -20°C to determine the concentration of SCFAs. For the microbial analysis, aliquots from the ileal (i.e., last third minus last 50 cm) and caecal digesta were collected in Eppendorf tubes and stored at -80°C. Terminal jejunal and terminal ileal digesta and faeces were also collected, stored at -20°C, freeze-dried and finely ground for determining DM, OM, and TiO₂.



Figure 5.1: Schematic overview of the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation methodology.

5.2.2. In vitro fermentation assays

A combined *in vivo/in vitro* methodology was used based on the growing pig. The pig provided both the substrate (terminal jejunal and terminal ileal digesta) entering each of the fermentation sections (ileum and hindgut) and the microbial inocula (ileal and caecal digesta) for the ileal and hindgut fermentation, respectively [13]. The substrate and inoculum of each fermentation section are then fermented *in vitro* to determine OM fermentability and synthesis of SCFAs. The *in vivo* and *in vitro* results were combined to predict amounts of OM fermented and the synthesis and absorption of SCFAs.

The combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation assays were optimised for different parameters such as incubation time, amount of digesta, pH, and medium elsewhere [13, 284]. For example, the incubation time (1 to 7 hours) did not significantly change the ileal OM fermentability using the *in vivo/in vitro* methodology [13].

lleal fermentation. The *in vitro* ileal fermentation was performed according to Montoya *et al.*, 2018 [13]. The inoculum was prepared by pooling ileal digesta (digesta from the final third of the small intestine minus the last 50 cm) from all pigs and mixing with a sterilised anaerobic 0.1 M phosphate buffer saline (PBS) solution (4.1 mM L-cysteine, pH 7). The ratio digesta:PBS was 0.22:1, w:v. All bottles containing 5 ml of PBS either alone (blanks) or 1 g of the fresh substrate (i.e., terminal jejunal digesta for each of the five pigs) were inoculated with 5 ml of the ileal inoculum. A total of six bottles per pig were used. The ileal fermentation was conducted anaerobically at 37°C for 2 hours.

Hindgut fermentation. The *in vitro* hindgut fermentation was performed according to Coles *et al.*, 2013 [284]. The inoculum was prepared by pooling caecal digesta from all pigs and mixing them with a sterilised anaerobic 0.1 M PBS solution (4.1 mM L-cysteine, pH 7). The ratio digesta:PBS was 0.33:1, w:v. All bottles containing either 5 ml of PBS alone (blanks) or with 1 g of the fresh substrate (i.e., terminal ileal digesta for each of the five pigs) were inoculated with 5 ml of the ileal inoculum. A total of six bottles per pig were used. Hindgut fermentation was conducted anaerobically at 37°C for 24 hours.

After ileal and hindgut fermentation, the contents of three bottles were analysed to determine the concentration of SCFAs. The remaining three bottles were autoclaved (121°C for 20 minutes) to inactivate the bacteria and remove fermentation products before OM determination. The values of the three bottles for the concentration of SCFAs and OM determination were averaged per pig. Thus, the number of replicates was five for both ileal and hindgut fermentation.

5.2.3. Chemical analysis

The diet and substrate materials were analysed in duplicate for DM, ash, and OM (DM – Ash), TiO₂ [301], starch (Kit AA/AMG, Megazyme), crude protein (N x 6.25; using a LECO elemental analyser) [300], and lipids (by Soxhlet extraction using petroleum ether) [300]. The diet was also analysed for gross energy (using a LECO AC-350 Automatic Calorimeter) and soluble and insoluble dietary fibre [331]. DM, ash, and OM (DM – Ash) contents were also determined on the material remaining after the *in vitro* fermentation. The concentration of SCFAs was determined in the terminal jejunal digesta, terminal ileal digesta, faeces, and in the samples after *in vitro* fermentation, as described previously [292], with iso-caproic acid as an internal standard.

5.2.4. Microbial analysis

DNA extraction. DNA was extracted from ileal and caecal digesta (0.25 g) using the DNeasy Powersoil kit (QIAGEN), with alterations described by Healey *et al.*, 2017 [332]. Before extraction, the sample was homogenised in bead tubes (0.1 mm and 0.5 mm mix in bead solution) using a FastPrep-24 5G instrument (MP Biomedicals) at 5.5 m/s for three 60-second cycles with 5 minutes of rest on ice in between. Extracted DNA was quantified and quality-checked on a Qubit fluorometer (Invitrogen) and QIAxpert spectrophotometer (QIAGEN), respectively.

Quantitative PCR. Escherichia coli (Nissle) was used as a representative bacterium for the total bacteria and was grown in tryptic soy broth (Oxoid) at 37°C aerobically. Cell density was determined using a haemocytometer (Neubauer) and the culture was concentrated to 1.0x10⁹ cells/ml. DNA was then extracted as described above. A standard curve was constructed using 1:10 dilutions of the extracted standard DNA. Samples and standards

were run in triplicate by absolute quantification on the Light Cycler 480 real-time PCR instrument (Roche). SYBR Green I Master Mix (Roche) detection chemistry was used to detect double-stranded DNA amplification. The total reaction volume was 20 µl, consisting of 10 µl SyBr Green I Master mix, 4 µl forward primer (2.5 µM), 4 µl reverse primer (2.5 µM) and 2 µl DNA template or sterile water (blank). Each qPCR run included one activation cycle (95°C, 5 minutes), 32 to 40 run cycles [including denaturation (95°C, 30 seconds), annealing (60°C, 60 seconds) and extension (72°C, 60 seconds)], and one melt curve cycle (60 to 95°C at 0.1°C/s with continuous fluorescence acquisition) followed by a cooling cycle (40°C). The melt curve cycle enabled the differentiation between the target product and non-specific double-stranded products such as primer-dimers. The universal primers used were forward '(5'-TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT) and reverse (5' GGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTT) [333].

16S rRNA gene sequencing and bioinformatics. Purified DNA from each sample was sent to the Massey Genome Service (Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand). The samples underwent library preparation as previously described[334] using primers that amplified the V3-V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene, 16SF_V3 (5' -AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-

TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG) and 16SR_V4 (5' -CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-

AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT). The library was pooled at equal concentrations and run on one lane of an Illumina MiSeq instrument using 2x250 bp pairedend chemistry. Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME) software V1.8.0 was used to analyse the Illumina MiSeq sequencing data [335]. PANDASeq was used with parameters of at least 40 bp overlap, a minimum of 350 bp length and a maximum of 500 bp length to assemble the forward and reverse reads into a continuous sequence. Chimeras
were filtered from the sequences and the reads clustered into operational taxonomic units based on a 97% identity threshold using USEARCH (-cluster_fast command with default parameters) [336, 337]. Sequence alignment was carried out using PyNAST with reference to the Greengenes database (version 13_8) [338]. The resultant OTU table was denoised by removing taxa with fewer than five total sequences across all samples. Alpha rarefaction was calculated using Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity metric [339] to a rarefaction depth of 10,000 sequences. Beta diversity was determined using Euclidean distances as input to generate principal coordinate plots. Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUSt) was used to predict the functional profiling of ileal and caecal microbial communities.

5.2.5. Calculations

Due to different amounts of DM entering the ileum and hindgut, data were normalised for dietary DM intake based on the ratio of the indigestible marker in the diet and digesta (i.e., data were expressed per kg diet DM intake). Normalizing parameters allowed comparing gut locations, as measures were expressed in the same unit. The calculations used for determining *in vitro* OM fermentability [292] and *in vivo/in vitro* fermented OM for either ileal or hindgut fermentation were as follows:

- OM fermentability in vitro (%) = (OMbefore in vitro fermentation [OMafter in vitro fermentation ((OMblank initial + OMblank final)/2)]) / OMbefore in vitro fermentation x 100
- Fermented OM_{in vivo/in vitro} (g/kg diet DM intake) = OM fermentability_{in vitro} / 100 x (TiO_{2-diet}/TiO<sub>2-terminal jejunal or terminal ileal digesta)
 </sub>

where OM_{blank initial} and OM_{blank final} are the amounts of OM in the blanks prior to (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. *In vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation had their

own blanks. TiO_{2-diet} and TiO_{2-terminal jejunal or terminal ileal digesta are the TiO₂ concentrations (g/kg DM) in the diet and digesta, respectively. The TiO_{2-terminal jejunal digesta} was used for the *in vitro* ileal fermentation, whereas TiO_{2-terminal ileal digesta} was used for the *in vitro* hindgut fermentation. The normalised total number of bacteria and archaea and number per phyla or genus, and the predicted metabolic activity in ileal and caecal digesta were calculated as follows:}

- Normalised total number of bacteria and archaea_{ileal or caecal digesta} (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg diet DM intake) = number of bacteria and archaea_{ileal or caecal digesta} (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg DM) x (TiO₂-diet/TiO₂-terminal ileal or caecal digesta)
- 4) Normalised number of bacteria or archaea per phylum/genus_{ileal or caecal digesta} (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg diet DM intake) = normalised total number of bacteria and archaea_{ileal or caecal digesta} (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg diet DM intake) x relative abundance_{phylum/genus} (%) / 100
- 5) Normalised predicted metabolic activity_{ileal and caecal digesta} (activity/kg diet DM intake) = relative activity/kg DM x (TiO_{2-diet}/TiO_{2-terminal ileal or caecal digesta)}

The synthesis of SCFAs during *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation, estimated *in vivo/in vitro* synthesis of SCFAs (representing the estimated ileal or hindgut synthesis based on the amount of dry matter entering either the ileum or hindgut per kg DM diet intake), normalised concentration of SCFAs in terminal jejunal digesta, terminal ileal digesta and faeces, and estimated *in vivo/in vitro* disappearance of SCFAs in ileum and hindgut were determined as described previously [292], using the following equations:

6) Synthesis of SCFAsileal or hindgut *in vitro* (mmol/kg substrate DM incubated) = (SCFAsafter *in vitro* fermentation (mmol/kg DM) – SCFAsjejunum or terminal ileum digesta (mmol/kg DM) – [(SCFAsblank initial + SCFAsblank final)/2])

- 7) Estimated synthesis of SCFAsileal or hindgut in vivol in vitro (mmol/kg diet DM intake) = synthesis of SCFAsileal or hindgut in vitro (mmol/kg substrate DM incubated) x (TiO₂-diet/TiO₂terminal jejunum or terminal ileal digesta)
- 8) Normalised concentration of SCFAS_{terminal} jejunum, terminal ileum digesta or faeces (mmol/kg diet DM intake) = SCFAS_{terminal} jejunum, terminal ileum digesta or faeces (mmol/kg DM) x (TiO₂-diet/TiO₂-terminal jejunal or terminal ileal digesta or faeces)
- 9) Estimated disappearance of SCFAs (mmol/kg diet DM intake) ileal or hindgut *in vivo* = Normalised concentration of SCFAsterminal jejunum or terminal ileum digesta (mmol/kg diet DM intake) + estimated synthesis of SCFAsileal or hindgut *in vivo/in vitro* (mmol/kg diet DM intake)
 Normalised concentration of SCFAsterminal ileum digesta or faeces (mmol/kg diet DM intake)

where SCFAs_{blank initial} and SCFAs_{blank final} are the SCFAs (mmol/kg DM) in the blanks prior to (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. *In vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation had their own blanks. SCFAs_{jejunum or terminal ileum digesta} are the SCFAs (mmol/kg DM) in fresh terminal jejunal (ileal fermentation) or terminal ileal (hindgut fermentation) digesta, which represents the SCFAs present in the digesta before being fermented.

The calculation used to determine the normalised nutrient content was as follows:

10) Normalised nutrient contentterminal jejunal or terminal ileal digesta (g/kg diet DM intake) = nutrient concentrationterminal jejunal or terminal ileal digesta (g/kg DM) x (TiO₂-diet/TiO₂-terminal jejunum or terminal ileal digesta)

5.2.6. Statistical analysis

For this study, a sample size of five replicates was required to detect a statistical difference (5%) between GIT locations, with a power >80% at a two-tail 5% significance level based on variance (SD 2.4%) and means reported in previous studies [322, 324, 340].

The statistical analyses were performed in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). The difference between ileal and hindgut fermentation within each pig for the OM fermentability, fermented OM, estimated synthesis of SCFAs, estimated disappearance of SCFAs, the normalised number of bacteria and archaea (total, phyla, and genus), and the normalised predicted metabolic activity was tested using a paired *t* test. The normal distribution of the difference for the *t* test was evaluated using the ODS graphics and the univariate procedure of SAS. Probability values of $P \le 0.05$ were considered statistically significant, and a trend when $0.05 \le P \le 0.10$.

The non-parametric two-sample t-test (Monte Carlo permutation) from QIIME was used to determine alpha diversity significance. The Euclidean distance Principal Coordinates Analysis groupings were tested for significant separation using the Adonis test (9,999 permutations).

5.3. Results

All pigs were healthy except for a pig that had loose stools during the first experimental days.

5.3.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability

There was no difference (P = 0.124) between ileal and hindgut *in vitro* OM fermentability, 28 ± 1.9 and 35 ± 2.1 % (mean ± SEM), respectively (Figure 5.2). However, there was 66% more fermented OM in the ileum than in the hindgut (P = 0.040).



Figure 5.2: Ileal and hindgut *in vitro* OM fermentability values (left) and *in vivo/in vitro* fermented OM (right) of pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5). The line for each GIT location represents the mean value. The effect of GIT location was tested using a paired *t* test. DM, dry matter, GIT, gastrointestinal tract; OM, organic matter.

5.3.1. Ileal and faecal microbiota

The normalised total number of bacteria and archaea in the caecum tended to be greater than in the ileum (P = 0.09; Table 5.1). Ileal digesta contained greater ($P \le 0.05$) numbers of the family Micrococcaceae (42-fold greater), and the genera *Enterococcus* (32-fold greater), and *Leuconostoc* (55-fold greater). In contrast, caecal digesta had greater ($P \le$ 0.05) numbers of the class Clostridiales (57-fold greater), the families Coriobacteriaceae (91-fold greater), Lachnospiraceae (443-fold greater), and Tenericutes (24-fold greater), and the genera *Methanosphaera* (15-fold greater), *Blautia* (65-fold greater), *Coprococcus* (17fold greater), *Ruminococcaceae* (227-fold greater), and *Ruminococcus* (82-fold greater).

Some bacteria were observed in considerable numbers in the caecal digesta (e.g., Bacteriodales. Prevotella, Dorea, Lachnospira, Roseburia, Ervsipelotrichaceae, Treponema, and TM7-3_F16) were not detected in ileal digesta. Similar conclusions can be drawn from the relative abundance data (non-normalised data; Supplementary Figure 5.1 and Supplementary Figure 5.2). The alpha diversity tended to differ between the ileal and caecal microbiota (P = 0.09; Figure 5.3). Based on the normalised data, the microbiota in the caecal digesta resembled a more closely related community than the microbiota in the ileal digesta (Figure 5.4). The differences in the ileal and caecal microbiota composition are reflected in differences in their predicted metabolic activity according to PICRUSt analysis of pathways related to carbohydrate and protein metabolism (Supplementary Table 5.2). For example, the caecal predicted metabolic activity for pyruvate metabolism was 1.2-fold greater (P = 0.02) than the ileal pyruvate metabolism.

		GIT lo		
Phylum	Genus	lleum	Caecum	P value ²
		x10 ⁹ 16S rRNA gene c	opy number/kg diet DM	
Total number of bacteria and archaea		828 ± 268	1946 ± 203	0.086
Actinobacteria		30.4 ± 0.81	32.0 ± 0.54	0.812
	Actinomycetales ³	5.13 ± 3.14	0.08 ± 0.08	-
	Micrococcaceae ³	32.5 ± 11.1	0.78 ± 0.38	0.046
	Coriobacteriaceae ³	0.22 ± 0.13	20.4 ± 1.27	<0.001
	Collinsella	2.14 ± 2.07	10.2 ± 4.63	0.189
Bacteroid	letes	0.10 ± 0.10	270 ± 66.0	-
	Bacteroidales ³	0.05 ± 0.05	87.6 ± 19.7	-
	Prevotella	ND	175 ± 63.7	-
Euryarch	aeota	1.17 ± 0.80	15.8 ± 3.07	0.011
	Methanosphaera	1.04 ± 0.83	15.3 ± 2.81	0.009
Firmicute	S	784 ± 258	1513 ± 149	0.179
	Enterococcus	37.0 ± 12.1	1.15 ± 0.16	0.041
	Lactobacillus	10.6 ± 6.75	4.48 ± 1.33	0.342
	Leuconostoc	81.6 ± 29.0	1.48 ± 1.11	0.053
	Streptococcus	509 ± 160	299 ± 56.9	0.274
	Turicibacter	0.77 ± 0.37	15.6 ± 0.77	0.133
	Clostridiales ³	3.46 ± 2.28	197 ± 22.6	0.001
	Christensenellaceae ³	ND	0.45 ± 0.18	-
	Clostridiaceae ³	30.7 ± 11.6	49.7 ± 14.9	0.626
	Lachnospiraceae ³	0.18 ± 0.13	79.7 ± 12.9	<0.001
	Blautia	0.41 ± 0.34	26.8 ± 4.33	0.004
	Coprococcus	1.85 ± 1.71	30.9 ± 5.94	0.006
	Dorea	0.55 ± 0.51	22.3 ± 7.98	-
	Lachnospira	0.00 ± 0.00	40.1 ± 14.0	-
	Roseburia	0.02 ± 0.02	14.7 ± 10.6	-
	Ruminococcaceae	1.25 ± 1.01	284 ± 32.3	<0.001
	Ruminococcus	3.68 ± 3.20	302 ± 63.1	0.010
	Mogibacteriaceae	0.19 ± 0.05	1.60 ± 0.78	0.181
	Erysipelotrichaceae	0.18 ± 0.17	34.3 ± 12.2	-
Proteoba	cteria	7.34 ± 2.70	4.04 ± 1.24	0.420
	Enterobacteriaceae ³	4.94 ± 1.69	1.99 ± 0.61	0.342
Spirocha	etes	ND	47.7 ± 25.5	-
	Treponema	ND	47.3 ± 25.3	-
Tenericut	es	0.60 ± 0.53	14.4 ± 3.84	0.017
TM7		0.11 ± 0.10	17.0 ± 9.75	-
	TM7-3_F16	ND	17.0 ± 9.75	-
Unassign	ed	9.08 ± 3.65	24.6 ± 6.21	0.147

Table 5.1: Taxonomic composition in ileal and caecal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet¹

¹ Values are means \pm SEM; n = 5. Only bacteria phyla/genera with > 1% abundance in at least one of the samples are reported. GIT, gastrointestinal tract; ND, not detected.

² The statistical analysis was only conducted when bacteria were detected in a minimum of three pigs.

³ Bacteria could only be classified as far as class, order, or family level.



Figure 5.3: Alpha diversity numbers showing Faith's phylogenetic diversity of microbial communities in ileal and caecal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5) based on the normalised number of bacteria and archaea. The line for each GIT location represents the mean value. The effect of the GIT location was tested using a non-parametric two-sample *t* test. GIT, gastrointestinal tract.



Figure 5.4: Euclidean Principal Coordinates Analysis of the distances of normalised relative abundance data (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg diet DM intake) in caecal (black squares) and ileal digesta (grey squares) for pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5). Groupings exhibited a significant difference (P = 0.010, $R^2 = 0.43$) as determined by the non-parametric Adonis test (9,999 permutations). The most prevalent taxa responsible for variation in the plot are displayed. DM, dry matter.

5.3.1. Estimated ileal and hindgut short-chain fatty acid production

The estimated synthesis of acetate and iso-valerate were 6.1- and 1.3-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$), respectively, during ileal fermentation compared with hindgut fermentation (Figure 5.5). In contrast, the estimated synthesis of propionate, butyrate, and valerate was greater (4.6-, 8.3-, 4.5-fold, respectively; $P \le 0.05$) during hindgut fermentation compared with ileal fermentation. Similar trends were observed for the *in vitro* synthesis of SCFAs (Supplementary Table 5.3). Based on the estimated disappearance data (Figure 5.6), most

SCFAs disappeared in the GIT location where they were synthesised. The statistical differences were similar to those for the synthesis of SCFAs values.



Figure 5.5: Estimated production of SCFAs (mmol/kg diet DM intake) in the ileum and hindgut of pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5). The line for each GIT location represents the mean value. The effect of GIT location was tested using a paired *t* test. DM, dry matter, GIT, gastrointestinal tract, SCFA, short-chain fatty acid.



Figure 5.6: Estimated disappearance of SCFAs (mmol/kg diet DM intake) in the ileum and hindgut of pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5). The line for each GIT location represents the mean value. The effect of GIT location was tested using a paired *t* test. DM, dry matter, GIT, gastrointestinal tract, SCFA, short-chain fatty acid.

5.4. Discussion

The ileal fermentation results confirm earlier observations in pigs [13, 323, 324] and establish that such fermentation is observed for a human-type diet. Indeed, one of the main results of this study was that the amount of fermented OM was 1.5-fold greater in the ileum compared with the hindgut, which is explained by a greater amount of OM entering the ileum than the hindgut (246 versus 141 g OM/kg diet DM intake) (Supplementary Table 5.4). A greater amount of acetate and iso-valerate were synthesised during ileal fermentation

compared with caecal fermentation, but for caecal fermentation, butyrate, propionate and valerate syntheses were greater. The current results are the first to demonstrate that SCFAs disappeared in the same GIT location where they were synthesised.

The normalised total number of bacteria and archaea (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg diet DM intake) in the caecal digesta (19.5x10¹¹) tended to be greater than in the ileal digesta (8.3x10¹¹). Rowan et al., 1992 [341] reported that, when considering the dietary DM, the concentration of deoxyribonucleic acid (i.e., microbial marker) in fresh ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed a human-type diet were not different. Recently, Montoya et al., 2019 [322] reported two times greater normalised total number of bacteria (per kg diet DM intake) in ileal digesta compared with faeces of pigs fed diets containing kiwifruit as the sole dietary fibre source. Different conclusions are drawn when concentration data were normalised for diet DM intake, and the potential role of the ileal microbiota in fermenting undigested material is highlighted. In the pig ileal digesta, the predominant bacterial genus was Streptococcus, which is also the predominant bacterial genus in ileal effluent from human ileostomates [12]. Streptococcus is well adapted to the ileum because it can rapidly ferment simple carbohydrates (i.e., mono-, di- and oligosaccharides), which is important in the ileum as the retention time is shorter than in the hindgut [12, 326]. A greater number of Streptococcus was observed in the ileal digesta of the pigs fed the human-type diet compared with caecal digesta. This may be related to a tendency (P = 0.07) for a greater amount of starch, a rapidly fermentable carbohydrate, entering the ileum (31 g/kg diet DM intake) compared with the hindgut (14 g/kg diet DM intake) (Supplementary Table 5.4). The main bacteria in caecal digesta belonged to the class Clostridiales and the genera Ruminococcus, Ruminococcaceae, Streptococcus, and Prevotella. Both Clostridium sp. and Ruminococcus sp. have the ability to ferment cellulose [342]. This fibre needs a longer fermentation and is expected to be the main component of the insoluble dietary fibre fraction of the human-type

diet (Supplementary Table 5.1). The predicted metabolic activity related to carbohydrate and protein metabolism demonstrated that the ileal and caecal microbiota of the pigs fed the human-type diet had different metabolic activity profiles. The overall ileal predicted metabolic activity was 84% of the overall caecal predicted metabolic activity. Despite the differences in predicted metabolic activity, similar degrees of OM fermentability were observed during ileal and hindgut fermentation. The tendency towards greater microbial diversity in caecal digesta compared with ileal digesta coincides with a longer transit time in the hindgut, which gives bacteria a greater opportunity to grow, and for cross-feeding to occur [343]. The differences in the microbial community indicate that the ileal microbial community has evolved aligned to ferment rapidly fermentable substrates in accordance with the faster transit time. In contrast, the hindgut microbial community has evolved to ferment more slowly fermentable substrates in line with the slower transit time. The co-existence of these microbial communities may result in more efficient and effective fermentation of diets as humans eat diets that are complex in nature and composition.

During ileal fermentation, acetate was the main SCFA synthesised. In contrast, butyrate and propionate were synthesised in greater amounts during hindgut fermentation. Similar trends were reported for concentrations of these SCFAs in the ileal and caecal digesta of adult humans suffering sudden death [23]. However, concentration data need to be interpreted carefully as a concentration of SCFAs represents only the amount of SCFAs that has not been absorbed at the time of collection. Synthesis data are more meaningful. The differences seen here in the synthesis of SCFAs related to the ileal and hindgut fermentation may be related to several factors: (i) the incubation time of ileal fermentation (2 hours) compared with hindgut fermentation (24 hours), (ii) the microbial composition and (iii) the amount and chemical composition of the substrate available. A longer fermentation time may be one of the factors explaining the greater butyric acid synthesis. Longer fermentation

time allows cross-feeding to occur, whereby SCFAs like acetate can be converted into other SCFAs, like butyrate [42, 75, 344]. This would lower the concentration of acetate while increasing the concentration of butyrate. Another factor explaining the greater hindgut butyrate synthesis is the higher numbers of butyrate-synthesising bacteria reported in caecal digesta. Similarly, the greater caecal propionate synthesis may be related to higher numbers of propionate-synthesizing bacteria such as *Prevotella* [60] reported in the caecal digesta. The tendency to have lower phylogenetic diversity in the ileum compared with the caecum may explain the greater concentration of acetate observed after ileal fermentation compared with hindgut fermentation. Almost all GIT bacteria can synthesize acetate, whereas butyrate and propionate synthesis pathways are highly conserved in a limited amount of GIT bacteria [102]. The amount of crude protein entering the ileum was two-fold greater than that entering the hindgut (Supplementary Table 5.4), which may explain the greater iso-valerate synthesis during ileal fermentation since iso-valerate is a product of protein fermentation [24]. The SCFAs synthesised during ileal fermentation are expected to have similar effects on the ileal microbiota as reported for the caecal microbiota. For example, the synthesis of SCFAs reduces the pH and promotes the growth of different bacteria, like Roseburia [344].

Based on the estimated disappearance of SCFAs, the SCFAs were absorbed or metabolised in the same GIT location as they were synthesised. Previously, human studies have shown that SCFAs can be absorbed in both the ileum and hindgut [345, 346]. These results indicate that SCFAs synthesised in the ileum may have a local effect at the ileal epithelium or be absorbed to serve systemically in the host. For example, human ileal epithelial cells contain free fatty acid receptors, which, upon binding with SCFAs, can stimulate the production of satiety hormones, such as PYY and GLP-1 [347], which then increase ileal motility [206]. Dietary intervention may be a strategy to modulate the ileal synthesis of SCFAs and, therefore, deliver SCFAs both locally and systemically. Further

studies to investigate the influence of diet on ileal microbiota, their fermentation capacity and synthesis of SCFAs, and how ileal fermentation affects the host are warranted.

To compare estimated ileal and hindgut fermentation in the present work, a combined in *vivo/in vitro* methodology was used. The limitations and advantages of this methodology have been described previously [13]. One of the limitations of this in vivo/in vitro methodology is that *in vivo* absorption and fermentation of dietary and non-dietary nutrients occur simultaneously in the ileum. During in vitro fermentation, this absorption is not simulated. The presently described study involves only one human-type diet, and the work needs to be extended to more diverse diets and sources of dietary fibre. That the humantype diet was highly fermentable in the ileum, however, demonstrates that ileal fermentability may be a hitherto largely under-recognised yet important characteristic of foods and diets consumed by humans. Some studies have reported important ileal digestibility values of dietary fibre in human ileostomates [7, 145]. Both the ileal and hindgut fermentation of foods need to be better understood. However, applying the combined in vivo/in vitro methodology in humans requires an animal model to allow for the sampling of terminal jejunal digesta and ileal digesta. A faecal inoculum sourced from adult humans can replace the caecal inoculum used here to determine hindgut fermentation [284]. The growing pig is a valid animal model for the adult human for the foregut digestion of food [14, 328]. It can be expected that pig terminal ileal digesta samples can be used to provide a suitable substrate for the hindgut fermentation methodology (faecal inoculum). Porcine ileal digesta have been found to provide a suitable inoculum for a fermentation assay related to human ileal fermentation with similar OM fermentabilities of fibre substrates, regardless of differences in microbiota between the two species (Chapter 4).

5.5. Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of this experiment demonstrate that a diet consisting of foods commonly consumed by humans was well-fermented in the ileum of the growing pig. Indeed, the amount of fermented OM was greater during ileal than hindgut fermentation. The ileal fermentation synthesised an important amount of SCFAs (mainly acetic acid), which were absorbed or metabolised in the ileum.

Chapter 6: Type of dietary fibre is associated with changes in ileal and hindgut microbial communities in the growing pigs and influences *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation

This chapter has been published in the Journal of Nutrition:

Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Henare SJ, Schulze P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Type of dietary fibre is associated with changes in ileal and hindgut microbial communities in growing pigs and influences *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation. J Nutr. 2021;151:2976-85.

Author's contribution: AME Hoogeveen was responsible for the SCFA (with technical assistance) and microbial analysis. She also performed the data analysis, bioinformatics, statistical analysis (under the guidance of Carlos Montoya) and wrote the draft manuscript.

Abstract

Background. The degree of ileal organic matter (OM) fermentation appears comparable to hindgut fermentation in growing pigs.

Objective. This study aimed to determine if dietary fibre sources with known different total gastrointestinal tract (GIT) fermentability in humans affect ileal and hindgut microbial communities and ileal fermentation in growing pigs used as an animal model for human adults.

Methods. Male pigs (21 kg bodyweight; nine-week-old; PIC Camborough 46 x PIC boar 356L; n = 8/diet) were fed for 42 days a diet containing cellulose (CEL, low fermentability)

as the sole fibre source (4.5%) or diets where half of the CEL was replaced by moderately fermentable fibre, psyllium (PSY) or kiwifruit (KF) fibre. For each diet, terminal jejunal (substrate) and ileal (inoculum) digesta were collected from the euthanised animal for *in vitro* ileal fermentation (2 h). Terminal ileal (substrate) and caecal (inoculum) digesta were used for *in vitro* hindgut fermentation (24 h). After *in vitro* fermentation, OM fermentation and short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) production were determined. Ileal digesta and faeces were collected for microbial analysis. Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA (diet x GIT region).

Results. In vitro ileal OM fermentation was, on average, 22% and comparable to hindgut OM fermentation. Ileal and hindgut OM fermentation, SCFA production, and microbial communities changed ($P \le 0.05$) when CEL was partially replaced by KF or PSY. For instance, pigs fed the PSY diet had a threefold higher ($P \le 0.05$) number of ileal and faecal bacteria than pigs fed the CEL and KF diets. Pigs fed the CEL diet had 4- higher ($P \le 0.05$) hindgut valeric acid production than pigs fed the other diets.

Conclusion. Ileal fermentation is quantitatively significant. Partial substitution of CEL with more fermentable fibres influences both ileal and hindgut microbial communities and their fermentative capacity in growing pigs.

6.1. Introduction

The ileum (approximately the distal one-third of the small intestine) appears to be an important site of microbial fermentation in humans and monogastric animals [12, 20, 145, 154, 348, 349]. Such a conclusion, however, is mainly based on observations stemming from the density of microbes in the ileum [12, 20], ileal short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) concentrations [154, 348], and the disappearance of dietary fibres before the hindgut [145, 349]. A study using a combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay has recently provided

direct evidence for the quantitative importance of ileal fermentation versus hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet [286]. A similar degree of organic matter (OM) fermentation was observed in the ileum (28%) and the hindgut (35%) [286], with greater ileal production of acetic acid but lower production of propionic and butyric acids compared to the hindgut. The latter finding relates to a single mixed diet, and the generality of the finding has not yet been established. The quantitative importance of ileal fermentation for fibre sources differing in their total gastrointestinal tract (GIT) fermentability remains to be determined.

It is well established that different fibre sources have different GIT luminal properties, such as solubility and viscosity, which may influence the GIT microbial communities [311, 350-352], microbial metabolite production [30, 352, 353], and fermentation [30, 353]. For instance, cellulose (CEL; an insoluble fibre) has a low water-holding capacity, low viscosity, and low total GIT fermentability. In contrast, psyllium (PSY), a soluble fibre, has a high waterholding capacity, high viscosity and is moderately fermented in the total GIT of the adult human [30, 353]. Green kiwifruit (KF, *Actinidia deliciosa*, Hayward) has a 1:1 to 1:2 ratio of soluble:insoluble fibre [354, 355]) and a high water-holding capacity and high viscosity, and is extensively fermented in the GIT [349, 351, 352, 356]. Such differences in fermentability appear to be related to changes in microbial composition. For example, in growing pigs, intake of KF for seven days resulted in an increased number of total bacteria and *Bacteroides* in the hindgut, with a reduced number of *Escherichia coli* compared to a fibrefree or CEL-containing diet [351].

This study aimed to assess the quantitative importance of ileal fermentation (OM fermentation and SCFA production) and to investigate the effect of partial substitution of CEL (low total GIT fermentability) by dietary fibres, such as KF fibre and PSY, that are known to be more fermentable over the entire GIT on the ileal microbial community and

163

fermentation. A comparison was made with hindgut fermentation. It is hypothesised that the ileal microbial community, OM fermentation, and SCFA production differ when CEL is partially replaced by KF and PSY. In addition, despite differences in the microbial community between ileal and caecal digesta, it is hypothesised that the ileal OM fermentability is similar to the hindgut fermentability based on OM disappearance.

Considering the histological and physiological similarities from the mouth to the terminal ileum between the growing pig and the adult human [14, 357], the pig was used here as an animal model for human ileal fermentation. Ileal fermentation was compared with hindgut fermentation within the pig itself. The pig was not used as a model of human hindgut fermentation due to anatomical differences between the species in this respect.

6.2. Materials and methods

6.2.1. Diets

This study was part of a larger study that studied the effect of the KF, CEL and PSY on the histology of the epithelium and mucosa in the GIT [358]. The dietary fibre sources were: CEL (Avicel PH101, Hawkins Watts); KF fibre (provided as fresh KF; *Actinidia deliciosa* cv. Hayward); and PSY (95% purity, PSYH80, Davis Food Ingredients). Three semi-synthetic iso-fibre (45 g fibre/kg dry matter, DM) diets were formulated to provide similar macronutrient content and to meet the nutrient requirements of the growing pig as prescribed by the National Research Council [330] (Supplementary Table 6.1). One diet contained CEL as the sole fibre source, while in the other two diets, half of the CEL was replaced (on an equal fibre basis) by either KF fibre or PSY. For the KF diet, the ripe KF (firmness at 0.5-0.8 kg force) was peeled and crushed before mixing into the semi-synthetic diet before feeding. Titanium dioxide (TiO₂; 3 g/kg DM) was included in each diet as an indigestible marker.

6.2.2. In vivo assay

Animals and experimental design. The Massey University Animal Ethics Committee granted ethical approval for this study (Protocol 15/112). Twenty-four entire male pigs (PIC Camborough 46 x PIC boar 356L; 21.4 ± 1.2 kg bodyweight (BW), mean ± SD) were housed individually in metabolism crates (1.5 x 1.5 m) in a room maintained at 22 ± 2°C with a 12 h/12 h light/dark cycle. Pigs were randomly allocated to the three diets (n = 8). The experimental period was 42 days, which included a four-day adaptation period. The daily ration, adjusted weekly, was 100 g DM/kg of metabolic BW (BW^{0.75}) and fed three equal meals at 0800, 1200, and 1600 h. Pigs had free access to water. On day forty-two, pigs were fed hourly their daily ration as nine equal meals. Pigs were sedated and euthanised between 5 and 7 h after the first meal [13]. Digesta samples were collected as described previously [286]. Briefly, the small intestine was divided into three equal lengths. Digesta from the last 50 cm of the second (terminal jejunum) and last (terminal ileum) thirds were collected as substrates for the *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation assays, respectively. From the remaining last third of the small intestine and the caecum, digesta were collected to prepare microbial inocula for the in vitro ileal and hindgut fermentation assays, respectively. To preserve anaerobic conditions, digesta samples were collected using plastic bags flushed with oxygen-free CO₂, after which digesta samples were stored at 4°C before in vitro fermentation. For microbial analysis, representative samples of ileal digesta and faeces were collected and stored at -80°C. Representative samples of terminal jejunal and terminal ileal digesta and faeces were collected, stored at -20°C, and freeze-dried before determining TiO₂ and nutrient composition.

6.2.3. In vitro fermentation assays

The *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation assays have been described in detail previously and optimised for parameters such as pH, fermentation time, and inoculum concentration [13, 284]. For instance, these assays recommend 2 h and 24 h for ileal and hindgut fermentation, respectively. For the *in vitro* ileal fermentation assay, an ileal inoculum was prepared for each diet by mixing 220 g pooled ileal digesta obtained from pigs fed the respective diet with one litre sterilised anaerobic 0.1 M PBS (4.1 mM L-cysteine, pH 7) at 37°C [13]. An aliquot (5 mL) of ileal inoculum was added to CO₂-flushed bottles containing 5 mL of PBS either alone (blanks) or with fresh terminal jejunal digesta (1 g, substrate) obtained from pigs fed the respective diet. Six bottles were used per blank or substrate. Ileal fermentation took place anaerobically at 37°C for 2 h.

For the *in vitro* hindgut fermentation, 320 g pooled caecal digesta of pigs fed the respective diet were used to prepare a caecal inoculum for each diet. Caecal digesta were used to prepare the inoculum for hindgut fermentation, as in the hindgut, the caecal microbiota is the first to encounter the terminal ileal digesta. Terminal ileal digesta (1 g, substrate) of pigs fed the respective diet was fermented with the caecal inoculum at 37°C for 24 h under anaerobic conditions. Six bottles were used per blank or substrate. For some pigs, insufficient digesta were collected to perform *in vitro* fermentation, microbial and chemical analysis. Thus the number of observations per mean differ.

6.2.4. Chemical analysis

DM, ash [300], OM (DM – ash), starch (Kit AA/AMG, Megazyme), crude protein (nitrogen x 6.25; using an elemental analyser LECO), and TiO₂ [301] were determined for the diets and digesta. Diets were analysed for total lipids (using a Soxhlet extractor and petroleum ether

extraction), gross energy (using a LECO AC-350 Automatic Calorimeter), and total dietary fibre [331]. After *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation, DM and ash contents were determined in half the samples (i.e., n = 3) [300]. Acetic, propionic, butyric, valeric, isobutyric, and iso-valeric acids were quantified in the other half of the samples (i.e., n = 3) using gas chromatography as described previously [292] with iso-caproic acid as an internal standard.

6.2.5. Microbial analysis

DNA extraction. DNA from ileal digesta and faeces was extracted using a DNeasy PowerSoil kit (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's instructions with minor alterations. Samples were homogenised using a FastPrep FP120 Cell homogenizer (Thermo Fisher Scientific; three times for 60 seconds, 5.5 m/s, 5 minutes rest on ice between). The quantification and quality check of the extracted DNA were performed with a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). A quantitative PCR was performed to determine the concentration of total bacteria, and taxonomic composition was determined by 16S rRNA gene sequencing (Supplemental methods).

6.2.6. Calculations

The indigestible marker TiO₂ was used to normalize all measures for the intake of DM (i.e., results are expressed per kg diet DM intake, Supplemental methods) [286].

6.2.7. Statistical analysis

Based on reported comparable means and variances, six replicates were found to be needed to achieve a significant difference (5% and 2.5 standard deviations) between diets with a power >80% at a two-tail 5% significance level [351]. In this study, eight replicates were used per diet to ensure that at least six pigs per diet completed the study period (42 days) and provided sufficient digesta per location for the *in vitro* fermentation assays and the required chemical and microbial analysis.

SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc.) was used to perform the statistical analyses. A two-way ANOVA model (diet x GIT region) was used with diet, GIT region, and diet x GIT region as fixed effects and with the pig as the experimental unit, using the Proc Mixed procedure. Repeated measures analysis could not be conducted for some pigs and GIT regions either because digesta were unavailable or the amount was insufficient to perform *in vitro* fermentation, microbial, and chemical analysis.

For the microbial data, only taxa present with >1% relative abundance in at least one sample were included in the statistical analyses. The microbial results showed that several bacterial taxa were either not present or present in only a few pigs fed the same diet. To consider this effect, a frequency analysis was first performed using a binary logistic regression for each GIT region using the Proc Glimmix procedure with 0 when the taxon was not present and 1 when a taxon had at least one read (i.e., relative abundance 0.001%).

For the taxonomic composition (i.e., number of gene copies per DM intake), initially, an analysis was conducted for the same taxa as for the frequency analysis. However, after considering the frequency analysis results, only taxa with >25% frequency of occurrence (i.e., $n \ge 2$) in ileal digesta or faecal samples across all diets were reported. This criterion was selected to remove any potential bias from taxa with a low frequency of occurrence. It

is important to highlight that for taxa with a frequency of occurrence lower than 25%, their frequency analysis and taxonomic composition analysis had similar trends across diets (data not shown). When a taxon was present in only one GIT region, a one-way ANOVA was performed to determine the effect of diet. A two-way ANOVA was performed when a taxon was present in both GIT regions. For the two-way ANOVA analysis, the interaction effect was removed from the final model when it was not significant (P > 0.05). The Bray-Curtis similarity Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) groupings were tested for significant separation using the Adonis permutational test (999 permutations).

The model diagnostics for each response variable were tested using the ODS Graphics of SAS. The taxonomic composition data underwent a log_{10} transformation to achieve homogenous variance. The selected model for each response variable had homogenous variances across treatments. When the F-value of the model was significant ($P \le 0.05$), the means were compared using the adjusted Tukey test. Probability values of $P \le 0.05$ were considered statistically different, and $0.05 \le P \le 0.10$ were considered a trend.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Ileal and hindgut organic matter fermentation

Ileal OM fermentation was quantitatively significant and was similar (P = 0.44) to the hindgut fermentation (22 ± 2.7 and 26 ± 2.9%, respectively, Figure 6.1). The ileal OM fermentation for pigs fed the KF diet tended (P = 0.07) to be 2.8-fold greater than for pigs fed the CEL diet. In contrast, the hindgut OM fermentation for pigs fed the PSY diet was 6.1- and 3.1fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) than for pigs fed the CEL and KF diets, respectively. For pigs fed the PSY diet, the hindgut OM fermentation was 2.5-fold higher ($P \le 0.05$) than its ileal counterpart. The *in vivo* ileal and hindgut OM fermentation followed similar trends (Supplemental Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1: *In vitro* ileal and hindgut OM fermentation for pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days. Values are mean \pm SEM, *n* indicates the number of individual pigs. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ (*P* ≤ 0.05). Means with an asterisk for the hindgut differ (*P* ≤ 0.05) from their ileal counterpart. CEL, cellulose; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; NS, not significant; OM, organic matter; PSY, psyllium.

6.3.2. Estimated ileal and hindgut short-chain fatty acid production

The estimated production of total SCFAs was 1.3-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$, Figure 6.2) during ileal fermentation than during hindgut fermentation, irrespective of diet. Acetic acid production represented 95% of the total SCFAs produced in the ileum and 87% in the

hindgut (Figure 6.3). For pigs fed the CEL and PSY diets, a 2.0-fold greater production of total SCFAs was observed in both GIT regions than in pigs fed the KF diet. Similar results were found for acetic acid production. There was a significant interaction ($P \le 0.05$) between diet and GIT region for the estimated production (combined *in vivo* and *in vitro* assays) of butyric, propionic, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acids (Figure 6.3). Ileal production of these SCFAs was lower ($P \le 0.05$) than their hindgut production, with a few exceptions. For instance, the ileal butyric acid production for pigs fed the KF diet was similar to the hindgut production. Pigs fed the PSY diet had a higher ($P \le 0.05$) ileal production of butyric, valeric, and iso-butyric acids compared to the pigs fed the CEL diet. In the hindgut, pigs fed the CEL diet had a greater ($P \le 0.05$) production of butyric, propionic, and iso-valeric acids than those fed the KF diet. The *in vitro* SCFA concentration data (i.e., non-normalised data) followed similar trends as those described above (Supplemental Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.2: Estimated ileal and hindgut production of total SCFA for pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days. Values are mean \pm SEM, *n* indicates the number of individual pigs. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the

interaction between diet and GIT region. The interaction between diet and GIT region was not significant (P > 0.05) and was removed from the final model. Means with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$). Means with an asterisk for the hindgut differ ($P \le 0.05$) from their ileal counterparts. CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; NS, not significant; PSY, psyllium; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids.



Figure 6.3: Estimated ileal and hindgut production of (A) acetic, (B) butyric, (C) propionic, (D) valeric, (E) iso-butyric, and (F) iso-valeric acids for pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days). A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region,

and the interaction between diet and GIT region. Values are mean \pm SEM, *n* indicates the number of individual pigs. When the interaction between diet and GIT region was not significant (*P* > 0.05), it was removed from the final model. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ (*P* ≤ 0.05). Means with an asterisk for the hindgut differ (*P* ≤ 0.05) from their ileal counterparts. When negative values were found (explained by corrected by SCFAs found in the blanks), values are assumed to be zero (i.e., the SCFA was not produced). CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids.

6.3.3. Ileal and faecal microbiota

A total of 62,750 OTUs were identified with twenty-two unique bacterial phyla and 531 unique taxa across all samples. Of these taxa, 33% were solely found in ileal digesta, and 32% were unique to faeces. The ileal microbial community of pigs fed the KF diet had a greater ($P \le 0.05$) α -diversity (i.e., Shannon index) compared to that of pigs fed the PSY diet (Figure 6.4). The α -diversity of the hindgut bacterial community was similar (P > 0.05) across diets but greater ($P \le 0.05$) than for the ileal bacterial community. Based on β -diversity, the hindgut bacterial community across all diets (Figure 6.5). In contrast, the ileal bacterial communities revealed a distinct separation between diets ($P \le 0.05$).



Figure 6.4: Shannon diversity of the microbial communities in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days, based on the data normalised for diet intake. Values are mean \pm SEM, *n* indicates the number of individual pigs. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ (*P* ≤ 0.05). Means with an asterisk for the faeces differ (*P* ≤ 0.05) from their ileal counterparts. CEL, cellulose; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium.



Figure 6.5: Bray-Curtis dissimilarity PCoA plot in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs given the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days based on the data normalised for diet intake. Every data point represents an individual sample, n = 5-8 pigs per diet and GIT region. The Adonis test (999 permutations) was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region on the groupings. CEL, cellulose; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PCoA, principal coordinate analysis; PSY, psyllium.

The frequency of occurrence of several bacterial taxa differed ($P \le 0.05$) across diets and GIT regions (Supplementary Table 6.2). For example, in iteal digesta, *Enorma* were only found in 14% and 57% of the pigs given the CEL and KF diet, respectively, and were not present in pigs given the PSY diet. *Enorma* were present in all faecal samples. Only taxa present in more than 25% (i.e., $n \ge 2$) of the iteal digesta or faecal samples across all diets were included in the statistical analysis of the taxonomic composition (Supplementary Table 6.3). Only taxa for which there was a significant ($P \le 0.05$) diet effect or a significant interaction between diet and GIT region are shown in Table 6.1.

lleal digesta		sta			Faeces			<i>P</i> value ²				
Phylu m	Genus	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	Diet	GIT region	Interactio n
Sample	size, <i>n</i> ³	7	7	5		7	8	6				
 Log ₁₀ 16S					RNA gene	copies/kg c	liet DM in	ntake				
Total bacteria		13.2 ^b	13.1 ^b	13.6ª	0.177	12.8 ^b	12.8 ^b	13.3ª	0.112	0.007	0.057	-
Actinoba	acteria											
	Collinsella	ND	ND	ND	-	10.3 ^b	10.1 ^b	11.2 ^a	0.225	0.003	-	-
Bacteroi	dota	10.9 ^b	10.9 ^b	11.3ª	0.157	12.3 ^{b*}	12.3 ^{b*}	12.7 ^{a*}	0.117	0.019	<0.001	-
	Bacteroidales ⁴	8.61 ^b	9.07 ^{ab}	9.49 ^a	0.234	10.3 ^{b*}	10.7 ^{ab*}	11.1 ^{a*}	0.177	0.044	<0.001	-
	Bacteroidia ⁴	ND	ND	ND	-	9.34 ^b	9.71 ^{ab}	10.4 ^a	0.306	0.013	-	-
	Parabacteroides	8.52 ^b	8.95 ^{ab}	9.15 ^a	0.271	10.8 ^{b*}	11.3 ^{ab*}	11.5 ^{a*}	0.168	0.037	<0.001	-
	Prevotella	9.38 ^{ab}	8.62 ^b	9.72 ^a	0.291	11.0 ^{ab*}	10.2 ^{b*}	11.3 ^{a*}	0.286	0.045	<0.001	-
	Prevotellaceae NK3B31 group	8.09 ^b	8.51 ^{ab}	9.05 ^a	0.318	10.4 ^{b*}	10.8 ^{ab*}	11.4 ^{a*}	0.218	0.015	<0.001	-
	Prevotellaceae UCG001	ND	ND	ND	-	9.27 ^{ab}	8.96 ^b	10.6ª	0.371	0.013	-	-
	Tannerellaceae4	ND	ND	ND	-	9.97 ^b	10.5 ^{ab}	11.1 ^a	0.242	0.022	-	-
Desulfol	pacterota	9.41 ^{ab}	9.20 ^b	9.82ª	0.202	11.2 ^{ab*}	11.0 ^{b*}	11.6 ^{a*}	0.115	0.003	<0.001	-
Firmicut	es	12.8 ^b	12.9 ^{ab}	13.1ª	0.144	12.5 ^{b*}	12.5 ^{ab*}	12.8 ^{a*}	0.101	0.042	0.010	-
	Acidaminococcus	7.76 ^{ab}	6.66 ^b	8.00 ^a	0.345	10.6 ^{ab*}	9.5 ^{b*}	10.9 ^{a*}	0.338	0.036	<0.001	-
	Anaerovoracaceae ⁴	8.82 ^a	7.79 ^b	8.57 ^{ab}	0.284	10.1 ^a *	9.11 ^{b*}	9.89 ^{ab*}	0.277	0.009	<0.001	-
	Carnobacterium	11.5 ^b	11.6 ^{ab}	11.9 ^a	0.152	10.4 ^{b*}	10.5 ^{ab*}	10.8 ^{a*}	0.092	0.045	<0.001	-
	Catenisphaera	ND	ND	ND	-	10.7ª	9.01 ^b	10.1 ^a	0.212	<0.001	-	-
	Clostridium sensu stricto 1	9.34 ^b	11.2ª	10.3 ^b	0.310	8.91 ^b	10.8ª	9.84 ^b	0.302	<0.001	0.170	-
	Enterococcus	10.5 ^b	10.7 ^b	11.1 ^a	0.207	9.63 ^{b*}	9.83 ^{ab*}	10.2 ^{a*}	0.124	0.008	<0.001	-

Table 6.1: Taxonomic composition in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days¹

	Erysipelotrichaceae UCG006	ND	ND	ND	-	10.2 ^a	7.95 ^b	10.3ª	0.484	0.003	-	-
	Erysipelotrichaceae UCG009	ND	ND	ND	-	9.55 ^a	7.64 ^b	9.55 ^a	0.474	0.011	-	-
	Family XIII AD3011 group	7.87 ^b	8.72 ^a	8.81 ^a	0.209	10.5 ^{b*}	11.3 ^{a*}	11.4 ^{a*}	0.164	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Holdemanella	ND	ND	ND	-	9.29 ^b	9.45 ^{ab}	10.19 ^a	0.300	0.009	-	-
	Lachnospiraceae ⁴	10.1 ^{ab}	9.75 ^b	10.2 ^a	0.181	11.8 ^{ab*}	11.4 ^{b*}	12.0 ^{a*}	0.118	0.012	<0.001	-
	Lachnospiraceae NK3A20 group	ND	ND	ND	-	10.2 ^a	7.97 ^b	10.5 ^a	0.295	<0.001	-	-
	Lactobacillus	12.1ª	11.4 ^b	12.2ª	0.197	10.5 ^{a*}	9.80 ^{b*}	10.7 ^{a*}	0.158	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Lactococcus	12.7	12.7	12.2	0.234	10.2*	10.8*	10.7*	0.219	0.448	<0.001	0.023
	Megasphaera	7.81	7.62	8.04	0.447	10.6 ^{a*}	8.81 ^b	11.4 ^{a*}	0.423	0.004	<0.001	0.039
	Mitsuokella	ND	ND	ND	-	10.1ª	7.49 ^b	8.94 ^b	0.373	<0.001	-	-
	Oscillospirales ⁴	8.55 ^b	8.94 ^{ab}	8.94 ^a	0.192	11.3 ^{b*}	11.6 ^{ab*}	11.6 ^{a*}	0.146	0.016	<0.001	-
	Oscillospiraceae UCG002	8.84 ^b	8.86 ^{ab}	9.32 ^a	0.233	10.6 ^{b*}	10.9 ^{ab*}	11.4 ^{a*}	0.228	0.007	<0.001	-
	Phascolarctobacterium	8.10 ^b	8.24 ^{ab}	8.79 ^a	0.268	10.8 ^{b*}	10.9 ^{ab*}	11.5 ^{a*}	0.166	0.018	<0.001	-
	Romboutsia	9.71 ^b	10.8 ^a	10.1 ^{ab}	0.259	8.98 ^{b*}	10.1 ^{a*}	9.37 ^{ab*}	0.252	0.0.03	0.007	-
	Selenomonadaceae ⁴	ND	ND	ND	-	10.8ª	9.23 ^b	10.2 ^{ab}	0.385	0.027	-	-
	Weissella	11.6	11.9	11.3	0.235	8.58 ^{b*}	9.48 ^{a*}	9.62 ^{a*}	0.219	0.019	<0.001	0.004
Proteoba	cteria	12.8 ^b	12.4 ^c	13.4ª	0.188	11.7 ^{b*}	11.3°	12.3 ^{a*}	0.117	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Desulfovibrio	9.37 ^{ab}	9.14 ^b	9.76 ^a	0.202	11.2 ^{ab*}	10.9 ^b *	11.5 ^{a*}	0.115	0.003	<0.001	-
	Enterobacterales ⁴	10.8 ^b	10.5 ^b	11.4 ^a	0.189	9.54 ^{b*}	9.24 ^{b*}	10.1 ^{a*}	0.117	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Escherichia-Shigella	12.7 ^a	11.3 [⊳]	13.3ª	0.208	11.2 ^{b*}	11.0 ^b	12.1 ^{a*}	0.197	<0.001	<0.001	0.013
	Klebsiella	11.2 ^{ab}	10.5 ^b	12.2ª	0.374	9.92 ^{ab*}	9.15 ^{b*}	10.8 ^{a*}	0.296	0.002	<0.001	-
	Succinivibrionaceae4	ND	ND	ND	-	9.30 ^a	7.51 ^b	9.36 ^a	0.399	0.004	-	-
	Succinivibrio	ND	ND	ND	-	10.5 ^{ab}	9.58 ^b	11.2 ^a	0.300	0.005	-	-
Spirochae	etota	7.56 ^b	8.61ª	8.39 ^{ab}	0.312	10.2 ^{b*}	11.2 ^{a*}	11.0 ^{ab*}	0.304	0.016	<0.001	-
	Treponema	7.55 ^b	8.61ª	8.38 ^{ab}	0.311	10.2 ^{b*}	11.2 ^{a*}	11.0*	0.303	0.016	<0.001	-

Synergistota	7.68 ^b	8.12 ^b	9.19 ^a	0.310	9.88 ^{b*}	10.3 ^{b*}	11.4 ^{a*}	0.215	<0.001	<0.001	-
Cloacibacillus	ND	ND	ND	-	9.24 ^b	9.77 ^b	10.7 ^a	0.248	0.003	-	-

¹ Values are means with pooled SEM per GIT region. Only taxa with >1% relative abundance in at least one of the samples and with >25% frequency in the ileal digesta or faecal samples (Supplementary Table 6.2) that showed a significant effect of diet are presented (Supplementary Table 6.3). Data were log₁₀ transformed to achieve homogenous variance. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. Means within each gastrointestinal tract region with a different letter differ (*P* < 0.05), and the means with an asterisk for the faeces differ (*P* ≤ 0.05) from their ileal counterparts. CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; ND, not detected; PSY, psyllium. ² When the interaction between the diet and GIT region (*P* > 0.05) was not significant, this interaction was removed from the model.

³ *n* indicates the number of individual pigs. The different numbers of pigs are due to insufficient digesta or faeces collected for analysis.

⁴ Bacteria could only be classified as far as order or family level.

Table 6.2: Nutrient composition and (normalised) nutrient contents of terminal jejunal and terminal ileal digesta of pigs fed the CEL, KF,

and PSY diets for 42 days¹

	Terminal jejunum				Т	erminal ile	eum	<i>P</i> value ²			
	CEL	CEL+K F	CEL+PS Y	SEM	CEL	CEL+K F	CEL+PS Y	SEM	Diet	GIT region	Interacti on
Sample size, n ³	7	7	6		5	8	6				
Nutrient composition, g/kg DM substrate											
Organic matter	806	826	788	15.4	742*	762*	724*	15.7	0.143	<0.001	-
CP	153	136	119	12.8	65.9 ^{b*}	120 ^a	104 ^a	7.0	0.141	<0.001	0.002
Starch	130 ^{ab}	123 ^b	163 ^a	23.6	84.6 ^{ab*}	35.1 ^{b*}	68.0 ^{a*}	24.9	0.035	0.001	-
Normalised nutrient content, g/kg diet DM intake ⁴											
Organic matter	163ª	130 ^b	151 ^a	7.28	93.5 ^{a*}	59.7 ^{b*}	81.4 ^{a*}	4.55	<0.001	<0.001	-
CP	25.3 ^{ab}	25.1 ^b	28.4 ^a	2.44	9.63 ^{ab*}	9.41 ^{b*}	12.8 ^{a*}	0.84	0.014	<0.001	-
Starch	29.2 ^{ab}	23.1 ^b	28.5ª	4.70	8.35 ^{ab*}	2.22 ^{b*}	7.60 ^{a*}	2.95	0.022	<0.001	-

¹ Values are means and pooled SEM per GIT region. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. The means within each gastrointestinal tract region with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$), and the means with an asterisk in the terminal ileum differ ($P \le 0.05$) from their terminal jejunal counterparts. CEL, cellulose; CP, crude protein; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium. ² When the interaction between the diet and GIT region was not significant (P > 0.05), this interaction was removed from the model.

³ n indicates the number of individual pigs. The different numbers of pigs are due to insufficient digesta collected for analysis.

⁴ Data was normalised for the DM intake using the ratio of the internal marker (i.e., titanium dioxide) in the diet versus digesta (Supplemental methods).

The normalised total number of bacteria (i.e., gene copy number/kg diet DM intake) tended (P = 0.06) to be 2.2-fold greater in ileal digesta compared to faeces across all diets (Table 6.1). On average, the total number of bacteria was 2.7- and 3.2-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) across both GIT regions for pigs fed the PSY diet compared to pigs fed the CEL and KF diets, respectively. A few bacterial taxa, like *Enterococcus*, were found in greater ($P \le 0.05$) numbers in ileal digesta than faeces, irrespective of diet. However, most bacterial taxa were found in greater numbers in faeces than ileal digesta. The PSY diet increased ($P \le 0.05$) the ileal and faecal number of gene copies for sixty-six percent of the taxa compared to the CEL or KF diet (Table 6.1). However, a 15-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) number of *Mitsuokella* was found in the faeces of pigs fed the CEL diet compared to the faeces of pigs fed the PSY diet, and a 9.3-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) number of *Clostridium sensu stricto 1* was found in the ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed KF compared to pigs fed PSY. Similar trends were observed for both the relative abundance data (Supplemental Figure 6.4 and Supplemental **Figure 6.5**) and the predicted metabolic activity of ileal and faecal microbial communities (Supplementary Table 6.4).

6.3.4. Nutrient content of the terminal jejunal and terminal ileal substrates

Greater amounts of OM (1.9-fold), crude protein (2.5-fold), and starch (4.4-fold) entered the ileum compared to entering the hindgut across all diets (based on the normalised data, Table 6.2). Pigs fed the CEL and PSY diets had, on average across both GIT regions, 1.4- and 1.2-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) amounts of OM entering both the ileum and hindgut than pigs fed the KF diet, respectively. Pigs fed the PSY diet had ($P \le 0.05$) (or tended to have (P = 0.06)) a greater amount of crude protein (KF and CEL, respectively) and starch (KF only) entering both GIT regions. For example, the pigs fed the PSY diet had (or tended to have), on
average across both GIT locations, 1.2-fold more crude protein entering both the ileum and hindgut of pigs compared to the KF ($P \le 0.05$) and CEL (P = 0.06) diets.

6.4. Discussion

Based on earlier observations [282], this study confirms the hypothesis that ileal fermentation is quantitatively significant, with 22% fermentation on average. The degree of ileal fermentation was similar to hindgut fermentation, despite differences in microbial communities. Partially replacing fibre with low total GIT fermentability (CEL) with fibre with higher total GIT fermentability (KF and PSY) affected OM fermentation, microbial community composition, and SCFA production in both the ileum and hindgut.

Ileal fermentation

The tendency for a greater *in vitro* ileal OM fermentation for pigs fed the KF diet compared to pigs fed the CEL diet could be due to a high (80%) expected fermentability of the soluble fibre fraction of KF at the end of the small intestine of the growing pig [349]. CEL is slowly fermented [350] and, therefore, had a lower but still quantitatively important *in vitro* ileal OM fermentation.

The greater ileal production of acetic acid for pigs fed the PSY diet could be explained in that (i) the pigs fed the PSY diet had higher ileal numbers of acetic acid-producing bacteria, such as *Carnobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* (on average +110% and +120%, respectively); (ii) a greater amount of OM entering the ileum of the pigs fed the CEL and PSY diets compared to the pigs fed the KF diet; (iii) the chemical composition of the OM entering the small intestine. For instance, more starch (40 g more starch per kg DM diet intake) entered

the ileum of the pigs fed the PSY diet when compared to pigs fed the KF diet; (iv) structural differences across fibres (e.g., monosaccharide composition, branching, and degree of polymerization) that influence their degree of fermentation and production of SCFAs [359]; and (v) the effect of dietary fibres on endogenous losses [141, 360, 361]. Montoya *et al.*, 2017 [360] have shown that endogenous losses (e.g., mucin) are the major contributor to the total hindgut production of SCFA in growing pigs fed diets containing KF as the sole fibre source. These factors could also explain why pigs fed the PSY diet had higher ileal production of butyric (vs CEL), propionic (vs CEL and KF), valeric (vs CEL), and iso-butyric (vs CEL) acids. Though the diets were formulated to contain the same quantity of macronutrients, the determined total starch, crude protein, total sugar, and ash were slightly higher for the KF diet than for the PSY and CEL diets. As these dietary nutrients are highly digestible in the upper GIT (e.g., 93.9% of the starch was digested before the terminal jejunum), it was assumed that these minor differences did not affect the microbial community and their fermentation behaviour.

The higher α -diversity (i.e., number of taxa per sample) in the ileal microbial community of pigs fed the KF diet (vs PSY) could be because the KF contained multiple types of fibre (i.e., pectic polysaccharides, cellulose, and hemicellulose) [362]. Therefore, the KF diet offered a more diverse substrate for the ileal microbiota. A more diverse microbial community has been linked to greater stability, productivity, and resistance against pathogens [363]. The lower α -diversity in the ileal digesta of pigs fed the PSY diet is ascribed to specific bacteria (such as *Klebsiella* and *Prevotella*) being present in much greater numbers than in the ileal digesta of pigs fed the CEL and KF diets. In the ileal digesta of pigs fed the KF diet, higher numbers of *Clostridium sensu stricto 1* were found. *Clostridium sensu stricto 1* is a known butyric acid producer [364]. Their higher numbers explain why the pigs fed the KF diet had (or tended to have) greater butyric acid production in the ileum than pigs fed the CEL and

PSY diets. These results confirm previous reports of diet affecting the ileal microbial community in humans [20] and pigs [289]. The effects of diet on α -diversity were also reflected in the values of the β -diversity (i.e., variability in community composition between samples). Although the pigs used in this study were from the same breed and were raised in the same environment, some taxa were found to be present or absent in different individual pigs, even when receiving the same diet. This demonstrates that individualistic factors affect the microbial community, but the fermentation behaviour (based on OM fermentation and SCFA results) and predicted metabolic activity (according to PICRUSt) to a lesser extent.

Similar effects to the findings in this study may also be expected in the ileum of adult humans due to the inter-species similarities in the small intestine [14, 357] and thus deserve investigation. Considering that SCFAs produced in the ileum can be absorbed directly in this GIT region [206, 286, 345], it is expected that dietary fibres can affect host health, as shown for hindgut fermentation [2, 3]. The pig has been shown to be a valid model for ileal fermentation (OM fermentability and organic acid production) in adult humans, despite observed differences in the ileal microbial communities between the species (Chapter 4).

Hindgut fermentation

The pigs fed the PSY diet had greater *in vitro* hindgut OM fermentation than those fed the CEL and KF diets. This could be explained by KF fibre being highly fermented in the ileum. Eighty percent of the soluble fibre in KF is fermented before the terminal ileum [349]. Thus, in the terminal ileal substrate of the pigs fed the KF diet and of the pigs fed the CEL diet, CEL was likely the main (or only for the CEL diet) fermentable fibre during *in vitro* hindgut OM fermentation. CEL is a poorly fermentable fibre [350], which leads to low hindgut OM

fermentation. Generally, the pigs fed the KF diet had lower estimated hindgut production of SCFAs than those fed the CEL or PSY diets. Low butyric acid production could be related to (i) a lower amount of nutrients, especially starch, available in the substrate from pigs fed the KF diet compared to pigs fed the CEL and PSY diets (butyric acid production is positively correlated with the amount of starch in the substrate [322, 365]); (ii) the lower number of the butyric acid-producers *Erysipelotrichaceae UCG006 and UCG009*, and *Lachnospiraceae NK3A20 group* compared to pigs fed the CEL and PSY diets.

In the substrate for hindgut fermentation, nutrients other than fibre, such as starch and protein, were present, which can be utilised by the microbial community resulting in SCFAs. This could explain the higher butyric (KF only), propionic, valeric, and iso-valeric acid production in the pigs fed the CEL than in the pigs fed the KF and PSY diets. For example, the greater butyric acid production may have been due to the higher (but not significant) starch content in the substrate.

lleal vs hindgut fermentation

The ileal microbial community was found to have a 9-fold greater predicted metabolic activity related to fermentation (i.e., carbohydrate and protein metabolism) than the faecal microbial community, which is supported by the observed total number of bacteria tending to be greater in the ileal digesta compared to the faeces. These results suggest that the ileal microbial community is adapted to a faster transit time by metabolizing rapidly fermentable substrates. In comparison, the hindgut microbial community is more adapted to a slower transit time. It is specialised in metabolizing slowly fermentable substrates, as suggested elsewhere [12, 20]. The greater metabolic activity of the ileal microbiota can explain the

similar *in vitro* ileal and hindgut OM fermentation values observed for the CEL and KF diets. This confirms previous findings for pigs fed a human-type diet [286].

In general, more acetic acid was produced during ileal fermentation. In contrast, lower butyric, propionic, valeric, and iso-butyric acids were produced. Similar trends have been reported for pigs fed a human-type diet [286] and during *in vitro* fermentation of purified fibre substrates [267]. A greater ileal acetic acid production is likely related to the higher ileal numbers of acetic acid producers (e.g., *Carnobacterium, Cronobacter, Escherichia-Shigella, Lactobacillus, Romboutsia,* and *Weissella*), while to lower productions of butyric, propionic, valeric, and iso-butyric acids are likely related to the lower numbers of butyric and propionic acid-producers (e.g., *Acidaminococcus,* Lachnospiraceae, *Megasphaera, Ruminococcus, Selenomonas, Subdoligranulum,* and *Succiniclasticum*).

6.5. Conclusion

In conclusion, ileal OM fermentation is quantitatively important and similar to hindgut OM fermentation, even though the microbial communities were dissimilar. The ileal microbial community and its fermentation patterns (based on OM fermentation and SCFA production) are influenced by partially replacing a low fermentable fibre (CEL) in the diet of growing pigs with more fermentable fibres (KF and PSY). Digesta of pigs fed dietary fibre sources are fermented to different degrees in different parts of the GIT. When evaluating the influence of dietary fibre on GIT fermentation, ileal fermentation needs to be considered, in addition to hindgut fermentation.

Chapter 7: In vitro ileal fermentation was affected more by the fibre source fermented than the ileal microbial community of growing pigs

This chapter has been submitted to the Journal of Nutrition and is currently under review: Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Hodgkinson SM, Stroebinger N, Yu W, Rettedal EA, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. *In vitro* ileal fermentation was affected more by the fibre source fermented than the ileal microbial community of growing pigs (submitted to the Journal of Nutrition).

Author's contribution: AME Hoogeveen was responsible for the *in vivo* study (with technical assistance), the *in vitro* study (with technical assistance) and sample analysis (with technical assistance). She also performed the data analysis, bioinformatics (with assistance from a bioinformatician), statistical analysis (under the guidance of Carlos Montoya) and wrote the draft manuscript.

Abstract

Objective. This study aimed to investigate the contribution of both microbial community and fibre source to *in vitro* ileal fermentation outcomes.

Methods. Six ileal cannulated female pigs (Landrace/Large White; nine-week-old; 30.5 kg bodyweight) were fed diets containing black beans, wheat bread, chickpeas, peanuts, pigeon peas, sorghum, or wheat bran as the sole protein source for seven days (100 g

protein/kg DM diet). On day seven, ileal digesta were collected and stored at -80°C for microbial analysis and *in vitro* fermentation. For each diet, a pooled ileal inoculum was prepared to ferment different fibres (cellulose, pectin, arabinogalactan, inulin, fructooligosaccharides, resistant starch) for 2 hours at 37°C. The OM fermentability and organic acid production were analysed after *in vitro* fermentation. A two-way ANOVA (inoculum x fibre) was used to test the data.

Results. Forty-five percent of the genera identified differed across diets. For instance, the number of *Lactococcus* was 115-fold greater ($P \le 0.05$) in the ileal digesta of pigs fed the pigeon pea diet than in pigs fed the wheat bran diet. For both *in vitro* organic matter fermentability and organic acid production, there were significant ($P \le 0.05$) interactions between inoculum and fibre source. For instance, pectin and resistant starch resulted in 1.6-to 31-fold more ($P \le 0.05$) lactic acid production when fermented by the pigeon pea inoculum than other inocula. For specific fibre sources, statistically significant correlations were found between members of the ileal microbial community and fermentation outcomes.

Conclusion. The fibre source played a greater role in the *in vitro* fermentation than the ileal microbial community of pigs. This role is, however, explained by the substrate preferences of bacterial taxa.

7.1. Introduction

Studies using a combined *in vivo/in vitro* fermentation assay in the growing pig have shown that fermentation in the lower small intestine, the ileum, is quantitatively similar to that in the hindgut [286, 287]. For example, the organic matter (OM) fermentability in pigs fed a human-type diet was similar in the ileum (28%) and the hindgut (35%), despite differences in microbial composition and fermentation time [286]. Organic acids, such as acetic and lactic

acids, are found in the ileum of growing pigs [348] and adult humans [154]. These organic acids can be absorbed directly in the ileum [286, 345] and have been found in the bloodstream of human ileostomates [203]. Therefore, ileal fermentation is quantitatively significant and could have important implications for nutrition and health.

The foods (cereals, pulses, etc.) consumed in human diets are diverse in types and amounts of fibre (such as β -glucan in cereals or pectin in fruits). It is known that the type and amount of dietary fibre can change the ileal microbial community in growing pigs [287, 289, 366] and human adults [43, 164], and *in vitro* ileal fermentation outcomes using a porcine inoculum [267, 287]. For example, the partial replacement of dietary cellulose with kiwifruit fibre resulted in a higher α -diversity of the ileal microbial community of growing pigs but a 38% decrease in acetic acid production [287]. However, it is unclear whether the ileal fermentation outcomes were due to changes in the microbial community ('inoculum') or the undigested material entering the ileum ('substrate').

It has been suggested that short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) production during *in vitro* human faecal fermentation is primarily influenced by available substrate rather than inter-individual differences in the microbial community [58]. In contrast, it has been shown that *Prevotella*-and *Bacteroides*-dominated human faecal microbial communities have different *in vitro* fermentative capacities, resulting in different SCFA productions for the fermentation of individual substrates [60]. Moreover, differences across substrates have been reported for *in vitro* fermentation using the same human faecal inoculum [60]. These studies show that hindgut fermentation is influenced by the microbial community and the substrate. Still, the substrate appears to be the major contributor to human faecal fermentation [58, 60]. The ileal microbial community of growing pigs [286, 287] and human adults [12, 20] differs from the hindgut microbial community. It is highly adapted to metabolize simple sugars (like mono-, di- and oligo-saccharides) [12], but it can also utilize polysaccharides [21, 152, 267].

Although it is now well established that there is an active ileal microbiota that ferments undigested material from the upper gastrointestinal tract (GIT), little is known about its fermentative capacity. This study aimed to investigate the effect of the ileal microbial community and fibre source on *in vitro* ileal fermentation and correlated fermentation outcomes with ileal microbial composition using the growing pig as a model for the adult human. It was hypothesised that diets with varying nutrient content would drive changes in the ileal microbial community. These differences in the ileal microbial community and the fibre source fermented were hypothesised to affect *in vitro* ileal fermentation outcomes.

7.2. Materials and methods

7.2.1. Diets

This study was part of a larger study to determine ileal amino acid digestibility in foods commonly consumed by humans [367]. The diets were balanced only for crude protein content, resulting in diets with a wide range of nutrient amounts (Supplementary Table 7.1). For example, the total dietary fibre content ranged from 57 to 295 g/kg DM diet. Previous studies have shown that dietary fibre modulates the ileal microbial community [287]. Thus, this study was a unique opportunity to collect terminal ileal digesta with different microbial communities to determine their contribution to *in vitro* ileal fermentation while applying the reduction principle of the 3Rs associated with animal experimentation.

Only seven out of ten diets used in the larger study were selected for the current study. These seven diets contained whole foods with varying nutrient content (black beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), bread (wheat, white), chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum*), peanuts (*Arachis hypogaea*; roasted), pigeon peas (*Cajanus cajan*), sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*; flour), wheat bran (Kellogg's® All-Bran®)), while the other diets contained a purified protein source and

thus were similar in nutrient content. Each experimental diet was formulated to include one of the test foods as the sole protein source at a concentration of 100 g crude protein/kg DM diet and to meet the growing pigs' nutrient requirements [330]. The test foods were either bought ready to eat or prepared as detailed in the Supplemental methods. Before feeding, each test food was combined with a mixture of non-protein-containing ingredients specific to each diet, containing maize starch, sucrose, vitamin-mineral premix, refined vegetable oil, and cellulose (Supplementary Table 7.1).

7.2.2. In vivo assay

Animals and experimental design. The ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Massey University Animal Ethics Committee (Protocol 16/121). The *in vivo* study was conducted according to the previously published protocol [368], with minor adaptations described below. Thirteen female pigs (Landrace/Large White; nine-week-old; 30.5 ± 1.12 kg bodyweight (BW), mean \pm SD;) were individually housed in metabolic pens ($1.5 \times 1.5 m$) in a room maintained at 21 $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C with a 12 h/12 h light/dark cycle. Each pig had a T-cannula surgically implanted at the terminal ileum (15 cm before the ileal caecal valve junction). After the surgery, pigs had an eight- to ten-day recovery period, during which they received a basal diet. The pigs had free access to water for the whole duration of the study.

The parent study consisted of nine experimental periods of seven days each. The diets were randomly allocated during experimental periods one to three and six to nine using an incomplete Latin Square design (n = 6 pigs/diet). The pigs received a protein-free and basal diet in periods four and five, respectively. Pigs were given each diet for seven days with their daily ration (80 g DM/kg metabolic BW; BW^{0.75}) divided into two equal-sized meals at 0800 and 1700 h. On day seven, ileal digesta were collected three hours post-feeding (2000 h).

A plastic bag flushed with CO₂ was attached to the ileal cannula using a rubber band until approximately 50 g of digesta were collected (between 15 min and 2 h). The collected digesta were mixed, and two aliquots were taken for microbial analysis. The aliquots and the remaining ileal digesta in the plastic bag were stored at -80°C. Supplementary Table 7.2 describes the ileal samples that were collected. Pigs were weighed weekly, and the daily ration was adjusted accordingly.

7.2.3. In vitro ileal fermentation assay

For *in vitro* ileal fermentation, a methodology was used that has been optimised for several parameters such as pH, fermentation time, and inoculum concentration [13]. The ileal digesta collected from individual pigs was insufficient to perform the in vitro fermentation for each pig, so a pooled inoculum was prepared for each diet by thawing and mixing ileal digesta of all pigs fed the same diet (i.e., an equal amount of wet weight digesta per pig). The inoculum was prepared by combining the pooled digesta (220 g) with one litre of sterilised 0.1 M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, anaerobic, 4.1 mM L-cystine, pH 7) at 37°C, homogenizing it for 15 sec and straining the mixture through four sterilised layers of cheesecloth to remove large particles. PBS (5 mL) was added to the fermentation bottles containing no fibre (i.e., blanks) or 100 mg fibre source, after which the bottles were flushed with CO₂. Then, 5 mL of the ileal inoculum was added, flushed with CO₂, capped, and incubated at 37°C for two hours [13]. Ten fermentation bottles were used per fibre source or blank. The fibre sources used for the *in vitro* ileal fermentation were cellulose, pectin (from citrus peel), inulin (from chicory), (+)-arabinogalactan (AG; from larch wood), fructooligosaccharides (FOS; from chicory), and high-amylose corn starch (Hylon VII, Ingredion, Auckland, New Zealand) containing 74% type 2 resistant starch [369]. All fibre

sources, except resistant starch, were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Auckland, New Zealand). Each inoculum had its own blanks to account for the potential fermentation of material in the inoculum (refer to calculations in the Supplemental methods).

7.2.4. Chemical analysis

The diets were analysed for DM, ash [300], crude protein (nitrogen x 6.25) using an elemental analyser LECO, total lipids using a Soxhlet extractor and petroleum ether extraction, starch using a Total Starch Assay Kit (AA/AMG, Megazyme), total dietary fibre (including soluble and insoluble fibre) [331], and gross energy using a LECO AC-350 Automatic Calorimeter. After *in vitro* ileal fermentation, half the bottles (i.e., n = 5) were analysed for DM and ash [300] to determine OM fermentability. The OM fermentability in the samples was corrected by the OM present in the blanks (i.e., no fibre source added, refer to calculations in the Supplemental methods).

Organic acid analysis. The remaining bottles (i.e., n = 5) were used to determine the organic acid concentration of acetic, propionic, butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, iso-valeric, formic, lactic, and succinic acids using a gas chromatography methodology [302]. Organic acids were derivatised using N-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide with 1% tertbutyldimethylchlorosilane (Sigma-Aldrich). 2-ethylbutyric acid (5 mM) was used as an internal standard. The samples and standards were analysed on a gas chromatograph (GC-2010, Shimadzu) equipped with an SH-Rtx-1 column (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 µm; Shimadzu) and flame ionization detector, using helium as carrier gas [332]. The organic acid production in the samples was corrected by the organic acids present in the blanks (i.e., no fibre source added, refer to calculation in the Supplemental methods). The concentrations of butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acids were negligible in the samples (i.e., below the detection limit). Thus, the total organic acid production was calculated as the sum of formic, acetic, propionic, lactic, and succinic acid concentrations.

7.2.5. Microbial analysis

A Qiagen PowerSoil kit (Qiagen, Australia) was used to extract the DNA from ileal digesta for each pig. The manufacturer's instructions were followed with minor adjustments described previously [287]. The total number of bacteria (i.e., 16S rRNA gene copies) was determined using a quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), and Illumina sequencing was performed to determine the taxonomic composition (Supplemental methods).

7.2.6. Statistical analysis

A sample size of six animals was required for the parent study. This sample size was also sufficient to reach a statistically significant difference in ileal microbial composition between diet groups with a power >80% at a two-tail 5% significance level, based on previously reported means and variances [287]. For *in vitro* ileal fermentation, between 2 and 6 replicates, i.e., fermentation bottles, were required to detect a statistical difference with a power >80% at a two-tail 5% significance level based on reported means and variance [13]. However, we did not have enough ileal digesta to perform the *in vitro* fermentation for each individual animal. Thus, in this study, we pooled the ileal digesta across animals within each diet. Five technical replicates were used for each diet and fibre source combination. For the microbial analysis, the number of replicates differs per diet because, for some of the samples, the extracted DNA had a concentration or quality that was too low to obtain accurate 16S rRNA gene sequencing results.

The significant separation for the groupings of the ileal samples after performing the Bray-Curtis similarity principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) was tested in Calypso using the Adonis permutational (999 permutations) and betadisper tests. The remaining statistical analyses were done using the SAS software (version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc.). Only microbial taxa with more than 1% relative abundance in at least one sample were included in the statistical analyses. Thus, for the taxonomic composition (number of gene copies per gram ileal digesta), Shannon diversity, and predicted metabolic activity, the effect of the diet was analysed with a one-way ANOVA model using the Proc Mixed procedure. For the taxonomic composition, Shannon Diversity Index, and predicted metabolic activity data, the effect of diet was included in the model as a fixed effect and the period and diet sequence as random effects, with the pig as the experimental unit. For all the response variables, period and diet sequence did not have (P > 0.05) a significant effect and therefore were removed from the model.

Some bacterial taxa were not detected or detected in only a few pigs fed the same diet. Therefore, next to the taxonomic composition analysis, a frequency analysis was also performed using a binary logistic regression using the Proc Glimmix procedure with 0 when the taxon was not present and 1 when a taxon had at least one read. No statistical analysis was performed if the frequency was 1 for all diets.

A two-way ANOVA model was used to determine the effect of the inoculum, fibre source, and their interaction on the OM fermentability and productions of total organic acids, formic, acetic, propionic, and lactic acids using the Proc Mixed procedure. Succinic acid production was observed for only one fibre source (i.e., AG). Thus, a one-way ANOVA model was used to test the effect of the inoculum on succinic acid production.

A combination of the ODS Graphics, Proc Univariate procedure, and the Repeated statement of SAS was used to test the model diagnostics of each response variable. The taxonomic composition data and predicted metabolic activity were log_{10} transformed to achieve homogenous variance. The Repeated statement in the Proc Mixed model allowed testing for the homogeneity of variance by fitting models with the Restricted Maximum Likelihood method and comparing them using the log-likelihood ratio test. The selected model for all response variables had similar Studentised residuals (i.e., equal variances) across treatments. When the F-value of the model was significant ($P \le 0.05$), the mean values were compared using the adjusted Tukey-Kramer test. Probability values were considered statistically different when $P \le 0.05$, and values of $0.05 \le P \le 0.10$ were considered a trend.

Pearson correlation analyses were performed using the Proc Corr procedure to evaluate the relationship between fermentation outcomes (i.e., OM fermentability and organic acid production) and the bacterial taxa in the inoculum (n = 7 inocula per fibre source). It was assumed that the bacterial taxa in the inoculum were the same as the average of the bacterial taxa found in the ileal digesta used to prepare the inoculum (i.e., ileal digesta from individual pigs receiving the same diet).

7.3. Results

All pigs remained healthy and with a daily live weight gain of 501 \pm 25 g/day (mean \pm SEM). One pig was excluded from the analysis as it displayed coprophagic behaviour.

7.3.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability

On average, the *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability of the blanks for all the inocula was 0%, except for the peanut inoculum $(4.2 \pm 0.44\%)$.

The *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability of the different added fibre substrates ranged from 3 to 37% across all inocula. In general, pectin was significantly more (27.1 ± 0.39% on average across all inocula; $P \le 0.05$; Table 7.1) fermented than the other fibre sources, while cellulose was significantly less fermented (0.35 ± 0.20%). There was a marked effect of inoculum (i.e., microbial composition). The peanut inoculum supported a significantly greater *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability (19.1 ± 0.52% on average across all fibre sources; $P \le 0.05$) than the other inocula, and the sorghum inoculum led to a significantly lower OM fermentability of the substrates tested (10.7 ± 0.39%). When considering all data, an interaction (P < 0.001) between the inoculum and fibre source was observed for ileal OM fermentability. For example, on average, FOS was 2.6-fold more ($P \le 0.05$) fermented by the black bean, bread, and peanut inocula than the chickpea, pigeon pea, sorghum, and wheat bran inocula. On the other hand, the black bean inoculum had a 2.1-fold higher ($P \le 0.05$) OM fermentability of resistant starch than the pigeon pea inoculum.

7.3.1. In vitro ileal organic acid production

Across all inocula, AG supported a significantly greater ($P \le 0.05$) total organic acid production after *in vitro* ileal fermentation than other fibre sources. At the same time, cellulose had a significantly lower ($P \le 0.05$) total organic acid production (Table 7.2). Across all fibre sources, a significantly greater ($P \le 0.05$) total organic acid production was obtained with the pigeon pea inoculum compared to the other inocula. When considering all data for total, formic, acetic, propionic, and lactic acid production, consistent with the OM fermentability results, there was an interaction between inoculum and fibre source (P < 0.001). For example, when fermenting FOS, the peanut inoculum produced 2.5-fold higher total organic acids than the wheat bran inoculum. In comparison, the wheat bran inoculum produced 4.3-fold greater total organic acids when fermenting inulin than the peanut inoculum. Depending on the fibre source, some inocula did not produce propionic acid (Supplementary Table 7.3). For example, the peanut inoculum produced propionic acid when fermenting FOS but not when fermenting inulin. Succinic acid was only produced when AG was fermented.

Table 7.1: *In vitro* organic matter fermentability of dietary fibre substrates fermented using pooled ileal inocula from growing pigs fed diets containing different test foods¹

			Fibre s	ubstrate			
Inoculum	AG	Cellulose	FOS	Inulin	Pectin	High-amylose starch	Mean (range)
	%						
Black bean	16.5 ± 1.11 ^{bc,†‡}	$0.00 \pm 0.208^{d,\$}$	21.8 ± 0.653 ^{b,†}	19.4 ± 1.35 ^{bc,†‡}	26.5 ± 0.523 ^{a,‡}	14.8 ± 1.32 ^{c,†}	16.4 (0.00 - 28.3)
Bread	17.5 ± 0.770 ^{b,†‡}	$1.06 \pm 0.408^{d,\pm\$}$	28.7 ± 3.09 ^{ab,†}	24.1 ± 1.45 ^{ab,†}	25.2 ± 1.21 ^{a,†‡}	9.33 ± 0.913 ^{c,†‡}	17.7 (0.51 - 37.1)
Chickpea	13.9 ± 1.29 ^{bc,†‡}	$3.13 \pm 0.583^{d,\dagger\ddagger}$	$12.8 \pm 0.504^{b,\ddagger}$	$12.1 \pm 1.04^{bc,\ddagger\$}$	25.3 ± 1.71 ^{a,†‡}	8.90 ± 0.685 ^{c,†‡}	12.7 (1.99 - 29.1)
Peanut	22.5 ± 1.80 ^{ab,†}	$6.06 \pm 0.375^{d,\dagger}$	28.8 ± 2.25 ^{a,†}	$16.4 \pm 0.745^{b,\ddagger}$	30.1 ± 0.544 ^{a,†}	10.5 ± 0.757 ^{c,†‡}	19.1 (5.24 - 35.6)
Pigeon pea	15.9 ± 0.739 ^{b,†‡}	$0.00 \pm 1.03^{d,\$}$	8.93 ± 0.407 ^{c,§}	12.8 ± 1.20 ^{bc,‡§}	26.9 ± 0.609 ^{a,†‡}	6.93 ± 0.506 ^{c,‡}	11.0 (0.00 - 28.3)
Sorghum	15.3 ± 1.26 ^{b,†‡}	$0.00 \pm 0.326^{d,\$}$	7.44 ± 0.496 ^{c,§}	6.23 ± 1.00 ^{c,§}	29.1 ± 1.05 ^{a,†‡}	6.89 ± 1.23 ^{c,†‡}	10.7 (0.00 - 31.0)
Wheat bran	13.5 ± 0.786 ^{b,‡}	$0.00 \pm 0.316^{c,\$}$	12.1 ± 1.26 ^{b,‡§}	8.11 ± 0.901 ^{b,§}	26.6 ± 1.00 ^{a,†‡}	10.1 ± 0.633 ^{b,†‡}	11.6 (0.00 - 29.1)
Mean (range)	16.4 (10.1 - 29.1)	0.35 (0.00 - 7.03)	17.2 (6.30 - 37.1)	14.2 (4.37 - 28.8)	27.1 (19.4 - 31.3)	9.63 (3.88 - 18.3)	
	Inoculum (I)	Substrate (S)	IxS				
P value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				

¹ Values are means ± SEM per inoculum, n = 5 fermentation bottles. When negative values were observed (due to correction by OM found in the blanks), values were assumed to be zero, meaning that OM was not fermented). A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of inoculum, fibre source substrate, and their interaction. A repeated statement for each fibre source substrate by inoculum combination was required to have similar studentised residuals as described in the statistical analysis section. Means in a row (i.e., fibre source substrate effect) with different letters differ ($P \le 0.05$), and means in a column (i.e., inoculum effect) with different symbols differ ($P \le 0.05$). AG, arabinogalactan; FOS, fructooligosaccharides; OM, organic matter.

Table 7.2: Production of total organic, formic, acetic, and lactic acids during *in vitro* fermentation of dietary fibre substrates using pooled ileal inocula from growing pigs fed diets containing different test foods¹

Organic		Fibre substrate							
acid	Inoculum	AG	Cellulose	FOS	Inulin	Pectin	High-amylose starch	Mean (range)	
				mmol/kg D	M substrate				
Total	Black bean	384 ± 10.6 ^{a,‡}	$30.7 \pm 0.89^{d,\$}$	68.8 ± 11.9 ^{bcd,†‡§}	66.1 ± 4.95 ^{c,‡}	114 ± 5.25 ^{b,‡}	127 ± 6.57 ^{b,†‡§}	132 (29.8 - 402)	
	Bread	456 ± 15.8 ^{a,†‡}	$50.4 \pm 1.03^{c,\ddagger}$	99.3 ± 5.53 ^{b,†‡}	90.3 ± 4.31 ^{b,†‡}	37.2 ± 2.18 ^{d,∥}	94.1 ± 11.6 ^{bcd,‡§}	138 (32.7 - 506)	
	Chickpea	502 ± 8.20 ^{a,†}	54.9 ± 3.91 ^{c,†‡}	110 ± 4.70 ^{b,†}	88.8 ± 3.85 ^{b,†‡}	42.0 ± 13.1 ^{cbc,§∥}	$97.0 \pm 3.14^{b,\$}$	149 (18-8 - 518)	
	Peanut	480 ± 27.1 ^{a,†‡}	$76.8 \pm 2.63^{c,\dagger}$	130 ± 6.06 ^{b,†}	33.1 ± 6.95 ^{d,§}	96.2 ± 15.9 ^{bc,‡§∥}	124 ± 3.88 ^{b,‡}	157 (19.2 - 547)	
	Pigeon pea	477 ± 24.0 ^{a,†‡}	75.2 ± 7.38 ^{c,†‡}	105 ± 10.1 ^{c,†‡§}	62.3 ± 8.65 ^{c,†‡§}	$197 \pm 7.02^{b,\dagger}$	174 ± 8.61 ^{b,†}	182 (47.6 - 535)	
	Sorghum	402 ± 11.2 ^{a,‡}	$120 \pm 13.4^{b,\dagger}$	48.3 ± 10.9 ^{b,‡c}	116 ± 15.9 ^{b,†‡§}	77.8 ± 5.61 ^{b,‡§}	102 ± 13.1 ^{b,†‡§}	144 (26.9 - 436)	
	Wheat bran	525 ± 33.1ª,†‡	38.1 ± 8.63 ^{cd,‡§}	51.7 ± 4.51 ^{c,§}	141 ± 13.9 ^{b,†}	18.3 ± 4.41 ^{d,∥}	135 ± 10.9 ^{b,†‡§}) 152 (10.1 - 581)	
	Mean (range)	461 (356 - 581)	63.7 (15.7 - 133)	87.5 (26.9 - 141)	85.4 (19.2 - 179)	83.1 (10.1 - 216)	122 (73.1 - 200)		
Formic acid	Black bean	323 ± 17.8ª	3.52 ± 2.87 ^{c,§}	8.68 ± 2.43 ^{c,‡§}	$5.59 \pm 4.48^{c,\$}$	8.17 ± 1.51 ^{c,‡}	$28.3 \pm 3.84^{b,\pm\$}$	62.8 (3.00 - 337)	
	Bread	324 ± 15.9 ^a	$29.2 \pm 2.87^{b,\dagger}$	16.3 ± 2.43 ^{b,†‡§}	$21.0 \pm 3.47^{b,\ddagger\$}$	2.28 ± 2.14 ^{c,‡}	27.8 ± 3.84 ^{b,‡§}	70.1 (2.07 - 351)	
	Chickpea	304 ± 15.9^{a}	6.57 ± 2.03 ^{c,§}	26.8 ± 2.11 ^{b,†}	$6.74 \pm 5.49^{bc,\$}$	3.41 ± 2.14 ^{c,‡}	$28.8 \pm 2.72^{b,\ddagger}$	62.7 (3.16 - 319)	

	Peanut	348 ± 15.9^{a}	7.17 ± 2.03 ^{c,§}	26.8 ± 2.11 ^{b,†}	$17.0 \pm 3.47^{bc,\ddagger\$}$	9.64 ± 1.65 ^{c,‡}	$31.2 \pm 2.43^{b,\ddagger}$	73.2 (3.40 - 385)
	Pigeon pea	323 ± 15.9^{a}	21.4 ± 2.03 ^{b,†‡}	7.30 ± 2.11 ^{c,‡§}	$7.34 \pm 4.48^{bc,\$}$	10.8 ± 1.51 ^{bc,‡}	9.21 ± 3.14 ^{bc,§}	63.1 (4.48 - 343)
	Sorghum	348 ± 15.9ª	$3.68 \pm 4.06^{e,\pm\$}$	26.1 ± 2.98 ^{d,†‡}	$56.4 \pm 3.88^{bc,\dagger}$	41.3 ± 1.74 ^{c,†}	$76.3 \pm 2.72^{b,\dagger}$	92.0 (3.68 - 398)
	Wheat bran	375 ± 15.9ª	10.9 ± 2.03 ^{c,‡§}	11.0 ± 2.43 ^{c,‡§}	37.6 ± 3.47 ^{b,†‡}	11.4 ± 1.74 ^{c,‡}	$43.1 \pm 2.43^{b,\ddagger}$	81.6 (7.01 - 447)
	Mean (range)	335 (284 - 447)	11.8 (3.00 - 34.7)	17.6 (4.48 - 33.3)	21.7 (5.02 - 80.7)	12.4 (2.07 - 46.3)	35.0 (7.11 - 80.1)	
Acetic acid	Black bean	58.1 ± 1.48 ^{a,§}	4.23 ± 2.10 ^{c,§}	23.8 ± 1.71 ^{b,‡§}	8.5 ± 1.71 ^{c,§}	11.6 ± 1.71 ^{c,‡§}	$14.6 \pm 1.48^{bc,\ddagger}$	20.1 (3.89 - 64.4)
	Bread	44.0 ± 1.96 ^{a,∥}	7.26 ± 3.11 ^{b,§}	40.8 ± 3.11 ^{a,†}	$19.2 \pm 2.54^{b,\ddagger\$}$	21.0 ± 1.96 ^{b,‡}	$20.4 \pm 2.54^{b,\dagger\ddagger}$	25.4 (7.09 - 47.7)
	Chickpea	70.8 ± 2.09 ^{a,†‡}	12.8 ± 2.70 ^{d,‡§}	$52.3 \pm 2.34^{b,\dagger}$	$43.0 \pm 2.70^{bc,\dagger}$	2.01 ± 3.31 ^{d,§}	33.3 ± 2.34 ^{c,†}) 35.7 (1.98 - 77.9)
	Peanut	72.6 ± 4.57 ^{a,†‡§}	$26.5 \pm 5.89^{b,\pm\$}$	14.7 ± 5.10 ^{b,‡}	14.4 ± 5.89 ^{b,‡§}	43.3 ± 4.57 ^{b,†}	$23.0 \pm 5.10^{b, \dagger \ddagger}$	32.4 (10.8 - 85.1)
	Pigeon pea	$88.9 \pm 3.76^{a,\dagger}$	$30.8 \pm 3.76^{b,\ddagger}$	39.9 ± 4.20 ^{b,†‡§}	2.75 ± 4.20 ^{c,§}	$30.0 \pm 4.20^{b,\dagger\ddagger}$	$17.4 \pm 4.20^{bc, \dagger \ddagger}$	(10.0 00.1) 35.0 (1.55 - 97.6)
	Sorghum	17.1 ± 10.14 ^{b,∥}	123 ± 10.1 ^{a,†}	25.6 ± 10.1 ^{b,†‡§}	$47.3 \pm 7.85^{b,\dagger \ddagger \$}$	19.9 ± 12.4 ^{b,†‡§}	37.8 ± 14.2 ^{b,†‡}	45.2 (11.2 - 152)
	Wheat bran	$60.5 \pm 3.56^{a,\pm\$}$	20.2 ± 4.11 ^{b,‡§}	$7.39 \pm 5.03^{b,\$}$	19.9 ± 4.11 ^{b,‡§}	12.1 ± 7.12 ^{b,†‡§}	29.3 ± 3.18 ^{b,†‡}	24.9 (4.09 - 74.9)
	Mean (range)	58.9 ± 1.81 (14.7 - 97.6)	32.1 ± 1.97 (3.89 - 152)	29.2 ± 1.97 (4.09 - 58.8)	22.1 ± 1.74 (1.55 - 70.0)	20.0 ± 2.31 (1.98 - 61.8)	25.1 ± 2.13 (10.9 - 45.4)	
Lactic acid	Black bean	11.0 ± 6.66 ^{c,∥}	22.6 ± 6.66 ^{bc,†‡§}	32.4 ± 4.71 ^{bc,†‡}	49.1 ± 4.71 ^{b,†‡}	91.6 ± 6.66 ^{a,‡}	95.2 ± 4.21 ^{a,‡}	50.3 (9.07 - 113)
	Bread	$80.4 \pm 4.50^{a,\ddagger}$	$6.17 \pm 5.03^{d,\$}$	$40.2 \pm 4.50^{bc,\dagger}$	$47.4 \pm 4.50^{\text{b},\text{f}\text{\ddagger}}$	14.0 ± 4.50 ^{cd,∥#}	$36.6 \pm 4.50^{bc, \parallel}$	37.5 (4.19 - 96.5)

	Chickpea	119 ± 3.51 ^{a,†}	21.8 ± 4.96 ^{c,†‡§}	26.5 ± 3.51 ^{c,†‡}	$49.9 \pm 4.05^{d,\dagger}$	63.3 ± 7.02 ^{b,‡§}	31.8 ± 3.14 ^{bc,∥}	52.0 (19.2 - 122)
	Peanut	52.2 ± 4.68 ^{a,§}	$42.0 \pm 4.68^{\text{ab},\dagger}$	7.14 ± 6.05 ^{c,‡§}	15.8 ± 7.41 ^{bc,‡§}	45.1 ± 6.05 ^{ab,§∥}	11.3 ± 5.24 ^{c,∥#}	28.9 (3.56 - 68.9)
	Pigeon pea	80.1 ± 9.33 ^{b,†‡§}	$43.2 \pm 10.8^{b, \dagger \ddagger \$}$	42.6 ± 10.7 ^{b,†‡§}	54.7 ± 9.33 ^{b,†‡}	155 ± 9.33 ^{a,†}	152 ± 8.34 ^{a,†}	88.1 (38.4 - 181)
	Sorghum	$53.8 \pm 1.63^{a,\$}$	22.8 ± 1.89 ^{b,†‡}	$4.42 \pm 1.63^{d,\$}$	$6.07 \pm 1.63^{d,\$}$	17.5 ± 1.63 ^{bc,#}	9.11 ± 1.89 ^{cd,#}	18.9 (2.08 - 58.3)
	Wheat bran	58.7 ± 2.93 ^{a,‡§}	15.1 ± 3.68 ^{c,‡§}	38.2 ± 2.93 ^{b,†}	38.3 ± 3.38 ^{b,†‡}	4.99 ± 2.93 ^{c,#}	$65.6 \pm 2.93^{a,\S}$	368 (1.54 - 73.2)
	Mean (range)	65.0 (9.07 - 122)	24.8 (4.19 - 48.2)	27.4 (2.08 - 50.8)	37.3 (5.14 - 76.1)	56.0 (1.54 - 181)	57.4 (7.56 - 175)	
P value		Inoculum (I)	Substrate (S)	I x S				
	Total	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
	Formic acid	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
	Acetic acid	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
	Lactic acid	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				

¹ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 5 fermentation bottles. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of inoculum, fibre source substrate, and their interaction for total organic, formic, acetic, and lactic acids. A different repeated statement was required for each organic acid to have similar studentised residuals as described in the statistical analysis section. For example, the best-repeated statement for formic acid had a common SEM per fibre source substrate, while for acetic acid, it had a common SEM per inoculum. Means in a row (i.e., inoculum effect) with different letters differ ($P \le 0.05$), and means in a column (i.e., fibre source substrate effect) with different symbols differ ($P \le 0.05$). The butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acid productions were negligible in the samples (i.e., below the detection limit) and, therefore, not reported. The means of propionic and succinic acid productions are reported in Supplementary Table 3. AG, arabinogalactan; DM, dry matter; FOS, fructooligosaccharides; ND, not detected.

7.3.2. Ileal microbial composition

In the current study, seven phyla and 57 genera were identified (>1% relative abundance in at least one sample). Six phyla (86%) and twenty-seven genera (47%) were present in ileal digesta for all diets at a 100% frequency. The remaining taxa displayed different frequencies across diets (Supplementary Table 7.4). For example, *Leuconostoc* had a higher (0.83 versus < 0.25; $P \le 0.05$) frequency in the ileal digesta of pigs fed the sorghum diet than in those given the bread, chickpea, peanut, or wheat bran diets.

The pigs fed the bread diet had a 3.5-fold higher total number of bacteria in their ileal digesta than pigs fed the sorghum and wheat bran diets (based on back-transformed data; Table 7.3). Forty-five percent of the total genera identified differed ($P \le 0.05$) across diets (Supplementary Table 7.5). For example, the number of Proteobacteria was on average 3.3-fold higher ($P \le 0.05$) in the ileal digesta of pigs fed the bread and sorghum diets than those given the wheat bran diet (based on back-transformed data). Based on PICRUSt, the predicted metabolic activity of the ileal microbial composition of pigs was similar across all diets, with a few exceptions (Supplementary Table 7.6).

The α -diversity (Shannon Diversity Index) of the ileal microbial community was similar (P = 0.665) across all diets (Supplementary Figure 7.1). The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index (i.e., β -diversity) did not clearly separate the diets for the ileal microbial community pertaining to individual pigs (Figure 7.1). However, an Adonis test suggested that the diets were significantly different (P < 0.001). A betadine test for intragroup variance was significant (P = 0.036), indicating that some differences between ileal microbial compositions across diets could be ascribed to greater intragroup variability.

 Table 7.3: Effect of diet on numbers of bacteria in ileal digesta from growing pigs (across substrates) fed diets containing different test

foods¹

				Diet					
Phylum Genera	Black bean	Bread	Chickpea	Peanut	Pigeon pea	Sorghum	Wheat bran	SEM	P value
Sample size, n ²	4	5	4	5	6	6	6		
		Log	g ₁₀ 16S rRNA	gene cop	ies/g wet diges	ta			
Total bacteria	10.6 ^{ab}	11.1ª	10.8 ^{ab}	10.9 ^{ab}	11.1 ^{ab}	10.6 ^b	10.3 ^b	0.180	0.002
Actinobacteria									
Actinomyces	7.67 ^{ab}	8.32 ^{ab}	7.95 ^{ab}	7.82 ^{ab}	8.30ª	7.66 ^{ab}	7.43 ^b	0.192	0.036
Bifidobacterium	7.73 ^a	6.77 ^{ab}	8.29 ^{ab}	7.34 ^{ab}	7.71 ^{ab}	5.98 ^b	6.87 ^{ab}	0.556	0.009
Collinsella	6.99 ^{ab}	7.61 ^a	6.68 ^{ab}	7.74 ^{ab}	7.11 ^{ab}	6.04 ^b	7.47 ^a	0.357	0.010
Bacteroidetes	9.79 ^b	10.3 ^a	9.87 ^{ab}	10.3 ^{ab}	10.2 ^{ab}	9.59 ^{ab}	9.83 ^{ab}	0.164	0.020
Bacteroides	9.29 ^{ab}	9.79 ^a	9.33 ^{ab}	9.81 ^{ab}	9.67 ^{ab}	9.17 ^{ab}	8.64 ^b	0.229	0.038
Parabacteroides	7.47 ^b	8.23 ^a	7.50 ^{abc}	7.79 ^{abc}	7.92 ^{abc}	7.89 ^{ab}	6.73 ^c	0.252	0.001
Prevotella	9.29 ^{ab}	9.81 ^a	9.29 ^{ab}	9.45 ^{ab}	9.89 ^{ab}	8.93 ^b	9.71 ^a	0.205	0.009
Firmicutes	10.3 ^{ab}	10.9 ^a	10.6 ^{ab}	10.5 ^{ab}	10.8 ^{ab}	10.2 ^b	9.85 ^b	0.200	0.005
Agathobacter	7.15 ^{ab}	7.52 ^{ab}	6.93 ^{ab}	7.28 ^{ab}	6.54 ^{ab}	6.14 ^b	7.86 ^a	0.352	0.027
Anaerovibrio	6.66 ^{bc}	7.40 ^b	7.39 ^{ab}	8.09 ^{abc}	7.10 ^{abc}	5.74 ^c	8.82 ^a	0.398	<0.001
Blautia	7.25 ^b	7.44 ^{ab}	7.17 ^{ab}	7.81 ^{ab}	7.45 ^{ab}	7.18 ^b	8.47 ^a	0.329	0.008
Clostridium_sensu_stricto_1	8.54 ^{ab}	10.1 ^a	9.53 ^{ab}	9.62 ^{ab}	9.53 ^{ab}	8.98 ^b	8.13 ^c	0.309	0.035
Enterococcus	8.63 ^a	8.13 ^a	6.85 ^b	7.65 ^{ab}	8.47 ^{ab}	7.62 ^a	7.96 ^{ab}	0.379	0.007
Faecalibacterium	6.54 ^{bc}	6.47 ^{bc}	6.57 ^{bc}	6.57 ^{bc}	6.61 ^b	5.69 ^c	8.44 ^a	0.315	<0.001
Fusicatenibacter	6.08 ^b	6.14 ^b	5.84 ^b	ND	6.12 ^b	5.81 ^b	7.71 ^a	0.241	0.027
Lachnospiraceae_unclassified	7.98 ^b	8.63 ^a	8.22 ^{ab}	8.71 ^{ab}	8.56 ^{ab}	8.30 ^{ab}	8.32 ^{ab}	0.192	0.019

Lactococcus	7.37 ^{ab}	6.66 ^{ab}	6.84 ^{ab}	6.19 ^{ab}	7.85 ^a	7.97 ^a	5.79 ^b	0.432	0.007
Megamonas	7.62 ^{ab}	7.77 ^{abc}	7.95 ^{ab}	6.79 ^{bc}	7.63 ^{abc}	5.96°	8.79 ^a	0.371	<0.001
Megasphaera	7.02 ^{ab}	7.14 ^a	8.19 ^{ab}	7.32 ^{ab}	7.67 ^a	5.67 ^b	6.82 ^a	0.486	0.001
Romboutsia	8.61 ^{abc}	9.81 ^a	9.26 ^{ab}	9.24 ^{ab}	9.41 ^{ab}	9.07 ^b	7.24 ^c	0.236	0.001
Sarcina	9.09 ^{ab}	10.3 ^a	8.37 ^{ab}	8.18 ^{ab}	9.91 ^a	8.30 ^{ab}	6.54 ^b	0.554	0.003
Selenomonadaceae_unclassified	7.33 ^{abc}	9.35 ^{abc}	9.66 ^a	7.37 ^c	9.43 ^{ab}	7.42 ^{abc}	7.70 ^{bc}	0.376	0.019
Streptococcus	9.45 ^{ab}	9.80 ^a	9.31 ^{ab}	9.22 ^{ab}	9.49 ^{ab}	9.23 ^{ab}	8.75 ^b	0.290	0.039
Terrisporobacter	8.60 ^{ab}	9.62 ^a	9.26 ^a	8.91 ^a	8.63 ^{ab}	8.87 ^a	7.16 ^b	0.330	<0.001
Turicibacter	9.13 ^{ab}	9.52 ^a	9.54 ^a	9.67 ^a	9.45 ^a	8.68 ^a	7.58 ^b	0.324	<0.001
Veillonella	8.65 ^{ab}	9.19 ^{ab}	9.28 ^a	8.77 ^{ab}	9.36 ^{ab}	8.11 ^b	8.78 ^{ab}	0.297	0.030
Fusobacteria	9.43 ^b	10.0 ^a	9.37 ^b	10.0 ^{ab}	9.79 ^{ab}	9.36 ^b	9.16 ^b	0.166	0.002
Fusobacterium	9.42 ^b	10.0 ^a	9.36 ^b	10.0 ^{ab}	9.76 ^{ab}	9.35 ^b	9.16 ^b	0.164	0.002
Proteobacteria	10.0 ^{ab}	10.1ª	9.59 ^{ab}	10.1 ^{ab}	10.2 ^{ab}	10.0 ^a	9.56 ^b	0.180	<0.001
Acinetobacter	7.28 ^{ab}	7.32 ^{ab}	6.24 ^b	6.77 ^{ab}	6.87 ^{ab}	8.31ª	6.73 ^{ab}	0.293	0.009
Enterobacterales_unclassified	7.58 ^{ab}	7.82 ^a	7.32 ^{ab}	7.80 ^{ab}	7.84 ^{ab}	7.91 ^{ab}	7.12 ^b	0.223	0.013
Kosakonia	6.99 ^{ab}	6.46 ^{ab}	ND	6.06 ^{ab}	7.36 ^{ab}	7.43 ^a	5.36 ^b	0.458	0.009
Pseudomonas	5.77 ^{bc}	6.26 ^b	ND	6.22 ^{bc}	6.49 ^{ab}	8.50ª	5.37°	0.269	0.001
Sutterella	7.86 ^{ab}	8.43 ^{ab}	8.11 ^{ab}	8.67 ^a	8.31 ^{ab}	7.19 ^b	8.17 ^{ab}	0.326	0.035

¹ Values are means with pooled SEM, n = 4-6 animals per diet. Only taxa with >1% relative abundance in at least one of the samples and that showed a significant diet treatment effect (Supplementary Table 5) are presented. The number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa was obtained by multiplying the total number of 16S rRNA gene copies with the relative abundance of the taxa with the assumption that each taxon has an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies. Data were log_{10} transformed to achieve homogenous variance. A one-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet. Means in a row with a different letter differ (P < 0.05). ND, not detected.

² *n* indicates the number of replicates. The different numbers of replicates resulted from either removing one pig that displayed coprophagy or the extracted DNA having low quality or concentration for 16S rRNA gene sequencing.



Figure 7.1: Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity of the ileal microbial community for growing pigs fed diets for seven days containing different test foods. Individual symbols represent individual samples, n = 4-6 animals per diet. The effect of diet on the groupings was assessed using the Adonis test (999 permutations).

7.3.3. Correlations between the ileal microbial composition and fermentation outcomes

Given that there were marked differences in the number of specific bacteria in the ileal digesta of the pigs, it was of interest to investigate whether the observed differences in the fermentation outcomes were correlated with differences in the bacterial taxa found in the inocula. Correlation coefficients were determined across inocula for each fibre source between OM fermentability or organic acid production and bacterial taxa. Fifteen statistically significant correlations ($P \le 0.05$; fourteen positive and one negative) were found between OM fermentability and the concentration of bacterial taxa in the ileal digesta across the fibre

sources. For example, *Fusobacterium* was positively correlated with the OM fermentability of AG (r = 0.805; P = 0.029) (Table 7.4). In addition, 39 positive and 35 negative correlations ($P \le 0.05$) were found between organic acid production and the bacterial taxa for specific fibre sources. For example, *Bifidobacterium* was positively correlated with formic acid when fermenting AG (r = 0.816; P = 0.025) but negatively correlated when fermenting inulin (r = -0.916; P = 0.004) and starch (r = -0.775; P = 0.041).

7.4. Discussion

In the present work, different diets were fed to growing pigs, ileal digesta were collected, and ileal inocula were prepared for *in vitro* fermentation of a wide range of fibre sources. The study showed that the ileal microbial composition, obtained by pooling ileal digesta from pigs fed diets containing different test foods for seven days, influenced the *in vitro* fermentation of fibre sources. As hypothesised, both the inoculum and fibre source influenced the *in vitro* ileal fermentation resulting in differences in OM fermentability and organic acid production. However, the fibre source had a greater effect on these fermentation outcomes than the inoculum. Due to the limited amount of digesta collected per animal, a pooled inoculum was prepared per diet. Thus, the current results do not reflect the variability across animals. Still, they do characterize the fermentability of different fibre sources across different microbial compositions.

Table 7.4: Pearson's correlation coefficients between fermentation outcomes (OM fermentability and organic acid production) and the number of bacteria in the ileal inoculum per fibre substrate after *in vitro* fermentation¹

Fibro	Bacteria, log ₁₀ 16S	OM	Organic acid production, mmol/kg DM substrate						
substrate	rRNA gene copies/g wet digesta	fermentability, %	Total	Formic acid	Acetic acid	Propionic acid	Lactic acid		
AG	Actinobacteria	-	-0.77 (0.044)	-	-	-	-		
	Bifidobacterium	-	-	0.82 (0.025)	-	-	-		
	Bacteroidetes								
	Alloprevotella	-	-	-	-	0.75 (0.040)	-		
	Muribaculaceae_unc lassified	0.81 (0.029)	-	-	-	-	-		
	Firmicutes	-	-0.76 (0.049)	-	-	-	-		
	Anaerovibrio	-	0.83 (0.020)	-	-	-	-		
	Blautia	-	-	0.81 (0.028)	-	-	-		
	Lactobacillus	-	-	-	-	-	0.79 (0.033)		
	Megasphaera	-	-	-	0.85 (0.017)	-	-		
	Selenomonadaceae _unclassified	-	-	-	-	-	0.85 (0.016)		
	Turicibacter	-	-	-0.79 (0.036)	-	-	-		
	Fusobacteria	0.80 (0.032)	-	-	-	-	-		
	Fusobacterium	0.81 (0.029)	-	-	-	-	-		
	Proteobacteria	0.80 (0.031)	-	-	-	-	-		
	Acinetobacter	-	-0.77 (0.043)	-	-0.84 (0.018)	-	-		
	Enterobacteriaceae_ unclassified	-	-0.82 (0.024)	-	-	-	-		
	Escherichia_Shigella	0.82 (0.023)	-	-	-	-	-		
	Spirochaetes	0.78 (0.039)	-	-	-	0.82 (0.023)	-		
	Treponema	0.78 (0.038)	-	-	-	0.82 (0.026)	-		

Cellulose	Actinobacteria	-	-	-	-	0.79 (0.034)	-
	Actinomyces	-	-	0.79 (0.036)	-	-	-
	Bacteroidetes			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			
	Alloprevotella	-	-	-	-	-0.85 (0.016)	-
	Prevotella	-	-	0.82 (0.023)	-	-	-
	Prevotellaceae_NK3	-	-	0.76 (0.048)	-0.72 (0.068)	-	-
	B31_group				. ,		
	Agethobactor		0 70 (0 025)		0 72 (0 062)		
	Againobacier	-	-0.79 (0.035)	-	-0.73 (0.003)	-	-
	um	-	-	0.97 (<0.001)	-	-	-
	Megamonas	-	-0.85 (0.015)	-	-0.77 (0.044)	-	-
	Megasphaera	-	-	-	-0.76 (0.045)	0.78 (0.040)	-
	Proteobacteria				, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
	Acinetobacter	-	-	-	0.76 (0.049)	-	-
	Spirochaetes	0.78 (0.039)	-	-	-	0.82 (0.023)	-
	Tenericutes	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
	Mycoplasma	-	-	0.79 (0.035)	-	-	-
FOS	Total bacteria	-	0.77 (0.043)	-	-	-	-
	Actinobacteria	-	0.93 (0.002)	-	0.71 (0.074)	-	-
	Bacteroidetes	-	0.81 (0.028)	-	-	-	-
	Alloprevotella	-	-	-	-	0.84 (0.017)	-
	Bacteroides	-	0.81 (0.028)	-	-	-	-
	Prevotella	-	-	-	-	-	0.79 (0.036)
	Prevotellaceae_uncl assified	-	0.76 (0.048)	-	-	-	-
	Firmicutes	-	0.74 (0.056)	-	0.76 (0.045)	-	-
	Clostridium_sensu_s tricto 1	-	0.78 (0.039)	-	-	-	-
	Enterococcus	-	-	-0.86 (0.014)	0.83 (0.021)	-	-

Lachnoanaerobacul	-	-	-	-	0.77 (0.043)	-
um						
Megamonas	-	-	-	-	0.82 (0.024)	-
Megasphaera	-	0.76 (0.049)	-	-	-	-
Selenomonadaceae _unclassified	-	-	-	0.87 (0.011)	-	-
Turicibacter	-	0.83 (0.022)	-	-	-	-
Proteobacteria		-				
Sutterella	-	0.77 (0.041)	-	-	-	-
Spirochaetes	-	-	-	-	0.87 (0.011)	-
Treponema	-	-	-	-	0.86 (0.013)	-
Actinobacteria						
Bifidobacterium	-	-	-0.92 (0.004)	-	-	-
Bacteroidetes						
Bacteroides	-	-0.82 (0.024)	-	-	-	-
Muribaculaceae_unc lassified	-	-0.83 (0.021)	-	-0.81 (0.028)	-	-
Prevotellaceae_uncl assified	0.79 (0.033)	-0.73 (0.063)	-	-	-	-
Firmicutes						
Enterococcus	-	-	-	-0.80 (0.029)	-	-
Megasphaera	-	-	-0.87 (0.010)	-	-	0.71 (0.076)
Streptococcus	0.76 (0.048)	-	-	-	-	-
Turicibacter	-	-0.83 (0.021)	-	-	-	-
Veillonella	-	-	-0.74 (0.056)	-	-	0.81 (0.028)
Proteobacteria						
Escherichia_Shigella	0.77 (0.044)	-0.86 (0.014)	-	-0.72 (0.069)	-	-
Pasteurellaceae_un classified	0.77 (0.045)	-	-	-	-	-
Tenericutes						
Mycoplasma	0.86 (0.013)	-	-	-	-	-

Inulin

Pectin	Bacteroidetes						
	Muribaculaceae_unc lassified	-	-	-	0.76 (0.048)	-	-
	Prevotellaceae_NK3 B31 group	-	-	-0.80 (0.032)	-	-	-
	Prevotellaceae_UC G003	0.82 (0.022)	-	-	0.73 (0.061)	0.73 (0.061)	-
	Firmicutes						
	Lactobacillus	-	-	-	-	-0.80 (0.032)	-
	Megasphaera	-	-	-0.84 (0.017)	-	-	-
	Selenomonadaceae unclassified	-	-	-	-	-0.83 (0.020)	-
	Veillonella	-	-	-0.82 (0.025)	-	-	-
	Proteobacteria	-	-	-	0.86 (0.014)	-	-
	Acinetobacter	-	-	0.80 (0.032)	-	-	-
	Sutterella	-	-	-0.81 (0.027)	-	-	-
High-	Actinobacteria						
amylose	Bifidobacterium	-	-	-0.78 (0.041)	-	-	-
starch	Bacteroidetes						
	Muribaculaceae_unc lassified	-	-	-	-0.76 (0.047)	-	-
	Firmicutes						
	Enterococcus	-	-	-	-0.79 (0.033)	-	-
	Lactobacillus	-0.76 (0.047)	-	-	-	-	-
	Megasphaera	-	-	-0.85 (0.015)	-	-	-
	Veillonella	-	-	-0.87 (0.010)	-	-	-
	Fusobacteria						
	Leptotrichia	-	-	-0.80 (0.031)	-	-	-
	Proteobacteria						
	Escherichia_Shigella	-	-	-	-0.80 (0.032)	-	-

Sutterella	-	-	-0.76 (0.046) -	-	-
Tenericutes					
Mycoplasma	-	-	0.80 (0.02	9) -	-

¹ Values are correlation coefficients with *P* values between parentheses. Only taxa with >1% relative abundance in at least one sample were considered. Bacteria data were log₁₀ transformed to achieve homogenous variance. Only significant ($P \le 0.05$) correlations with a correlation coefficient above 0.7 were included in this table. AG, arabinogalactan; DM, dry matter; FOS, fructooligosaccharides; OM, organic matter.

7.4.1. In vitro organic matter fermentability

Firstly, feeding growing pigs with diets of varying nutrient contents (for example, 57 to 295 g total dietary fibre/kg diet) for seven days resulted in different ileal microbial compositions. Dietary interventions have previously been shown to be a successful tool for changing the ileal microbial community in growing pigs with longer interventions, namely 22 [289], 28 [366], and 42 days [287]. However, in humans, the ileal microbial community was already affected after a two-week intervention [164] or even after a single meal [43, 163]. The different ileal microbial communities obtained through dietary intervention allowed us to interrogate our other hypothesis regarding the effect of the ileal microbial community and fibre source on *in vitro* ileal fermentation.

The ileal OM fermentation was quantitatively significant (3 to 37%), as previously found for the *in vitro* fermentation of jejunal digesta [286, 287] and fibre sources [13, 267]. The differences in ileal OM fermentability among fibre sources could be explained by several factors, such as (i) structural differences between the fibre sources, such as monomeric composition and branching [21, 154, 359]. For example, in the current study, pectin that consists of multiple monomeric units (including galacturonic acid, rhamnose, arabinose, and galactose [370]) had a greater *in vitro* OM fermentability than FOS and inulin that contain only fructose monomers [371]; (ii) composition and diversity of the ileal microbial communities. This is supported by the fifteen correlations found in the current study between bacterial taxa and OM fermentability; (iii) fibre source preference of specific bacteria. For example, in the current study, *Escherichia-Shigella* had (or tended to have) a positive correlation with the OM fermentability of AG, FOS, and inulin.

The statistical results showed that ileal OM fermentability was influenced by the interaction between the fibre source and the inoculum. However, considering the higher variability

between fibre sources (27% was the lowest difference in range) compared to the variability between inocula (7% was the lowest difference in range), it appears that the fibre source plays a greater role in ileal fermentation. Similarly, using an inoculum from human ileostomates, both the fibre source and the donor affected the *in vitro* ileal fermentation, but the contribution of the fibre source appeared to be greater [21] despite methodological differences to this study.

7.4.2. In vitro organic acid production

In vitro organic acid production was also investigated here to measure the extent of microbial metabolism. Of the organic acids determined in this study, only formic, acetic, and lactic acids were produced in considerable amounts. In contrast, propionic and succinic acids were produced only for specific fibre sources and inocula. Formic acid was the primary fermentation product for the *in vitro* fermentation of AG. On average, it represented 73% of the total organic acids produced, followed by lactic and acetic acids (14% and 13%, respectively). Similar results were found when fermenting *in vitro* AG with a continuous culture of *Bifidobacterium longum* [316] or in a batch fermentation using an ileal inoculum from pigs fed a human-type diet [267].

Based on the variability between fibre sources and inocula for organic acid production, the fibre sources appear to play a greater role in organic acid production during *in vitro* ileal fermentation than the microbial composition, as described above for ileal OM fermentability. A previous study using human faecal inocula from different individuals has also shown that the substrate plays a greater role than the microbial community during *in vitro* faecal fermentation [58]. An important number of statistically significant correlations were fibre source dependent. Some of the factors described above can explain this, such as structural

differences between fibre sources [359, 372] and fibre source preferences of bacteria [60]. For example, *Bifidobacteria* had (or tended to have) a positive correlation with acetic acid production from AG but tended to be negatively correlated with acetic acid production from cellulose. This observation could be regarded as both involving fibre source preference and structural differences. Previous reports have shown that *Bifidobacterium longum* can utilize AG, resulting in acetic acid production in a monoculture [316], but no reports for cellulose were found.

No butyric acid production was detected. Previously, a small amount of butyric acid (i.e., 0.6 mmol/kg DM substrate) was produced when the same fibre sources were fermented in vitro with ileal digesta from pigs fed a human-type diet [267] or human ileostomates [21]. The negligible butyric acid production agrees with low butyrate concentrations detected in the ileal digesta of pigs [373, 374] and human adults [23]. In addition, a reduced number of genes related to butyrate fermentation in human ileal microbiota compared to faecal microbiota [12]. Also, most human GIT microbiota form butyrate via the butyryl coenzyme A-acetyl coenzyme A transferase pathway, which requires acetic acid [42]. The two-hour fermentation time in this study may not have been sufficient to allow cross-feeding to occur. At first sight, there appears to be a discrepancy between the OM fermentability observations and the organic acid data. For example, AG, FOS, and inulin were all fermented similarly (about 16%), but the total organic acid production for AG was about five times higher than that for FOS and inulin. This may be partly explained by the fact that most of the organic acid production for AG found in the current study was from formic acid, which has a relatively low molecular weight [375]. Except in the case of the peanut inoculum, the fermentation of cellulose was negligible. Yet, the total organic acid production was only slightly lower than that of FOS, inulin, and pectin. There is no obvious explanation for this, and it may indicate

that the organic acid correction after fermentation of the blanks in this assay may not be

completely accurate. The inoculum contains undigested material from the ileal digesta providing between 35 to 50% of the total OM in the fermentation bottle. The fermentation of this material could potentially differ with and without (i.e., blanks) the added fibre substrate. For instance, in the current study, only the peanut inoculum was fermented. Differences in total organic acid production versus OM fermentability may also be due to differences in the production of metabolites and gases [22] that were not determined here. These unexplained discrepancies mean that the organic acid data should be interpreted cautiously. Overall, however, they provide corroborating evidence for the effect of dietary composition on *in vitro* ileal fermentation.

7.5. Conclusion

In conclusion, *in vitro* ileal fermentation of different well-characterised fibre sources was quantitatively significant when using the growing pig as an animal model for the adult human. There was a statistically significant effect of dietary composition on fermentation. The fibre source and the inoculum influenced the *in vitro* OM fermentability and the organic acids produced. However, based on the source of variation, the fibre source made a greater contribution to ileal fermentation. However, based on significant correlations, the contribution of the fibre source was influenced by the number of specific bacteria. For example, the number of *Prevotellaceae* UCG003 was only related to the *in vitro* ileal fermentation of pectin. These results suggest that dietary intervention could play an important role in influencing ileal fermentation by either providing specific substrates or shaping the ileal microbial composition to promote the production of specific organic acids.

Chapter 8: General discussion

This chapter presents the key findings of all the research presented, an additional discussion of the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay, an overall conclusion, and recommendations for future studies.

8.1. Key findings

The main aim of the research programme was to investigate the contribution of ileal fermentation to the overall GIT fermentation in adult humans. In addition, due to the challenge of collecting human ileal digesta, the validity of using the growing pig as an animal model for the adult human was tested. As hypothesised, the human ileal microbiota significantly contributed to the overall GIT fermentation, and the diet influenced this ileal fermentation. The research also established the growing pig as a valid model for studying human ileal fermentation.

Firstly, the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation methodology required validation in both the growing pig and adult human. Therefore, in **Chapter 3**, the *in vivo* disappearance of OM was compared with the *in vitro* ileal OM fermentation for the growing pig itself. In addition, whether the model could be improved by artificially rearing the pigs (i.e., in a more hygienic, non-farm environment and receiving a human-type diet) and inoculating them in early life with an infant faecal extract was tested. The rearing conditions were found to not affect the *in vivo* OM fermentability. There was agreement between the *in vivo* and *in vitro* OM fermentability for the control and artificially reared pigs but not for the artificially reared plus inoculated pigs. The rearing conditions did not affect the total number of ileal bacteria or the individual taxa. Only minor differences were observed in *in vitro* organic acid
production. Therefore, it is suggested that conventional pigs are the preferred model for studying ileal fermentation in humans. In addition, the *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability was similar to the *in vivo* OM fermentability in the pig, and therefore, the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation was found to be a valid model to determine *in vivo* ileal fermentation in the conventional pig.

The model was then validated for the adult human by fermenting *in vitro* different fibre substrates with inocula prepared from the ileal digesta of growing pigs and ileal effluent from human ileostomates (**Chapter 4**). The results showed that the ileal microbiota from human ileostomates was able to ferment (*in vitro*) different fibre sources (i.e., AG, FOS, and pectin) and provided a robust, reproducible *in vitro* model to study human ileal fermentation. Based on OM fermentability and organic acid production, similar fermentation of the fibre sources was observed when using ileal inocula from pigs and human ileostomates. In addition, the total number of bacteria and two-thirds of the bacterial taxa were similar between the ileal microbiota of pigs and human ileostomates. The results suggest that the growing pig can be used as a model for adult humans when studying ileal fermentation.

After the *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay was validated, the first step was to determine the significance of this contribution and compare it with the hindgut fermentation. Ileal and hindgut fermentations in growing pigs fed a human-type diet for fourteen days were compared using the combined *in vivo/in vitro* fermentation assay (**Chapter 5**). A significant degree of OM fermentation was observed during ileal fermentation. Despite differences in the microbial community and fermentation time, the ileal OM fermentability was similar to the hindgut OM fermentability. Due to the amount of OM entering the ileum, the estimated amount of OM fermented in the ileum was actually greater than that in the hindgut. An important amount of SCFAs (mainly acetic acid) was produced during ileal fermentation. These SCFA were estimated to be absorbed or metabolised directly in the ileum. For the work reported in **Chapter 6**, the objective was to test the effect of diet on the ileal microbiota and their fermentation and compare this with the hindgut fermentation. Growing pigs were fed three semi-synthetic diets containing cellulose (low overall GIT fermentability) as a sole fibre source (4.5%) or diets where half of the cellulose was replaced by psyllium or kiwifruit fibre (moderate overall GIT fermentability). This study was part of a larger study, which allowed small intestinal and caecal samples to be collected for this study. After 42 days, digesta were collected to perform *in vitro* fermentation. Firstly, this study confirmed the findings reported in Chapter 3 (i.e., a significant degree of ileal fermentation, which was comparable to hindgut fermentation). Secondly, partially replacing fibre with a low overall GIT fermentability (i.e., cellulose) with fibre with a higher overall GIT fermentability (i.e., psyllium and kiwifruit fibre) affected the OM fermentation, SCFA production, and the microbial community in both the ileum and the hindgut.

The effect of diet on the fermentative capacity of different ileal microbiota was also evaluated (**Chapter 7**). The inocula were obtained from ileal-cannulated pigs that received seven diets containing human foods with different dietary compositions for seven days as part of another study. The ileal microbiota were used to prepare inocula to ferment (*in vitro*) different fibre sources to test their fermentative capacity. The *in vitro* OM fermentability and the organic acid production were affected by both the microbiota in the inoculum and the available fibre source (i.e., substrate). However, the contribution of the fibre source was suggested to be the major contributor to ileal fermentation. In addition, specific bacterial taxa in the inoculum were linked to the OM fermentability and organic acid production of the specific fibre sources. These results suggest that dietary interventions could play an important role in influencing ileal fermentation.

8.2. In vivo/in vitro ileal fermentation assay

A combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay that is a valid model for investigating human ileal fermentation has been established based on the overall research programme. However, the assay has some limitations. Firstly, the assay includes an *in vitro* ileal fermentation, which means that there is a potential fermentation of nutrients in the proximal ileal digesta (substrate) that may have been absorbed intact *in vivo*. In addition, the microbiota in the ileal inoculum used for the *in vivo* fermentation may differ from the microbiota in the ileal digesta due to the inoculum preparation. The anaerobic condition may favour the strict anaerobic microbiota during fermentation, which could affect the fermentability were in agreement. This finding suggests that even if the microbiota of the inoculum is different from that in the ileal digesta (not measured in this research), it did not affect the fermentation outcomes.

The combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation assay was initially developed using an inoculum prepared by pooling ileal digesta from five pigs [267]. Pooled inocula have been used to standardize the microbiota within and across different experiments. This was presumed to give a more diverse microbial community which would be more representative of the microbiota of the whole study population. It had been found that a pooled faecal inoculum had a similar metabolic functionality in terms of SCFA production during *in vitro* faecal fermentation as the individual inocula of the same human subjects [376]. Nevertheless, in recent publications, individual inocula are used as the preferred option under the assumption that the microbial community is optimised with specific bacteria performing to function as a community within the GIT of an individual animal or human.

Therefore, when pooling multiple microbial communities together, a new equilibrium needs to be reached, resulting in specific bacteria performing different functions in the pooled inoculum due to functional redundancy. It should be noted that the research presented in Chapters 5, 6 and 7 was performed chronologically before that described in Chapters 3 and 4 as opportunities arose to collect ileal digesta samples from other studies. This is also the reason the experimental set up (such as the duration of the dietary intervention) differs between the chapters presented in the thesis. However, for future application of the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation, it is recommended to follow the set up described in Chapters 3 and 4 using individual inocula and a dietary intervention period of 14 days.

The ileal fermentation assay uses the growing pig as an animal model for the adult human. Pigs and humans were found to have somewhat different ileal microbial communities. Still, the OM fermentability and SCFA productions were similar between the two species (Chapter 4). This is partly explained by the results given in Chapter 7, where it was found that the substrate has a larger impact on the fermentation outcomes than the microbiota in the inoculum. However, another explanation is related to species redundancy within the microbial community, meaning that multiple bacterial species can perform a similar metabolic function within the microbial community. Taxonomic composition does not directly translate to fermentation outcomes. Therefore, measuring fermentation outcomes (such as OM fermentability and organic acid production) in addition to taxonomic composition when studying ileal fermentation is recommended.

During *in vitro* faecal fermentation, a correlation was found between the disappearance of dietary fibre and the production of SCFA [260]. In the current research, a direct relationship between the disappearance of OM and organic acid production was not found. For example, a relatively low OM fermentability of cellulose was observed with medium organic acid production (Chapter 7). It is unclear why there was no direct correlation, and more research

220

is warranted to determine the fermentation kinetics during *in vitro* ileal fermentation, including the nutrients consumed and metabolites formed.

Aside from the described limitations of the assay, it is a useful tool to provide a better understanding of human ileal fermentation. It has the advantage of allowing the measurement of fermentation outcomes (such as cumulative organic acid production) that would be challenging to measure *in vivo*.

8.3. Conclusion

In conclusion, the studies reported here demonstrated that the combined *in vivo/in vitro* ileal fermentation methodology is valid for predicting *in vivo* ileal fermentation in the growing pig itself and in the adult human, despite differences in microbial composition between the species. In addition, the research highlighted the contribution of ileal fermentation in terms of overall GIT fermentation. Ileal fermentation showed a significant degree of OM fermentability and organic acid production, similar to hindgut fermentation. Like hindgut fermentation, ileal fermentation can be influenced by diet. The research contributed to an understanding of the overall GIT fermentation and demonstrated the importance of ileal fermentation. In addition, it is established that dietary intervention may shape the ileal microbial community and produce specific organic acids that can be absorbed in the ileum to affect host health.

8.4. Future perspectives

The following aspects are recommended for future studies to strengthen the understanding of ileal fermentation and its effect on human health.

221

- This PhD thesis presents a valid (pig) model for studying human ileal fermentation.
 However, the model has been validated for only a limited number of foods or diets. From previous studies, it is known that food structure affects digestion and fermentation.
 Therefore, testing a wider variety of foods with different food structures is recommended to allow for a more comprehensive validation of the model.
- During the *in vitro* ileal fermentation, samples were only taken after two hours of fermentation. Taking samples at multiple time points during the *in vitro* ileal fermentation may provide insight into how substrates can be metabolised into organic acids over time and how the available substrate affects the microbiota in the inoculum over time.
- Investigating the disappearance of dietary fibre per se rather than focusing solely on OM. The disappearance of fibre could be done by determining, for example, the monomeric sugar composition or molecular sizes before and after *in vitro* ileal fermentation. Determining the fibre would allow testing as to whether the OM fermentation observed is actually due to the fibre breakdown and whether the bacteria in the ileal inoculum prefer specific monomers.
- 'Omics' technologies could be used to better understand the ileal microbiota and their fermentation. Metatranscriptomics, for example, would provide a further understanding of which genes are actively expressed in response to a dietary intervention (*in vivo*) or substrate availability (*in vitro*). In addition, metabolomics would allow the study of a wider variety of microbial metabolites formed during ileal fermentation.
- To test the effect of ileal fermentation products on GIT health, human epithelial cells (e.g., Caco-2 cells and ileal cell organoids) could be exposed to the supernatant after ileal fermentation. In addition to testing direct immune responses of the epithelial cells to microbial metabolites, it would also allow studying whether the microbial metabolites can cross the epithelial cell layer to support systemic function in the host.

Bibliography

1. Cummings JH, Englyst HN. Fermentation in the human large intestine and the available substrates. Am J Clin Nutr. 1987;45:1243-55.

2. Roediger WE. Role of anaerobic bacteria in the metabolic welfare of the colonic mucosa in man. Gut. 1980;21:793-8.

3. Morrison DJ, Preston T. Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism. Gut Microbes. 2016;7:189-200.

4. O'Hara AM, Shanahan F. The gut flora as a forgotten organ. EMBO Reports. 2006;7:688-93.

5. Mackie RI, Sghir A, Gaskins HR. Developmental microbial ecology of the neonatal gastrointestinal tract. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999;69:1035S-45S.

6. Englyst HN, Cummings JH. Digestion of the polysaccharides of some cereal foods in the human small intestine. Am J Clin Nutr. 1985;42:778-87.

7. Englyst HN, Cummings JH. Digestion of polysaccharides of potato in the small intestine of man. Am J Clin Nutr. 1987;45:423-31.

8. Wang M, Ahrne S, Jeppsson B, Molin G. Comparison of bacterial diversity along the human intestinal tract by direct cloning and sequencing of 16S rRNA genes. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2005;54:219-31.

9. Hayashi H, Takahashi R, Nishi T, Sakamoto M, Benno Y. Molecular analysis of jejunal, ileal, caecal and recto-sigmoidal human colonic microbiota using 16S rRNA gene libraries and terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism. J Med Microbiol. 2005;54:1093-101.

10. Bik EM, Eckburg PB, Gill SR, Nelson KE, Purdom EA, Francois F, Perez-Perez G, Blaser MJ, Relman DA. Molecular analysis of the bacterial microbiota in the human stomach. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103:732-7.

11. Stearns JC, Lynch MD, Senadheera DB, Tenenbaum HC, Goldberg MB, Cvitkovitch DG, Croitoru K, Moreno-Hagelsieb G, Neufeld JD. Bacterial biogeography of the human digestive tract. Sci Rep. 2011;1:170.

12. Zoetendal EG, Raes J, van den Bogert B, Arumugam M, Booijink CCGM, Troost FJ, Bork P, Wels M, de Vos WM, Kleerebezem M. The human small intestinal microbiota is driven by rapid uptake and conversion of simple carbohydrates. ISME J. 2012;6:1415-26.

13. Montoya CA, de Haas ES, Moughan PJ. Development of an *in vivo* and *in vitro* ileal fermentation method in a growing pig model. J Nutr. 2018;148:298-305.

14. Miller ER, Ullrey DE. The pig as a model for human nutrition. Annu Rev Nutr. 1987;7:361-82.

15. Hofmann AF, Hagey LR. Bile acids: Chemistry, pathochemistry, biology, pathobiology, and therapeutics. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2008;65:2461-83.

16. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol. 2016;14:e1002533.

17. Roediger WEW. Utilization of nutrients by isolated epithelial cells of the rat colon. Gastroenterology. 1982;83:424-9.

18. Bouchoucha M, Devroede G, Bon C, Raynaud J-J, Bejou B, Benamouzig R. How many segments are necessary to characterize delayed colonic transit time? Int J Colorectal Dis. 2015;30:1381-9.

19. Thadepalli H, Lou MA, Bach VT, Matsui TK, Mandal AK. Microflora of the human small intestine. Am J Surg. 1979;138:845-50.

20. Booijink CC, El-Aidy S, Rajilic-Stojanovic M, Heilig HG, Troost FJ, Smidt H, Kleerebezem M, De Vos WM, Zoetendal EG. High temporal and inter-individual variation detected in the human ileal microbiota. Environ Microbiol. 2010;12:3213-27.

21. van Trijp MPH, Rösch C, An R, Keshtkar S, Logtenberg MJ, Hermes GDA, Zoetendal EG, Schols HA, Hooiveld GJEJ. Fermentation kinetics of selected dietary fibers by human small intestinal microbiota depend on the type of fiber and subject. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2020;64:2000455.

22. Cummings JH, Macfarlane GT. Role of intestinal bacteria in nutrient metabolism. Clinical Nutrition. 1997;16:3-11.

23. Cummings JH, Pomare EW, Branch WJ, Naylor CP, Macfarlane GT. Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. Gut. 1987;28:1221-7.

24. Macfarlane GT, Gibson GR, Cummings JH. Comparison of fermentation reactions in different regions of the human colon. J Appl Bacteriol. 1992;72:57-64.

25. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Carbohydrates in human nutrition. Report of a joint FAO/WHO expert consultation. FAO Food Nutr Pap. 1998;66:1-140.

26. Codex Alimentarius Commission and Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme. Guidelines on nutrition labeling. CAC/GL 2–1985. 2013 [cited 24th of May 2017; Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/ag/humannutrition/33309-</u>

01d4d1dd1abc825f0582d9e5a2eda4a74.pdf

27. Cummings JH, Branch W, Jenkins DJ, Southgate DA, Houston H, James WP. Colonic response to dietary fibre from carrot, cabbage, apple, bran. Lancet. 1978;1:5-9.

28. Cummings JH, Bingham SA, Heaton KW, Eastwood MA. Fecal weight, colon cancer risk, and dietary intake of nonstarch polysaccharides (dietary fiber). Gastroenterology. 1992;103:1783-9.

29. Dongowski G, Lorenz A. Unsaturated oligogalacturonic acids are generated by *in vitro* treatment of pectin with human faecal flora. Carbohydr Res. 1998;314:237-44.

30. Bourquin LD, Titgemeyer EC, Fahey GC, Garleb KA. Fermentation of dietary fibre by human colonic bacteria: Disappearance of, short-chain fatty acid production from, and potential water-holding capacity of, various substrates. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1993;28:249-55.

31. Nyman M, Asp N-G. Fermentation of dietary fibre components in the rat intestinal tract. Br J Nutr. 1982;47:357-66.

32. Ramasamy US, Venema K, Schols HA, Gruppen H. Effect of soluble and insoluble fibers within the *in vitro* fermentation of chicory root pulp by human gut bacteria. J Agric Food Chem. 2014;62:6794-802.

33. Williams BA, Mikkelsen D, Flanagan BM, Gidley MJ. "Dietary fibre": moving beyond the "soluble/insoluble" classification for monogastric nutrition, with an emphasis on humans and pigs. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. 2019;10:45.

34. Gill SK, Rossi M, Bajka B, Whelan K. Dietary fibre in gastrointestinal health and disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;18:101-16.

35. Derrien M, Vaughan EE, Plugge CM, de Vos WM. *Akkermansia muciniphila* gen. nov., sp. nov., a human intestinal mucin-degrading bacterium. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology. 2004;54:1469-76.

36. Johansson ME, Larsson JM, Hansson GC. The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108 Suppl 1:4659-65.

37. Sonnenburg JL, Xu J, Leip DD, Chen CH, Westover BP, Weatherford J, Buhler JD, Gordon JI. Glycan foraging *in vivo* by an intestine-adapted bacterial symbiont. Science. 2005;307:1955-9.

38. Ze X, Duncan SH, Louis P, Flint HJ. *Ruminococcus bromii* is a keystone species for the degradation of resistant starch in the human colon. ISME J. 2012;6:1535-43.

39. Rossi M, Corradini C, Amaretti A, Nicolini M, Pompei A, Zanoni S, Matteuzzi D. Fermentation of fructooligosaccharides and inulin by *Bifidobacteria*: a comparative study of pure and fecal cultures. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71:6150-8.

40. Falony G, Calmeyn T, Leroy F, Vuyst LD. Coculture fermentations of *Bifidobacterium* species and *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* reveal a mechanistic insight into the prebiotic effect of inulin-type fructans. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2009;75:2312-9.

41. Zeybek N, Rastall RA, Buyukkileci AO. Utilization of xylan-type polysaccharides in co-culture fermentations of *Bifidobacterium* and *Bacteroides* species. Carbohydr Polym. 2020;236:116076.

42. Barcenilla A, Pryde SE, Martin JC, Duncan SH, Stewart CS, Henderson C, Flint HJ. Phylogenetic relationships of butyrate-producing bacteria from the human gut. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2000;66:1654-61.

43. van Trijp MPH, Kersten AHPd, Hooiveld GJEJD, Afman LAD, van Trijp MPH, Kersten AHPd, Hooiveld GJEJD, Afman LAD. Studies on non-digestible carbohydrates in the human intestine: focus on kinetics of fermentation and degradation. Wageningen: Wageningen University; 2022.

44. Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, Gill SR, Nelson KE, Relman DA. Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. Science. 2005;308:1635-8.

45. Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, Nielsen T, Pons N, Levenez F, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature. 2010;464:59-65.

46. Scanlan PD, Marchesi JR. Micro-eukaryotic diversity of the human distal gut microbiota: Qualitative assessment using culture-dependent and -independent analysis of faeces. ISME J. 2008;2:1183-93.

47. Dridi B, Raoult D, Drancourt M. Archaea as emerging organisms in complex human microbiomes. Anaerobe. 2011;17:56-63.

48. Breitbart M, Hewson I, Felts B, Mahaffy JM, Nulton J, Salamon P, Rohwer F. Metagenomic analyses of an uncultured viral community from human feces. J Bacteriol. 2003;185:6220-3.

49. Gill SR, Pop M, DeBoy RT, Eckburg PB, Turnbaugh PJ, Samuel BS, Gordon JI, Relman DA, Fraser-Liggett CM, Nelson KE. Metagenomic analysis of the human distal gut microbiome. Science. 2006;312:1355-9.

50. Bassis CM, Erb-Downward JR, Dickson RP, Freeman CM, Schmidt TM, Young VB, Beck JM, Curtis JL, Huffnagle GB. Analysis of the upper respiratory tract microbiotas as the source of the lung and gastric microbiotas in healthy individuals. MBio. 2015;6:e00037.

51. Uemura N, Okamoto S, Yamamoto S, Matsumura N, Yamaguchi S, Yamakido M, Taniyama K, Sasaki N, Schlemper RJ. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and the development of gastric cancer. N Engl J Med. 2001;345:784-9.

52. Moore WEC, Cato EP, Holdeman LV. Some current concepts in intestinal bacteriology. Am J Clin Nutr. 1978;31:S33-S42.

53. Hartman AL, Lough DM, Barupal DK, Fiehn O, Fishbein T, Zasloff M, Eisen JA. Human gut microbiome adopts an alternative state following small bowel transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:17187-92.

54. Angelakis E, Armougom F, Carriere F, Bachar D, Laugier R, Lagier JC, Robert C, Michelle C, Henrissat B, Raoult D. A metagenomic investigation of the duodenal microbiota reveals links with obesity. PloS one. 2015;10:e0137784.

55. van den Bogert B, Leimena MM, de Vos WM, Zoetendal EG, Kleerebezem M. Functional Intestinal Metagenomics. Handbook of Molecular Microbial Ecology II: Metagenomics in Different Habitats; 2011. p. 175-90.

56. Rajilić-Stojanović M, de Vos WM. The first 1000 cultured species of the human gastrointestinal microbiota. FEMS microbiology reviews. 2014;38:996-1047.

57. Kurokawa K, Itoh T, Kuwahara T, Oshima K, Toh H, Toyoda A, Takami H, Morita H, Sharma VK, et al. Comparative metagenomics revealed commonly enriched gene sets in human gut microbiomes. DNA Research. 2007;14:169-81.

58. Reichardt N, Vollmer M, Holtrop G, Farquharson FM, Wefers D, Bunzel M, Duncan SH, Drew JE, Williams LM, et al. Specific substrate-driven changes in human faecal microbiota composition contrast with functional redundancy in short-chain fatty acid production. ISME J. 2018;12:610-22.

59. Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, Fernandes GR, Tap J, Bruls T, et al. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. Nature. 2011;473:174-80.

60. Chen T, Long W, Zhang C, Liu S, Zhao L, Hamaker BR. Fiber-utilizing capacity varies in *Prevotella*- versus *Bacteroides*-dominated gut microbiota. Sci Rep. 2017;7:2594-.

61. Johansson MEV, Phillipson M, Petersson J, Velcich A, Holm L, Hansson GC. The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon is devoid of bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:15064-9.

62. Rangel I, Sundin J, Fuentes S, Repsilber D, de Vos WM, Brummer RJ. The relationship between faecal-associated and mucosal-associated microbiota in irritable bowel

syndrome patients and healthy subjects. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2015;42:1211-21.

63. Ichikawa H, Sakata T. Stimulation of epithelial cell proliferation of isolated distal colon of rats by continuous colonic infusion of ammonia or short-chain fatty acids is nonadditive. J Nutr. 1998;128:843-7.

64. Den Besten G, Lange K, Havinga R, van Dijk TH, Gerding A, van Eunen K, Müller M, Groen AK, Hooiveld GJ, et al. Gut-derived short-chain fatty acids are vividly assimilated into host carbohydrates and lipids. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology. 2013;305:G900-G10.

65. McNeil NI. The contribution of the large intestine to energy supplies in man. Am J Clin Nutr. 1984;39:338-442.

66. Makras L, De Vuyst L. The *in vitro* inhibition of Gram-negative pathogenic bacteria by *Bifidobacteria* is caused by the production of organic acids. Int Dairy J. 2006;16:1049-57.

67. Binder HJ, Mehta P. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate active sodium and chloride absorption *in vitro* in the rat distal colon. Gastroenterology. 1989;96:989-96.

68. Macdonald IA, Singh G, Mahony DE, Meier CE. Effect of pH on bile salt degradation by mixed fecal cultures. Steroids. 1978;32:245-56.

69. Nagengast FM, Hectors MPC, Buys WAM, Tongeren JHMV. Inhibition of secondary bile acid formation in the large intestine by lactulose in healthy subjects of two different age groups. Eur J Clin Invest. 1988;18:56-61.

70. Louis P, Scott KP, Duncan SH, Flint HJ. Understanding the effects of diet on bacterial metabolism in the large intestine. J Appl Microbiol. 2007;102:1197-208.

71. Bernalier A, Lelait M, Rochet V, Grivet J-P, Gibson GR, Durand M. Acetogenesis from H2 and CO2 by methane- and non-methane-producing human colonic bacterial communities. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 1996;19:193-202.

72. Miller TL, Wolin MJ. Pathways of acetate, propionate, and butyrate formation by the human fecal microbial flora. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1996;62:1589-92.

73. Bernalier A, Willems A, Leclerc M, Rochet V, Collins MD. *Ruminococcus hydrogenotrophicus* sp. nov., a new H2/CO2-utilizing acetogenic bacterium isolated from human feces. Arch Microbiol. 1996;166:176-83.

74. Rey FE, Faith JJ, Bain J, Muehlbauer MJ, Stevens RD, Newgard CB, Gordon JI. Dissecting the *in vivo* metabolic potential of two human gut acetogens. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2010;285:22082-90.

75. Boets E, Gomand SV, Deroover L, Preston T, Vermeulen K, Preter V, Hamer HM, den Mooter G, Vuyst L, et al. Systemic availability and metabolism of colonic-derived short-chain fatty acids in healthy subjects: a stable isotope study. J Physiol. 2017;595:541.

76. Wolever TM, Brighenti F, Royall D, Jenkins AL, Jenkins DJ. Effect of rectal infusion of short chain fatty acids in human subjects. Am J Gastroenterol. 1989;84:1027-33.

77. Wolever TM, Spadafora P, Eshuis H. Interaction between colonic acetate and propionate in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 1991;53:681-7.

78. Duncan SH, Barcenilla A, Stewart CS, Pryde SE, Flint HJ. Acetate utilization and butyryl coenzyme A (CoA):acetate-CoA transferase in butyrate-producing bacteria from the human large intestine. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2002;68:5186-90.

79. Reichardt N, Duncan SH, Young P, Belenguer A, McWilliam Leitch C, Scott KP, Flint HJ, Louis P. Phylogenetic distribution of three pathways for propionate production within the human gut microbiota. ISME J. 2014;8:1323-35.

80. Aguirre M, Eck A, Koenen ME, Savelkoul PHM, Budding AE, Venema K. Diet drives quick changes in the metabolic activity and composition of human gut microbiota in a validated *in vitro* gut model. Res Microbiol. 2016;167:114-25.

81. Psichas A, Sleeth ML, Murphy KG, Brooks L, Bewick GA, Hanyaloglu AC, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR, Frost G. The short chain fatty acid propionate stimulates GLP-1 and PYY secretion via free fatty acid receptor 2 in rodents. Int J Obes. 2015;39:424-9.

82. Xiong Y, Miyamoto N, Shibata K, Valasek MA, Motoike T, Kedzierski RM, Yanagisawa M. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate leptin production in adipocytes through the G protein-coupled receptor GPR41. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:1045-50.

83. Ruijschop RM, Boelrijk AE, te Giffel MC. Satiety effects of a dairy beverage fermented with propionic acid bacteria. Int Dairy J. 2008;18:945-50.

84. Berggren AM, Nyman EMGL, Lundquist I, Björck IME. Influence of orally and rectally administered propionate on cholesterol and glucose metabolism in obese rats. Br J Nutr. 1996;76:287-94.

85. Yu DCW, Waby JS, Chirakkal H, Staton CA, Corfe BM. Butyrate suppresses expression of neuropilin I in colorectal cell lines through inhibition of Sp1 transactivation. Mol Cancer. 2010;9:276-.

86. Nepelska M, Cultrone A, Béguet-Crespel F, Le Roux K, Doré J, Arulampalam V, Blottière HM. Butyrate produced by commensal bacteria potentiates phorbol esters induced AP-1 response in human intestinal epithelial cells. PloS one. 2012;7:e52869.

87. Macfarlane GT, Cummings JH, Allison C. Protein degradation by human intestinal bacteria. Journal of general microbiology. 1986;132:1647-56.

88. Smith EA, Macfarlane GT. Enumeration of amino acid fermenting bacteria in the human large intestine: Effects of pH and starch on peptide metabolism and dissimilation of amino acids. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 1998;25:355-68.

89. Jaskiewicz J, Zhao Y, Hawes JW, Shimomura Y, Crabb DW, Harris RA. Catabolism of isobutyrate by colonocytes. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1996;327:265-70.

90. Heimann E, Nyman M, Pålbrink A-K, Lindkvist-Petersson K, Degerman E. Branched short-chain fatty acids modulate glucose and lipid metabolism in primary adipocytes. Adipocyte. 2016;5:359-68.

91. Janssen PH, Morgan HW. Glucose catabolism by *Spirochaeta thermophila* RI 19.B1. J Bacteriol. 1992;174:2449-53.

92. Ng SK, Hamilton IR. Lactate metabolism by *Veillonella parvula*. J Bacteriol. 1971;105:999-1005.

93. Belenguer A, Duncan SH, Calder AG, Holtrop G, Louis P, Lobley GE, Flint HJ. Two routes of metabolic cross-feeding between *Bifidobacterium adolescentis* and butyrate-producing anaerobes from the human gut. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:3593-9.

94. Moens F, Verce M, De Vuyst L. Lactate- and acetate-based cross-feeding interactions between selected strains of *Lactobacilli*, *Bifidobacteria* and colon bacteria in the presence of inulin-type fructans. Int J Food Microbiol. 2017;241:225-36.

95. Belenguer A, Holtrop G, Duncan SH, Anderson SE, Calder AG, Flint HJ, Lobley GE. Rates of production and utilization of lactate by microbial communities from the human colon. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2011;77:107-19.

96. Falony G, Lazidou K, Verschaeren A, Weckx S, Maes D, De Vuyst L. *In vitro* kinetic analysis of fermentation of prebiotic inulin-type fructans by bifidobacterium species reveals four different phenotypes. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2009;75:454-61.

97. Duysburgh C, Van den Abbeele P, Kamil A, Fleige L, De Chavez PJ, Chu Y, Barton W, O'sullivan O, Cotter PD, et al. *In vitro-in vivo* validation of stimulatory effect of oat ingredients on *Lactobacilli*. Pathogens. 2021;10:1-18.

98. Saunders DR, Sillery J. Effect of lactate and H+ on structure and function of rat intestine. Digestive diseases and sciences. 1982;27:33-41.

99. Hove H, Nordgaard-Andersen I, Mortensen PB. Faecal DL-lactate concentration in 100 gastrointestinal patients. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1994;29:255-9.

100. Hove H, Mortensen PB. Influence of intestinal inflammation (IBD) and small and large bowel length on fecal short-chain fatty acids and lactate. Digestive diseases and sciences. 1995;40:1372-80.

101. Xu J, Bjursell MK, Himrod J, Deng S, Carmichael LK, Chiang HC, Hooper LV, Gordon JI. A genomic view of the human-*Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* symbiosis. Science. 2003;299:2074-6.

102. Louis P, Flint HJ. Formation of propionate and butyrate by the human colonic microbiota. Environ Microbiol. 2017;19:29-41.

103. Macias-Ceja DC, Ortiz-Masiá D, Salvador P, Gisbert-Ferrándiz L, Hernández C, Hausmann M, Rogler G, Esplugues JV, Hinojosa J, et al. Succinate receptor mediates intestinal inflammation and fibrosis. Mucosal Immunol. 2019;12:178-87.

104. Li F, Hinderberger J, Seedorf H, Zhang J, Buckel W, Thauer RK. Coupled ferredoxin and crotonyl coenzyme A (CoA) reduction with NADH catalyzed by the butyryl-CoA dehydrogenase/Etf complex from *Clostridium kluyveri*. J Bacteriol. 2008;190:843-50.

105. Miller TL, Wolin MJ, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJ. Isolation of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* from human feces. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1982;43:227-32.

106. Miller TL, Wolin MJ. *Methanosphaera stadtmaniae* gen. nov., sp. nov.: a species that forms methane by reducing methanol with hydrogen. Arch Microbiol. 1985;141:116-22.

107. Dridi B, Henry M, El Khéchine A, Raoult D, Drancourt M. High prevalence of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* and *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* detected in the human gut using an improved DNA detection protocol. PloS one. 2009;4:e7063.

108. Gibson GR, Cummings JH, Macfarlane GT. Growth and activities of sulphatereducing bacteria in gut contents of healthy subjects and patients with ulcerative colitis. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 1991;86:103-11.

109. Smith NW, Shorten PR, Altermann EH, Roy NC, McNabb WC. Hydrogen cross-feeders of the human gastrointestinal tract. Gut Microbes. 2018:1-19.

110. Madan JC, Hoen AG, Lundgren SN, Farzan SF, Cottingham KL, Morrison HG, Sogin ML, Li H, Moore JH, Karagas MR. Association of cesarean delivery and formula supplementation with the intestinal microbiome of 6-week-old infants. JAMA Pediatrics. 2016;170:212-9.

111. Goodrich JK, Waters JL, Poole AC, Sutter JL, Koren O, Blekhman R, Beaumont M, Van Treuren W, Knight R, et al. Human genetics shape the gut microbiome. Cell. 2014;159:789-99.

112. Ding T, Schloss PD. Dynamics and associations of microbial community types across the human body. Nature. 2014;509:357-60.

113. Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Dominguez-Bello MG, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Baldassano RN, et al. Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. Nature. 2012;486:222.

114. Leite G, Pimentel M, Barlow GM, Chang C, Hosseini A, Wang J, Parodi G, Sedighi R, Rezaie A, Mathur R. Age and the aging process significantly alter the small bowel microbiome. Cell Rep. 2021;36:109765.

115. Turnbaugh PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, Cantarel BL, Duncan A, Ley RE, Sogin ML, Jones WJ, Roe BA, et al. A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. Nature. 2009;457:480-4.

116. Le Chatelier E, Nielsen T, Qin J, Prifti E, Hildebrand F, Falony G, Almeida M, Arumugam M, Batto J-M, et al. Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. Nature. 2013;500:541.

117. Bartosch S, Fite A, Macfarlane GT, McMurdo MET. Characterization of bacterial communities in feces from healthy elderly volunteers and hospitalized elderly patients by using real-time PCR and effects of antibiotic treatment on the fecal microbiota. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2004;70:3575-81.

118. Clarke SF, Murphy EF, O'Sullivan O, Lucey AJ, Humphreys M, Hogan A, Hayes P, O'Reilly M, Jeffery IB, et al. Exercise and associated dietary extremes impact on gut microbial diversity. Gut. 2014;63:1913-20.

119. Bowyer RCE, Jackson MA, Pallister T, Skinner J, Spector TD, Welch AA, Steves CJ. Use of dietary indices to control for diet in human gut microbiota studies. Microbiome. 2018;6:77-.

120. Mueller S, Saunier K, Hanisch C, Norin E, Alm L, Midtvedt T, Cresci A, Silvi S, Orpianesi C, et al. Differences in fecal microbiota in different European study populations in relation to age, gender, and country: A cross-sectional study. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:1027-33.

121. De Filippis F, Pellegrini N, Vannini L, Jeffery IB, La Storia A, Laghi L, Serrazanetti DI, Di Cagno R, Ferrocino I, et al. High-level adherence to a Mediterranean diet beneficially impacts the gut microbiota and associated metabolome. Gut. 2016;65:1812.

122. Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen YY, Keilbaugh SA, Bewtra M, Knights D, Walters WA, et al. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science. 2011;334:105-8.

123. Losasso C, Eckert EM, Mastrorilli E, Villiger J, Mancin M, Patuzzi I, Di Cesare A, Cibin V, Barrucci F, et al. Assessing the Influence of Vegan, Vegetarian and Omnivore Oriented Westernized Dietary Styles on Human Gut Microbiota: A Cross Sectional Study. Front Microbiol. 2018;9.

124. Kabeerdoss J, Shobana Devi R, Regina Mary R, Ramakrishna BS. Faecal microbiota composition in vegetarians: Comparison with omnivores in a cohort of young women in southern India. Br J Nutr. 2012;108:953-7.

125. Renall N. New pathways to obesity prevention and metabolic health : the relationship between diet and the gut microbiome [Doctoral]: Massey University; 2020.

126. Kong LC, Holmes BA, Cotillard A, Habi-Rachedi F, Brazeilles R, Gougis S, Gausserès N, Cani PD, Fellahi S, et al. Dietary patterns differently associate with inflammation and gut microbiota in overweight and obese subjects. PloS one. 2014;9:e109434.

127. Zhernakova A, Kurilshikov A, Bonder MJ, Tigchelaar EF, Schirmer M, Vatanen T, Mujagic Z, Vila AV, Falony G, et al. Population-based metagenomics analysis reveals markers for gut microbiome composition and diversity. Science. 2016;352:565-9.

128. Menni C, Jackson MA, Pallister T, Steves CJ, Spector TD, Valdes AM. Gut microbiome diversity and high-fibre intake are related to lower long-term weight gain. Int J Obes. 2017;41:1099-105.

129. Lin D, Peters BA, Friedlander C, Freiman HJ, Goedert JJ, Sinha R, Miller G, Bernstein MA, Hayes RB, Ahn J. Association of dietary fibre intake and gut microbiota in adults. Br J Nutr. 2018;120:1014-22.

130. McDonald D, Hyde E, Debelius JW, Morton JT, Gonzalez A, Ackermann G, Aksenov AA, Behsaz B, Brennan C, et al. American Gut: An open platform for citizen science microbiome research. mSystems. 2018;3:e00031-18.

131. Johnson AJ, Vangay P, Al-Ghalith GA, Hillmann BM, Ward TL, Shields-Cutler RR, Kim AD, Shmagel AK, Syed AN, et al. Daily sampling reveals personalized diet-microbiome associations in humans. Cell host & microbe. 2019;25:789-802.e5.

132. Partula V, Mondot S, Torres MJ, Kesse-Guyot E, Deschasaux M, Assmann K, Latino-Martel P, Buscail C, Julia C, et al. Associations between usual diet and gut microbiota composition: results from the Milieu Intérieur cross-sectional study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2019;109:1472-83.

133. Shikany JM, Demmer RT, Johnson AJ, Fino NF, Meyer K, Ensrud KE, Lane NE, Orwoll ES, Kado DM, et al. Association of dietary patterns with the gut microbiota in older, community-dwelling men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2019;110:1003-14.

134. Tang Z-Z, Chen G, Hong Q, Huang S, Smith HM, Shah RD, Scholz M, Ferguson JF. Multi-omic analysis of the microbiome and metabolome in healthy subjects reveals microbiome-dependent relationships between diet and metabolites. Front Genet. 2019;10:454.

135. van den Bogert B, Boekhorst J, Smid EJ, Zoetendal EG, Kleerebezem M. Draft genome sequence of *Enterococcus* sp. strain HSIEG1, isolated from the human small intestine. Genome Announc. 2013;1:e01013-13.

136. Gerritsen J, Umanets A, Staneva I, Hornung B, Ritari J, Paulin L, Rijkers GT, de Vos WM, Smidt H. *Romboutsia hominis* sp. nov., the first human gut-derived representative of the genus *Romboutsia*, isolated from ileostoma effluent. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology. 2018;68:3479-86.

137. van den Bogert B, Boekhorst J, Smid EJ, Zoetendal EG, Kleerebezem M. Draft genome sequence of *Veillonella parvula* HSIVP1, isolated from the human small intestine. Genome Announc. 2013;1:e00977-13.

138. Sundin OH, Mendoza-Ladd A, Zeng M, Diaz-Arevalo D, Morales E, Fagan BM, Ordonez J, Velez P, Antony N, McCallum RW. The human jejunum has an endogenous microbiota that differs from those in the oral cavity and colon. BMC Microbiol. 2017;17:160.

139. Zmora N, Zilberman-Schapira G, Suez J, Mor U, Dori-Bachash M, Bashiardes S, Kotler E, Zur M, Regev-Lehavi D, et al. Personalized gut mucosal colonization resistance to empiric probiotics is associated with unique host and microbiome features. Cell. 2018;174:1388-405.e21.

140. Schweizer TF, Andersson H, Langkilde AM, Reimann S, Torsdottir I. Nutrients excreted in ileostomy effluents after consumption of mixed diets with beans or potatoes. II. Starch, dietary fibre and sugars. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1990;44:567-75.

141. Lien KA, McBurney MI, Beyde BI, Thomson AB, Sauer WC. Ileal recovery of nutrients and mucin in humans fed total enteral formulas supplemented with soy fiber. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996;63:584-95.

142. Ellegård L, Andersson H, Bosaeus I. Inulin and oligofructose do not influence the absorption of cholesterol, or the excretion of cholesterol, Ca, Mg, Zn, Fe, or bile acids but increases energy excretion in ileostomy subjects. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1997;51:1-5.

143. Åman P, Zhang J-X, Hallmans G, Lundin E. Excretion and degradation of dietary fiber constituents in ileostomy subjects consuming a low fiber diet with and without brewer's spent grain. J Nutr. 1994;124:359-63.

144. Montoya CA, Rutherfurd SM, Moughan PJ. Nondietary gut materials interfere with the determination of dietary fiber digestibility in growing pigs when using the Prosky method. J Nutr. 2015;145:1966-72.

145. Holloway WD, Tasman-Jones C, Maher K. Pectin digestion in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 1983;37:253-5.

146. Knaup B, Kempf M, Fuchs J, Valotis A, Kahle K, Oehme A, Richling E, Schreier P. Model experiments mimicking the human intestinal transit and metabolism of D-galacturonic acid and amidated pectin. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2008;52:840-8.

147. Lia Å, Sundberg B, Åman P, Sandberg AS, Hallmans G, Andersson H. Substrates available for colonic fermentation from oat, barley and wheat bread diets. A study in ileostomy subjects. Br J Nutr. 1996;76:797-808.

148. Sundberg B, Wood P, Lia A, Andersson H, Sandberg AS, Hallmans G, Aman P. Mixed-linked beta-glucan from breads of different cereals is partly degraded in the human ileostomy model. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996;64:878-85.

149. Holloway WD, Tasman-Jones C, Lee SP. Digestion of certain fractions of dietary fiber in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 1978;31:927-30.

150. Sandberg AS, Andersson H, Hallgren B, Hasselblad K, Isaksson B, Hulten L. Experimental model for *in vivo* determination of dietary fibre and its effect on the absorption of nutrients in the small intestine. Br J Nutr. 1981;45:283-94.

151. Oyama T, Fukuda S, Shimoyama T, Takahashi I, Umeda T, Danjo K, Saito D, Chinda D, Sakamoto J, Nakaji S. The oro-ileal transit of cellulose. Journal of food science. 2008;73:H229-H34.

152. Rowan AM. A study of the digestion of protein in humans using ileal and faecal assays: Massey University; 1989.

153. Molis C, Flourié B, Ouarne F, Gailing MF, Lartigue S, Guibert A, Bornet F, Galmiche JP. Digestion, excretion, and energy value of fructooligosaccharides in healthy humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996;64:324-8.

154. Bach Knudsen KE, Hessov I. Recovery of inulin from Jerusalem artichoke (*Helianthus tuberosus* L.) in the small intestine of man. Br J Nutr. 1995;74:101-13.

155. Sandberg AS, Ahderinne R, Andersson H, Hallgren B, Hultén L. The effect of citrus pectin on the absorption of nutrients in the small intestine. Hum Nutr Clin Nutr. 1983;37:171-83.

156. Saito D, Nakaji S, Fukuda S, Shimoyama T, Sakamoto J, Sugawara K. Comparison of the amount of pectin in the human terminal ileum with the amount of orally administered pectin. Nutrition. 2005;21:914-9.

157. Englyst HN, Cummings JH. Digestion of the carbohydrates of banana (*Musa paradisiaca sapientum*) in the human small intestine. Am J Clin Nutr. 1986;44:42-50.

158. Sandström B, Andersson H, Kivistö B, Sandberg A-S. Apparent small intestinal absorption of nitrogen and minerals from soy and meat-protein-based diets. A study on human ileostomy subjects. J Nutr. 1986;116:2209-18.

159. Kim SK. Small intestine transit time in the normal small bowel study. Am J Roentgenol. 1968;104:522-4.

160. Friedman ES, Li Y, Shen T-CD, Jiang J, Chau L, Adorini L, Babakhani F, Edwards J, Shapiro D, et al. FXR-dependent modulation of the human small intestinal microbiome by the bile acid derivative obeticholic acid. Gastroenterology. 2018;155:1741-52.e5.

161. Vaishnava S, Behrendt CL, Ismail AS, Eckmann L, Hooper LV. Paneth cells directly sense gut commensals and maintain homeostasis at the intestinal host-microbial interface. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:20858.

162. Leite GGS, Weitsman S, Parodi G, Celly S, Sedighi R, Sanchez M, Morales W, Villanueva-Millan MJ, Barlow GM, et al. Mapping the segmental microbiomes in the human small bowel in comparison with stool: A REIMAGINE study. Digestive diseases and sciences. 2020:2595–604.

163. Drasar BS, Shiner M, McLeod GM. Studies on the intestinal flora: I. The bacterial flora of the gastrointestinal tract in healthy and achlorhydric persons. Gastroenterology. 1969;56:71-9.

164. Berghouse L, Hori S, Hill M, Hudson M, Lennard-Jones JE, Rogers E. Comparison between the bacterial and oligosaccharide content of ileostomy effluent in subjects taking diets rich in refined or unrefined carbohydrate. Gut. 1984;25:1071.

165. Ahmed S, Macfarlane GT, Fite A, McBain AJ, Gilbert P, Macfarlane S. Mucosaassociated bacterial diversity in relation to human terminal ileum and colonic biopsy samples. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007;73:7435-42.

166. Baumgart M, Dogan B, Rishniw M, Weitzman G, Bosworth B, Yantiss R, Orsi RH, Wiedmann M, McDonough P, et al. Culture independent analysis of ileal mucosa reveals a selective increase in invasive *Escherichia coli* of novel phylogeny relative to depletion of Clostridiales in Crohn's disease involving the ileum. ISME J. 2007;1:403-518.

167. Willing BP, Dicksved J, Halfvarson J, Andersson AF, Lucio M, Zheng Z, Järnerot G, Tysk C, Jansson JK, Engstrand L. A pyrosequencing study in twins shows that

gastrointestinal microbial profiles vary with inflammatory bowel disease phenotypes. Gastroenterology. 2010;139:1844-54.

168. Wacklin P, Kaukinen K, Tuovinen E, Collin P, Lindfors K, Partanen J, Mäki M, Mättö J. The duodenal microbiota composition of adult celiac disease patients is associated with the clinical manifestation of the disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2013;19:934-41.

169. Dlugosz A, Winckler B, Lundin E, Zakikhany K, Sandstrom G, Ye W, Engstrand L, Lindberg G. No difference in small bowel microbiota between patients with irritable bowel syndrome and healthy controls. Sci Rep. 2015;5:8508.

170. Bashir M, Prietl B, Tauschmann M, Mautner SI, Kump PK, Treiber G, Wurm P, Gorkiewicz G, Högenauer C, Pieber TR. Effects of high doses of vitamin D3 on mucosaassociated gut microbiome vary between regions of the human gastrointestinal tract. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2016;55:1479-89.

171. Vuik F, Dicksved J, Lam SY, Fuhler GM, van der Laan L, van de Winkel A, Konstantinov SR, Spaander M, Peppelenbosch MP, et al. Composition of the mucosaassociated microbiota along the entire gastrointestinal tract of human individuals. United European Gastroenterol J. 2019;7:897-907.

172. Ruigrok RAAA, Collij V, Sureda P, Klaassen MAY, Bolte LA, Jansen BH, Voskuil MD, Fu J, Wijmenga C, et al. The composition and metabolic potential of the human small intestinal microbiota within the context of inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2021;15:1326-38.

173. Van Den Bogert B, Boekhorst J, Herrmann R, Smid EJ, Zoetendal EG, Kleerebezem M. Comparative genomics analysis of *Streptococcus* isolates from the human small intestine reveals their adaptation to a highly dynamic ecosystem. PloS one. 2013;8:e83418.

174. Heinken A, Ravcheev DA, Baldini F, Heirendt L, Fleming RMT, Thiele I. Systematic assessment of secondary bile acid metabolism in gut microbes reveals distinct metabolic capabilities in inflammatory bowel disease. Microbiome. 2019;7:75.

175. Biagi E, Candela M, Fairweather-Tait S, Franceschi C, Brigidi P. Aging of the human metaorganism: the microbial counterpart. Age. 2012;34:247-667.

176. Darfeuille-Michaud A, Neut C, Barnich N, Lederman E, Di Martino P, Desreumaux P, Gambiez L, Joly B, Cortot A, Colombel J-F. Presence of adherent *Escherichia coli* strains in ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 1998;115:1405-13.

177. Mailhe M, Ricaboni D, Vitton V, Gonzalez JM, Bachar D, Dubourg G, Cadoret F, Robert C, Delerce J, et al. Repertoire of the gut microbiota from stomach to colon using culturomics and next-generation sequencing. BMC Microbiol. 2018;18:157

178. Seekatz AM, Schnizlein MK, Koenigsknecht MJ, Baker JR, Hasler WL, Bleske BE, Young VB, Sun D. Spatial and temporal analysis of the stomach and small-intestinal microbiota in fasted healthy humans. mSphere. 2019;4:e00126-19.

179. Maeda T, Zai H, Fukui Y, Kato Y, Kumade E, Watanabe T, Furusyo N, Nakajima H, Arai K, et al. Impact of Helicobacter pylori infection on fluid duodenal microbial community structure and microbial metabolic pathways. BMC Microbiol. 2022;22.

180. Zheng YF, Liang SP, Zhong ZS, Zhang W, Wu YY, Liu JB, Huang SP. Duodenal microbiota makes an important impact in functional dyspepsia. Microb Pathog. 2022;162.

181. Shin AS, Gao X, Bohm M, Lin H, Gupta A, Nelson DE, Toh E, Teagarden S, Siwiec R, et al. Characterization of proximal small intestinal microbiota in patients with suspected small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: A cross-sectional study. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2019;10:e00073.

182. Leimena MM, Ramiro-Garcia J, Davids M, van den Bogert B, Smidt H, Smid EJ, Boekhorst J, Zoetendal EG, Schaap PJ, Kleerebezem M. A comprehensive metatranscriptome analysis pipeline and its validation using human small intestine microbiota datasets. BMC Genom. 2013;14:530.

183. van den Bogert B, Erkus O, Boekhorst J, de Goffau M, Smid EJ, Zoetendal EG, Kleerebezem M. Diversity of human small intestinal *Streptococcus* and *Veillonella* populations. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2013;85:376-88.

184. Nana G, Mitra S, Watson H, Young C, Wood HM, Perry SL, Race AD, Quirke P, Toogood GJ, et al. Luminal bioavailability of orally administered ω -3 pufas in the distal small intestine, and associated changes to the ileal microbiome, in humans with a temporary ileostomy. J Nutr. 2021;151:2142-52.

185. Mortensen PB, Hegnhøj J, Rannem T, Rasmussen HS, Holtug K. Short-chain fatty acids in bowel contents after intestinal surgery. Gastroenterology. 1989;97:1090-6.

186. Salter DN, Fulford RJ. The influence of the gut microflora on the digestion of dietary and endogenous proteins: studies of the amino acid composition of the excreta of germ-free and conventional chicks. Br J Nutr. 1974;32:625-37.

187. Fuller MF, Milne A, Harris CI, Reid TM, Keenan R. Amino acid losses in ileostomy fluid on a protein-free diet. Am J Clin Nutr. 1994;59:70-3.

188. Pettersson D, Åman P, Bach Knudsen KE, Lundin E, Zhang JX, Hallmans G, Härkönen H, Adlercreutz H. Intake of rye bread by ileostomists increases ileal excretion of fiber polysaccharide components and organic acids but does not increase plasma or urine lignans and isoflavonoids. J Nutr. 1996;126:1594-600.

189. Martinez-Guryn K, Hubert N, Frazier K, Urlass S, Musch MW, Ojeda P, Pierre JF, Miyoshi J, Sontag TJ, et al. Small intestine microbiota regulate host digestive and absorptive adaptive responses to dietary lipids. Cell host & microbe. 2018;23:458-69.e5.

190. Alexander RM. The relative merits of foregut and hindgut fermentation. J Zool. 1993;231:391-401.

191. Schantz M, Erk T, Richling E. Metabolism of green tea catechins by the human small intestine. Biotechnol J. 2010;5:1050-9.

192. Caminero A, Galipeau HJ, McCarville JL, Johnston CW, Bernier SP, Russell AK, Jury J, Herran AR, Casqueiro J, et al. Duodenal bacteria from patients with celiac disease and healthy subjects distinctly affect gluten breakdown and immunogenicity. Gastroenterology. 2016;151:670-83.

193. Herrán AR, Pérez-Andrés J, Caminero A, Nistal E, Vivas S, Ruiz de Morales JM, Casqueiro J. Gluten-degrading bacteria are present in the human small intestine of healthy volunteers and celiac patients. Res Microbiol. 2017;168:673-84.

194. Caminero A, Herrán AR, Nistal E, Pérez-Andrés J, Vaquero L, Vivas S, Ruiz de Morales JMG, Albillos SM, Casqueiro J. Diversity of the cultivable human gut microbiome involved in gluten metabolism: Isolation of microorganisms with potential interest for coeliac disease. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2014;88:309-19.

195. Albert MJ, Mathan VI, Baker SJ. Vitamin B12 synthesis by human small intestinal bacteria. Nature. 1980;283:781-2.

196. Ermund A, Schütte A, Johansson MEV, Gustafsson JK, Hansson GC. Studies of mucus in mouse stomach, small intestine, and colon. I. Gastrointestinal mucus layers have different properties depending on location as well as over the Peyer's patches. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology. 2013;305:G341-G7.

197. van Baarlen P, Troost F, van der Meer C, Hooiveld G, Boekschoten M, Brummer RJM, Kleerebezem M. Human mucosal *in vivo* transcriptome responses to three *Lactobacilli* indicate how probiotics may modulate human cellular pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:4562.

198. Hooper LV, Wong MH, Thelin A, Hansson L, Falk PG, Gordon JI. Molecular analysis of commensal host-microbial relationships in the intestine. Science. 2001;291:881-4.

199. Menendez A, Willing BP, Montero M, Wlodarska M, So CC, Bhinder G, Vallance BA, Finlay BB. Bacterial stimulation of the TLR-MyD88 pathway modulates the homeostatic expression of ileal paneth cell α -defensins. J Innate Immun. 2013;5:39-49.

200. Jonsson H. Segmented filamentous bacteria in human ileostomy samples after high-fiber intake. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2013;342:24-9.

201. Gaboriau-Routhiau V, Rakotobe S, Lécuyer E, Mulder I, Lan A, Bridonneau C, Rochet V, Pisi A, De Paepe M, et al. The key role of segmented filamentous bacteria in the coordinated maturation of gut helper T cell responses. Immunity. 2009;31:677-89.

202. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Ando M, Kamada N, Nagano Y, Narushima S, Suda W, Imaoka A, Setoyama H, et al. Th17 cell induction by adhesion of microbes to intestinal epithelial cells. Cell. 2015;163:367-80.

203. Scheppach W, Pomare EW, Elia M, Cummings JH. The contribution of the large intestine to blood acetate in man. Clin Sci. 1991;80:177-82.

204. Cani PD, Lecourt E, Dewulf EM, Sohet FM, Pachikian BD, Naslain D, De Backer F, Neyrinck AM, Delzenne NM. Gut microbiota fermentation of prebiotics increases satietogenic and incretin gut peptide production with consequences for appetite sensation and glucose response after a meal. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;90:1236-43.

205. Zadeh-Tahmasebi M, Duca FA, Rasmussen BA, Bauer PV, Côté CD, Filippi BM, Lam TKT. Activation of short and long chain fatty acid sensing machinery in the ileum lowers glucose production *in vivo*. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2016;291:8816-24.

206. Kamath PS, Phillips SF, Zinsmeister AR. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate ileal motility in humans. Gastroenterology. 1988;95:1496-502.

207. Coffin B, Lemann M, Flourie B, Jouet P, Rambaud JC, Jian R. Local regulation of ileal tone in healthy humans. Am J Physiol. 1997;272:G147-G53.

208. Joly F, Mayeur C, Bruneau A, Noordine ML, Meylheuc T, Langella P, Messing B, Duée PH, Cherbuy C, Thomas M. Drastic changes in fecal and mucosa-associated microbiota in adult patients with short bowel syndrome. Biochimie. 2010;92:753-61.

209. Boccia S, Torre I, Santarpia L, Iervolino C, Del Piano C, Puggina A, Pastorino R, Dragic M, Amore R, et al. Intestinal microbiota in adult patients with short bowel syndrome: Preliminary results from a pilot study. Clin Nutr. 2017;36:1707-9.

210. de Jonge C, Fuentes S, Zoetendal EG, Bouvy ND, Nelissen R, Buurman WA, Greve JW, de Vos WM, Rensen SS. Metabolic improvement in obese patients after duodenal– jejunal exclusion is associated with intestinal microbiota composition changes. Int J Obes. 2019;43:2509-17.

211. Hamilton I, Worsley BW, Cobden I, Cooke EM, Shoesmith JG, Axon AT. Simultaneous culture of saliva and jejunal aspirate in the investigation of small bowel bacterial overgrowth. Gut. 1982;23:847-53.

212. Pimentel M, Saad RJ, Long MD, Rao SSC. ACG clinical guideline: Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020;115:165-78.

213. Nucera G, Gabrielli M, Lupascu A, Lauritano EC, Santoliquido A, Cremonini F, Cammarota G, Tondi P, Pola P, et al. Abnormal breath tests to lactose, fructose and sorbitol in irritable bowel syndrome may be explained by small intestinal bacterial overgrowth. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2005;21:1391-5.

214. Barlow JT, Leite G, Romano AE, Sedighi R, Chang C, Celly S, Rezaie A, Mathur R, Pimentel M, Ismagilov RF. Quantitative sequencing clarifies the role of disruptor taxa, oral microbiota, and strict anaerobes in the human small-intestine microbiome. Microbiome. 2021;9:214.

215. Leite G, Morales W, Weitsman S, Celly S, Parodi G, Mathur R, Barlow GM, Sedighi R, Millan MJV, et al. The duodenal microbiome is altered in small intestinal bacterial overgrowth. PloS one. 2020;15:e0234906-e.

216. Saffouri GB, Shields-Cutler RR, Chen J, Yang Y, Lekatz HR, Hale VL, Cho JM, Battaglioli EJ, Bhattarai Y, et al. Small intestinal microbial dysbiosis underlies symptoms associated with functional gastrointestinal disorders. Nat Commun. 2019;10:2012.

217. Tziatzios G, Gkolfakis P, Papanikolaou IS, Mathur R, Pimentel M, Damoraki G, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Dimitriadis G, Triantafyllou K. High prevalence of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth among functional dyspepsia patients. Dig Dis. 2021;39:382-90.

218. Shah A, Morrison M, Burger D, Martin N, Rich J, Jones M, Koloski N, Walker MM, Talley NJ, Holtmann GJ. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the prevalence of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in inflammatory bowel disease. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2019;49:624-35.

219. Kowalski K, Mulak A. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm. 2022;129:75-83.

220. Villmones HC, Haug ES, Ulvestad E, Grude N, Stenstad T, Halland A, Kommedal O. Species level description of the human ileal bacterial microbiota. Sci Rep. 2018;8:4736.

221. Jalanka J, Salonen A, Salojärvi J, Ritari J, Immonen O, Marciani L, Gowland P, Hoad C, Garsed K, et al. Effects of bowel cleansing on the intestinal microbiota. Gut. 2015;64:1562.

222. van Trijp MPH, Wilms E, Ríos-Morales M, Masclee AA, Brummer RJ, Witteman BJ, Troost FJ, Hooiveld GJ. Using naso- and oro-intestinal catheters in physiological research for intestinal delivery and sampling *in vivo*: practical and technical aspects to be considered. Am J Clin Nutr. 2021;114:843-61.

223. Gorbach SL, Nahas L, Weinstein L, Levitan R, Patterson JF. Studies of intestinal microflora: IV. The microflora of ileostomy effluent: a unique microbial ecology. Gastroenterology. 1967;53:874-80.

224. Fallingborg J, Pedersen P, Jacobsen BA. Small intestinal transit time and intraluminal pH in ileocecal resected patients with Crohn's disease. Digestive diseases and sciences. 1998;43:702-5.

225. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Berean KJ, Ha N, Chrimes AF, Xu K, Grando D, Ou JZ, Pillai N, Campbell JL, et al. A human pilot trial of ingestible electronic capsules capable of sensing different gases in the gut. Nat Electron. 2018;1:79-87.

226. Berean KJ, Ha N, Ou JZ, Chrimes AF, Grando D, Yao CK, Muir JG, Ward SA, Burgell RE, et al. The safety and sensitivity of a telemetric capsule to monitor gastrointestinal hydrogen production *in vivo* in healthy subjects: a pilot trial comparison to concurrent breath analysis. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2018;48:646-54.

227. Read A, Gough K, Bones J, McCarthy C. An improvement to the Crosby peroral intestinal biopsy capsule. Lancet. 1962;279:894-5.

228. Shiner M. A capsule for obtaining sterile samples of gastrointestinal fluids. Lancet. 1963;281:532-3.

229. Kyoung-chul K, Jinhoon C, Doyoung J, Dong-il Dan C. A rotational micro biopsy device for the capsule endoscope. 2005 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems; 2005 2-6 Aug. 2005; 2005. p. 1839-43.

230. Simi M, Gerboni G, Menciassi A, Valdastri P. Magnetic mechanism for wireless capsule biopsy. J Med Devices. 2012;6:017611.

231. Cuervo A, Salazar N, Ruas-Madiedo P, Gueimonde M, González S. Fiber from a regular diet is directly associated with fecal short-chain fatty acid concentrations in the elderly. Nutr Res. 2013;33:811-6.

232. Rezaei Nejad H, Oliveira BCM, Sadeqi A, Dehkharghani A, Kondova I, Langermans JAM, Guasto JS, Tzipori S, Widmer G, Sonkusale SR. Ingestible osmotic pill for *in vivo* sampling of gut microbiomes. Adv Intell Syst. 2019;1:1900053.

233. Rehan M, Al-Bahadly I, Thomas DG, Avci E. Capsule robot for gut microbiota sampling using shape memory alloy spring. Int J Med Robot. 2020;16:e2140.

234. Rehan M, Al-Bahadly I, Thomas DG, Avci E. Towards gut microbiota sampling using an untethered sampling device. IEEE Access. 2021;9:127175-84.

235. Swanson KS, Dowd SE, Suchodolski JS, Middelbos IS, Vester BM, Barry KA, Nelson KE, Torralba M, Henrissat B, et al. Phylogenetic and gene-centric metagenomics of the canine intestinal microbiome reveals similarities with humans and mice. ISME J. 2011;5:639-49.

236. Hendriks WH, van Baal J, Bosch G. Ileal and faecal protein digestibility measurement in humans and other non-ruminants - a comparative species view. Br J Nutr. 2012;108 Suppl 2:S247-S57.

237. Brooks SP, McAllister M, Sandoz M, Kalmokoff ML. Culture-independent phylogenetic analysis of the faecal flora of the rat. Can J Microbiol. 2003;49:589-601.

238. Lay C, Rigottier-Gois L, Holmstrøm K, Rajilic M, Vaughan EE, de Vos WM, Collins MD, Thiel R, Namsolleck P, et al. Colonic microbiota signatures across five northern European countries. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71:4153-5.

239. Dalby AB, Frank DN, Amand ALS, Bendele AM, Pace NR. Culture-independent analysis of indomethacin-induced alterations in the rat gastrointestinal microbiota. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:6707-15.

240. Delroisse J-M, Boulvin A-L, Parmentier I, Dauphin RD, Vandenbol M, Portetelle D. Quantification of *Bifidobacterium* spp. and *Lactobacillus* spp. in rat fecal samples by real-time PCR. Microbiol Res. 2008;163:663-70.

241. Kien CL, Ailabouni AH, Murray RD, Powers PA, McClead RE, Kepner J. Techincal note: Pig model for studying nutrient assimilation by the intestine and colon. J Anim Sci. 1997;75:2161-4.

242. Labib S, Erb A, Kraus M, Wickert T, Richling E. The pig caecum model: A suitable tool to study the intestinal metabolism of flavonoids. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2004;48:326-32.

243. Deglaire A, Moughan PJ. Animal models for determining amino acid digestibility in humans - a review. Br J Nutr. 2012;108 Suppl 2:S273-S81.

244. Graham H, Åman P. The pig as a model in dietary fibre digestion studies. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1987;22:55-61.

245. Oli MW, Petschow BW, Buddington RK. Evaluation of fructooligosaccharide supplementation of oral electrolyte solutions for treatment of diarrhea: Recovery of the intestinal bacteria. Digestive diseases and sciences. 1998;43:138-47.

246. Andersen AD, Mølbak L, Thymann T, Michaelsen KF, Lauritzen L. Dietary long-chain n-3 PUFA, gut microbiota and fat mass in early postnatal piglet development–exploring a potential interplay. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2011;85:345-551.

247. Leser TD, Amenuvor JZ, Jensen TK, Lindecrona RH, Boye M, Møller K. Cultureindependent analysis of gut bacteria: the pig gastrointestinal tract microbiota revisited. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2002;68:673-90.

248. Lammerts van Bueren A, Ficko-Blean E, Pluvinage B, Hehemann JH, Higgins MA, Deng L, Ogunniyi AD, Stroeher UH, El Warry N, et al. The conformation and function of a multimodular glycogen-degrading pneumococcal virulence factor. Structure. 2011;19:640-51.

249. Kim HB, Borewicz K, White BA, Singer RS, Sreevatsan S, Tu ZJ, Isaacson RE. Longitudinal investigation of the age-related bacterial diversity in the feces of commercial pigs. Veterinary microbiology. 2011;153:124-33.

250. Simpson PJ, Stanton C, Fitzgerald GF, Ross RP. Genomic diversity and relatedness of bifidobacteria isolated from a porcine cecum. J Bacteriol. 2003;185:2571-81.

251. Muegge BD, Kuczynski J, Knights D, Clemente JC, Gonzalez A, Fontana L, Henrissat B, Knight R, Gordon JI. Diet drives convergence in gut microbiome functions across mammalian phylogeny and within humans. Science. 2011;332:970-4.

252. Montagne L, Arturo-Schaan M, Le Floc'h N, Guerra L, Le Gall M. Effect of sanitary conditions and dietary fibre on the adaptation of gut microbiota after weaning. Livest Sci. 2010;133:113-6.

253. Raibaud P, Ducluzeau R, Dubos F, Hudault S, Bewa H, Muller MC. Implantation of bacteria from the digestive tract of man and various animals into gnotobiotic mice. Am J Clin Nutr. 1980;33:2440-7.

254. Hirayama K, Kawamura S, Mitsuoka T. Development and stability of human faecal flora in the intestine of ex-germ-free mice. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 1991;4:95-9.

255. Pang X, Hua Xn, Yang Q, Ding D, Che C, Cui L, Jia W, Bucheli P, Zhao L. Interspecies transplantation of gut microbiota from human to pigs. ISME j. 2007;1:156-62.

256. Che C, Pang X, Hua X, Zhang B, Shen J, Zhu J, Wei H, Sun L, Chen P, et al. Effects of human fecal flora on intestinal morphology and mucosal immunity in human flora-associated piglet. Scand J Immunol. 2009;69:223-33.

257. Turnbaugh PJ, Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Knight R, Gordon JI. The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice. Sci Transl Med. 2009;1:6ra14.

258. Aluthge ND, Tom WA, Bartenslager AC, Burkey TE, Miller PS, Heath KD, Kreikemeier-Bower C, Kittana H, Schmaltz RJ, et al. Differential longitudinal establishment of human fecal bacterial communities in germ-free porcine and murine models. Commun Biol. 2020;3:760.

259. Wei H, Shen J, Pang X, Ding D, Zhang Y, Zhang B, Lu H, Wang T, Zhang C, et al. Fatal infection in human flora-associated piglets caused by the opportunistic pathogen *Klebsiella pneumoniae* from an apparently healthy human donor. J Vet Med Sci. 2008;70:715-7.

260. Barry JL, Hoebler C, Macfarlane GT, Macfarlane S, Mathers JC, Reed KA, Mortensen PB, Nordgaard I, Rowland IR, Rumney CJ. Estimation of the fermentability of dietary fibre *in vitro*: a European interlaboratory study. Br J Nutr. 1995;74:303-22.

261. Hernot DC, Boileau TW, Bauer LL, Middelbos IS, Murphy MR, Swanson KS, Fahey Jr GC. *In vitro* fermentation profiles, gas production rates, and microbiota modulation as affected by certain fructans, galactooligosaccharides, and polydextrose. J Agric Food Chem. 2009;57:1354-61.

262. Theodorou MK, Williams BA, Dhanoa MS, McAllan AB, France J. A simple gas production method using a pressure transducer to determine the fermentation kinetics of ruminant feeds. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 1994;48:185-97.

263. Brodkorb A, Egger L, Alminger M, Alvito P, Assunção R, Ballance S, Bohn T, Bourlieu-Lacanal C, Boutrou R, et al. INFOGEST static *in vitro* simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion. Nat Protoc. 2019;14:991-1014.

264. Bednar GE, Patil AR, Murray SM, Grieshop CM, Merchen NR, Fahey GC. Starch and fiber fractions in selected food and feed ingredients affect their small intestinal digestibility and fermentability and their large bowel fermentability *in vitro* in a canine model. J Nutr. 2001;131:276-86.

265. Murray SM, Flickinger EA, Patil AR, Merchen NR, Brent JL, Jr., Fahey GC, Jr. *In vitro* fermentation characteristics of native and processed cereal grains and potato starch using ileal chyme from dogs. J Anim Sci. 2001;79:435-54.

266. Wang D, Williams BA, Ferruzzi MG, D'Arcy BR. Different concentrations of grape seed extract affect in vitro starch fermentation by porcine small and large intestinal inocula. J Agric Food Chem. 2013;93:276-83.

267. Montoya CA, Blatchford P, Moughan PJ. *In vitro* ileal and caecal fermentation of fibre substrates in the growing pig given a human-type diet. Br J Nutr. 2021;125:998-1006.

268. Akritidou T, Smet C, Akkermans S, Tonti M, Williams J, Van de Wiele T, Van Impe JFM. A protocol for the cultivation and monitoring of ileal gut microbiota surrogates. J Appl Microbiol. 2022.

269. Gibson GR, Cummings JH, Macfarlane GT. Use of a three-stage continuous culture system to study the effect of mucin on dissimilatory sulfate reduction and methanogenesis by mixed populations of human gut bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1988;54:2750-5.

270. Macfarlane GT, Cummings JH, Macfarlane S, Gibson GR. Influence of retention time on degradation of pancreatic enzymes by human colonic bacteria grown in a 3-stage continuous culture system. J Appl Bacteriol. 1989;67:520-7.

271. Minekus M, Smeets-Peeters M, Bernalier A, Marol-Bonnin S, Havenaar R, Marteau P, Alric M, Fonty G, Huis in't Veld JH. A computer-controlled system to simulate conditions of the large intestine with peristaltic mixing, water absorption and absorption of fermentation products. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 1999;53:108-14.

272. Makivuokko H, Nurmi J, Nurminen P, Stowell J, Rautonen N. *In vitro* effects on polydextrose by colonic bacteria and Caco-2 cell cyclooxygenase gene expression. Nutr Cancer. 2005;52:94-104.

273. Molly K, Vande Woestyne M, Verstraete W. Development of a 5-step multi-chamber reactor as a simulation of the human intestinal microbial ecosystem. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 1993;39:254-8.

274. Barroso E, Cueva C, Pelá ez C, Martínez-Cuesta MC, Requena T. The computercontrolled multicompartmental dynamic model of the gastrointestinal system SIMGI. The Impact of Food Bioactives on Health: In Vitro and Ex Vivo Models; 2015. p. 319-27.

275. Molly K, Woestyne MV, Smet ID, Verstraete W. Validation of the Simulator of the Human Intestinal Microbial Ecosystem (SHIME) reactor using microorganism-associated activities. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 1994;7:191-200.

276. Cieplak T, Wiese M, Nielsen S, Van De Wiele T, Van Den Berg F, Nielsen DS. The Smallest Intestine (TSI) - A low volume in vitro model of the small intestine with increased throughput. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2018;365:fny231.

277. Stolaki M, Minekus M, Venema K, Lahti L, Smid EJ, Kleerebezem M, Zoetendal EG. Microbial communities in a dynamic *in vitro* model for the human ileum resemble the human ileal microbiota. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2019;95:fiz096.

278. Dufourny S, Everaert N, Lebrun S, Didelez M, Wavreille J, Froidmont E, Rondia P, Delcenserie V. Oxygen as a key parameter in *in vitro* dynamic and multi-compartment models to improve microbiome studies of the small intestine? Food Res Int. 2020;133:109127.

279. Macfarlane S, Woodmansey EJ, Macfarlane GT. Colonization of mucin by human intestinal bacteria and establishment of biofilm communities in a two-stage continuous culture system. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71:7483-92.

280. Van Den Abbeele P, Belzer C, Goossens M, Kleerebezem M, De Vos WM, Thas O, De Weirdt R, Kerckhof FM, Van De Wiele T. Butyrate-producing *Clostridium* cluster XIVa species specifically colonize mucins in an in vitro gut model. ISME J. 2013;7:949-61.

281. Payne AN, Chassard C, Banz Y, Lacroix C. The composition and metabolic activity of child gut microbiota demonstrate differential adaptation to varied nutrient loads in an in vitro model of colonic fermentation. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2012;80:608-23.

282. Marzorati M, Vanhoecke B, De Ryck T, Sadaghian Sadabad M, Pinheiro I, Possemiers S, Van Den Abbeele P, Derycke L, Bracke M, et al. The HMI[™] module: A new tool to study the Host-Microbiota Interaction in the human gastrointestinal tract *in vitro*. BMC Microbiol. 2014;14:133

283. Hoebler C, Guillon F, Fardet A, Cherbut C, Barry JL. Gastrointestinal or simulated *in vitro* digestion changes dietary fibre properties and their fermentation. J Sci Food Agric. 1998;77:327-33.

284. Coles LT, Moughan PJ, Awati A, Darragh AJ. Optimisation of inoculum concentration and incubation duration for an *in vitro* hindgut dry matter digestibility assay. Food Chem. 2013;136:624-31.

285. Coles LT, Moughan PJ, Awati A, Darragh AJ. Validation of a dual *in vivo-in vitro* assay for predicting the digestibility of nutrients in humans. J Sci Food Agric. 2013;93:2637-45.

286. Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, de Haas ES, Blatchford P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Ileal and hindgut fermentation in the growing pig fed a human-type diet. Br J Nutr. 2020:1-27.

287. Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ, Henare SJ, Schulze P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Type of dietary fiber is associated with changes in ileal and hindgut microbial communities in growing pigs and influences *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation. J Nutr. 2021;151:2976-85.

288. Koh A, De Vadder F, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Bäckhed F. From dietary fiber to host physiology: short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. Cell. 2016;165:1332-45.

289. Metzler BU, Vahjen W, Baumgärtel T, Rodehutscord M, Mosenthin R. Changes in bacterial populations in the ileum of pigs fed low-phosphorus diets supplemented with different sources of fermentable carbohydrates. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 2009;148:68-89.

290. Metzler-Zebeli BU, Mann E, Schmitz-Esser S, Wagner M, Ritzmann M, Zebeli Q. Changing dietary calcium-phosphorus level and cereal source selectively alters abundance of bacteria and metabolites in the upper gastrointestinal tracts of weaned pigs. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013;79:7264-72.

291. Christensen DN, Bach Knudsen KE, Wolstrup J, Jensen BB. Integration of ileum cannulated pigs and *in vitro* fermentation to quantify the effect of diet composition on the amount of short-chain fatty acids available from fermentation in the large intestine. J Sci Food Agric. 1999;79:755.

292. Montoya CA, Rutherfurd SM, Moughan PJ. Kiwifruit fibre level influences the predicted production and absorption of SCFA in the hindgut of growing pigs using a combined *in vivo-in vitro* digestion methodology. Br J Nutr. 2016;115:1317-24.

293. Heinritz SN, Mosenthin R, Weiss E. Use of pigs as a potential model for research into dietary modulation of the human gut microbiota. Nutrition research reviews. 2013;26:191-209.

294. Heimesaat MM, Boelke S, Fischer A, Haag L-M, Loddenkemper C, Kühl AA, Göbel UB, Bereswill S. Comprehensive postmortem analyses of intestinal microbiota changes and bacterial translocation in human flora associated mice. PloS one. 2012;7:e40758.

295. Hurley W. Composition of sow colostrum and milk. The gestating and lactating sow: Wageningen Academic Publishers; 2015. p. 115-27.

296. Rutherfurd SM, Darragh AJ, Hendriks WH, Prosser CG, Lowry D. True ileal amino acid digestibility of goat and cow milk infant formulas. J Dairy Sci. 2006;89:2408-13.

297. Darragh AJ, Moughan PJ. The three-week-old piglet as a model animal for studying protein digestion in human infants. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 1995;21:387-93.

298. National Research Council. Nutrient requirements of swine; 11th revised edition. [Eleventh rev. edition] ed. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2012.

299. Hodgkinson SM, Moughan PJ, Morel PCH, Reynolds GW. The diurnal pattern of ileal dry matter and endogenous ileal nitrogen flows in the growing pig. J Sci Food Agric. 2002;82:1860-6.

300. AOAC Official Method of Analysis. 19th ed. Rockvill, Maryland: AOAC International; 2012.

301. Short FJ, Gorton P, Wiseman J, Boorman KN. Determination of titanium dioxide added as an inert marker in chicken digestibility studies. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 1996;59:215-21.

302. Richardson AJ, Calder AG, Stewart CS, Smith A. Simultaneous determination of volatile and non-volatile acidic fermentation products of anaerobes by capillary gas chromatography. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1989;9:5-8.

303. Bernbom N, Nørrung B, Saadbye P, Mølbak L, Vogensen FK, Licht TR. Comparison of methods and animal models commonly used for investigation of fecal microbiota: Effects of time, host and gender. Journal of microbiological methods. 2006;66:87-95.

304. Dhariwal A, Chong J, Habib S, King IL, Agellon LB, Xia J. MicrobiomeAnalyst: a webbased tool for comprehensive statistical, visual and meta-analysis of microbiome data. Nucleic Acids Res. 2017;45:W180-W8.

305. Chong J, Liu P, Zhou G, Xia J. Using MicrobiomeAnalyst for comprehensive statistical, functional, and meta-analysis of microbiome data. Nat Protoc. 2020;15:799-821.

306. Koenig JE, Spor A, Scalfone N, Fricker AD, Stombaugh J, Knight R, Angenent LT, Ley RE. Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:4578-85.

307. Zhang Q, Widmer G, Tzipori S. A pig model of the human gastrointestinal tract. Gut Microbes. 2013;4:193-200.

308. Li N, Huang S, Jiang L, Dai Z, Li T, Han D, Wang J. Characterization of the Early Life Microbiota Development and Predominant *Lactobacillus* Species at Distinct Gut Segments of Low- and Normal-Birth-Weight Piglets. Front Microbiol. 2019;10.

309. Wang Z, Bai Y, Pi Y, Gerrits WJJ, de Vries S, Shang L, Tao S, Zhang S, Han D, et al. Xylan alleviates dietary fiber deprivation-induced dysbiosis by selectively promoting *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum* in pigs. Microbiome. 2021;9:227.

310. Crespo-Piazuelo D, Estellé J, Revilla M, Criado-Mesas L, Ramayo-Caldas Y, Óvilo C, Fernández AI, Ballester M, Folch JM. Characterization of bacterial microbiota compositions along the intestinal tract in pigs and their interactions and functions. Sci Rep. 2018;8:12727.

311. Owusu-Asiedu A, Patience J, Laarveld B, Van Kessel A, Simmins P, Zijlstra R. Effects of guar gum and cellulose on digesta passage rate, ileal microbial populations, energy and protein digestibility, and performance of grower pigs. J Anim Sci 2006;84:843-52.

312. Moughan P, Rowan A. The pig as a model animal for human nutrition research. Proc Nutr Soc NZ. 1989.

313. Zhao W, Wang Y, Liu S, Huang J, Zhai Z, He C, Ding J, Wang J, Wang H, et al. The dynamic distribution of porcine microbiota across different ages and gastrointestinal tract segments. PloS one. 2015;10:e0117441.

314. Zhao J, Bai Y, Tao S, Zhang G, Wang J, Liu L, Zhang S. Fiber-rich foods affected gut bacterial community and short-chain fatty acids production in pig model. J Funct Foods. 2019;57:266-74.

315. Booijink CC, Zoetendal EG, Kleerebezem M, de Vos WM. Microbial communities in the human small intestine: coupling diversity to metagenomics. Future Microbiol. 2007;2:285-95.

316. Degnan BA, Macfarlane GT. Arabinogalactan utilization in continuous cultures of *Bifidobacterium longum:* effect of co-culture with *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*. Anaerobe. 1995;1:103-12.

317. Lozupone CA, Stombaugh JI, Gordon JI, Jansson JK, Knight R. Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. Nature. 2012;489:220-30.

318. Huttenhower C, Gevers D, Knight R, Abubucker S, Badger JH, Chinwalla AT, Creasy HH, Earl AM, FitzGerald MG, et al. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. Nature. 2012;486:207.

319. Vieira-Silva S, Falony G, Darzi Y, Lima-Mendez G, Garcia Yunta R, Okuda S, Vandeputte D, Valles-Colomer M, Hildebrand F, et al. Species–function relationships shape ecological properties of the human gut microbiome. Nat Microbiol. 2016;1:16088.

320. Tian L, Wang X-W, Wu A-K, Fan Y, Friedman J, Dahlin A, Waldor MK, Weinstock GM, Weiss ST, Liu Y-Y. Deciphering functional redundancy in the human microbiome. Nat Commun. 2020;11:6217.

321. Metzler-Zebeli BU, Hooda S, Pieper R, Zijlstra RT, van Kessel AG, Mosenthin R, Ganzle MG. Nonstarch polysaccharides modulate bacterial microbiota, pathways for butyrate production, and abundance of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* in the pig gastrointestinal tract. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2010;76:3692-701.

322. Montoya CA, Henare SJ, Zhu P, Rutherfurd SM, Moughan PJ. Adaptation over time of intestinal fermentation in the growing pig is influenced by the amount of kiwifruit consumed. Br J Nutr. 2019;121:met601-14.

323. Jaworski NW, Stein HH. Disappearance of nutrients and energy in the stomach and small intestine, cecum, and colon of pigs fed corn-soybean meal diets containing distillers dried grains with solubles, wheat middlings, or soybean hulls. J Anim Sci. 2017;95:727-39.

324. Bach Knudsen KE, Canibe N. Breakdown of plant carbohydrates in the digestive tract of pigs fed on wheat- or oat-based rolls. J Sci Food Agric. 2000;80:1253-61.

325. Montoya CA, Henare SJ, Rutherfurd SM, Moughan PJ. Potential misinterpretation of the nutritional value of dietary fiber: Correcting fiber digestibility values for nondietary gutinterfering material. Nutr Rev. 2016;74:517-33.

326. Graff J, Brinch K, Madsen JL. Gastrointestinal mean transit times in young and middle-aged healthy subjects. Clin Physiol. 2001;21:253-9.

327. Jensen BB, Jørgensen H. Effect of dietary fiber on microbial activity and microbial gas production in various regions of the gastrointestinal tract of pigs. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1994;60:1897-904.

328. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Dietary protein quality evaluation in human nutrition. FAO Food Nutr Pap. 2013;92:1-66.

329. Baer DJ, Rumpler WV, Miles CW, Fahey JGC. Dietary fiber decreases the metabolizable energy content and nutrient digestibility of mixed diets fed to humans. J Nutr. 1997;127:579-86.

330. National Research Council. Nutrient requirements of swine: 10th revised edition. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 1998.

331. Prosky L, Asp NG, Schweizer TF, DeVries JW, Furda I. Determination of insoluble, soluble, and total dietary fiber in foods and food products: interlaboratory study. J Assoc Off Anal Chem. 1988;71:1017-23.

332. Healey G, Murphy R, Butts C, Brough L, Rosendale D, Blatchford P, Stoklosinski H, Coad J. Variability in gut microbiota response to an inulin-type fructan prebiotic within an *in vitro* three-stage continuous colonic model system. Bioact Carbohydr Dietary Fibre. 2017;11:26-37.

333. Nadkarni MA, Martin FE, Jacques NA, Hunter N. Determination of bacterial load by real-time PCR using a broad-range (universal) probe and primers set. Microbiology. 2002;148:257-66.

334. Kozich JJ, Westcott SL, Baxter NT, Highlander SK, Schloss PD. Development of a dual-index sequencing strategy and curation pipeline for analyzing amplicon sequence data on the MiSeq Illumina sequencing platform. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013;79:5112-20.

335. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, Fierer N, Peña AG, Goodrich JK, Gordon JI. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods. 2010;7:335-6.

336. Edgar RC. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. Bioinformatics. 2010;26:2460-1.

337. Edgar RC, Haas BJ, Clemente JC, Quince C, Knight R. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics. 2011;27:2194-200.

338. DeSantis TZ, Hugenholtz P, Larsen N, Rojas M, Brodie EL, Keller K, Huber T, Dalevi D, Hu P, Andersen GL. Greengenes, a chimera-checked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:5069-72.

339. Faith DP. Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. Biol Cons. 1992;61:1-10.

340. Awati A, Williams BA, Bosch MW, Verstegen MWA. Dietary carbohydrates with different rates of fermentation affect fermentation end-product profiles in different sites of gastro-intestinal tract of weaning piglet. Animal Science. 2006;82:837-43.

341. Rowan AM, Moughan PJ, Wilson MN. The flows of deoxyribonucleic acid and diaminopimelic acid and the digestibility of dietary fibre components at the terminal ileum, as indicators of microbial activity in the upper digestive tract of ileostomised pigs. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 1992;36:129-41.

342. Wedekind KJ, Mansfield HR, Montgomery L. Enumeration and isolation of cellulolytic and hemicellulolytic bacteria from human feces. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1988;54:1530-5.

343. Falony G, Joossens M, Vieira-Silva S, Wang J, Darzi Y, Faust K, Kurilshikov A, Bonder MJ, Valles-Colomer M, et al. Population-level analysis of gut microbiome variation. Science. 2016;352:560-4.

344. Walker AW, Duncan SH, Carol McWilliam Leitch E, Child MW, Flint HJ. pH and peptide supply can radically alter bacterial populations and short-chain fatty acid ratios within microbial communities from the human colon. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71:3692-700.

345. Schmitt MG, Soergel KH, Wood CM, Steff JJJ. Absorption of short-chain fatty acids from the human ileum. Am J Dig Dis. 1977;22:340-7.

346. McNeil NI, Cummings JH, James WP. Short chain fatty acid absorption by the human large intestine. Gut. 1978;19:819-22.

347. Kaji I, Karaki S-i, Tanaka R, Kuwahara A. Density distribution of free fatty acid receptor 2 (FFA2)-expressing and GLP-1-producing enteroendocrine L cells in human and rat lower intestine, and increased cell numbers after ingestion of fructo-oligosaccharide. J Mol Histol. 2011;42:27-38.

348. Zhao JB, Zhang G, Dong WX, Zhang Y, Wang JJ, Liu L, Zhang S. Effects of dietary particle size and fiber source on nutrient digestibility and short chain fatty acid production in cannulated growing pigs. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 2019;258.

349. Montoya CA, Saigeman S, Rutherfurd SM, Moughan PJ. The digestion of kiwifruit (*Actinidia deliciosa*) fibre and the effect of kiwifruit on the digestibility of other dietary nutrients. Food Chem. 2016;197:539-45.

350. Boudry C, Poelaert C, Portetelle D, Thewis A, Bindelle J. Discrepancies in microbiota composition along the pig gastrointestinal tract between *in vivo* observations and an *in vitro* batch fermentation model. J Anim Sci. 2012;90:393-6.

351. Han KS, Balan P, Molist Gasa F, Boland M. Green kiwifruit modulates the colonic microbiota in growing pigs. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2011;52:379-85.

352. Parkar SG, Rosendale D, Paturi G, Herath TD, Stoklosinski H, Phipps JE, Hedderley D, Ansell J. *In vitro* utilization of gold and green kiwifruit oligosaccharides by human gut microbial populations. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 2012;67:200-7.

353. Edwards CA, Bowen J, Brydon WG, Eastwood MA. The effects of ispaghula on rat caecal fermentation and stool output. Br J Nutr. 1992;68:473-82.

354. Englyst HN, Bingham SA, Runswick SA, Collinson E, Cummings JH. Dietary fibre (non-starch polysaccharides) in fruit, vegetables and nuts. J Hum Nutr Diet. 1988;1:247-86.

355. Carnachan SM, Bootten TJ, Mishra S, Monro JA, Sims IM. Effects of simulated digestion in vitro on cell wall polysaccharides from kiwifruit (*Actinidia* spp.). Food Chem. 2012;133:132-9.

356. Mishra S, Monro J. Kiwifruit remnants from digestion in vitro have functional attributes of potential importance to health. Food Chem. 2012;135:2188-94.

357. Guilloteau P, Zabielski R, Hammon HM, Metges CC. Nutritional programming of gastrointestinal tract development. Is the pig a good model for man? Nutrition research reviews. 2010;23:4-22.

358. Montoya CA, Henare SJ, O'Donoghue EM, Rosendale D, Edwards P, Moughan PJ. Kiwifruit (: Actinidia deliciosa), compared with cellulose and psyllium, influences the histology and mucus layer of the gastrointestinal tract in the growing pig. Food and Function. 2021;12:8007-16.

359. Van De Wiele T, Boon N, Possemiers S, Jacobs H, Verstraete W. Inulin-type fructans of longer degree of polymerization exert more pronounced in vitro prebiotic effects. J Appl Microbiol. 2007;102:452-60.

360. Montoya CA, Rutherfurd SM, Moughan PJ. Ileal digesta nondietary substrates from cannulated pigs are major contributors to *in vitro* human hindgut short-chain fatty acid production. J Nutr. 2017;147:264-71.

361. Schulze H, Van Leeuwen P, Verstegen M, Huisman J, Souffrant W, Ahrens F. Effect of level of dietary neutral detergent fiber on ileal apparent digestibility and ileal nitrogen losses in pigs. J Anim Sci. 1994;72:2362-8.

362. Redgwell RJ, Melton LD, Brasch DJ. Cell-wall polysaccharides of kiwifruit (*Actinidia deliciosa*): Chemical features in different tissue zones of the fruit at harvest. Carbohydr Res. 1988;182:241-58.

363. Hodgson DJ, Rainey PB, Buckling A. Mechanisms linking diversity, productivity and invasibility in experimental bacterial communities. Proc Biol Sci. 2002;269:2277-83.

364. Wiegel J, Tanner R, Rainey FA. An introduction to the family Clostridiaceae. The prokaryotes. 2006;4:654-78.

365. Torres J, Munoz LS, Peters M, Montoya CA. Heating and soaking influence *in vitro* hindgut fermentation of tropical legume grains in pigs. J Agric Food Chem. 2018;66:532-9.

366. der Meulen Jv, Panneman H, Jansman AJM. Effect of pea, pea hulls, faba beans and faba bean hulls on the ileal microbial composition in weaned piglets. Livest Sci. 2010;133:135-7.

367. Hodgkinson SM, Stroebinger N, Van Der Wielen N, Mensink M, Montoya C, Hendriks WH, De Vries S, Stein HH, Moughan PJ. Comparison of true ileal amino acid digestibility between adult humans and growing pigs. J Nutr. 2022;152:1635-46.

368. Hodgkinson SM, Stein HH, de Vries S, Hendriks WH, Moughan PJ. Determination of true ileal amino acid digestibility in the growing pig for calculation of Digestible Indispensable Amino Acid Score (DIAAS). J Nutr. 2020;150:2621-3.

369. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Documentation supporting the determination that High-Amylose Maize Starch (HAMS) is Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) for use as an ingredient in oral rehydration solutions that are medical foods 2015 (Epub ahead of print).

370. Yapo BM, Lerouge P, Thibault J-F, Ralet M-C. Pectins from citrus peel cell walls contain homogalacturonans homogenous with respect to molar mass, rhamnogalacturonan I and rhamnogalacturonan II. Carbohydr Polym. 2007;69:426-35.

371. National Center for Biotechnology Information. PubChem compound summary for CID 138392202, Fructooligosaccharide. 2022 [cited July 7, 2022 Available from: <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/138392202</u>

372. Dongowski G, Lorenz A, Proll J. The degree of methylation influences the degradation of pectin in the intestinal tract of rats and *in vitro*. J Nutr. 2002;132:1935-44.

373. Metzler-Zebeli BU, Vahjen W, Baumgärtel T, Rodehutscord M, Mosenthin R. Ileal microbiota of growing pigs fed different dietary calcium phosphate levels and phytase content and subjected to ileal pectin infusion. J Anim Sci. 2010;88:147-58.

374. Wu W, Zhang L, Xia B, Tang S, Xie J, Zhang H. Modulation of pectin on mucosal innate immune function in pigs mediated by gut microbiota. Microorganisms. 2020;8.

375. National Center for Biotechnology Information. PubChem compound summary for CID 284, formic acid. 2022 [cited July 6, 2022 Available from: <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Formic-acid</u>

376. Aguirre M, Ramiro-Garcia J, Koenen ME, Venema K. To pool or not to pool? Impact of the use of individual and pooled fecal samples for *in vitro* fermentation studies. Journal of microbiological methods. 2014;107:1-7.

377. Aßhauer KP, Wemheuer B, Daniel R, Meinicke P. Tax4Fun: predicting functional profiles from metagenomic 16S rRNA data. Bioinformatics. 2015;31:2882-4.

378. Schloss PD, Westcott SL, Ryabin T, Hall JR, Hartmann M, Hollister EB, Lesniewski RA, Oakley BB, Parks DH, et al. Introducing mothur: open-source, platform-independent, community-supported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2009;75:7537-41.

379. Quast C, Pruesse E, Gerken J, Peplies J, Yarza P, Yilmaz P, Schweer T, Glöckner FO. The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and webbased tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 2012;41:D590-D6.

380. Rognes T, Flouri T, Nichols B, Quince C, Mahe F. VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. PeerJ. 2016;4:e2584.

381. Zakrzewski M, Proietti C, Ellis JJ, Hasan S, Brion MJ, Berger B, Krause L. Calypso: a user-friendly web-server for mining and visualizing microbiome-environment interactions. Bioinformatics. 2017;33:782-3.

382. Langille MGI, Zaneveld JE, Caporaso JG, McDonald D, Knights D, Reyes JA, Clemente JC, Burkepile DE, Vega Thurber RL, et al. Predictive functional profiling of microbial communities using 16S rRNA marker gene sequences. Nat Biotechnol. 2013;31:814-21.

383. Luccia BHD, Kunkel ME. *In vitro* availability of calcium from sources of cellulose, methylcellulose, and psyllium. Food Chem. 2002;77:139-46.

384. Hulse JH, Rachie KO, Billingsley LW. Nutritional standards and methods of evaluation for food legume breeders: International Development Research Centre; 1977.

385. Ali NMM, El Tinay AH, Elkhalifa AEO, Salih OA, Yousif NE. Effect of alkaline pretreatment and cooking on protein fractions of a high-tannin sorghum cultivar. Food Chem. 2009;114:646-8.

Appendix 1

Chapter 3: Supplementary material

Supplementary methods

In vivo experiment

Infant faecal extract. The collection of infant faecal material received ethical approval from the Massey University Human Ethics Committee Southern A, Palmerston North, New Zealand (protocol SOA 19/75). The six donor infants (less than six months old and mainly breastfed) had no reported diarrhoea or other digestive disorders and had received no antibiotics since birth. For each infant, one faecal sample obtained a maximum of four days before the start of the study was sent for diagnostic testing at Metlab Central (Palmerston North, New Zealand). All samples tested negative for *Salmonella* spp., *Shigella* spp., *Campylobacter* spp., *Yersinia* spp., *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 Rotavirus, and *Clostridium difficile* toxins A and B. The faeces from the infants were obtained fresh within 24 h before inoculation of the piglet and stored anaerobically (using the GasPak EZ pouch system, BD, New Jersey, U.S.) at -20 °C until used. The infant faecal extract was prepared on the day of administration by pooling faeces (n = 4 or 5 per inoculum) based on equal weight and diluted 20-fold in sterile 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) [255] and kept on ice until needed.

Phase 2. The piglets were individually bowl-fed with a bovine-milk infant formula (Anmum NeoPro1, Fonterra NZ), prepared according to the manufacturer's instruction with added casein (0.6 g/100mL) to match the daily protein intake provided by the sow milk [295]. The infant formula was prepared fresh and warmed to 35°C in a water bath before feeding. The piglet's daily ration was 345 g liquid formula per kg of BW per day [296, 297]. The piglets were weighed upon arrival, then every third day until PND 14, and weekly after that. The

249

daily rations of the piglets were adjusted accordingly. From PND 7 to 13, the piglets received their daily ration across seventeen meals at hourly intervals from 0600 h to 2200 h. From PND 14 to 17, the daily ration was provided across seven meals at 2.5-hour intervals from 0630 h to 2130 h. From PND 18 to 28, the daily ration was provided as five meals at 3.5-hour intervals from 0630 h to 2030 h. At feeding time, a divider with four bowl slots was inserted into the cage to separate the piglets and allow individual feeding. The piglets were carefully observed (at least at every feeding time) to make sure the piglets were healthy. The health assessment included determining feed intake (at least 80% of their daily ration), body temperature, behavioural observation, faecal consistency, skin colouration, and signs of dehydration. Toys and towels were provided as enrichment to the piglets.

Chemical analysis

The organic acids were quantified in duplicate in the other half of the samples after *in vitro* fermentation (i.e., n = 2) using gas chromatography [302]. Standard curves were prepared using formate, acetate, propionate, iso-butyrate, butyrate, iso-valerate, valerate, lactate, and succinate. 2-ethyl butyric acid (5 mM, Sigma Aldrich) was added as an internal standard to both the external standards (i.e., standard curve) and samples before derivatizing the organic acids with N-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide with 1% tert-butyldimethylchlorosilane (Sigma-Aldrich). Then, the organic acids in the samples and standards were quantified using a gas chromatograph (GC-2010, Shimadzu) with a DB-1MS UI (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 μ m, Agilent) connected to a flame ionization detector. Helium was the carrier gas. The organic acid concentrations in the fermentation samples were corrected by the concentrations found in the blank fermentations (i.e., the bottles with no added substrate, refer to the calculations in the Supplementary Methods). Every time

sample preparation and GC analysis were done, a representative control sample was included to test the method's performance. The amounts of butyric, valeric, iso-butyric, and iso-valeric acid detected in the samples were negligible (i.e., below the detection limit). Therefore, the total organic acid production was defined as the sum of formic, acetic, propionic, lactic, and succinic acid concentrations.

Microbial analysis

qPCR analysis. The total number of bacteria (i.e., 16S rRNA gene copies) was determined in the DNA extracted for the ileal samples and the standards (i.e., DNA from *Escherichia coli*, strain ATCC 8739, at the concentration of 10² to 10¹⁰ gene copies/µL) in duplicate using a quantitative PCR (qPCR). This method used the PowerTrack SYBR Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher) according to the manufacturer's instructions, after which the samples and standards were loaded onto a Quant Studio [™] 3 System (Applied Biosystems). The forward primer used was 5'-TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT, and the reverse primer was (5'-GGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTT [333]. Both primers were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies. Every qPCR run included an activation cycle (95°C, 5 min), 40 run cycles (i.e., denaturation (95°C, 30 s), annealing 60°C, 60 s) and extension (72°C, 60 s)) and one melting curve (60–95°C at 0·1°C/s) [286]. The total number of 16S rRNA gene copies in the ileal digesta and the relative abundance of the taxa were used to determine the number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa with the assumption that each taxon has an equal number of 16s rRNA gene copies (calculation in Supplementary methods).

16S *rRNA* gene sequencing and bioinformatics. Extracted DNA samples were sent to the Massey Genome Service (Massey University) for Illumina MiSeq sequencing to determine the taxonomic composition [286]. To amplify the V3-V4 hypervariable region of the 16S

rRNA gene, the following primers were used: 16SF_V3 (5' - AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-

TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG) and 16SR_V4 (5' -CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT). 16SF_V3 (5' -AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG) and 16SR_V4 (5' -CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-

AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT). The 96 libraries will be prepared using the Illumina 16S V3-V4 rRNA library preparation method [334]. The Massey Genome Service has dual index PCR primers which flank the V3-V4 hyper-variable region of 16S rRNA, which uses a Single Step PCR Library preparation method to prepare the libraries. The libraries were run on an Illumina MiSeq[™] 2X 250 base PE, version 2 chemistry.

The bioinformatics analysis was done using Mothur V1.46.1 (2, 3). Briefly, 3,707,642 pairedend reads were detected. These reads were assembled and underwent quality control, removing all reads with over eight homopolymers and uncalled bases. The average length of the sequences was 420 bp. The SILVA database (version 138) (4) was used to align the sequences. After alignment, sequences were pre-clustered (4 bp) to remove noise and reduce the effect of sequencing errors. Chimeras were removed using VSEARCH (6), and all non-bacterial sequences were excluded. The remaining 3,208,212 reads were clustered into OTUs with a 97% cut off. The resulting BIOM table was used as input for Microbiome analyst [304, 305]. MicrobiomeAnalyst provided the taxonomic composition and Shannon diversity numbers and performed the principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarities.

252
A second bioinformatic analysis was performed using QIIME [335] to predict metabolic functionality similar to that described above. Data were aligned with the SILVA database (version 138) (4). The resulting BIOM table was used as input for MicrobiomeAnalyst [304, 305] to get the predicted metabolic functionality (i.e., KEGG pathways) using the Tax4Fun [377].

Calculations

To determine the number of bacteria per taxa in the ileal digesta, it was assumed that each taxon had an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies. The number of bacteria per taxa in ileal digesta was calculated as follows [286]:

 Number of bacteria per taxaileal digesta (16S rRNA gene copy number/g digesta) = total number of bacteriaileal digesta (16S rRNA gene copy number/g digesta) x relative abundance taxa (%) / 100

The *in vivo* ileal OM fermentability was calculated with the normalised OM content in the proximal and terminal ileal digesta [292]:

- Normalised OM contentproximal or terminal ileum (g/kg diet DM intake) = OMproximal or terminal ileal digesta (g/kg DM) x (TiO₂-diet/TiO₂-proximal or ileal digesta)
- 3) OM fermentability *in vivo* (%) = (normalised OM contentproximal ileum (g/ kg diet DM intake)
 normalised OM contentterminal ileum (g/ kg diet DM intake) / normalised OM contentproximal ileum (g/ kg diet DM intake) x 100

The following equations were used to determine *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability [292]:

4) OM fermentability *in vitro* (%) = (OM before fermentation - [OM after fermentation - ((OM blank initial + OM blank final)/2)]) / OM before fermentation x 100

where OM _{blank initial} and OM _{blank final} are the amounts of OM in the blanks before (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. The *in vitro* ileal fermentation had its own blanks for each individual pig.

The *in vitro* ileal production of organic acids was determined as described previously [292] using the following equations:

5) Organic acid production (mmol/kg substrate DM incubated) = (organic acid _{after} fermentation (mmol) – [(organic acid _{blank initial} + organic acid _{blank final})/2]) / kg DM substrate

where organic acid _{blank initial} and organic acid _{blank final} are the organic acids (mmol) in the blanks before (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. The *in vitro* ileal fermentation had its own blanks for each individual pig.

Supplementary tables

Supplementary Table 3.1: The ingredient and determined nutrient composition of the human-type diet given as three different meals (i.e., breakfast, lunch, and dinner) per day to the AR and AR+ pigs in Phase 3 of the study¹

	Human-type diet			
	Breakfast	Lunch	Dinner A	Dinner B
Ingredient, g/kg DM				
Milk (UHT, 3.3% fat)	304	-	-	-
Wheat biscuits (Weet-bix,	468	-	-	-
Sanitarium, crushed)				
Banana (ripened, peeled)	203	-	-	-
Wheat bread (white, sliced)	-	570	-	-
Cheese (cheddar, grated)	-	264	-	-
Apple (raw, minced)	-	141	-	-
Egg (boiled, minced)	-	-	335	206
Baked beans (canned, minced)	-	-	241	241
Fruit salad (canned, minced)	-	-	98	98
Corn (canned)	-	-	104	104
Rice (white, cooked)	-	-	197	329
Premix of vitamins and minerals ²	5.0	5.0	5.0	5.0
Titanium dioxide	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0
Limestone	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
Di-calcium phosphate	15	15	15	15
Nutrient, a/ka DM				
Ash	64.1	59.7	68.5	63.0
Crude protein	180	194	261	218
Total lipids	75.6	157	132	88.3
Starch	320	378	245	348
Total dietary fibre	118	59.0	100	153
- Insoluble fibre	88.8	42.3	84.5	134
- Soluble fibre	29.0	16.7	15.7	19.5
Gross energy M.I/kg	201	218	223	210

¹The formulation of the diets was based on the chemical composition of the ingredients obtained from the New Zealand Food Composition Database (<u>https://www.foodcomposition.co.nz/</u>) and to meet the requirements of starting pigs as prescribed by the National Research Council, 2012 [298]; Dinner A and B were formulated to provide the different nutrient requirements for pigs of 7-11 and 11-25 kg bodyweight, respectively; DM, dry matter, UHT, ultra-high temperature.

²The vitamin and mineral premix (Pig Creep/Weaner Premix High copper, Nutritech, Auckland, New Zealand) supplied (per kg DM diet): vitamin A, 4.2 µg; vitamin D3, 0.075 µg; vitamin E, 47 mg; vitamin K3, 4 mg; thiamine, 3 mg; riboflavin, 6 mg; pyridoxin, 4 mg; vitamin B12, 30 µg; Biotin, 40 µg; Niacin, 30 mg; Pantothenic Acid, 22 mg; Folic Acid, 0.5 mg; Choline, 180 mg, Cobalt, 2 mg; Copper 250 mg; Iodine, 2 mg; Iron 160 mg; Manganese, 60 mg, Selenium, 0.6 mg; Zinc, 230 mg.

Supplementary Table 3.2: Effect of rearing regimen on the number of bacteria in ileal digesta pigs reared under different environmental

conditions and fed a human-type diet for the last fourteen experimental days¹

		Rearing regimen			
Phylum	Genus	AR	AR+	Control	P value
		Log ₁₀ 16S rRNA gene copies/g digesta			
Total bac	oteria	9.33 ± 0.259	9.63 ± 0.190	9.80 ± 0.111	0.232
Actinoba	cteria	7.04 ± 0.192^{b}	7.51 ± 0.192 ^a	7.42 ± 0.192^{ab}	0.033
	Actinomyces	6.43 ± 0.281^{b}	6.97 ± 0.224 ^a	6.48 ± 0.271 ^b	0.011
	Bifidobacterium	4.20 ± 0.422^{b}	4.58 ± 0.351^{ab}	5.45 ± 0.390^{a}	0.020
	Corynebacterium	5.77 ± 0.244	5.62 ± 0.253	6.04 ± 0.078	0.222
	Kocuria	4.83 ± 0.354	5.30 ± 0.152	5.30 ± 0.371	0.449
	Rothia	6.77 ± 0.207^{b}	7.23 ± 0.169^{a}	6.88 ± 0.221^{ab}	0.031
Bacteroid	detes	6.38 ± 0.194	6.48 ± 0.135	6.58 ± 0.140	0.593
	Bacteroides	6.17 ± 0.181	6.15 ± 0.146	6.28 ± 0.136	0.597
Firmicute	es	9.29 ± 0.252	9.61 ± 0.192	9.74 ± 0.120	0.251
	Aerococcus	4.93 ± 0.244	4.99 ± 0.382	5.31 ± 0.376	0.580
	Bacillus	5.36 ± 0.218	5.09 ± 0.293	5.36 ± 0.264	0.475
	Blautia	5.01 ± 0.260	5.24 ± 0.279	5.25 ± 0.269	0.622
	Carnobacterium	6.03 ± 0.220	5.90 ± 0.279	5.88 ± 0.313	0.654
	Cellulosilyticum	4.75 ± 0.467	4.66 ± 0.415	4.27 ± 0.214	0.525
	Clostridiaceae_unclassified	6.11 ± 0.310	6.46 ± 0.361	6.68 ± 0.216	0.273
	Clostridium_sensu_stricto_1	8.57 ± 0.314	8.93 ± 0.350	9.21 ± 0.207	0.179
	Clostridium_sensu_stricto_13	6.00 ± 0.223	5.98 ± 0.276	5.70 ± 0.233	0.200
	Enterococcus	6.42 ± 0.380	7.00 ± 0.399	7.19 ± 0.469	0.074
	Gemella	5.60 ± 0.206	5.87 ± 0.173	5.86 ± 0.309	0.324

	Lachnospiraceae_unclassified	5.52 ± 0.230^{ab}	5.87 ± 0.209^{a}	5.37 ± 0.198^{b}	0.045
	Lactobacillus	7.82 ± 0.343	8.50 ± 0.280	7.96 ± 0.306	0.225
	Lactococcus	6.37 ± 0.124	6.59 ± 0.205	6.47 ± 0.084	0.625
	Leuconostoc	8.44 ± 0.381	8.66 ± 0.335	8.68 ± 0.376	0.561
	Ligilactobacillus	6.20 ± 0.189	6.70 ± 0.259	6.59 ± 0.233	0.249
	Limosilactobacillus	7.77 ± 0.463^{ab}	8.43 ± 0.299^{a}	7.37 ± 0.352^{b}	0.029
	Macrococcus	4.26 ± 0.331	4.42 ± 0.241	4.85 ± 0.378	0.505
	Megasphaera	3.47 ± 0.247	ND	4.31 ± 0.417	0.075
	Mycoplasma	ND	ND	7.46 ± 0.244	-
	Romboutsia	8.17 ± 0.345	8.58 ± 0.390	8.39 ± 0.227	0.729
	Ruminococcaceae_unclassified	4.16 ± 0.407	4.66 ± 0.262	4.02 ± 0.202	0.180
	Staphylococcus	5.71 ± 0.172	5.77 ± 0.228	6.08 ± 0.082	0.128
	Streptococcus	7.24 ± 0.244^{b}	7.36 ± 0.182^{b}	8.29 ± 0.224 ^a	0.001
	Terrisporobacter	6.16 ± 0.491 ^b	6.75 ± 0.465^{ab}	7.98 ± 0.465^{a}	0.025
	Turicibacter	7.96 ± 0.430	8.25 ± 0.486	8.24 ± 0.318	0.854
Proteoba	cteria	7.73 ± 0.328	7.62 ± 0.217	8.28 ± 0.237	0.136
	Actinobacillus	4.00 ± 0.533	4.68 ± 0.469	4.39 ± 0.675	0.444
	Burkholderia_Caballeronia_Paraburkholderia	6.28 ± 0.189	6.34 ± 0.184	6.19 ± 0.203	0.709
	Citrobacter	4.94 ± 0.575	5.15 ± 0.505	5.99 ± 0.380	0.237
	Enhydrobacter	4.89 ± 0.323	5.53 ± 0.221	5.69 ± 0.366	0.204
	Enterobacteriaceae_unclassified	4.34 ± 0.563	5.07 ± 0.433	5.81 ± 0.378	0.110
	Escherichia-Shigella	6.89 ± 0.442	6.86 ± 0.307	7.80 ± 0.339	0.111
	Klebsiella	4.99 ± 0.643	5.44 ± 0.589	6.23 ± 0.464	0.248
	Pasteurellaceae_unclassified	ND	3.97 ± 0.327	4.41 ± 0.385	0.389
	Pseudomonas	7.03 ± 0.191	6.97 ± 0.150	7.27 ± 0.117	0.273
	Serratia	5.62 ± 0.203	5.25 ± 0.210	5.18 ± 0.287	0.150

Yersinia	5.46 ± 0.227	5.69 ± 0.260	5.29 ± 0.248	0.235
Yersiniaceae_unclassified	5.96 ± 0.194	6.02 ± 0.188	6.35 ± 0.278	0.388
Verrucomicrobiota	ND	4.26 ± 0.469	4.31 ± 0.253	0.937
Chlamydia	ND	4.15 ± 0.475	4.12 ± 0.261	0.959

¹ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 10 per treatment. No significant difference was observed in the DM content of the ileal digesta between the different rearing regimens; therefore, the data is present on a wet digesta basis. Only taxa with >0.1% relative abundance in at least one sample are presented. The number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa was obtained by multiplying the total number of 16S rRNA gene copies with the relative abundance of the taxa with the assumption that each taxon has an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies. Data were log₁₀ transformed to achieve homogenous variance. A one-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of the rearing regimen. Means in a row with a different letter differ (P < 0.05). AR, artificially reared; AR+, artificially reared plus inoculated with infant faecal extract; ND, not detected.

Supplementary figures



Supplementary Figure 3.1: The relative abundance (%) of bacterial phyla found in the infant faecal extract used to inoculate piglets. Each inoculum was prepared by pooling fresh faeces obtained from four or five infants. Only phyla with >0.5% relative abundance in at least one sample are presented.



Supplementary Figure 3.2: Relative abundance (%) of the twenty most abundant bacterial

genera found in the infant faecal extract used to inoculate piglets. Each inoculum was

prepared by pooling fresh faeces obtained from four or five infants.

Appendix 2

Chapter 4: Supplementary material

Supplemental methods

Microbial analysis

gPCR analysis. After DNA extraction, the total number of bacteria (i.e., 16S rRNA gene copies) in the ileal digesta samples obtained from pigs and humans were determined in duplicate using a quantitative PCR (gPCR). A standard curve was made using purified DNA from *Escherichia coli* ATCC 8739 and had a range of 10² to 10¹⁰ gene copies/µL. This method used the PowerTrack SYBR Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher) according to the manufacturer's instructions, after which the samples and standards were loaded onto a Quant Studio[™] 3 System (Applied Biosystems). The forward primer used was 5'-TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT, (5'and the reverse primer was GGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTT [333]. Both primers were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies. Every qPCR run included an activation cycle (95°C, 5 min), 40 run cycles (i.e., denaturation (95°C, 30 s), annealing 60°C, 60 s) and extension (72°C, 60 s)) and one melting curve (60–95°C at 0.1°C/s) [286]. The total number of 16S rRNA gene copies in the ileal digesta and the relative abundance of the taxa were used to determine the number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa with the assumption that each taxon has an equal number of 16s rRNA gene copies (calculation in Supplementary methods).

16S *rRNA* gene sequencing and bioinformatics. Extracted DNA samples were sent to the Massey Genome Service (Massey University) for Illumina MiSeq sequencing to determine the taxonomic composition [286]. To amplify the V3-V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene, the following primers were used: 16SF V3 (5' -

AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-

TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG)	and	16SR_V4	(5'	-
CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-				
AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT).		16SF_V3	(5'	-
AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-				
TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG)	and	16SR_V4	(5'	-
CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-				

AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT). The 96 libraries will be prepared using the Illumina 16S V3-V4 rRNA library preparation method [334]. The Massey Genome Service has dual index PCR primers which flank the V3-V4 hyper-variable region of 16S rRNA, which uses a Single Step PCR Library preparation method to prepare the libraries. The libraries were run on an Illumina MiSeq[™] 2X 250 base PE, version 2 chemistry.

The bioinformatics analysis was done using Mothur V1.46.1 (2, 3) and is described in Chapter 3. A total of 3,707,642 paired-end reads were detected. These reads were assembled and underwent quality control removing all reads with more than eight homopolymers and uncalled base. The average length of the sequences was 420 bp. The SILVA database (version 138) (4) was used to align the sequences. After alignment, sequences were pre-clustered (4 bp) to remove noise and reduce the effect of sequencing errors. Chimeras were removed using VSEARCH (6), and all non-bacterial sequences were excluded. The remaining 3,208,212 reads were clustered into OTUs with a 97% cut-off. The resulting BIOM table was used as input for MicrobiomeAnalyst [304, 305]. MicrobiomeAnalyst provided the taxonomic composition and alpha diversity (i.e., Chao1 and Shannon Diversity Indexes) and performed the principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarities.

A second bioinformatic analysis was performed using QIIME [335] to obtain the predicted metabolic functionality similar to that described above. Data were aligned with the SILVA database (version 138) (4). The resulting BIOM table was used as input for MicrobiomeAnalyst [304, 305] to obtain the predicted metabolic functionality (i.e., KEGG pathways) using the Tax4Fun [377].

Calculations

To determine the number of bacteria per taxa in ileal digesta and ileal effluent, it was assumed that each taxon had an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies. The number of bacteria per taxa in ileal digesta was calculated as follows [286]:

 Number of bacteria per taxa_{ileal digesta} (16S rRNA gene copy number/g digesta) = total number of bacteria_{ileal digesta} (16S rRNA gene copy number/g digesta) x relative abundance taxa (%) / 100

The in vitro ileal OM fermentability was calculated as follows [292]:

OM fermentability in vitro (%) = (OM before fermentation - [OM after fermentation - ((OM blank initial + OM blank final)/2)]) / OM before fermentation x 100

where OM _{blank initial} and OM _{blank final} are the amounts of OM in the blanks before (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. Blanks were included in the *in vitro* fermentation for each pig or human ileostomy subject.

The in vitro ileal production of organic acids was determined as described previously [292]:

 Organic acid production (mmol/kg substrate DM incubated) = (organic acid _{after} fermentation (mmol) – [(organic acid _{blank initial} + organic acid _{blank final})/2]) / kg DM substrate where organic acid _{blank initial} and organic acid _{blank final} are the organic acids (mmol) in the blanks before (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. Blanks were included in the *in vitro* fermentation for each pig or human ileostomy subject.

Supplementary tables

Supplementary Table 4.1: The ingredient and determined nutrient composition of the

experimental diet given to the pigs (Chapter 3)¹

	Amount
Ingredient, g/kg DM	
Milk (UHT, 3.3% fat)	130
Wheat biscuits (Weet-Bix,	183
Sanitarium, Auckland, NZ; crushed)	
Apple (Braeburn; raw, minced)	122
Egg (boiled, minced)	67
Baked beans (Wattie's, Hastings	96
NZ; canned, minced)	
Rice (white, cooked)	378
Premix of vitamins and minerals ²	5.0
Titanium dioxide	3.0
Limestone	10
Dicalcium phosphate	5.0
Nutrient. a/ka DM	
Ash	50
Crude protein	180
Total fat	107
Starch	374
Total dietary fibre	130
- Insoluble fibre	101
- Soluble fibre	29
Gross energy, MJ/kg	208

¹The formulation of the diets was based on the chemical composition of the ingredients obtained from the New Zealand Food Composition Database (<u>https://www.foodcomposition.co.nz/</u>) and to meet the requirements of growing pigs as prescribed by the National Research Council, 2012 [298]. DM, dry matter; UHT, ultra-high temperature. ²The vitamin and mineral premix (Pig Grower/Finisher Premix High copper, Nutritech, Auckland, New Zealand) supplied (per kg DM diet): vitamin A, 4.2 µg; vitamin D3, 0.075 µg; vitamin E, 47 mg; vitamin K3, 4 mg; thiamine, 3 mg; riboflavin, 6 mg; pyridoxin, 4 mg; vitamin B12, 30 µg; Biotin, 40 µg; Niacin, 30 mg; Pantothenic Acid, 22 mg; Folic Acid, 0.5 mg; Choline, 180 mg, Cobalt, 2 mg; Copper 250 mg; lodine, 2 mg; Iron 160 mg; Manganese, 60 mg, Selenium, 0.6 mg; Zinc 230 mg. Supplementary Table 4.2: Taxonomic composition of ileal digesta from growing pigs and

ileal effluent from human ileostomates that received a similar diet¹

Dhylum	Genus	Pia	Human	Р
Filylum		9	anno conios/a DM	value
diaesta or effluent				
Total bac	teria	9.80 ± 0.100	8.29 ± 0.854	0.153
Actinoba	cteria	7.45 ± 0.121	7.17 ± 0.798	0.750
	Actinomyces	6.54 ± 0.154	6.69 ± 0.676	0.836
	Actinomycetaceae_unclassified	ND	4.99 ± 0.710	-
	Atopobium	4.70 ± 0.245	5.40 ± 0.867	0.476
	Bifidobacterium	5.34 ± 0.375	5.75 ± 1.17	0.754
	Collinsella	5.07 ± 0.338	4.24 ± 1.07	0.496
	Coriobacteriaceae_UCG_002	4.25 ± 0.217	4.37 ± 1.06	0.914
	Corynebacterium	6.04 ± 0.078	5.14 ± 0.620	0.221
	F0332	ND	5.12 ± 0.717	-
	Kocuria	5.22 ± 0.397	4.18 ± 0.811	0.213
	Olsenella	4.49 ± 0.217	4.76 ± 0.734	0.741
	Rothia	6.94 ± 0.169	6.24 ± 0.699	0.380
	Scardovia	ND	4.23 ± 1.12	-
Bacteroid	lota	6.59 ± 0.133	6.05 ± 1.06	0.636
	Bacteroides	6.27 ± 0.093	5.49 ± 1.38	0.602
	Chryseobacterium	4.65 ± 0.317	3.35 ± 1.02	0.279
	, Muribaculaceae ge	5.21 ± 0.246	4.95 ± 1.24	0.843
	Prevotellaceae unclassified	4.38 ± 0.189	4.25 ± 1.11	0.915
Firmicute	S	9.74 ± 0.102	8.13 ± 0.834	0.124
	Abiotrophia	ND	4.49 ± 0.811	-
	Aerococcus	5.33 ± 0.363	ND	-
	Allobaculum	4.99 ± 0.248	4.60 ± 1.12	0.750
	Anaerovoracaceae_ge	4.23 ± 0.247	5.24 ± 0.636	0.095
	Bacillus	5.35 ± 0.182	4.89 ± 0.758	0.588
	Blautia	5.28 ± 0.235	4.55 ± 1.12	0.554
	Carnobacterium	5.87 ± 0.261	5.33 ± 1.25	0.690
	Clostridiaceae_unclassified	6.68 ± 0.186	3.85 ± 0.797	0.022
	Clostridium_sensu_stricto_1	9.20 ± 0.177	5.19 ± 0.766	0.005
	Clostridium_sensu_stricto_13	5.70 ± 0.138	5.37 ± 1.28	0.813
	Enterococcus	7.26 ± 0.191	5.31 ± 0.605	0.029
	Faecalibacterium	3.93 ± 0.142	3.75 ± 0.867	0.850
	Fusicatenibacter	4.01 ± 0.177	3.52 ± 1.12	0.686
	Gemella	5.89 ± 0.226	6.08 ± 0.624	0.732

Granulicatella	4.24 ± 0.276	6.16 ± 0.531	0.003
Intestinibacter	5.34 ± 0.307	3.51 ± 0.901	0.030
Lachnoanaerobaculum	4.23 ± 0.161	4.84 ± 0.561	0.345
Lachnoclostridium	4.11 ± 0.155	3.76 ± 0.922	0.733
Lachnospiraceae_unclassified	5.40 ± 0.182	5.21 ± 0.766	0.815
Lactobacillus	7.97 ± 0.296	5.54 ± 0.761	0.003
Lactococcus	6.48 ± 0.081	5.39 ± 0.828	0.262
Leuconostoc	8.78 ± 0.200	3.93 ± 0.883	0.004
Ligilactobacillus	6.59 ± 0.233	5.35 ± 1.57	0.478
Limosilactobacillus	7.41 ± 0.318	5.49 ± 1.22	0.194
Macrococcus	4.85 ± 0.378	ND	-
Megasphaera	4.31 ± 0.419	2.74 ± 0.950	0.099
Mycoplasma	7.46 ± 0.244	ND	-
Oribacterium	3.91 ± 0.082	5.36 ± 0.693	0.103
Parvimonas	4.54 ± 0.193	5.04 ± 0.727	0.539
Peptostreptococcus	5.34 ± 0.241	5.63 ± 0.615	0.597
Romboutsia	8.39 ± 0.227	5.47 ± 0.880	0.027
Solobacterium	ND	4.86 ± 0.584	-
Staphylococcus	6.08 ± 0.082	5.60 ± 0.692	0.524
Stomatobaculum	ND	4.95 ± 0.742	-
Streptococcus	8.29 ± 0.156	7.70 ± 0.722	0.459
Terrisporobacter	7.96 ± 0.473	4.20 ± 0.794	0.001
Turicibacter	8.23 ± 0.324	4.83 ± 0.741	<0.00
Veillonella	4.47 ± 0.236	6.90 ± 0.843	0.042
Veillonellaceae unclassified	ND	4.83 ± 1.14	-
Fusobacteriota	5.01 ± 0.228	5.15 ± 0.824	0.879
Fusobacterium	5.00 ± 0.225	5.10 ± 0.839	0.916
Patescibacteria	5.46 ± 0.205	5.58 ± 0.717	0.882
Candidatus_Saccharimonas	ND	4.08 ± 0.686	-
Saccharimonadaceae_ge	4.16 ± 0.179	4.77 ± 1.15	0.629
Saccharimonadales_unclassified	5.34 ± 0.221	3.32 ± 0.658	0.003
TM7x	4.02 ± 0.158	4.97 ± 0.476	0.033
Proteobacteria	8.28 ± 0.237	7.49 ± 0.989	0.480
Actinobacillus	4.54 ± 0.535	2.94 ± 0.921	0.132
Burkholderia_Caballeronia_Parab urkholderia	6.19 ± 0.161	5.66 ± 0.615	0.442
Citrobacter	5.99 ± 0.381	4.51 ± 0.720	0.064
Enhydrobacter	5.69 ± 0.366	3.95 ± 1.04	0.070
Enterobacteriaceae_unclassified	5.82 ± 0.381	5.00 ± 0.736	0.290
Escherichia-Shigella	7.80 ± 0.339	6.64 ± 1.03	0.194

Haemophilus	ND	6.30 ± 1.14	-
Klebsiella	6.27 ± 0.440	4.11 ± 1.27	0.064
Pasteurellaceae_unclassified	4.41 ± 0.385	3.82 ± 1.11	0.537
Pseudomonas	7.27 ± 0.117	6.00 ± 1.44	0.430
Rahnella1	4.37 ± 0.275	4.37 ± 1.04	0.995
Serratia	5.23 ± 0.240	4.81 ± 1.14	0.736
Shewanella	4.73 ± 0.273	4.46 ± 1.08	0.818
Yersinia	5.31 ± 0.198	4.94 ± 1.18	0.770
Yersiniaceae unclassified	6.34 ± 0.177	5.20 ± 1.22	0.405

¹ Values are means \pm SEM; *n* = 10 pigs and 5 humans. The taxa shown in the table had a minimal relative abundance of 0.1% in at least one of the samples. To calculate the number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa, the total number of 16S rRNA gene copies was multiplied by the relative abundance of the taxa, assuming an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxon. A log₁₀ transformation of the data was needed to achieve homogenous variance. The effect of species was evaluated using an independent Student's *t* test. DM, dry matter; ND, not detected.

Appendix 3

Chapter 5: Supplementary material

Supplementary tables

Supplementary Table 5.1: Ingredient and determined nutrient composition of the experimental diet¹

	Amount
Ingredient, g DM/kg DM	
Cooked carrot (minced)	100
Canned beans (minced)	150
Peeled hard-boiled egg (minced)	120
Cooked white rice (minced)	550
Raw apple (minced)	48.5
Premix of vitamins and minerals ²	5.0
Sodium chloride	3.0
Titanium dioxide	3.0
Calcium carbonate	0.5
Dicalcium phosphate	20
Nutrient, g/kg DM	
Crude protein	143
Starch	508
Total lipid	45
Ash	49
Soluble fibre	20
Insoluble fibre	96
Total dietary fibre	116

Determined energy, MJ/kg DM

Gross energy	18.1
¹ The chemical composition of the ingredients	was obtained fror

¹The chemical composition of the ingredients was obtained from the USDA National Nutrient Database (<u>https://ndb.nal.usda.gov/;</u> version 2.3.8). DM, dry matter.

²Vitamin and mineral premixes were obtained from Vitec Nutrition Ltd (Auckland, New Zealand) and supplied (per kg of diet): Mn, 45 mg; Zn, 80 mg; Cu, 25 mg; Co, 0.5 mg; Se, 0.3 mg; Fe, 100 mg; lodine, 1.0 mg; Choline, 100 mg; all-trans retinylacetate, 3.0 mg; cholecalciferol, 0.05 mg; α-tocopherol, 50 mg; menadione, 2.0 mg; thiamine, 1.0 mg; riboflavin, 3.0 mg; nicotinic acid, 15 mg; pantothenic acid, 20 mg; pyridoxine, 2.0 mg; cyanocobalamin, 0.01 mg; folic acid, 0.5 mg; biotin, 0.1 mg.

Supplementary Table 5.2: Predicted metabolic activity for carbohydrate and protein metabolism in ileal and caecal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet, based on PICRUSt analysis¹

	GIT loc		
KEGG reference pathway	lleum	Caecum	P value
	x10 ⁶ relative a DM in	ctivity/kg diet take	
Carbohydrate metabolism			
Amino sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolism	113 ± 13.8	108 ± 8.03	0.635
Ascorbate and aldarate metabolism	16.2 ± 1.83	9.06 ± 0.67	0.023
Butanoate metabolism	49.8 ± 5.07	49.4 ± 3.41	0.919
C5-Branched dibasic acid metabolism	17.1 ± 2.76	25.3 ± 2.16	0.009
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	30.6 ± 2.48	43.8 ± 3.62	0.006
Fructose and mannose metabolism	67.0 ± 3.93	82.4 ± 6.62	0.053
Galactose metabolism	73.9 ± 8.55	61.6 ± 4.51	0.170
Glycolysis / Gluconeogenesis	98.5 ± 12.8	97.8 ± 7.56	0.948
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	26.0 ± 2.41	38.7 ± 3.04	0.009
Inositol phosphate metabolism	7.07 ± 0.79	6.71 ± 0.54	0.231
Pentose and glucuronate interconversions	37.2 ±3.31	45.6 ± 3.72	0.018
Pentose phosphate pathway	62.4 ± 7.80	75.8 ± 6.07	0.081
Propanoate metabolism	41.6 ± 4.65	41.4 ± 2.93	0.943
Pyruvate metabolism	76.0 ± 9.28	90.3 ± 6.66	0.016
Starch and sucrose metabolism	78.4 ± 11.8	84.8 ± 7.13	0.467
Amino acid metabolism			
Alanine, aspartate, and glutamate metabolism	53.5 ± 6.54	81.4 ± 6.34	0.002
Amino acid related enzymes	89.0 ± 11.1	117 ± 8.77	0.005
Arginine and proline metabolism	60.4 ± 6.63	96.2 ± 7.53	0.006
Cysteine and methionine metabolism	55.9 ± 6.94	75.3 ± 5.45	0.005
Glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism	46.5 ± 5.67	61.3 ± 4.46	0.002
Histidine metabolism	27.6 ± 3.62	50.3 ± 3.82	0.022
Lysine biosynthesis	41.8 ± 5.51	68.4 ± 5.36	0.002
Lysine degradation	7.50 ± 0.80	8.00 ± 0.57	0.189
Phenylalanine metabolism	7.19 ± 0.95	13.8 ± 1.19	0.002
Phenylalanine, tyrosine, and tryptophan biosynthesis	33.3 ± 4.87	68.4 ± 5.83	0.002
Tryptophan metabolism	12.6 ± 1.55	8.55 ± 0.62	0.033
Tyrosine metabolism	30.9 ± 3.63	28.3 ± 2.03	0.389
Valine, leucine, and isoleucine biosynthesis	47.1 ± 7.72	63.3 ± 5.08	0.009
Valine, leucine, and isoleucine degradation	18.4 ± 2.23	12.2 ± 0.75	0.025
Metabolism of other amino acids			
Cyanoamino acid metabolism	19.0 ± 3.32	18.5 ± 1.61	0.859
D-Alanine metabolism	11.6 ± 1.66	8.76 ± 0.60	0.088

D-Arginine and D-ornithine metabolism	0.11 ± 0.05	0.14 ± 0.02	0.560
D-Glutamine and D-glutamate metabolism	10.0 ± 1.24	11.6 ± 0.81	0.142
Glutathione metabolism	18.9 ± 2.66	11.4 ± 0.79	0.026
Phosphonate and phosphinate metabolism	5.38 ± 0.58	5.71 ± 0.76	0.687
Selenocompound metabolism	26.0 ± 3.13	26.9 ± 2.02	0.765
Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism	9.28 ± 1.12	7.30 ± 0.50	0.113
β-Alanine metabolism	6.29 ± 0.53	10.5 ± 1.00	0.015

¹ Values are means \pm SEM; n = 5. The effect of GIT location was tested using a paired t test. GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes; PICRUSt, phylogenetic investigation of communities by reconstruction of unobserved states.

Supplementary Table 5.3: SCFA production during in vitro ileal and hindgut fermentation

of pigs fed a human-type diet1

SCFA	lleum	Hindgut	P value
	mmol/kg Dl	M incubated	
Acetate	384 ± 65.7	121 ± 70.2	0.090
Propionate	11.5 ± 2.19	97.6 ± 19.2	0.022
Butyrate	6.90 ± 4.60	113 ± 13.0	0.011
Iso-butyrate	1.06 ± 0.17	4.82 ± 1.50	0.062
Iso-valerate	4.28 ± 0.73	6.25 ± 1.24	0.020
Valerate	1.71 ± 1.00	14.7 ± 1.40	0.002

¹ Values are means \pm SEM; n = 5. The effect of GIT location was tested using a paired *t* test. DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; SCFA, short-chain fatty acid.

Supplementary Table 5.4: Nutrient composition and nutrient content (normalised) of

terminal jejunum and terminal ileal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet¹

	GIT lo	ocation	
	Terminal	Terminal	Р
	jejunum	ileum	value
Nutrient composition, g/kg DM			
Organic matter	891 ± 76	834 ± 9.49	0.015
Crude protein	236 ± 8.68	188 ± 9.13	0.012
Lipid	12.4 ± 3.64	14.7 ± 2.38	0.466
Starch	107 ± 15.2	82.0 ± 6.27	0.214
Normalised nutrient content, g/kg diet DM intake			
Organic matter	246 ± 21.8	141 ± 10.3	0.010
Crude protein	65.4 ± 6.69	32.0 ± 2.90	0.004
Lipid	3.51 ± 1.12	2.53 ± 0.52	0.291
Starch	30.7 ± 6.5	13.9 ± 1.54	0.067

¹ Values are means \pm SEM; n = 5. Terminal jejunum and terminal ileal digesta were the substrate for ileal and hindgut fermentation, respectively. The effect of GIT location was tested using a paired t test. DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract.



Supplementary Figure 5.1: Relative abundance of archaeal and bacterial phyla in ileal and caecal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5).



Supplementary Figure 5.2: Relative abundance of archaeal and bacterial genera in ileal and caecal digesta of pigs fed a human-type diet (n = 5).

Appendix 4

Chapter 6: Supplementary material

Supplemental methods

Microbial analysis

Quantitative PCR. The total bacteria concentration was determined using a LightCycler 480 Real-Time PCR instrument (Roche) as described previously [286]. In short, *Escherichia coli* (Nissle) was used to prepare a standard curve. DNA was amplified using SyBr Green detection chemistry (Roche). Total reaction volume included 10 μ L Master mix, 2 μ L forward-primer (5'-TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT) (5 μ M), 2 μ L reverse-primer (5'-GGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTT) (5 μ M), 1 μ L water, and 5 μ L extracted DNA.

16S rRNA gene sequencing and bioinformatics. The Illumina MiSeq sequencing was performed at the Massey Genome Service (Massey University) [286]. Primers were used to amplify the V3-V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene, 16SF_V3 (5' - AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-

TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG) and 16SR_V4 (5' -CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-

AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT). The sequencing data were analysed using Mothur V1.44.1 [334, 378]. Briefly, 12,340,891 paired-end reads were assembled before undergoing quality control; reads with more than eight homopolymers and uncalled bases were removed. The average length of the sequences was 420 bp. The sequences were aligned against the SLIVA database (version 138) [379] and the Greengenes database (version 13_8) [338]. After alignment and filtering, a pre-clustering step (4 bp) was performed to denoise and reduce the effect of sequencing errors. Chimeras were removed using VSEARCH [380]. The non-bacterial sequences were removed. The remaining 8,136,634

reads were clustered into OTUs with a 97% cut off. A subsample of 100,567 reads per sample was. The BIOM tables were exported and uploaded in Calypso (version 8.84) [381] and Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUSt) [382]. Calypso was used to obtain the taxonomic composition and Shannon diversity numbers and perform principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) according to Bray-Curtis dissimilarities. PICRUSt was used to predict the metabolic activity of the ileal and faecal microbial communities.

Calculations

To determine *in vitro* OM fermentation for either ileal or hindgut fermentation, the following equations were used as described previously [292]:

OM fermentation in vitro (%) = (OMbefore in vitro fermentation - [OMafter in vitro fermentation - ((OMblank initial + OMblank final)/2)]) / OMbefore in vitro fermentation x 100

where OM_{blank initial} and OM_{blank final} are the amounts of OM in the blanks prior to (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. For each diet, the *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation had their own blanks.

The calculation used to determine the normalised nutrient contents was as follows:

2) Normalised nutrient content_{terminal} jejunal or terminal ileal digesta (g/kg diet DM intake) = nutrient concentration_{terminal} jejunal or terminal ileal digesta (g/kg DM) x (TiO₂-diet/TiO₂-terminal jejunum or terminal ileal digesta)

where TiO_{2-diet} and TiO_{2-terminal jejunal or terminal ileal digesta are the TiO₂ (g/kg DM) in the diet and digesta, respectively.}

The *in vivo* ileal and hindgut OM fermentation were determined as follows:

OM fermentation *in vivo* (%) = ((Normalised OM content_{terminal} jejunal or terminal ileal digesta (g/kg DM) – Normalised OM content terminal ileal digesta or faeces) / Normalised OM content_{terminal} jejunal or terminal ileal digesta) x 100

The estimated *in vivo / in vitro* ileal and hindgut production of SCFAs was determined as described previously [292] using the following equations:

- Production of SCFA_{ileal or hindgut in vitro} (mmol/kg substrate DM incubated) = (SCFA_{after in} vitro fermentation (mmol/kg DM) [(SCFA_{blank initial} + SCFA_{blank final})/2])
- 5) Estimated production of SCFAileal or hindgut *in vivo / in vitro* (mmol/kg diet DM intake) = production of SCFAileal or hindgut *in vitro* (mmol/kg substrate DM incubated) x (TiO_{2-diet}/TiO_{2-terminal} jejunal or terminal ileal digesta)

where SCFAs_{blank initial} and SCFAs_{blank final} are the SCFAs (mmol/kg DM) in the blanks prior to (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. For each diet, the *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation had their own blanks.

The normalised total number of bacteria and the number per taxa in ileal digesta and faeces were calculated as follows [286]:

- 6) Normalised total number of bacteria_{ileal digesta or faeces} (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg DM intake) = number of bacteria_{ileal digesta or faeces} (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg DM) x (TiO_{2-diet}/ TiO<sub>2-terminal ileal digesta or faeces)
 </sub>
- 7) Normalised number of bacteria per taxaileal digesta or faeces (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg DM intake) = normalised total number of bacteriaileal digesta or faeces (16S rRNA gene copy number/kg DM intake) x relative abundancephylum/genus (%) / 100

Supplementary tables

Supplementary Table 6.1: Ingredient and determined nutrient composition of CEL, KF, and

PSY diets¹

	CEL	CEL+KF	CEL+PSY
Ingredient, g/kg DM			
CEL ²	45	23	23
PSY ²	-	-	24
KF (DM) ^{2,3}	-	110	-
Wheat starch	522	482	519
Lactic casein	210	205	210
Sucrose	141	102	141
Soya oil	50	46	50
Dicalcium phosphate	20	20	20
Sodium chloride	3	3	3
Calcium carbonate	1	1	1
Vitamin/mineral mix ⁴	5	5	5
Titanium dioxide	3	3	3
Nutrient, g/kg DM			
Ash	35	39	36
Crude protein	175	198	178
Total fat	48	51	49
Total starch	405	431	417
Total sugars	121	132	123
Total dietary fibre	45	44	45
Insoluble dietary fibre ⁵	45	33	24
Soluble dietary fibre ⁵	0	11	21
Titanium dioxide	3	3	3
Gross energy, MJ/kg	17.4	18.2	17.4

¹CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter, KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium.

 2 The total dietary fibre content was 100, 91, and 19% for CEL, PSY, and KF pulp, respectively.

³ Freshly peeled and crushed KF was added to the diet immediately before feeding. ⁴ Vitamin and mineral premixes were obtained from Vitec Nutrition Ltd (Auckland, New Zealand) and supplied (per kg of diet as-fed): Mn, 45 mg; Zn, 80 mg; Cu, 25 mg; Co, 0.5 mg; Se, 0.3 mg; Fe, 100 mg; I, 1.0 mg; choline, 100 mg; all-trans retinyl acetate, 3.0 mg; cholecalciferol, 0.05 mg; α-tocopherol, 50 mg; menadione, 2.0 mg; thiamine, 1.0 mg; riboflavin, 3.0 mg; nicotinic acid, 15 mg; pantothenic acid, 20 mg; pyridoxine, 2.0 mg; cyanocobalamin, 0.01 mg; folic acid, 0.5 mg; biotin, 0.1 mg. ⁵ Calculated values based on reported percentages of soluble dietary fibre in PSY

(85%) [383] and KF (47%) [354].

Supplementary Table 6.2: Frequency of occurrence of taxa in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for forty-

two days¹

		lle	al dige	sta		P value ²		Faeces			P value ²	P value
Phylum	Genus	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	Diet	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	Diet	GIT region
Sample	size, <i>n</i> ³	7	7	5			7	8	6			
Actinoba	cteriota	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
	Bifidobacterium	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
	Collinsella	0.143	0.714	0.600	0.178	0.159	1.00*	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	<0.001
	Eggerthellaceae ⁴	0.286	0.286	0.600	0.188	0.494	1.00*	1.00*	1.00	0.000	-	<0.001
	Enorma	0.143 ^{ab}	0.571ª	0.000 ^b	0.132	0.004	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	0.028
	Olsenella	0.571 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.600 ^{ab}	0.166	0.029	1.00*	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.029
Bacteroi	dota	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
	Alloprevotella	0.857	0.857	1.00	0.108	0.288	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.288
	Bacteroidales ⁴	0.857	1.00	1.00	0.076	0.288	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.288
	Bacteroides	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
	Bacteroidia ⁴	0.143	0.286	0.000	0.125	0.103	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	<0.001
	Muribaculaceae ⁴	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
	Parabacteroides	0.571 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.600 ^{ab}	0.166	0.029	1.00*	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.029
	Prevotellaceae ⁴	0.571 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.600 ^{ab}	0.166	0.029	1.00*	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.029
	Prevotella	1.00	0.857	1.00	0.076	0.288	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.288
	Prevotellaceae_NK3B31_group	0.714	0.857	0.400	0.178	0.459	1.00	1.00	1.00*	0.000	-	0.010
	Prevotellaceae_UCG001	0.143	0.000	0.400	0.148	0.077	1.00*	0.875*	1.00*	0.067	0.775	0.010
	Prevotellaceae_UCG003	0.000	0.286	0.000	0.099	0.103	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	<0.001
	Rikenellaceae_RC9_gut_group	0.000 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.400 ^b	0.126	0.010	1.00*	1.00	1.00*	0.000	-	0.010

0.143	0.429	0.400	0.183	0.508	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	0.010
1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
0.143	0.286	0.000	0.125	0.103	1.00*	0.875*	1.00*	0.067	0.293	<0.001
0.000	0.143	0.000	0.076	0.288	1.00*	0.875*	1.00*	0.067	0.293	<0.001
1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
0.286	0.286	0.400	0.188	0.896	1.00*	0.750*	0.00*	0.088	0.112	0.002
0.714	0.714	0.800	0.173	0.934	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.103
1.00	0.857	1.00	0.076	0.288	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.288
0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.429 ^{b*}	1.00 ^{a*}	1.00 ^{a*}	0.108	0.001	0.033
1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
0.429	0.286	0.200	0.179	0.700	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	0.004
0.143	0.429	0.400	0.183	0.485	0.143	0.625	0.333	0.167	0.217	0.698
0.857	0.875	0.800	0.149	0.799	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.271
1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.857	1.00	1.00	0.076	0.293	0.293
0.571	0.857	0.400	0.183	0.319	1.00*	1.00	1.00*	0.000	-	0.029
0.429	0.286	0.600	0.193	0.577	1.00*	1.00*	1.00	0.000	-	0.004
0.143 ^{ab}	0.571ª	0.000 ^b	0.132	0.004	1.00*	1.00*	0.833*	0.088	0.288	0.028
0.714	0.571	0.600	0.193	0.946	1.00	1.00*	1.00	0.000	-	0.029
1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
0.714	0.571	0.600	0.193	0.848	1.00	1.00*	1.00	0.000	-	0.029
0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	0.857 ^{ab*}	0.500 ^{b*}	1.00 ^{a*}	0.127	0.008	0.010
0.286ª	0.000 ^b	0.200 ^a	0.143	0.047	0.857 ^{a*}	0.375 ^{b*}	1.00 ^{a*}	0.125	0.047	0.004
0.571 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.400 ^b	0.166	0.029	1.00*	1.00	1.00*	0.000	-	0.029
0.000	0.143	0.200	0.128	0.271	1.00*	0.875*	1.00*	0.067	0.293	<0.001
1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
0.286	0.286	0.200	0.173	0.934	0.857*	1.00*	0.667*	0.135	0.099	0.002
1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
	0.143 1.00 0.143 0.000 1.00 0.286 0.714 1.00 0.000 1.00 0.429 0.143 0.857 1.00 0.571 0.429 0.143 ^{ab} 0.714 1.00 0.714 1.00 0.714 0.000 0.286 ^a 0.571 ^b 0.000 1.00 0.286 1.00	0.143 0.429 1.00 1.00 0.143 0.286 0.000 0.143 1.00 1.00 0.286 0.286 0.714 0.714 1.00 0.857 0.000 0.000 1.00 0.000 1.00 0.000 1.00 0.286 0.143 0.429 0.857 0.875 1.00 1.00 0.571 0.857 0.429 0.286 0.143^{ab} 0.571^{a} 0.714 0.571 1.00 1.00 0.714 0.571 0.000 0.000 0.286^{a} 0.000^{b} 0.571^{b} 1.00^{a} 0.000 0.143 1.00 1.00 0.286 0.286 1.00 1.00	0.143 0.429 0.400 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.143 0.286 0.000 0.000 0.143 0.000 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.714 0.714 0.800 1.00 0.857 1.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.429 0.286 0.400 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.571 0.857 0.400 0.571 0.857 0.400 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.143 ^{ab} 0.571 ^a 0.000 ^b 0.714 0.571 0.600 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.714 0.571 0.600 0.714 0.571 0.600 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.5	0.1430.4290.4000.1831.001.001.000.0000.1430.2860.0000.1250.0000.1430.0000.0761.001.001.000.0000.2860.2860.4000.1880.7140.7140.8000.1731.000.8571.000.0760.0000.0000.0000.0001.001.001.000.0000.4290.2860.2000.1790.1430.4290.4000.1830.8570.8750.8000.1491.001.001.000.0000.5710.8570.4000.1830.4290.2860.6000.1930.143**0.571*0.6000.1930.7140.5710.6000.1930.0000.0000.0000.0000.7140.5710.6000.1930.0000.0000.0000.0000.571**1.00**0.20**0.571**1.00**0.1280.0000.1430.20**0.571**1.00**0.1281.001.001.000.0000.286*0.2860.20**0.1731.001.001.000.0000.2860.2860.20**0.1731.001.001.000.0000.2860.2860.20**0.1731.001.001.000.000	0.143 0.429 0.400 0.183 0.508 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 - 0.143 0.286 0.000 0.125 0.103 0.000 0.143 0.000 0.076 0.288 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 - 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.188 0.896 0.714 0.714 0.800 0.173 0.934 1.00 0.857 1.00 0.076 0.288 0.000 0.000 0.000 - 0.288 0.000 0.000 0.000 - 0.288 0.000 0.000 0.000 - 0.288 0.000 0.000 0.000 - 0.288 0.000 0.000 0.000 - 0.700 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.143 0.485 0.857 0.875 0.800 0.143 0.319 0.429 0.286 0.6	0.143 0.429 0.400 0.183 0.508 1.00^* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 0.143 0.286 0.000 0.125 0.103 1.00^* 0.000 0.143 0.000 0.076 0.288 1.00^* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.188 0.896 1.00^* 0.714 0.714 0.800 0.173 0.934 1.00 1.00 0.857 1.00 0.076 0.288 1.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 0.857$ 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.143 0.485 0.143 0.857 0.875 0.800 0.143 0.319 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.193 0.577 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.193 0.577 1.00^* 0.143^{ab} 0.571^{a} 0.600 0.193 0.848 1.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 $ 0.857^{a$	0.143 0.429 0.400 0.183 0.508 1.00^* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 0.143 0.286 0.000 0.125 0.103 1.00^* 0.875^* 0.000 0.143 0.000 0.076 0.288 1.00^* 0.875^* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.188 0.896 1.00^* 0.750^* 0.714 0.714 0.800 0.173 0.934 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.857 1.00 0.076 0.288 1.00 1.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^* 0.000 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^* 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.700 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.143 0.485 0.143 0.625 0.857 0.875 0.800 0.149 0.799 1.00 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.193 0.577 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.193 0.577 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.4429 0.286 0.600 0.193 0.848 1.00 1.00^* 0.4429 0.286 $0.$	0.143 0.429 0.400 0.183 0.508 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 1.00 0.143 0.286 0.000 0.125 0.103 1.00^* 0.875^* 1.00^* 0.000 0.143 0.000 0.076 0.288 1.00^* 0.875^* 1.00^* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 1.00 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.188 0.896 1.00^* 0.750^* 0.00^* 0.714 0.714 0.800 0.173 0.934 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.857 1.00 0.076 0.288 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^{a*} 1.00^{a*} 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.700 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.700 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.700 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.183 0.319 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.193 0.5771 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.0	0.143 0.429 0.400 0.183 0.508 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 1.00 0.000 0.143 0.286 0.000 0.125 0.103 1.00^* 0.875^* 1.00^* 0.667 0.000 0.143 0.000 0.076 0.288 1.00^* 0.875^* 1.00^* 0.067 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 1.00 0.001 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.188 0.896 1.00^* 0.750^* 0.00^* 0.001 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.173 0.934 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.001 0.000 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^{a*} 1.00^{a*} 0.108 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^{a*} 1.00^{a*} 0.100 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^{a*} 1.00^{a*} 0.000 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.700 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.700 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 0.429 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.700 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 0.429 0.286 0.600 0.183 0.319 1.00^*	0.143 0.429 0.400 0.183 0.508 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 0.000 $ 0.143$ 0.286 0.000 0.125 0.103 1.00^* 0.875^* 1.00^* 0.677 0.293 0.000 0.143 0.000 0.076 0.288 1.00^* 0.875^* 1.00^* 0.00^* 0.293 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00$ 1.00 0.00^* 0.293 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 1.00^*$ 0.00^* 0.00^* 0.293 0.286 0.286 0.400 0.188 0.896 1.00^* 0.75^* 0.00^* 0.088 0.112 0.714 0.714 0.800 0.773 0.934 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.000 $ 0.000$ 0.000 0.000 0.000 $ 0.429^{b*}$ 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 $ 0.000$ 0.000 0.000 $ 1.00^*$ 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 $ 0.429$ 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.701 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 $ 0.429$ 0.286 0.200 0.179 0.701 1.00^* 1.00^* 1.00^* 0.000 $ 0.429$ 0.286 0.000 0.143 0.485 0.143 <t< td=""></t<>

Lachnospiraceae_NK3A20_group	0.429 ^a	0.429 ^a	0.000 ^b	0.153	0.028	1.00 ^{a*}	0.625 ^b	1.00 ^{a*}	0.098	0.034	0.003
Lachnospiraceae_NK4A136_group	0.286	0.571	0.600	0.193	0.485	1.00*	1.00*	1.00	0.000	-	0.029
Lactobacillus	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Lactococcus	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Megamonas	0.000	0.143	0.000	0.076	0.288	0.000	0.250	0.333	0.142	0.103	0.225
Megasphaera	0.286	0.429	0.400	0.193	0.848	1.00*	0.750	1.00*	0.089	0.112	0.003
Mitsuokella	0.143	0.000	0.200	0.128	0.271	1.00 ^{a*}	0.250 ^{b*}	0.833 ^{b*}	0.125	0.014	0.003
Oscillospirales ⁴	0.857	1.00	0.600	0.148	0.627	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.077
Oscillospiraceae ⁴	0.429	0.857	0.600	0.183	0.317	1.00*	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.004
Oscillospiraceae_NK4A214_group	0.000 ^b	0.571ª	0.200 ^{ab}	0.149	0.004	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	0.029
Oscillospiraceae_UCG002	0.714	1.00	1.00	0.099	0.104	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.093
Oscillospiraceae_UCG005	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Phascolarctobacterium	0.571	0.571	0.800	0.184	0.383	1.00*	1.00*	1.00	0.000	-	0.028
Romboutsia	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Ruminococcaceae ⁴	0.714	0.714	0.600	0.188	0.896	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.103
Ruminococcaceae_UBA1819	0.143	0.143	0.200	0.149	0.962	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	<0.001
Ruminococcus	0.714 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	0.400 ^b	0.159	0.010	1.00	1.00	1.00*	0.000	-	0.010
Selenomonadaceae ⁴	0.143	0.857	0.400	0.166	0.187	1.00*	0.875	1.00*	0.067	0.293	0.008
Selenomonas	0.571	0.857	0.400	0.183	0.721	1.00	0.750	0.833	0.183	0.118	0.110
Solobacterium	0.429	0.571	0.400	0.198	0.809	1.00*	1.00*	0.833*	0.088	0.286	0.008
Streptococcus	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Subdoligranulum	0.714	0.714	0.600	0.188	0.683	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	0.103
Succiniclasticum	0.429	0.286	0.000	0.146	0.858	0.429	0.625	0.667	0.184	0.651	0.060
Syntrophococcus	0.429	0.429	0.400	0.198	0.994	1.00*	0.875*	1.00*	0.068	0.293	0.006
Terrisporobacter	0.143 ^b	0.571ª	0.400 ^a	0.183	0.021	0.143 ^b	0.875 ^a	0.667ª	0.151	0.021	0.186
Weissella	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Fusobacteriota	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-

Fusobacterium	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Patescibacteria	1.00	0.714	1.00	0.099	0.104	0.714*	0.500*	0.500*	0.184	0.660	0.038
Candidatus_Saccharimonas	0.286	0.143	0.200	0.162	0.812	0.571	0.250	0.333	0.178	0.456	0.226
Proteobacteria	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Anaerobiospirillum	0.143	0.286	0.000	0.125	0.105	1.00*	0.750*	1.00*	0.087	0.107	<0.001
Budvicia	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Citrobacter	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Cronobacter	0.857	0.857	1.00	0.108	0.288	0.143*	0.250*	0.500*	0.166	0.399	0.001
Desulfovibrio	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Enterobacterales ⁴	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Escherichia-Shigella	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Klebsiella	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Serratia	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.000	-	-
Succinivibrionaceae ⁴	0.000	0.286	0.200	0.143	0.103	0.857 ^{ab*}	0.375 ^{b*}	1.00 ^{a*}	0.125	0.038	0.003
Succinivibrio	0.143	0.429	0.400	0.183	0.508	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	0.010
Spirochaetota	0.286 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.400 ^{at}	⁹ 0.159	0.010	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	0.010
Treponema	0.286 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.400 ^b	0.159	0.010	1.00*	1.00	1.00*	0.000	-	0.010
Synergistota	0.286	0.571	0.600	0.193	0.485	1.00*	1.00*	1.00	0.000	-	0.028
Cloacibacillus	0.000	0.143	0.000	0.076	0.288	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*	0.000	-	<0.001
Pyramidobacter	0.000	0.143	0.200	0.128	0.271	0.714*	0.750*	0.833*	0.132	0.880	0.001
Synergistaceae ⁴	0.000	0.143	0.000	0.077	0.288	0.857*	0.875*	0.833*	0.111	0.976	<0.001

¹ Values are frequencies. Only taxa with >1% abundance were included. The frequency analysis was performed using a binary logistic regression for each GIT region with 0 when the taxon was not present and 1 when the taxon was present with a relative abundance >0.1%. The means within each GIT region with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$), and the means with an asterisk for the faeces differ ($P \le 0.05$) from their ileal digesta counterparts. CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium.

² If the taxon was present in all samples of one (or both) GIT region(s) (i.e., frequency equals 1.00), no statistical analysis was conducted for that GIT region. Likewise, if the taxon was present in none of the samples of one GIT region (i.e., frequency equals 0.000), no statistical analysis was conducted for that GIT region. The diet effect was determined for each GIT region individually.

³ n indicates the number of replicates. The different numbers of replicates are due to insufficient digesta or faeces collected for analysis.

⁴ Bacteria could only be classified as far as order or family level.

lleal digesta			sta			Faeces			P value ²			
Phylum	Genus	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	Diet	GIT region	Interaction
Sample siz	ze, <i>n</i> ³	7	7	5		7	8	6				
			<i>log</i> 10	16S rR	NA gene	copies/kg	diet DM ii	ntake				
Total bacte	eria	13.2 ^b	13.1 ^b	13.6ª	0.177	12.8 ^b	12.8 ^b	13.3ª	0.112	0.007	0.057	-
Actinobact	teriota	10.7	10.5	10.7	0.194	11.6*	11.4*	11.6*	0.138	0.575	<0.001	-
	Bifidobacterium	9.48	9.50	9.38	0.261	9.18	9.21	9.08	0.255	0.920	0.251	-
	Collinsella	ND	ND	ND	-	10.3 ^b	10.1 ^b	11.2 ^a	0.225	0.003	-	-
	Eggerthellaceae ⁴	7.63	7.64	7.86	0.238	10.1*	10.1*	10.4*	0.159	0.220	<0.001	-
	Enorma	ND	ND	ND	-	9.83	10.6	9.18	0.367	0.052	-	-
	Olsenella	8.63	8.28	8.58	0.322	10.9*	10.6*	10.9*	0.314	0.608	<0.001	-
Bacteroido	ota	10.9 ^b	10.9 ^b	11.3ª	0.157	12.3 ^{b*}	12.3 ^{b*}	12.7 ^{a*}	0.117	0.019	<0.001	-
	Alloprevotella	8.84	8.84	9.40	0.307	10.1*	10.1*	10.7*	0.226	0.139	<0.001	-
	Bacteroidales ⁴	8.61 ^b	9.07 ^{ab}	9.49 ^a	0.234	10.3 ^{b*}	10.7 ^{ab*}	11.1 ^{a*}	0.177	0.044	<0.001	-
	Bacteroides	10.7	10.6	11.0	0.168	11.9*	11.8*	12.3*	0.163	0.086	<0.001	-
	Bacteroidia ⁴	ND	ND	ND	-	9.34 ^b	9.71 ^{ab}	10.4 ^a	0.306	0.013	-	-
	Muribaculaceae ⁴	9.64	9.55	9.84	0.197	10.6*	10.6*	10.8*	0.193	0.505	<0.001	-
	Parabacteroides	8.52 ^b	8.95 ^{ab}	9.15 ^a	0.271	10.8 ^{b*}	11.3 ^{ab} *	11.5 ^{a*}	0.168	0.037	<0.001	-
	Prevotellaceae ⁴	8.66	8.50	8.76	0.282	11.3*	11.1*	11.4*	0.195	0.607	<0.001	-
	Prevotella	9.38 ^{ab}	8.62 ^b	9.72 ^a	0.291	11.0 ^{ab*}	10.2 ^{b*}	11.3 ^{a*}	0.286	0.045	<0.001	-
	Prevotellaceae NK3B31 group	8.09 ^b	8.51 ^{ab}	9.05 ^a	0.318	10.4 ^{b*}	10.8 ^{ab} *	11.4 ^{a*}	0.218	0.015	<0.001	-
	Prevotellaceae UCG001	ND	ND	ND	-	9.27 ^{ab}	8.96 ^b	10.6 ^a	0.371	0.013	-	-
	Prevotellaceae UCG003	ND	ND	ND	-	9.88	9.95	9.87	0.307	0.979	-	-
	Rikenellaceae RC9 gut group	ND	ND	ND	-	10.2	10.7	10.7	0.269	0.197	-	-

Supplementary Table 6.3: Taxonomic composition in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for forty-two days¹

	Tannerellaceae ⁴	ND	ND	ND	-	9.97 ^b	10.5 ^{ab}	11.1 ^a	0.242	0.022	-	-
Desulfoba	cterota	9.41 ^{ab}	9.20 ^b	9.82 ^a	0.202	11.2 ^{ab*}	11.0 ^{b*}	11.6 ^{a*}	0.115	0.003	<0.001	-
Fibrobacte	rota	ND	ND	ND	-	9.18	9.95	10.5	0.578	0.294	-	-
	Fibrobacter	ND	ND	ND	-	9.18	9.94	10.5	0.578	0.297	-	-
Firmicutes		12.8 ^b	12.9 ^{ab}	13.1ª	0.144	12.5 ^{b*}	12.5 ^{ab*}	12.8 ^{a*}	0.101	0.042	0.010	-
	Acidaminococcus	7.76 ^{ab}	6.66 ^b	8.00 ^a	0.345	10.6 ^{ab*}	9.5 ^{b*}	10.9 ^a *	0.338	0.036	<0.001	-
	Anaerovoracaceae ⁴	8.82 ^a	7.79 ^b	8.57 ^{ab}	0.284	10.1 ^{a*}	9.11 ^{b*}	9.89 ^{ab*}	0.277	0.009	<0.001	-
	Blautia	9.22	9.16	9.71	0.284	10.5*	10.4*	11.0*	0.217	0.159	<0.001	-
	Butyricicoccaceae UCG008	ND	ND	ND	-	8.28	9.60	9.12	0.549	0.232	-	-
	Carnobacterium	11.5 ^b	11.6 ^{ab}	11.9 ^a	0.152	10.4 ^{b*}	10.5 ^{ab*}	10.8 ^{a*}	0.092	0.045	<0.001	-
	Catenisphaera	ND	ND	ND	-	10.7ª	9.01 ^b	10.1ª	0.212	<0.001	-	-
	Christensenellaceae R7 group	8.49	8.73	8.92	0.249	11.0*	11.3*	11.5*	0.242	0.370	<0.001	-
	Clostridium sensu stricto 1	9.34 ^b	11.2ª	10.3 ^b	0.310	8.91 ^b	10.8 ^a	9.84 ^b	0.302	<0.001	0.170	-
	Clostridia UCG0144	8.40	8.89	8.44	0.395	10.2*	10.7*	10.2*	0.385	0.498	<0.001	-
	Colidextribacter	7.90	8.02	8.27	0.305	9.92*	10.0*	10.3*	0.297	0.633	<0.001	-
	Coprococcus	ND	ND	ND	-	9.94	10.2	10.0	0.448	0.884	-	-
	Dorea	8.02	8.35	8.68	0.316	10.0*	10.3*	10.7*	0.308	0.256	<0.001	-
	Enterococcus	10.5 ^b	10.7 ^{ab}	11.1 ^a	0.207	9.6 ^{b*}	9.8 ^{ab*}	10.2 ^{a*}	0.124	0.008	<0.001	-
	Erysipelotrichaceae ⁴	8.06	8.11	8.80	0.328	9.82*	9.87*	10.6*	0.319	0.155	<0.001	-
	Erysipelotrichaceae UCG006	ND	ND	ND	-	10.2ª	7.95 [⊳]	10.3ª	0.484	0.003	-	-
	Erysipelotrichaceae UCG009	ND	ND	ND	-	9.55ª	7.64 ^b	9.55ª	0.474	0.011	-	-
	Family XIII AD3011 group	7.87 ^b	8.72 ^a	8.81 ^a	0.209	10.5 ^{b*}	11.3 ^{a*}	11.4 ^{a*}	0.164	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Holdemanella	ND	ND	ND	-	9.29 ^b	9.45 ^{ab}	10.2 ^a	0.300	0.009	-	-
	Lachnoclostridium	9.08	9.39	9.77	0.237	9.33	9.64	10.0	0.233	0.060	0.196	-
	Lachnospira	ND	ND	ND	-	8.99	9.88	8.73	0.426	0.153	-	-
	Lachnospiraceae ⁴	10.1 ^{ab}	9.75 ^b	10.3 ^a	0.181	11.8 ^{ab*}	11.4 ^{b*}	12.0 ^{a*}	0.118	0.012	<0.001	-

	Lachnospiraceae NK3A20 group	ND	ND	ND	-	10.2ª	7.97 ^b	10.5ª	0.295	<0.001	-	-
	Lachnospiraceae NK4A136 group	7.87	8.40	7.81	0.305	9.47*	10.0*	9.41*	0.297	0.209	<0.001	-
	Lactobacillus	12.1 ^a	11.4 ^b	12.2 ^a	0.197	10.5 ^a *	9.80 ^{b*}	10.7 ^a *	0.158	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Lactococcus	12.7	12.7	12.2	0.234	10.2*	10.8*	10.7*	0.219	0.448	<0.001	0.023
	Megasphaera	7.81	7.62	8.04	0.447	10.6 ^a *	8.81 ^b	11.4 ^{a*}	0.423	0.004	<0.001	0.039
	Mitsuokella	ND	ND	ND	-	10.1 ^a	7.49 ^b	8.94 ^b	0.373	<0.001	-	-
	Oscillospirales ⁴	8.55 ^b	8.94 ^{ab}	8.94 ^a	0.192	11.3 ^{b*}	11.6 ^{ab*}	11.6 ^{a*}	0.146	0.016	<0.001	-
	Oscillospiraceae ⁴	7.90	8.24	8.46	0.243	10.2*	10.5*	10.8*	0.237	0.183	<0.001	-
	Oscillospiraceae NK4A214 group	ND	ND	ND	-	10.8	10.8	11.1	0.167	0.068	-	-
	Oscillospiraceae UCG002	8.84 ^b	8.86 ^{ab}	9.32ª	0.233	10.6 ^{b*}	10.9 ^{ab*}	11.4 ^{a*}	0.228	0.007	<0.001	-
	Oscillospiraceae UCG005	9.08	9.35	9.44	0.225	10.7*	11.0*	11.1*	0.221	0.260	<0.001	-
	Phascolarctobacterium	8.10 ^b	8.24 ^{ab}	8.79 ^a	0.268	10.8 ^{b*}	10.9 ^{ab*}	11.5 ^{a*}	0.166	0.018	<0.001	-
	Romboutsia	9.71 ^b	10.8ª	10.1 ^{ab}	0.259	8.98 ^{b*}	10.1 ^{a*}	9.37 ^{ab*}	0.252	0.0.03	0.007	-
	Ruminococcaceae ⁴	8.26	8.50	8.68	0.284	10.1*	10.3*	10.5*	0.276	0.489	<0.001	-
	Ruminococcaceae UBA1819	ND	ND	ND	-	9.98	9.82	10.5	0.360	0.451	-	-
	Ruminococcus	8.29	8.72	8.28	0.326	10.5*	10.9*	10.4*	0.317	0.419	<0.001	-
	Selenomonadaceae ⁴	ND	ND	ND	-	10.8 ^a	9.23 ^b	10.2 ^{ab}	0.385	0.027	-	-
	Selenomonas	8.69	8.04	8.40	0.400	9.72*	9.07*	9.43*	0.390	0.375	0.012	-
	Solobacterium	8.15	7.93	7.68	0.352	10.2*	9.96*	9.71*	0.343	0.568	<0.001	-
	Streptococcus	11.3	11.2	11.6	0.135	10.0*	9.93*	10.3*	0.093	0.081	<0.001	-
	Subdoligranulum	8.60	8.21	8.96	0.297	10.9*	10.6*	11.3*	0.210	0.090	<0.001	-
	Succiniclasticum	ND	ND	ND	-	8.14	7.74	9.18	0.619	0.275	-	-
	Syntrophococcus	8.06	7.26	7.90	0.272	10.6*	9.81*	10.4*	0.224	0.100	<0.001	-
	Weissella	11.6	11.9	11.3	0.235	8.58 ^{b*}	9.48 ^{a*}	9.62 ^{a*}	0.219	0.019	<0.001	0.004
Fusobacte	riota	9.76	9.88	10.4	0.261	10.5*	10.6*	11.1*	0.254	0.112	0.010	-
	Fusobacterium	9.69	9.84	10.4	0.257	10.43	10.6*	11.1*	0.250	0.087	0.006	-
Patescibad	cteria	9.13	8.61	8.95	0.327	8.15*	7.62*	7.97*	0.320	0.509	0.002	-

Candidatus Saccharimonas	ND	ND	ND	-	7.83	7.45	7.67	0.470	0.838	-	-
Proteobacteria	12.8 ^b	12.4 ^c	13.4 ^a	0.188	11.7 ^{b*}	11.3°	12.3 ^{a*}	0.117	<0.001	<0.001	-
Anaerobiospirillum	ND	ND	ND	-	10.1ª	8.83 ^b	10.2 ^a	0.418	0.049	-	-
Budvicia	10.8	10.7	11.0	0.121	9.72*	9.71*	9.93*	0.092	0.150	<0.001	-
Citrobacter	10.7	10.8	11.0	0.128	9.65*	9.76*	9.90*	0.111	0.257	<0.001	-
Cronobacter	10.1	8.49	9.23	0.523	-	-	-	-	0.201	-	-
Desulfovibrio	9.37 ^{ab}	9.14 ^b	9.76 ^a	0.202	11.2 ^{ab*}	10.9 ^{b*}	11.5 ^{a*}	0.115	0.003	<0.001	-
Enterobacterales ⁴	10.8 ^b	10.5 ^b	11.4 ^a	0.189	9.54 ^{b*}	9.24 ^{b*}	10.1 ^{a*}	0.117	<0.001	<0.001	-
Escherichia-Shigella	12.7 ^a	11.4 ^b	13.3 ^a	0.208	11.2 ^{b*}	11.0 ^b	12.1 ^{a*}	0.197	<0.001	<0.001	0.013
Klebsiella	11.2 ^{ab}	10.5 ^b	12.2 ^a	0.374	9.92 ^{ab*}	9.15 ^{b*}	10.8 ^{a*}	0.296	0.002	<0.001	-
Serratia	11.4	11.4	11.6	0.122	10.3*	10.4*	10.5*	0.099	0.338	<0.001	-
Succinivibrionaceae ⁴	ND	ND	ND	-	9.30 ^a	7.51 ^b	9.36 ^a	0.399	0.004	-	-
Succinivibrio	ND	ND	ND	-	10.5 ^{ab}	9.58 ^b	11.1 ^a	0.300	0.005	-	-
Spirochaetota	7.56 ^b	8.61 ^a	8.39 ^{ab}	0.312	10.2 ^{b*}	11.2 ^{a*}	11.0 ^{ab*}	0.304	0.016	<0.001	-
Treponema	7.55 ^b	8.61ª	8.38 ^{ab}	0.311	10.2 ^{b*}	11.2 ^{a*}	11.0 ^{ab*}	0.303	0.016	<0.001	-
Synergistota	7.68 ^b	8.12 ^b	9.19 ^a	0.310	9.88 ^{b*}	10.3 ^{b*}	11.4 ^a *	0.215	<0.001	<0.001	-
Cloacibacillus	ND	ND	ND	-	9.24 ^b	9.77 ^b	10.7 ^a	0.248	0.003	-	-
Pyramidobacter	ND	ND	ND	-	8.56	8.99	9.39	0.545	0.586	-	-
Synergistaceae ^₄	ND	ND	ND	-	8.86	9.35	10.3	0.532	0.220	-	-

¹ Values are means with pooled SEM per GIT region. Only taxa with >1% relative abundance in at least one of the samples and with >25% frequency in the ileal digesta or faecal samples (Supplemental Table 2). Data were log_{10} transformed to achieve homogenous variance. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$), and the means with an asterisk for the faeces differ ($P \le 0.05$) from their ileal digesta counterparts. CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; ND, not detected; PSY, psyllium.

² When the interaction between the diet and GIT region was not significant (P > 0.05), this interaction was removed from the model.

³ *n* indicates the number of replicates. The different numbers of replicates are due to insufficient digesta or faeces collected for analysis.

⁴ Bacteria could only be classified as far as order or family level.

Supplementary Table 6.4: Predicted metabolic activity (according to PICRUSt) related to fermentation (i.e., carbohydrate and protein metabolism) in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days¹

	lleal digesta				Faeces				<i>P</i> value ²		
KEGG reference pathway	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	CEL	CEL +KF	CEL +PSY	SEM	Diet	GIT region	Interac tion
Sample size, <i>n</i> ³	7	7	5		7	8	6				
log ₁₀ relative activity/kg diet DM intake											
Amino Acid Metabolism	11.1 ^b	10.9 ^c	10.3 ^a	0.039	10.2 ^{b*}	9.98 ^{c*}	10.4 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
Alanine, aspartate, and glutamate metabolism	10.1 ^b	9.90 ^c	10.3	0.039	9.28 ^{b*}	9.02 ^{c*}	9.43 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-
Amino acid related enzymes	10.3 ^a	10.1 ^b	10.5 ^a	0.038	9.41 ^{a*}	9.18 ^{b*}	9.55 ^{a*}	0.031	<0.001	<0.001	-
Arginine and proline metabolism	10.1 ^b	9.93 ^c	10.3 ^a	0.039	9.29 ^{b*}	9.06 ^{c*}	9.46 ^{a*}	0.035	<0.001	<0.001	-
Cysteine and methionine metabolism	10.2 ^b	9.92 ^c	10.4 ^a	0.038	9.21 ^{b*}	8.96 ^{c*}	9.40 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
Glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism	10.1 ^b	9.83 ^c	10.3 ^a	0.039	9.16 ^{b*}	8.92 ^{c*}	9.37 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
Histidine metabolism	9.86 ^a	9.63 ^b	9.94 ^a	0.040	9.02 ^{a*}	8.79 ^{b*}	9.10 ^{a*}	0.035	<0.001	<0.001	-
Lysine biosynthesis	10.0 ^a	9.78 ^b	10.1 ^a	0.038	9.13 ^{a*}	8.89 ^{b*}	9.25 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
Lysine degradation	9.55 ^b	9.14 ^c	9.83 ^a	0.056	8.35 ^{a*}	8.18 ^{b*}	8.56 ^{a*}	0.063	<0.001	<0.001	0.025
Phenylalanine metabolism	9.37 ^b	9.14 ^c	9.64 ^a	0.044	8.52 ^{b*}	8.29 ^{c*}	8.79 ^{a*}	0.037	<0.001	<0.001	-
Phenylalanine, tyrosine,											
and tryptophan biosynthesis	9.98 ^b	9.74 ^c	10.2 ^a	0.038	9.16 ^{b*}	8.92 ^{c*}	9.34 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
Tryptophan metabolism	9.56 ^b	9.35 ^c	9.86 ^a	0.045	8.43 ^{b*}	8.23 ^{c*}	8.73 ^{a*}	0.040	<0.001	<0.001	-
Tyrosine metabolism	9.81 ^a	9.57 ^b	9.90 ^a	0.042	8.77 ^{a*}	8.53 ^{b*}	8.86 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-

	Valine, leucine, and isoleucine biosynthesis	10.0 ^b	9.79 ^c	10.2 ^a	0.039	9.07 ^{b*}	8.85 ^{c*}	9.26 ^{a*}	0.034	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Valine, leucine, and isoleucine degradation	9.62 ^b	9.42 ^c	9.87ª	0.043	8.61 ^{b*}	8.41 ^{c*}	8.86 ^{a*}	0.038	<0.001	<0.001	-
Ca	arbohydrate Metabolism	11.2 ^b	11.0 ^c	11.4 ^a	0.041	10.3 ^{b*}	10.2 ^{c*}	10.4 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Amino sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolism	10.4 ^a	10.1 ^b	10.5ª	0.040	9.42 ^{a*}	9.16 ^{b*}	9.52 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Ascorbate and aldarate metabolism	9.64 ^b	9.36 ^c	9.87 ^a	0.046	8.40 ^{b*}	8.11 ^{c*}	8.63 ^{a*}	0.037	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Butanoate metabolism	10.1 ^b	9.87 ^c	10.3 ^a	0.040	9.03 ^{b*}	8.82 ^{c*}	9.25 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-
	C5-Branched dibasic acid metabolism	9.66 ^b	9.44 ^c	9.92 ^a	0.041	8.73 ^{b*}	8.51 ^{c*}	8.99 ^{a*}	0.035	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	9.99 ^a	9.59 ^b	10.2 ^a	0.058	9.02 ^{a*}	8.80 ^{b*}	9.18 ^{a*}	0.047	<0.001	<0.001	0.034
	Fructose and mannose metabolism	10.2 ^a	9.96 ^b	10.4 ^a	0.043	9.25 ^{a*}	8.96 ^{b*}	9.36 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Galactose metabolism	10.0 ^a	9.80 ^b	10.1 ^a	0.048	9.07 ^{a*}	8.85 ^{b*}	9.10 ^{a*}	0.040	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Glycolysis/Gluconeogenesi s	10.3 ^a	10.0 ^b	10.4 ^a	0.041	9.27 ^{a*}	9.04 ^{b*}	9.40 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	9.85 ^b	9.58 ^c	10.1 ^a	0.041	8.98 ^{b*}	8.71 ^{c*}	9.24 ^{a*}	0.034	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Inositol phosphate metabolism	9.52 ^b	9.06 ^c	9.80 ^a	0.059	8.27 ^{a*}	8.08 ^{b*}	8.43 ^{a*}	0.047	<0.001	<0.001	0.006
	Pentose and glucuronate interconversions	10.1 ^b	9.82 ^c	10.3 ^a	0.043	8.97 ^{b*}	8.73 ^{c*}	9.22 ^{a*}	0.037	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Pentose phosphate pathway	10.1 ^b	9.86 ^c	10.2 ^a	0.040	9.16 ^{b*}	8.93 ^{c*}	9.32 ^{a*}	0.034	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Propanoate metabolism	9.96 ^b	9.78 ^c	10.1 ^a	0.046	8.91 ^{b*}	8.73 ^{c*}	9.03 ^{a*}	0.046	<0.001	<0.001	-
	Pyruvate metabolism	10.2 ^b	9.99 ^c	10.4 ^a	0.040	9.23 ^{b*}	9.01 ^{c*}	9.37 ^{a*}	0.035	<0.001	<0.001	-

Starch and sucrose metabolism	10.2 ^a	9.94 ^b	9.37 ^a	0.041	9.23 ^{a*}	8.89 ^{b*}	9.37 ^{a*}	0.035	<0.001	<0.001	-
Glycan Biosynthesis and Metabolism	10.6 ^b	10.29 ^c	10.8 ^a	0.041	9.65 ^{b*}	9.39 ^{c*}	9.86 ^{a*}	0.034	<0.001	<0.001	-
Glycosaminoglycan degradation	8.12	8.45	7.93	0.128	8.18 ^{a*}	7.86 ^{b*}	8.28 ^a	0.067	0.878	0.479	<0.001
Glycosphingolipid biosynthesis - ganglio series Glycosphingolipid biosynthesis - globo series	7.37	7.71	7.47	0.133	8.05 ^{a*}	7.70 ^b	8.15 ^{a*}	0.066	0.573	<0.001	0.002
	8.73 ^a	8.55 ^b	8.84 ^a	0.054	8.30 ^{a*}	8.12 ^{b*}	8.41 ^{a*}	0.053	<0.001	<0.001	-
Glycosyltransferases	9.89 ^b	9.65 ^c	10.1 ^a	0.041	8.79 ^{b*}	8.55 ^{c*}	8.97 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	*
Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	9.71 ^a	8.99 ^b	10.0 ^a	0.083	8.76 ^{a*}	8.43 ^{b*}	8.94 ^{a*}	0.046	<0.001	<0.001	0.001
Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis proteins	10.0 ^b	9.46 ^c	10.3 ^a	0.058	8.90 ^{a*}	8.59 ^{b*}	9.09 ^{a*}	0.055	<0.001	<0.001	0.005
N-Glycan biosynthesis	6.79	7.32	6.85	0.160	7.64 ^{ab*}	7.46 ^b	7.78 ^{a*}	0.046	0.305	<0.001	0.005
Other glycan degradation	8.84	8.93	8.91	0.078	8.69 ^{ab*}	8.46 ^{b*}	8.78 ^{a*}	0.074	0.156	<0.001	0.043
Peptidoglycan biosynthesis	10.1 ^a	9.89 ^b	10.2 ^a	0.040	9.15 ^{a*}	8.92 ^{b*}	9.22 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
Various types of N-glycan biosynthesis	4.65	4.50	4.64	0.129	5.29*	5.14*	5.28*	0.106	0.668	<0.001	-
Metabolism of Other Amino Acids	10.8 ^b	10.5 ^c	11.0 ^a	0.041	9.85 ^{b*}	9.60 ^{c*}	10.0 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-
beta-Alanine metabolism	9.53 ^b	9.04 ^c	9.83 ^a	0.059	8.53 ^{a*}	8.28 ^{b*}	8.69 ^{a*}	0.054	<0.001	<0.001	0.010
Cyanoamino acid metabolism	9.64 ^b	9.41 ^c	9.80 ^a	0.044	8.67 ^{b*}	8.43 ^{c*}	8.83 ^{a*}	0.043	<0.001	<0.001	-
D-Alanine metabolism	9.39 ^a	9.16 ^b	9.49 ^a	0.041	8.30 ^{a*}	8.08 ^{b*}	8.40 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
D-Arginine and D-ornithine metabolism	8.51 ^a	7.94 ^b	8.75 ^a	0.066	7.02 ^{ab*}	6.88 ^{b*}	7.20 ^{a*}	0.063	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
D-Glutamine and D- glutamate metabolism	9.27 ^a	9.04 ^b	9.32 ^a	0.040	8.40 ^{a*}	8.17 ^{b*}	8.45 ^{a*}	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	-
Glutathione metabolism	9.77 ^b	9.52 ^c	10.0 ^a	0.043	8.60 ^{b*}	8.34 ^{c*}	8.83 ^{a*}	0.036	<0.001	<0.001	-
--	-------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-------	--------------------	--------------------	--------------------	-------	--------	--------	--------
Phosphonate and phosphinate metabolism	9.06 ^a	8.85 ^b	9.18 ^a	0.048	7.99 ^{a*}	7.78 ^{b*}	8.11 ^{a*}	0.047	<0.001	<0.001	-
Selenocompound metabolism	9.73 ^a	9.49 ^b	9.85 ^a	0.040	8.81 ^{a*}	8.57 ^{b*}	8.93 ^{a*}	0.032	<0.001	<0.001	-
Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism	9.17 ^a	8.94 ^b	9.28 ^a	0.042	8.29 ^{a*}	8.07 ^{b*}	8.41 ^{a*}	0.035	<0.001	<0.001	-
Digestive System											
Carbohydrate digestion and absorption	8.22	8.37	8.03	0.141	7.47 ^{a*}	7.18 ^{b*}	7.51 ^a	0.066	0.745	<0.001	0.017
Protein digestion and absorption	6.49	6.88	6.68	0.149	7.66 ^{a*}	7.33 ^b	7.78 ^{a*}	0.048	0.397	<0.001	0.005
Metabolism											
Amino acid metabolism	9.49 ^b	9.26 ^c	9.70 ^a	0.041	8.59 ^{b*}	8.36 ^{c*}	8.81 ^{a*}	0.034	<0.001	<0.001	-
Carbohydrate metabolism	9.23 ^a	9.07 ^b	9.37 ^a	0.049	8.37 ^{b*}	8.21 ^{c*}	8.51 ^{a*}	0.047	<0.001	<0.001	-
Glycan biosynthesis and metabolism	9.10 ^b	8.40 ^c	9.44 ^a	0.064	7.94 ^{a*}	7.66 ^{b*}	8.11 ^{a*}	0.061	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001

¹ Values are means with pooled SEM per GIT region. Data were log_{10} transformed to achieve homogenous variance before the two-way ANOVA test. The means within each GIT region with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$), and the means with an asterisk for the faeces differ ($P \le 0.05$) from their ileal digesta counterparts. CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PICRUSt, Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States; PSY, psyllium.

² When the interaction between the diet and GIT region was not significant (P > 0.05), this interaction was removed from the model.

³ n indicates the number of replicates. The different numbers of replicates are due to insufficient digesta or faeces collected for analysis.

Supplementary figures



Supplemental Figure 6.1: Ileal and hindgut *in vivo* OM fermentation for pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days. Values are mean \pm SEM2, *n* indicates the number of replicates. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ (*P* ≤ 0.05). Means with an asterisk for the hindgut differ (*P* ≤ 0.05) from their ileal counterparts. CEL, cellulose; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; OM, organic matter; PSY, psyllium.



Supplemental Figure 6.2: Concentration of total SCFA after *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation with ileal and caecal digesta, respectively, from pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days. Values are mean \pm SEM, *n* indicates the number of replicates. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. The interaction between diet and GIT region was not significant (*P* > 0.05) and therefore removed from the final model. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ (*P* ≤ 0.05). Means with an asterisk for the hindgut differ (*P* ≤ 0.05) from their ileal counterparts. CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids.



Supplemental Figure 6.3: Concentration of (A) acetic, (B) butyric, (C) propionic, (D) valeric, (E) iso-butyric, and (F) iso-valeric acids after *in vitro* ileal and hindgut fermentation with ileal and caecal digesta, respectively, from pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days. Values are mean \pm SEM, *n* indicates the number of replicates. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet, GIT region, and the interaction between diet and GIT region. When the interaction between diet and GIT region was not significant (*P* > 0.05), it was removed from the final model. Means within each GIT region with a different letter differ (*P* ≤ 0.05). Means with an asterisk for the hindgut differ (*P* ≤ 0.05) from their ileal counterparts. When negative values were found (explained after removing SCFA found in the blanks), values are assumed to be zero (i.e., the SCFA was not produced). CEL, cellulose; DM, dry matter; GIT, gastrointestinal tract; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids.



Supplemental Figure 6.4: Relative abundance of bacterial phyla in ileal digesta and faeces of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days. Each column represents an individual replicate, n = 5-8 per diet. CEL, cellulose; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium.



Supplemental Figure 6.5: Relative abundance of bacterial taxa in ileal digesta and faeces

of pigs fed the CEL, KF, and PSY diets for 42 days. Each column represents an individual replicate, n = 5-8 per diet. CEL, cellulose; KF, kiwifruit; PSY, psyllium.

Appendix 5

Chapter 7: Supplementary material

Supplemental methods

Ingredients and diet preparations

All test foods were food-grade and sourced commercially, except wheat bread. Pigeon peas, black beans, chickpeas, and sorghum were prepared at the Food Pilot Plant (Massey University) as described below, stored at -20°C, and defrosted before use. The non-protein-containing ingredients were mixed in the Feed Mill (Massey University) and stored at -20°C until use. The mix of non-protein-containing ingredients was specific to each diet (Supplementary Table 1). In addition, two indigestible markers, titanium dioxide (TiO₂; 4 g/kg DM) and celite (7.5 g/kg DM), were added to each diet, but they were not considered in this study. On days 6 and 7, the sorghum was prepared fresh before feeding. The wheat bran was prepared fresh for all meals.

Black Bean. Dried black beans were soaked in excess water (3:4 w/v ratio of dry beans to water) at room temperature for 18 h [384]. Black beans were drained. Table salt (720 mg per 100 g of soaked black beans) and water (1:1.15 w/v ratio of soaked black beans to water) was added before cooking in a commercial pressure retort (Mauri Engineering, Palmerston North, NZ) at 100 kPa and 121°C for 20 min.

Bread. The bread was baked at the Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition Pilot Processing Plant at the University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, according to a standardised recipe. First, dry yeast and sucrose were combined with warm water. After it started foaming (i.e., yeast was active), salt, butter, flour, and the indigestible makers (titanium dioxide and celite) were added. Next, a commercial mixer (Hobart Legacy Mixer,

295

Troy, OH) was used to knead the bread dough. Then the dough was portioned into baking trays (23 x 13 x 6 cm) and allowed to rest for one hour. The bread was baked at 175°C for 35 minutes. The loaves of bread were then cooled to room temperature and frozen. Before feeding, the bread was thawed, sliced (13 mm slices), lightly toasted, and diced.

Chickpeas. Canned chickpeas (Sofia, Davis Food Ingredients) were drained and processed in a food processor for eight pulses over 15 seconds or until they reached a "chewed-like" texture.

Peanuts. Peanuts were sourced, de-shelled, and roasted. Roasted peanuts were coarsely ground.

Pigeon peas. Dried pigeon peas were prepared as described for the black beans, but with a cooking time of 10 min [384].

Sorghum. Sorghum flour was prepared as a porridge with a final ratio of 1:4 flour to water (w/v). The sorghum flour was mixed with half the water before adding it to boiling water (i.e., the other half of the water). It simmered for 20 min while constantly stirring until it acquired a thick, porridge-like consistency [385].

Wheat bran. Wheat bran (Kellogg's® All-Bran®) was mixed with water until the indigestible markers were homogeneously distributed.

Microbial analysis

The total number of bacteria (i.e., 16S rRNA gene copies) was determined using a quantitative PCR (qPCR). A qPCR instrument (LightCycler 480, Roche) was used to determine the total concentration of 16S rRNA gene copies in ileal digesta in duplicate [286]. SyBr Green detection chemistry (Roche) was used to amplify the DNA extracted for the ileal samples and the standard DNA (*Escherichia coli,* Nissle). The forward primer used was 5'-

296

TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT, and the reverse primer was (5'-GGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTT. Every qPCR run included an activation cycle (95°C, 5 min), 40 run cycles (i.e., denaturation (95°C, 30 s), annealing 60°C, 60 s) and extension (72°C, 60 s)) and one melting curve (60–95°C at 0·1°C/s). Data output was analysed using the LightCycler 480 Software (Version 1.5, Roche). The total number of 16S rRNA gene copies in the ileal digesta and the relative abundance of the taxa were used to determine the number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa with the assumption that each taxon has an equal number of 16s rRNA gene copies (calculation in Supplementary Methods).

Extracted DNA samples were sent to the Massey Genome Service (Massey University) for Illumina MiSeq sequencing to determine the taxonomic composition [286]. To amplify the V3-V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene, the following primers were used: (5' 16SF V3 AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG) 16SR V4 (5' and CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-16SF V3 AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT). (5' AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC-index-TATGGTAATTGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG) 16SR V4 (5' and CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT-index-

AGTCAGTCAGCCGGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT). The 96 libraries were prepared using the Illumina 16S V3-V4 rRNA library preparation method. The Massey Genome Service has dual index PCR primers which flank the V3-V4 hyper-variable region of 16S rRNA, which uses a Single Step PCR Library preparation method to prepare the libraries. The libraries were run on an Illumina MiSeq[™] 2X 250 base PE, version 2 chemistry. In some samples, the quality or concentration of the extracted DNA or both was too low to perform qPCR analysis and Illumina sequencing. Thus, the sample size per treatment differs.

The bioinformatics analysis was done using Mothur V1.44.2 (2, 3). Briefly, a total of 3,319,622 paired-end reads were detected. These reads were assembled and underwent quality control removing all reads with more than eight homopolymers and uncalled base. The average length of the sequences was 420 bp. Both the SLIVA database (version 138) (4) and the Greengenes database (version 13_8) (5) were used to align the sequences. After alignment, sequences were pre-clustered (4 bp) to remove noise and reduce the effect of sequencing errors. Chimeras were removed using VSEARCH (6), and all non-bacterial sequences were excluded. The remaining 2,640,909 reads were clustered into OTUs with a 97% cut off. A subsample of 47,642 reads per sample was used. The BIOM table generated after alignment with the SILVA database was used as input for Calypso (version 8.84) (7) to obtain the taxonomic composition, Shannon Diversity Index numbers and the principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarities of the ileal microbiota. Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUSt) (8) required the BIOM table generated after alignment with the Greengenes database to predict the metabolic activity of the ileal microbiota.

Calculations

The following equations were used to determine *in vitro* ileal OM fermentability [292]:

OM fermentability (%) = (OM before fermentation - [OM after fermentation - ((OM blank initial + OM blank final)/2)]) / OM before fermentation x 100

where OM _{blank initial} and OM _{blank final} are the amounts of OM in the blanks before (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. For each diet, the *in vitro* ileal fermentation had its own blanks.

The *in vitro* ileal production of organic acids was determined as described previously [292] using the following equations:

2) Organic acid production (mmol/kg substrate DM incubated) = (organic acid _{after} fermentation (mmol) – [(organic acid _{blank initial} + organic acid _{blank final})/2]) / kg DM substrate

where organic acid _{blank initial} and organic acid _{blank final} are the organic acids (mmol) in the blanks before (initial) and after (final) *in vitro* fermentation, respectively. The *in vitro* ileal fermentation had its own blanks for each inoculum.

To determine the number of bacteria per taxa in ileal digesta, it was assumed that each taxon had an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies. The number of bacteria per taxa in ileal digesta was calculated as follows [286]:

3) Number of bacteria per taxaileal digesta (16S rRNA gene copy number/g wet digesta) = total number of bacteriaileal digesta (16S rRNA gene copy number/g wet digesta) x relative abundance taxa (%) / 100

Supplementary tables

	Black Brea Chickpe Pear	Deenut	Pigeon	Sorghu	Wheat		
	bean	d	a	Peanut	pea	m	bran
Ingredient, g/kg DM ¹							
Test food	448	946	522	357	488	942	803
Maize starch	314	-	244	405	274	-	-
Cellulose	30	-	30	30	30	-	71
Rapeseed oil	50	-	50	50	50	-	71
Sucrose	100	-	100	100	100	-	-
Vitamin/mineral mix ²	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Dicalcium phosphate	25	25	25	25	25	25	25
Calcium bicarbonate	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Potassium bicarbonate	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
Sodium bicarbonate	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Sodium chloride	4	-	-	4	4	4	1
Titanium dioxide	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
Celite	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5
Nutrient, g/kg DM ¹							
Ash	65.6	79.3	65.6	54.2	62.8	62.9	75.1
Crude protein	112	114	110	113	131	95	110
Total lipids	78.0	82.1	113	265	79.5	49.8	123
Starch	431	535	440	396	436	648	230
Total dietary fibre	176	57.2	129	57.0	144	72.6	295
 Insoluble fibre 	146	46.8	121	53.4	140	67.7	278
 Soluble fibre 	30	11.4	8.8	4.15	5.23	4.87	16.0
Insoluble:soluble fibre	4.90	4.09	13.8	12.9	26.8	13.9	17.4
ratio							
Gross energy MJ/kg	17.4	16.9	18.0	20.9	17.1	16.3	18.3

Supplementary Table 7.1: The ingredient and determined nutrient composition of the diets

¹ DM, dry matter

² The vitamin and mineral premix supplied (per kg DM diet): Ca, 230 mg; Cu, 5.1 ppm; I, 0.6 ppm; Fe, 62 ppm; Mn, 30 ppm; Se, 0.15 ppm; Zn, 50 ppm; niacin, 22 mg; cobalamin, 0.02 μg; pantothenic acid, 12 mg; riboflavin, 3.3 mg; menadione, 0.7 mg; biotin, 0.2 mg; retinyl acetate, 1.7 μg; cholecalciferol, 0.03 μg; tocopheryl acetate, 32 μg; pyridoxine, 0.12 mg; folate, 0.79 mg; thiamine, 0.12 mg.

Supplementary Table 7.2: Overview of the ileal digesta samples collected during the experimental periods with the allocated diet for that

pig¹

Period	Pig 1	Pig 2	Pig 3	Pig 4	Pig 5	Pig 6	Pig 7	Pig 8	Pig 9	Pig 10	Pig 11	Pig 12	Pig 13
1	-	-	PP	BB	WB	-	-	S	В	-	Ρ	СР	-
2	-	PP	-	WB	-	-	S	В	Ρ	-	СР	-	-
3	-	-	-	PP	BB	S	WB	-	-	-	В	Ρ	CP
4						F	Protein-fre	e diet					
5							Basal d	iet					
6	PP	BB	WB	-	S	В	Ρ	СР	-	-	-	-	-
7	S	-	-	-	PP	BB	СР	WB	-	В	-	-	Ρ
8	BB	WB	-	S	В	Ρ	-	PP	-	СР	-	-	BB
9	-	S	-	-	-	PP	-	Р	-	-	-	-	-

¹A line represents no digesta sample collected from that pig during that period. B, bread; BB, black beans; CP, chickpeas; P, peanuts; PP, pigeon peas; S, sorghum; WB, wheat bran

Supplementary Table 7.3: Production of propionic and succinic acids during *in vitro* fermentation of dietary fibre substrates using pooled ileal inocula from growing pigs fed diets containing different test foods¹

.				Substrate									
Organic acid	Inoculum	AG	Cellulose	FOS	Inulin	Pectin	High-amylose starch	(range)					
				mmol/kg DM sul	bstrate								
Propionic acid	Black bean	0.376 ± 0.235 ^b	ND	2.92 ± 0.263^{a}	$0.343 \pm 0.304^{b,\$}$	$3.83 \pm 0.304^{a,\dagger}$	2.24 ± 0.263 ^{a,‡}	1.64 (0.00 - 5.12)					
	Bread	3.04 ± 0.946	1.24 ± 1.09 ^{†‡}	3.34 ± 1.09	$4.44 \pm 0.846^{\ddagger}$	ND	6.94 ± 1.34 ^{†‡}	3.17 (0.00 - 6.96)					
	Chickpea	ND	4.66 ± 0.581 [†]	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.777 (0.00 - 6.20)					
	Peanut	2.32 ± 0.465	1.68 ± 0.465 ^{†‡}	2.25 ± 0.465	ND	$3.40 \pm 0.416^{\dagger}$	1.91 ± 0.465 ^{‡§}	1.93 (0.00 - 5.44)					
	Pigeon pea	ND	1.46 ± 0.156 [‡]	1.59 ± 0.180	ND	ND	0.855 ± 0.156 [§]	0.737 (0.00 - 2.14)					
	Sorghum	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.813 ± 0.134 [‡]	ND	0.286 (0.00 - 1.65)					
	Wheat bran	ND	ND	ND	$8.49 \pm 0.272^{\dagger}$	ND	$6.72 \pm 0.352^{\dagger}$	2.65 (0.00 - 9.87)					
	Mean (range)	0.894 ± 0.169 (0.00 - 5.24)	1.36 ± 0.188 (0.00 - 6.20)	1.49 ± 0.187 (0.00 - 5.10)	1.95 ± 0.157 (0.00 - 9.87)	1.20 ± 0.188 (0.00 - 5.44)	2.69 ± 0.219 (0.00 - 7.60)						
Succinic acid	Black bean	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND						
	Bread	5.67 ± 0.533 [†]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND						
	Chickpea	6.31 ± 0.477 [†]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND						
	Peanut	$5.99 \pm 0.477^{\dagger}$	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND						
	Pigeon pea	$1.50 \pm 0.533^{\ddagger}$	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND						
	Sorghum	$0.23 \pm 0.533^{\ddagger}$	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND						

	Wheat bran	2.23 ± 0.447 [‡]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
P value		Inoculum (I)	Substrate (S)	I x S			
	Propionic acid	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001			
	Succinic acid	<0.001	-	-			

¹ Values are means \pm SEM, n = 5 fermentation bottles. A two-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of inoculum, substrate, and their interaction for propionic acid. A different repeated statement was required to have similar studentised residuals, described in the statistical analysis section. Means in a row (i.e., inoculum effect) with different letters differ ($P \le 0.05$), and means in a column (i.e., substrate effect) with different symbols differ ($P \le 0.05$). AG, arabinogalactan; DM, dry matter; FOS, fructooligosaccharides; ND, not detected.

Supplementary Table 7.4: Frequency of occurrence of taxa in ileal digesta from growing pigs fed diets for seven days containing different

test foods¹

					Diet					
Phylum	Genus	Black bean	Bread	Chickpea	Peanut	Pigeon pea	Sorghum	Wheat bran	SEM	<i>P</i> value
Sample s	size, <i>n</i> ²	4	5	4	5	6	6	6		
Actinoba	cteria	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Actinomyces	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Bifidobacterium	1.00 ^a	0.500 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.600 ^{ab}	0.857 ^{ab}	0.500 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.024	0.050
	Collinsella	0.800 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	0.600 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	0.500 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.017	0.050
Bacteroid	detes	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Alloprevotella	1.00	1.00	0.800	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.005	0.306
	Bacteroides	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Muribaculaceae_unclassified	1.00	0.750	0.600	0.800	0.857	1.00	0.833	0.024	0.118
	Parabacteroides	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Porphyromonas	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Prevotella	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Prevotellaceae_NK3B31_group	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Prevotellaceae_UCG003	1.00	1.00	0.800	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.005	0.306
	Prevotellaceae_unclassified	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Firmicute	es	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Agathobacter	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.800	0.571	0.667	1.00	0.015	0.062
	Anaerovibrio	0.600 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	0.857 ^{ab}	0.500 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.015	0.050
	Blautia	1.00	1.00	0.800	1.00	0.857	1.00	1.00	0.007	0.153
	Cellulosilyticum	0.800	0.500	0.800	0.800	0.714	0.667	0.750	0.039	0.367

Clostridium_sensu_stricto_1	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Enterococcus	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Faecalibacterium	0.600 ^{ab}	0.500 ^b	0.800 ^{ab}	0.600 ^{ab}	0.571 ^{ab}	0.500	1.00 ^a	0.038	0.050
Fusicatenibacter	0.600 ^{ab}	0.250 ^{bc}	0.200 ^{bc}	0.000 ^c	0.286 ^{bc}	0.167 ^{bc}	1.00 ^a	0.026	0.006
Lachnoanaerobaculum	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Lachnospiraceae_unclassified	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Lactobacillus	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Lactococcus	1.00	0.750	0.800	0.600	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.018	0.118
Leuconostoc	0.600 ^{ab}	0.250 ^{bc}	0.200 ^{bc}	0.200 ^{bc}	0.714 ^{ab}	0.833ª	0.000 ^c	0.030	0.036
Megamonas	1.00 ^a	0.750 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	0.400 ^b	0.857 ^{ab}	0.333 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.021	0.013
Megasphaera	1.00ª	1.00ª	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	0.333 ^b	1.00 ^a	0.005	0.013
Mycoplasma	1.00	1.00	0.800	0.600	0.857	0.500	1.00	0.020	0.116
Parvimonas	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Phascolarctobacterium	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Romboutsia	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Sarcina	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.800	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.005	0.306
Selenomonadaceae_unclassified	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.833	1.00	0.003	0.315
Sharpea	0.200	0.000	0.200	0.200	0.429	0.000	0.00	0.019	0.062
Streptococcus	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Terrisporobacter	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Turicibacter	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Veillonella	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
Weissella	0.800 ^{ab}	0.500 ^{bc}	0.400 ^{bc}	0.200 ^c	0.857 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	0.027	0.004
Fusobacteria	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-

	Fusobacterium	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Leptotrichia	1.00	1.00	0.800	1.00	1.00	0.667	0.75	0.017	0.134
Proteoba	acteria	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Acinetobacter	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	0.800 ^{ab}	0.600 ^{ab}	0.571 ^b	1.00 ^a	1.00 ^a	0.016	0.031
	Actinobacillus	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Enterobacterales_unclassified	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Enterobacteriaceae_unclassified	1.00	1.00	0.800	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.005	0.306
	Erwiniaceae_unclassified	0.200	0.000	0.400	0.000	0.143	0.833	0.00	0.017	0.002
	Escherichia-Shigella	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Kosakonia	0.600 ^{ab}	0.500 ^{abc}	0.000 ^c	0.200 ^{bc}	0.714 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	0.250 ^{bc}	0.031	0.013
	Pantoea	0.600	0.250	0.600	0.400	0.714	0.833	0.50	0.044	0.070
	Pasteurellaceae_unclassified	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Peptostreptococcaceae_unclassified	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Pseudomonas	0.200 ^{cd}	0.500 ^{abc}	0.000 ^c	0.400 ^{bc}	0.714 ^{ab}	1.00 ^a	0.250 ^c	0.031	0.034
	Rahnella1	0.200 ^b	0.000 ^b	0.000 ^b	0.200 ^b	0.429 ^{ab}	0.833 ^a	0.000 ^b	0.017	0.002
	Sutterella	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-
	Yersiniaceae_unclassified	0.200 ^{ab}	0.000 ^b	0.000 ^b	0.000 ^b	0.286 ^{ab}	0.667 ^a	0.000 ^b	0.014	0.013
Spirocha	aetes	0.800	0.750	0.800	0.600	0.571	0.667	1.00	0.033	0.062
	Treponema	0.800	0.750	0.800	0.600	0.571	0.667	1.00	0.033	0.062
Synergis	stetes	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.750	0.007	0.292
	Fretibacterium	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.750	0.007	0.292

¹ Values are frequencies with pooled SEM, n = 4-6 animals per diet. A value of 1 represents 100% frequency, and 0 represents 0% frequency. Only taxa with >1% relative abundance in at least one sample were considered. The frequency analysis was performed using a binary logistic regression with 0 when the taxon was absent and 1 when the taxon was present. No statistical analysis was performed if the frequency was 1 for all diets. Frequencies in a row with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$).

² *n* indicates the number of replicates. The different number of replicates resulted from either removing one pig that displayed coprophagy or the extracted DNA having low quality or concentration for 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

Supplementary Table 7.5: Effect of diet on the number of bacteria in ileal digesta from growing pigs fed diets containing different test

foods¹

Phylum	Genus	Black bean	Bread	Chickpea	Peanut	Pigeon pea	Sorghum	Wheat bran	SEM	P value
Sample si	ze, <i>n</i> ²	4	5	4	5	6	6	6		
			Log	10 16S rRNA	gene cop	oies/g wet diges	sta			
Total bact	eria	10.6 ^{ab}	11.1 ^a	10.8 ^{ab}	10.9 ^{ab}	11.1 ^{ab}	10.6 ^b	10.3 ^b	0.180	0.002
Actinobac	teria	8.42	8.73	8.98	8.83	8.82	8.23	8.05	0.308	0.308
	Actinomyces	7.67 ^{ab}	8.32 ^{ab}	7.95 ^{ab}	7.82 ^{ab}	8.30 ^a	7.66 ^{ab}	7.43 ^b	0.192	0.036
	Bifidobacterium	7.73 ^a	6.77 ^{ab}	8.29 ^{ab}	7.34 ^{ab}	7.71 ^{ab}	5.98 ^b	6.87 ^{ab}	0.556	0.009
	Collinsella	6.99 ^{ab}	7.61 ^a	6.68 ^{ab}	7.74 ^{ab}	7.11 ^{ab}	6.04 ^b	7.47 ^a	0.357	0.010
Bacteroide	etes	9.79 ^b	10.3 ^a	9.87 ^{ab}	10.3 ^{ab}	10.2 ^{ab}	9.59 ^{ab}	9.83 ^{ab}	0.177	0.021
	Alloprevotella	7.95	7.82	7.12	7.89	8.15	7.95	7.90	0.430	0.710
	Bacteroides	9.29 ^{ab}	9.79 ^a	9.33 ^{ab}	9.81 ^{ab}	9.67 ^{ab}	9.17 ^{ab}	8.64 ^b	0.229	0.038
	Muribaculaceae_unclassified	7.01	6.71	6.40	7.34	7.02	6.40	6.58	0.417	0.606
	Parabacteroides	7.47 ^b	8.23 ^a	7.50 ^{abc}	7.79 ^{abc}	7.92 ^{abc}	7.89 ^{ab}	6.73°	0.252	0.001
	Porphyromonas	7.82	8.58	7.85	8.04	8.89	8.21	7.32	0.491	0.351
	Prevotella	9.29 ^{ab}	9.81ª	9.29 ^{ab}	9.45 ^{ab}	9.89 ^{ab}	8.93 ^b	9.71 ^a	0.205	0.009
	Prevotellaceae_NK3B31_group	7.61	8.22	7.81	7.97	7.89	7.33	7.90	0.490	0.908
	Prevotellaceae_UCG003	7.82	7.79	7.43	8.09	7.95	8.15	7.88	0.370	0.851
	Prevotellaceae_unclassified	8.85	9.30	8.72	9.17	9.16	8.52	8.52	0.241	0.139
Firmicutes	8	10.3 ^{ab}	10.9 ^a	10.6 ^{ab}	10.5 ^{ab}	10.8 ^{ab}	10.2 ^b	9.85 ^b	0.200	0.005
	Agathobacter	7.15 ^{ab}	7.52 ^{ab}	6.93 ^{ab}	7.28 ^{ab}	6.54 ^{ab}	6.14 ^b	7.86 ^a	0.352	0.027
	Anaerovibrio	6.66 ^{bc}	7.40 ^b	7.39 ^{ab}	8.09 ^{abc}	7.10 ^{abc}	5.74°	8.82 ^a	0.398	<0.001

Blautia	7.25 ^b	7.44 ^{ab}	7.17 ^{ab}	7.81 ^{ab}	7.45 ^{ab}	7.18 ^b	8.47 ^a	0.329	0.008
Cellulosilyticum	7.79	7.51	6.48	8.34	7.08	7.06	6.27	0.484	0.068
Clostridium_sensu_stricto_1	8.54 ^{ab}	10.1ª	9.53 ^{ab}	9.62 ^{ab}	9.53 ^{ab}	8.98 ^b	8.13 ^c	0.309	0.035
Enterococcus	8.63 ^a	8.13 ^a	6.85 ^b	7.65 ^{ab}	8.47 ^{ab}	7.62 ^a	7.96 ^{ab}	0.379	0.007
Faecalibacterium	6.54 ^{bc}	6.47 ^{bc}	6.57 ^{bc}	6.57 ^{bc}	6.61 ^b	5.69°	8.44 ^a	0.315	<0.001
Fusicatenibacter	6.08 ^b	6.14 ^b	5.84 ^b	ND	6.12 ^b	5.81 ^b	7.71 ^a	0.241	0.027
Lachnoanaerobaculum	7.66	8.19	7.69	7.57	8.05	7.60	7.78	0.256	0.523
Lachnospiraceae_unclassified	7.98 ^b	8.63 ^a	8.22 ^{ab}	8.71 ^{ab}	8.56 ^{ab}	8.30 ^{ab}	8.32 ^{ab}	0.192	0.019
Lactobacillus	7.59	8.31	8.86	7.66	8.37	8.64	7.93	0.618	0.706
Lactococcus	7.37 ^{ab}	6.66 ^{ab}	6.84 ^{ab}	6.19 ^{ab}	7.85 ^a	7.97 ^a	5.79 ^d	0.432	0.007
Leuconostoc	6.95	6.13	6.43	6.10	6.97	7.47	ND	0.453	0.093
Megamonas	7.62 ^{ab}	7.77 ^{abc}	7.95 ^{ab}	6.79 ^{bc}	7.63 ^{abc}	5.96°	8.79 ^a	0.371	<0.001
Megasphaera	7.02 ^{ab}	7.14 ^a	8.19 ^{ab}	7.32 ^{ab}	7.67 ^a	5.67 ^b	6.82 ^a	0.486	0.001
Mycoplasma	7.60	8.25	6.88	7.11	7.59	6.53	7.10	0.505	0.315
Parvimonas	7.19	7.89	7.40	7.59	7.81	7.57	6.97	0.289	0.331
Phascolarctobacterium	8.29	9.11	8.62	9.14	8.86	8.25	8.74	0.223	0.063
Romboutsia	8.61 ^{abc}	9.81ª	9.26 ^{ab}	9.24 ^{ab}	9.41 ^{ab}	9.07 ^b	7.24 ^c	0.236	0.001
Sarcina	9.09 ^{ab}	10.3ª	8.37 ^{ab}	8.18 ^{ab}	9.91ª	8.30 ^{ab}	6.54 ^b	0.554	0.003
Selenomonadaceae_unclassified	7.33 ^{abc}	9.35 ^{abc}	9.66ª	7.37°	9.43 ^{ab}	7.42 ^{abc}	7.70 ^{bc}	0.376	0.019
Sharpea	5.68	ND	6.58	6.06	6.42	ND	ND	0.415	0.132
Streptococcus	9.45 ^{ab}	9.80 ^a	9.31 ^{ab}	9.22 ^{ab}	9.49 ^{ab}	9.23 ^{ab}	8.75 ^b	0.290	0.039
Terrisporobacter	8.60 ^{ab}	9.62 ^a	9.26 ^a	8.91ª	8.63 ^{ab}	8.87 ^a	7.16 ^b	0.330	<0.001
Turicibacter	9.13 ^{ab}	9.52ª	9.54 ^a	9.67 ^a	9.45 ^a	8.68 ^a	7.58 ^b	0.324	<0.001
Veillonella	8.65 ^{ab}	9.19 ^{ab}	9.28 ^a	8.77 ^{ab}	9.36 ^{ab}	8.11 ^b	8.78 ^{ab}	0.297	0.030
Weissella	7.92	6.59	6.68	6.06	7.58	7.22	6.41	0.505	0.194

Fusobacteria	9.43 ^b	10.0 ^a	9.37 ^b	10.0 ^{ab}	9.79 ^{ab}	9.36 ^b	9.16 ^b	0.166	0.002
Fusobacterium	9.42 ^b	10.0 ^a	9.36 ^b	10.0 ^{ab}	9.76 ^{ab}	9.35 ^b	9.16 ^b	0.164	0.002
Leptotrichia	6.73	7.35	7.13	6.77	7.92	6.28	6.19	0.453	0.085
Proteobacteria	10.0 ^{ab}	10.1 ^a	9.59 ^{ab}	10.3 ^{ab}	10.2 ^{ab}	10.0 ^a	9.56 ^b	0.184	<0.001
Acinetobacter	7.28 ^{ab}	7.32 ^{ab}	6.24 ^b	6.77 ^{ab}	6.87 ^{ab}	8.31ª	6.73 ^{ab}	0.293	0.009
Actinobacillus	8.87	8.80	8.49	9.15	8.24	8.89	8.59	0.307	0.535
Enterobacterales_unclassified	7.58 ^{ab}	7.82 ^a	7.32 ^{ab}	7.80 ^{ab}	7.84 ^{ab}	7.91 ^{ab}	7.12 ^b	0.223	0.013
Enterobacteriaceae_unclassified	8.51	8.44	7.45	7.56	8.26	8.65	7.71	0.351	0.095
Erwiniaceae_unclassified	5.83	ND	5.90	ND	6.04	7.09	ND	0.367	0.372
Escherichia-Shigella	9.76	9.87	9.42	10.0	9.84	9.36	9.34	0.273	0.380
Kosakonia	6.99 ^{ab}	6.46 ^{ab}	ND	6.06 ^{ab}	7.36 ^{ab}	7.43 ^a	5.36 ^b	0.458	0.009
Pantoea	6.02	6.28	5.91	6.19	6.51	6.91	5.70	0.321	0.341
Pasteurellaceae_unclassified	8.08	8.44	8.03	8.14	8.04	7.82	8.17	0.321	0.917
Peptostreptococcaceae_unclassified	7.90	8.65	7.54	8.06	7.81	8.40	6.96	0.357	0.080
Pseudomonas	5.77 ^{bc}	6.26 ^b	ND	6.22 ^{bc}	6.49 ^{ab}	8.50 ^a	5.37°	0.269	0.001
Rahnella1	6.04	ND	ND	6.10	6.28	7.47	ND	0.430	0.310
Sutterella	7.86 ^{ab}	8.43 ^{ab}	8.11 ^{ab}	8.67 ^a	8.31 ^{ab}	7.19 [♭]	8.17 ^{ab}	0.326	0.035
Yersiniaceae_unclassified	5.84	ND	ND	ND	6.10	6.87	ND	0.038	0.296
Spirochaetes	7.04	6.98	6.51	7.08	6.84	6.90	6.65	0.519	0.986
Treponema	7.04	6.98	6.51	7.08	6.83	6.90	6.64	0.519	0.986
Synergistetes	7.16	7.98	7.41	7.58	7.86	7.47	6.80	0.397	0.476
Fretibacterium	7.11	7.89	7.39	7.29	7.85	7.43	6.80	0.386	0.467

¹ Values are means with pooled SEM, n = 4-6 animals per diet. Only taxa with >1% relative abundance in at least one sample were considered. The number of 16S rRNA gene copies per taxa was obtained by multiplying the total number of 16S rRNA gene copies with the relative abundance of the taxa with the assumption that each taxon has an equal number of 16S rRNA gene copies. Data were log₁₀ transformed to achieve homogenous variance. A one-way ANOVA model was used to assess the effect of diet. Means in a row with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$). ND, not detected.

² n indicates the number of replicates. The different number of replicates resulted from either removing one pig that displayed coprophagy or the extracted DNA having low quality or concentration for 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

Supplementary Table 7.6: Predicted metabolic activity (according to PICRUSt) related to fermentation (i.e., carbohydrate and protein

metabolism) in ileal digesta from growing pigs fed diets for seven days containing different test foods¹

				Diet					
KEGG reference pathway	Black bean	Bread	Chickpea	Peanut	Pigeon pea	Sorghu m	Wheat bran	SEM	<i>P</i> value
Sample size, <i>n</i> ²	4	5	4	5	6	6	6		
			log ₁₀ relat	ive activity/	/g wet dige	sta			
Amino Acid Metabolism	6.96	6.95	6.96	6.94	6.86	7.03	6.96	0.049	0.260
Alanine, aspartate, and glutamate metabolism	5.96	5.97	6.97	6.97	5.88	6.02	6.00	0.044	0.314
Amino acid related enzymes	6.14	6.15	6.16	6.14	6.07	6.19	6.18	0.044	0.437
Arginine and proline metabolism	6.03	6.03	6.00	5.99	5.92	6.13	6.00	0.055	0.191
Cysteine and methionine metabolism	6.00	5.99	6.00	5.98	5.91	6.05	6.00	0.045	0.362
Glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism	5.92	5.92	5.91	5.89	5.82	6.00	5.93	0.051	0.251
Histidine metabolism	5.71	5.72	5.75	5.74	5.61	5.76	5.70	0.046	0.206
Lysine biosynthesis	5.83	5.84	5.86	5.82	5.75	5.88	5.86	0.046	0.377
Lysine degradation	5.27 ^{ab}	5.23 ^{ab}	5.23 ^{ab}	5.22 ^{ab}	5.12 ^b	5.44 ^a	5.16 ^{ab}	0.068	0.032
Phenylalanine metabolism	5.29	5.25	5.23	5.20	5.14	5.43	5.25	0.075	0.164
Phenylalanine, tyrosine, and tryptophan biosynthesis	5.84	5.85	5.86	5.84	5.75	5.89	5.90	0.051	0.383
Tryptophan metabolism	5.47 ^{ab}	5.43 ^{ab}	5.45 ^{ab}	5.40 ^{ab}	5.35 ^b	5.63 ^a	5.37 ^{ab}	0.069	0.007
Tyrosine metabolism	5.60	5.57	5.59	5.55	5.49	5.69	5.53	0.052	0.134
Valine, leucine, and isoleucine biosynthesis	5.80	5.80	5.79	5.78	5.71	5.87	5.79	0.045	0.243
Valine, leucine, and isoleucine degradation	5.50 ^{ab}	5.42 ^{ab}	5.43 ^{ab}	5.44 ^{ab}	5.31 ^b	5.62 ^a	5.35	0.070	0.031

Carbohydrate Metabolism	7.03	7.01	7.00	6.98	6.93	7.10	7.00	0.047	0.192
Amino sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolism	6.17	6.16	6.14	6.13	6.09	6.21	6.17	0.041	0.470
Ascorbate and aldarate metabolism	5.33 ^{ab}	5.20 ^{ab}	5.08 ^b	5.20 ^{ab}	5.10 ^b	5.45 ^a	5.15 ^{ab}	0.093	0.040
Butanoate metabolism	5.88 ^{ab}	5.84 ^{ab}	5.84 ^{ab}	5.86 ^{ab}	5.72 ^b	5.96 ^a	5.78 ^{ab}	0.052	0.027
C5-Branched dibasic acid metabolism	5.44	5.45	5.45	5.43	5.35	5.53	5.48	0.050	0.211
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	5.80	5.77	5.77	5.77	5.71	5.86	5.84	0.056	0.479
Fructose and mannose metabolism	6.00	5.95	5.95	5.92	5.91	6.06	5.99	0.051	0.351
Galactose metabolism	5.84	5.84	5.78	5.77	5.75	5.88	5.80	0.038	0.186
Glycolysis/Gluconeogenesis	6.06	6.03	6.04	6.00	5.96	6.11	6.02	0.044	0.247
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	5.72 ^{ab}	5.67 ^{ab}	5.65 ^{ab}	5.69 ^{ab}	5.56 ^b	5.80ª	5.67 ^{ab}	0.057	0.050
Inositol phosphate metabolism	5.19 ^{ab}	5.04 ^{ab}	4.98 ^{ab}	5.10 ^{ab}	4.95 ^b	5.29 ^a	5.06 ^{ab}	0.088	0.047
Pentose and glucuronate interconversions	5.78 ^{ab}	5.71 ^{ab}	5.67 ^{ab}	5.72 ^{ab}	5.59 ^b	5.85 ^a	5.66 ^{ab}	0.052	0.009
Pentose phosphate pathway	5.91	5.89	5.89	5.86	5.81	5.98	5.88	0.047	0.211
Propanoate metabolism	5.76 ^{ab}	5.70 ^{ab}	5.71 ^{ab}	5.72 ^{ab}	5.60 ^b	5.84 ^a	5.67 ^{ab}	0.056	0.048
Pyruvate metabolism	6.03	6.00	5.99	5.97	5.92	6.10	5.96	0.049	0.177
Starch and sucrose metabolism	5.97	5.95	5.96	5.92	5.87	6.03	5.96	0.042	0.175
Metabolism of Other Amino Acids	6.21	6.19	6.20	6.17	6.10	6.29	6.19	0.051	0.198
beta-Alanine metabolism	5.30 ^{ab}	5.28 ^{ab}	5.26 ^{ab}	5.27 ^{ab}	5.19 ^b	5.47 ^a	5.36 ^{ab}	0.067	0.049
Cyanoamino acid metabolism	5.44	5.40	5.40	5.39	5.30	5.50	5.39	0.053	0.170
D-Alanine metabolism	5.09	5.08	5.09	5.06	5.00	5.12	5.07	0.039	0.416
D-Arginine and D-ornithine metabolism	3.72	3.80	3.91	3.70	3.71	3.83	3.93	0.092	0.403
D-Glutamine and D-glutamate metabolism	5.16	5.18	5.16	5.16	5.08	5.20	5.17	0.047	0.565
Glutathione metabolism	5.53 ^{ab}	5.43 ^{ab}	5.46 ^{ab}	5.49 ^{ab}	5.33 ^b	5.60 ^a	5.41 ^{ab}	0.056	0.015

Phosphonate and phosphinate metabolism	4.82	4.79	4.73	4.77	4.66	4.92	4.65	0.016	0.058
Selenocompound metabolism	5.57	5.56	5.57	5.53	5.48	5.62	5.57	0.049	0.454
Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism	5.09	5.07	5.11	5.06	4.98	5.13	5.02	0.051	0.271
Digestive System	4.59 ^{ab}	4.68 ^{ab}	4.65 ^{ab}	4.60 ^{ab}	4.62 ^b	4.63 ^{ab}	4.86 ^a	0.075	0.008
Carbohydrate digestion and absorption	4.28	4.31	4.35	4.17	4.27	4.35	4.40	0.080	0.571
Protein digestion and absorption	4.01	4.24	4.19	4.25	4.14	4.00	4.49	0.107	0.100
Metabolism	6.46 ^{ab}	6.40 ^{ab}	6.36 ^{ab}	6.42 ^{ab}	6.28 ^b	6.51 ^a	6.37 ^{ab}	0.053	0.044
Amino acid metabolism	5.45	5.41	5.36	5.39	5.32	5.50	5.36	0.056	0.213
Carbohydrate metabolism	5.14	5.12	5.09	5.04	5.01	5.24	5.08	0.060	0.115

¹ Values are means with pooled SEM, n = 4-6 per diet. Data were log_{10} transformed to achieve homogenous variance. A one-way ANOVA model was used to assess the diet effect. Means in a row with a different letter differ ($P \le 0.05$). PICRUSt, Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States.

² *n* indicates the number of replicates. The different number of replicates resulted from either removing one pig that displayed coprophagy or the extracted DNA having low quality or concentration for 16S rRNA gene sequencing.



Supplementary Figure 7.1: Shannon diversity of the microbial community in ileal digesta from growing pigs fed diets for seven days containing different test foods. Data points represent individual samples. The line represents the mean, n = 4-6 per diet. The effect of the diet was assessed using a one-way ANOVA test (P = 0.665).

DRC 16 forms

DRC 16



STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION DOCTORATE WITH PUBLICATIONS/MANUSCRIPTS

We, the candidate and the candidate's Primary Supervisor, certify that all co-authors have consented to their work being included in the thesis and they have accepted the candidate's contribution as indicated below in the *Statement of Originality*.

Name of candidate:	Anna Maria Elisabeth Hoogeveen
Name/title of Primary Supervisor:	Prof Warren McNabb
In which chapter is the manuscript /pu	ublished work: Chapter 5
Please select one of the following three	ee options:
• The manuscript/published wo	rk is published or in press
• Please provide the full re Hoogeveen AME, Moughan PJ hindgut fermentation in the gro	ference of the Research Output: J, de Haas ES, Blatchford P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Ileal and wing pig fed a human-type diet. Brit J Nutr. 2020:1-27.
The manuscript is currently ur	nder review for publication – please indicate:
• The name of the journal:	
 The percentage of the ma was contributed by the ca 	anuscript/published work that andidate:
Describe the contribution	that the candidate has made to the manuscript/published work:
It is intended that the manusc	ript will be published, but it has not yet been submitted to a journal
Candidate's Signature:	Anika Digitally signed by Anika Hoogeveen Date: 2022.08.08 15:45:16 +12007
Date:	08-Aug-2022
Primary Supervisor's Signature:	Warren McNabb Digitally signed by Warren McNabb Date: 2022.08.10 11.03.37 +12007
Date:	10-Aug-2022
This form should appear at the end of	each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/

publication or collected as an appendix at the end of the thesis.

DRC 16



STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION DOCTORATE WITH PUBLICATIONS/MANUSCRIPTS

We, the candidate and the candidate's Primary Supervisor, certify that all co-authors have consented to their work being included in the thesis and they have accepted the candidate's contribution as indicated below in the *Statement of Originality*.

Name of candidate:	Anna Maria Elisabeth Hoogeveen
Name/title of Primary Supervisor:	Prof Warren McNabb
In which chapter is the manuscript /p	ublished work: Chapter 6
Please select one of the following thre	ee options:
• The manuscript/published wo	rk is published or in press
 Please provide the full re Hoogeveen AME, Moughan P, fibre is associated with change influences in vitro ileal and him 	ference of the Research Output: J, Henare SJ, Schulze P, McNabb WC, Montoya CA. Type of dietary es in ileal and hindgut microbial communities in growing pigs and dgut fermentation. J Nutr. 2021;151:2976-85.
The manuscript is currently ur	nder review for publication – please indicate:
• The name of the journal:	
 The percentage of the ma was contributed by the c Describe the contributior 	anuscript/published work that andidate: n that the candidate has made to the manuscript/published work:
It is intended that the manusc	ript will be published, but it has not yet been submitted to a journal
Candidate's Signature:	Anika Digitaliy signed by Anika Hoogeveen Date: 2022.08.08 15:46:44 +1200'
Date:	08-Aug-2022
Primary Supervisor's Signature:	Warren McNabb
Date:	10-Aug-2022

This form should appear at the end of each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/ publication or collected as an appendix at the end of the thesis.

GRS Version 5 – 13 December 2019 DRC 19/09/10

DRC 16



STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION DOCTORATE WITH PUBLICATIONS/MANUSCRIPTS

We, the candidate and the candidate's Primary Supervisor, certify that all co-authors have consented to their work being included in the thesis and they have accepted the candidate's contribution as indicated below in the *Statement of Originality*.

Name of candidate:	Anna Maria Elisabeth Hoogeveen
Name/title of Primary Supervisor:	Prof Warren McNabb
In which chapter is the manuscript /p	ublished work: Chapter 7
Please select one of the following thre	ee options:
The manuscript/published wo	rk is published or in press
Please provide the full re	ference of the Research Output:
• The manuscript is currently ur	nder review for publication – please indicate:
 The name of the journal: Journal of Nutrition 	
 The percentage of the ma was contributed by the c 	anuscript/published work that andidate:
Describe the contribution	n that the candidate has made to the manuscript/published work:
Anna Maria Elisabeth Hoogev the in vitro study, analyzed the analysis and wrote the draft m	een was responsible for the in vivo study, designed and conducted the e samples, performed bioinformatics, subjected data to statistical anuscript
It is intended that the manusc	ript will be published, but it has not yet been submitted to a journal
Candidate's Signature:	Anika Hoogeveen Late: 2022.08.08 15:51:18 +1200
Date:	08-Aug-2022
Primary Supervisor's Signature:	Warren McNabb
Date:	10-Aug-2022

This form should appear at the end of each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/ publication or collected as an appendix at the end of the thesis.

GRS Version 5 – 13 December 2019 DRC 19/09/10

DRC 16



STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION DOCTORATE WITH PUBLICATIONS/MANUSCRIPTS

We, the candidate and the candidate's Primary Supervisor, certify that all co-authors have consented to their work being included in the thesis and they have accepted the candidate's contribution as indicated below in the *Statement of Originality*.

Name of candidate:	Anna Maria Elisabeth Hoogeveen
Name/title of Primary Supervisor:	Prof Warren McNabb
In which chapter is the manuscript /pu	ıblished work:
Please select one of the following thre	e options:
O The manuscript/published wo	rk is published or in press
• Please provide the full ref	erence of the Research Output:
• The manuscript is currently un	der review for publication – please indicate:
• The name of the journal:	
Journal of Nutrition	
• The percentage of the ma	nuscript/published work that
was contributed by the ca	indicate:
 Describe the contribution 	that the candidate has made to the manuscript/published work:
Anna Maria Elisabeth Hoogeve the in vitro study, analyzed the analysis and wrote the draft ma	een was responsible for the in vivo study, designed and conducted the samples, performed bioinformatics, subjected data to statistical anuscript
It is intended that the manusc	ript will be published, but it has not yet been submitted to a journal
Candidate's Signature:	Anika Hoogeveen Light 2022.08.08 15:51:18 +1200
Date:	08-Aug-2022
Primary Supervisor's Signature:	Warren McNabb Digitally signed by Warren McNabb Date: 2022.08.10 11:06:07 +1200
Date:	10-Aug-2022
This form should appear at the end of	each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/

This form should appear at the end of each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/ publication or collected as an appendix at the end of the thesis.

GRS Version 5 – 13 December 2019 DRC 19/09/10

Copyright information

Publication licence figure 2.1



49 Spadina Ave. Suite 200 Toronto ON M5V 2J1 Canada www.biorender.com

Confirmation of Publication and Licensing Rights

August 2nd, 2022 Science Suite Inc.

Subscription: Agreement number: Journal name:

Lab JZ248C7S03 PhD thesis

To whom this may concern,

This document is to confirm that Anika Hoogeveen has been granted a license to use the BioRender content, including icons, templates and other original artwork, appearing in the attached completed graphic pursuant to BioRender's <u>Academic License Terms</u>. This license permits BioRender content to be sublicensed for use in journal publications.

All rights and ownership of BioRender content are reserved by BioRender. All completed graphics must be accompanied by the following citation: "Created with BioRender.com".

BioRender content included in the completed graphic is not licensed for any commercial uses beyond publication in a journal. For any commercial use of this figure, users may, if allowed, recreate it in BioRender under an Industry BioRender Plan.



For any questions regarding this document, or other questions about publishing with BioRender refer to our <u>BioRender Publication Guide</u>, or contact BioRender Support at <u>support@biorender.com</u>.

Publication licence figure 2.2

8/11/22, 11:07 PM

RightsLink Printable License

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Aug 11, 2022

This Agreement between Miss. Anika Hoogeveen ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5365880546980
License date	Aug 11, 2022
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Wiley Books
Licensed Content Title	Functional Intestinal Metagenomics
Licensed Content Author	Bartholomeus van den Bogert, Milkha M. Leimena, Willem M. de Vos, et al
Licensed Content Date	Nov 10, 2011
Licensed Content Pages	15
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/Academic
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Figure/table
Number of figures/tables	1

Will you be translating? No

Title Fibre fermentation in the ileum Institution name Massey University Expected presentation Aug 2022 date Portions Figure 18.1 Miss. Anika Hoogeveen Massey University Tennent Drive **Requestor Location** Palmerston North, 4472 New Zealand Attn: Miss. Anika Hoogeveen Publisher Tax ID EU826007151 Total 0.00 USD

Terms and Conditions

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

RightsLink Printable License

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley <u>Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process</u>. This license, and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

2/5

RightsLink Printable License

within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.

- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner.For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u> only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts, You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto
- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

RightsLink Printable License

PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.
- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

4/5

RightsLink Printable License

objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee.

Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library <u>http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html</u>

Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Copyright chapter 5 publication

CCC	Â	?	\sim	.	4	
Disease interests	Home	Help 🗸	Email Support	Sign in	Create Account	
CAMBRIDGE University press	Ileal and hindgut fermer Author: Anna M. E. Hoogeveen, Paul McNabb, Carlos A. Montoya Publication: British Journal of Publisher: Cambridge Univers Date: Apr 21, 2020 Copyright © The Authors 2020	ntation in th J. Moughan, Nutrition ity Press	ne growing pig Edward S. de Haas	fed a hun s, Paul Blatc	nan- type diet hford, Warren C.	
License Not Required						
Permission is granted at no co distribute or sell your Master's publication, please return to th intranet/password-protected w	st for use of content in a Master' Thesis/Doctoral Dissertation to to e previous page and select 'Rep ebsite' to complete your request	s Thesis and the general p oublish in a Bo	/or Doctoral Dissen ublic through print o pok/Journal' or 'Pos	tation. If you or website it on	intend to	
BACK					CLOSE	

© 2022 Copyright - All Rights Reserved | Copyright Cle@omma@its?feWerwould like?to/heesfrommani. EtmaiDasa6ecurity and Privacy | For California Residents | Terms and Conditions customercare@copyright.com
Publication licence chapter 6 publication

8/2/22, 4:59 PM

RightsLink Printable License

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Aug 02, 2022

This Agreement between Miss. Anika Hoogeveen ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press and Copyright Clearance Center.

License 5360590713510 Number License date Aug 02, 2022 Licensed content Oxford University Press publisher Licensed content The Journal of Nutrition publication Type of Dietary Fiber Is Associated with Changes in Ileal and Hindgut Licensed Microbial Communities in Growing Pigs and Influences In Vitro Ileal and content title Hindgut Fermentation Licensed content Hoogeveen, Anna M E; Moughan, Paul J author Licensed Jul 28, 2021 content date Type of Use Thesis/Dissertation Institution name Title of your Fibre fermentation in the ileum work

8/2/22, 4:59 PM			RightsLink Printable License
	Publisher of your work	Massey Univeristy	
	Expected publication date	Aug 2022	
	Permissions cost	0.00 USD	
	Value added tax	0.00 USD	
	Total	0.00 USD	
	Title	Fibre fermentation in the ileum	
	Institution name	Massey Univeristy	
	Expected presentation date	Aug 2022	
	Portions	Full article as a chapter in the thesis	
	Requestor Location	Miss. Anika Hoogeveen Massey Universtiy Tennent Drive Palmerston North, 4472 New Zealand Attn: Miss. Anika Hoogeveen	
	Publisher Tax ID	GB125506730	
	Total	0.00 USD	

Terms and Conditions

8/2/22, 4:59 PM

RightsLink Printable License

1. Use of the material is restricted to the type of use specified in your order details.

2. This permission covers the use of the material in the English language in the following territory: world. If you have requested additional permission to translate this material, the terms and conditions of this reuse will be set out in clause 12.

3. This permission is limited to the particular use authorized in (1) above and does not allow you to sanction its use elsewhere in any other format other than specified above, nor does it apply to quotations, images, artistic works etc that have been reproduced from other sources which may be part of the material to be used.

4. No alteration, omission or addition is made to the material without our written consent. Permission must be re-cleared with Oxford University Press if/when you decide to reprint.

5. The following credit line appears wherever the material is used: author, title, journal, year, volume, issue number, pagination, by permission of Oxford University Press or the sponsoring society if the journal is a society journal. Where a journal is being published on behalf of a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

6. For the reproduction of a full article from an Oxford University Press journal for whatever purpose, the corresponding author of the material concerned should be informed of the proposed use. Contact details for the corresponding authors of all Oxford University Press journal contact can be found alongside either the abstract or full text of the article concerned, accessible from www.oxfordjournals.org Should there be a problem clearing these rights, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

7. If the credit line or acknowledgement in our publication indicates that any of the figures, images or photos was reproduced, drawn or modified from an earlier source it will be necessary for you to clear this permission with the original publisher as well. If this permission has not been obtained, please note that this material cannot be included in your publication/photocopies.

8. While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by Oxford University Press or by Copyright Clearance Center (CCC)) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and Oxford University Press reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned or transferred by you to any other person without Oxford University Press's written permission.

10. Oxford University Press reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

11. You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Oxford University Press and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employs and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet 3/4

12. Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.4

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet